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Foreword

Among Chapel Hill's greatest assets have always been the residents who love their

community and are willing to devote their time and resources to its betterment.

Some thirty-{ive years ago, when other cities and towns were losing their commer'

cial centers and historic neighborhoods to a variety of demographic and economic

forces, a cadre of like-minded people came together to find a way to describe and

evaluare the tangible elements that make Chapel Hill a real and special place: his-

toric settings and landmarks such as the university campus, the town cemetery, the

arboretum, the downtown; the architectural variety of the public and commercial

buildings and residences; landscape features like rock walls, gravel walks, and tree'

canopied streers; and the importance of how buildings relate to one another in scale

and texture.

The Chapel Hill Appearance Commission, forme d in ry62 at the behest of two

civic-minded Institute of Government professors, provided a forum for the study of

that larger context of new buildings and the alteration or expansion of existing ones

and such capital improvements as sidewalks and street plantings. In the early rgTos

the commission was chaired by Bob Stipe, a professor in the Institute of Govern-

ment and a nationally recognized expert in historic preservation. With training in

law, planning, and architecture, Stipe was a strong advocate for community appear'

ance standards. Ida Friday sat on the Appearance Commission and often spoke with

her friend Georgia Kyser about the issues the commission addressed and how im-

portanr they were in determining the direction that growth and change would take

in Chapel Hill. Today Georgia recalls, "I didn't know anything about appearance

commissions or architecture, but I thought this was important, so I asked Ida to put

me on the commission, and she did."

Then came the event that made all the difference in Chapel Hill's destiny' Bob

Stipe suggested to Georgia that she attend an Institute of Government short course

on community appearance at Appalachian State University in Boone. "l was fired up

when I came back from that course," says Georgia. That was a good thing, because

the Betty Smith House on Rosemary Street was threatened with demolition, and

other properties in the historic core of downtown and the surrounding neighbor-

hoods were becoming vulnerable to redevelopment. The course had taught Georgia

that the fundamental tool for the protection of historic structures is the architec-

tural and historic survey. She learned how an experienced architectural historian

surveys, catalogues, researches, and evaluates a community's structures and describes

xt
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the significant ones in the context of individual neighborhoods and in the overall

chronological development of the town's built environment. Successful preservation

movements in Charleston, South Carolina, in the rg3os, and later in Savannah,

Georgia, and the Vieux Carr6 in New Orleans, were preceded by the preparation

and publication ofprofessionally conducted architectural and historical surveys.

So Ida Friday and Georgia Kyser asked Bob Stipe, then on the Board of Tiustees

of the National Tiust for Historic Preservation, to help them. Bob invited his friend

and colleague Russell Wright, who had conducted the New Orleans Vieux Carr6

survey, to come to Chapel Hill. Ida and Georgia took Russell Wright around town

for two whirlwind days. They modestly admitted that Chapel Hill didn't have the

grand architecture of Charleston or Savannah or New Orleans, but Georgia asked

lTright to "help us preserve the feel of Chapel Hill so when people come back to

a place they loved, they can recognize it." At Ida and Georgia's request, the Insti-

tute of Government hosted a luncheon for community leaders, stalwart volunteers,

and interested citizens to hear Wright describe how to preserve what was uniquely

Chapel Hill. Ida and Georgia led the effort that in rapid succession established the

Chapel Hiil Preservation Society, started a revolving fund to facilitate the purchase

and restoration of the Betty Smith House by Richard and Mary Lamberton, and

convinced the university to allow the Chapel Hill Preservation Society to lease and

maintain the Horace Williams House for use as the society's headquarters and a

community resource for the arts. The rest, as they say, is history. But Wright's work

in identifying key structures and areas worthy of recognition and protection led

to the preparation of a National Register Nomination of the historic campus core

and the Franklin-Rosemary Streets residential districts by architectural historian

Catherine Bishir. These documents served as the springboard for the establishment

of a Chapel Hill Historic District Commission and later surveys of other historically

significant neighborhoods, now recognized as seven individual historic districts.

The culmination of these surveys and a recently updated survey of the town's

modern architecture is The Town and Gown Architecture of Chapel Hlll, North
Carolina, :1795 to rg75 by architectural historian Ruth Little. A veteran of four sur-

vey publications, Little holds a doctorate in art history from uNc-Chapel Hill and is

the author of the award-winning uNC Press book Sdcks and Stones: Three Centuries

o/ North Carolina GraoLemarkers. The Town and Gown Architecture of Chapel Hill, a

remarkable compilation of history and architecture, is dedicated to the vision of
three very special people-Ida Friday, Georgia Kyseq and Bob Stipe. They under-

stood what Chapel Hili ls all about and how to preserve it, and they helped the rest

of us to understand that, too.

-Diane 
Lea

FoREwoRD , xiii



Preface

Many good writers have treated the historic campus buildings of Chapel Hill, but this

is the first study of the whole townscape. This is not an attempt to redo the wonderful

histories already in print. I have attempted to show how the buildings of town and

gown embody their creators and their historical eras. If there is an underlying theme

to all of the town's historic buildings-its houses, commercial buildings, churches,

and so on-it may be their modesty and their modernity. The modesty arose partly

out of necessity, since the university is dependent on public funding and limited

private philanthropy. For their own homes, professors had more limited incomes

than the industrialists and businessmen who built lavish homes in nearby Durham,

for example. Chapel Hill's houses are comfortably middle-class. But their modesty

was more the result of a value common to the university community-the belief that

knowledge was more important than material possessions and ostentation.

Their modernity is the result of the progressive spirit of Chapel Hill, from the

invenrion of new types of buildings for a new institution-the first public univer-

sity in rhe counrry-to the symbolic significance of irc buildings statewide from era

to era. University faculty and staff, many from outside North Carolina, imported

fresh ideas. Until well into the twentieth century, when interstate highways finally

brought the world to the foot of N.C. Highway 54, Chapel Hlll was isolated. The

village had been deliberately located "far from vice" in t7g2, away from the influence

of any commerce that might interfere with the pursuit of knowledge for its own sake.

Yet from the beginning, far-flung ideas reached the university through faculty, staf(

and students.

Unhke the University of Virginia (uva), designed in one fell swoop in rBrT by

Thomas Jefferson as a textbook of classical architecture, the University of North

Carolina (uNc) grew slowly, designed by committee. Im oldest buildings were funded

grudgingly and erected in fits and starts. These buildings have always been the ful-

crum around whlch dlffering campus plans have been carried out. Old East and Old

West have been reoriented, but they stand their ground, facing each other as well

as the town. uvA was the unified vision of a single architect; uNc is the product of

dozens of architects over rwo centuries.

One unifying feature of the campus and the village is the stone walls that border

yards and streets, a tradition begun in 1838 by university president David Lowry

Swain and science professor Elisha N4itchell. In 186r, student Preston Sessoms wrote

that "there are nothing but rock fences in town, fences about three Get thick made

of rock, they last forever" (ABackwardGlance,34). During the mid-r96os, when the
xv



state's Speaker Ban Law prevented controversial figures from speaking on campus,

the stone wall on East Franklin Street at McCorkle Place was a featured campus

boundary. Here speakers delivered their messages standing on the town side of the
wall, while student audiences sar on the campus side. But the walls' mosr imporranr
function is social: the flat-topped campus walls are a perfect place for sitting.

The six chapters that follow explore the university's growth from the core around

the north quad (Mccorkle Place), the antebellum expansion, the grim years of the
Civil \Var and Reconstruction, and the major building campaigns of the twenti-
eth century. McCorkle Place filled up with buildings between rgor and rgrz. The
south quad (Polk Place) was built from rgzz to rg2g. Residential, commercial, and
institutional growth in the village followed the university's own fortune. Until the
r87os most residential development occurred along Franklin Street and Rosemary
Lane, the town's two main arreries. chapel Hill remained a village, arranged on the
flat land on top of "the Hi11," until after '!7orld War II, when university buildings
expanded across South Road into the woodlands and residential subdivisions ap-

peared in the "rumpled" counrryside around the hill. Town and gown architecture is

the subject of this rerrospecrive.

The following essay and catalogue of historic buildings and sites draw from
historical surveys and the many published works on the university and town.

John Allcotr's The campus at Chapel Hill was especially helpful. The survey in-
cludes architecture built up to rg75 in order to recognize the post-World War
II building boom in chapel Hill. The focus is on architectural highhghts of the
era rather than the entire pool of properties. This era's buildings are only now begin-

ning to be studied across the country, and chapter 6 examines the local Modernist
scene. Two major rg8os campus landmarks, Davis Library (rs83,) and the Dean E.

Smith Student Activities Cenrer (rg86), postdare rg75, but their monumental pres-

ence cannot be ignored.

Many of the older private buildings have never been thoroughly researched, and

their original owners and dates of construction are unknown. The earliest Chapel

HillCitl Directory, a common research tool for urban history, was not published until
rg57, after many of the buildings had already been constructed. Wherever possible,

oral history was used to understand the early years of these buildings. Perhaps this
book will inspire the detailed research they deserve. No doubt historical errors have

found their way into this publication, and for that, the author begs forgiveness.

'l1,,

Deep thanks are due to many people with an ablding love of Chapel Hillwho helped

create this book and collect the information herein. Diane Lea worked for a number
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of years to obtain a state grant to finance the book's preparation. Claudia Brown,

of the State Historic Preservation Office, worked equally hard to secure the fund-

ing at the state end of things. Catherine Frank, director of the Preservarion Soci-

ety of Chapel Hill, supervised the grant. The preservarion consulting {irm Circa,

Inc., staffed by Ellen Tirrco, April Montgomery, and Michelle Michael, conducted

a survey update of Chapel Hill in 2oot_zoo2 that provided new information on

buildings. Much of the information in this book is based on interviews and personal

contacts with individuals in Chapel Hill who hold the recenr pasr in rheir memories.

Doug Eyre, retired university professor of geography and author of a monthly column
on Chapel Hill history for the Chapel Hill Mqls, contributed much of the history for
twentieth-century buildings. Longtime Chapel Hill residents Rhoda Wynn, Robert

Stipe, Rebecca Clark, Velma Perry, Roland Giduz, and others provided answers to
many questions from their own memory or through research. North Carolina His-

toric Preservation Oflice photographer Bill Garrett took a number of the harder-to-

shoot photos for the book. Michael Southern, of the Historic Preservation Office,
made the beautiful catalogue maps that will be invaluable to readers who use the
book as a field guide.
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East, South, West, and the Chapel, ry95-t1zz

The University of North Carolina was the nation's first public university to open its

doors. The first state consrirution, adopted in q76, stipulated the establishment of
a public university, but not until r7B9 was it actually charrered, through a bill intro-
duced by Wllliam R. Davie, Revolutionary general and Halifax County planrer, at

a meeting of the General Assembly in Fayetteville. The board of rrusrees charged

with overseeing the new school appointed a committee to choose a site in the center

of the state. The trustees narrowed the choices ro within Iifteen miles of "Cyprett"
Bridge in chatham county, and in rygz the committee selected "Chappel-Hi1l."r
committee member James Hogg (t729_fio5), a Fayetteville merchant who later
moved to Hillsborough, was primarily responsible, for he persuaded his friends in
Orange County to donate the most acreage and money for the new school.

The new university site was "rumpled country . . . cut by streams and ridges,"

5o3 Get above sea level and z5o feet above the beginning of the coastal plain on
the east.2 The property contained two important roads. The east-west road linked
New Bern, Fayetteville, Raleigh (the newly designated capital), and Salisbury to the
west. The north-sourh road linked Perersburg, Virginia, to Pittsboro, the Chatham
County seat. Near the crossroads stood a small Anglican chapel, called the New
Hope chapel on the Hill, a "chapel of ease" that provided the planters of the area

a place of worship closer than the existing Anglican church at Hillsborough, some

twelve miles to the north. To the east stood the planmtion of Christopher Barbee,

the planter who donated the largest tract of land for the universiry. Among the other
donors were John Hogan, Matthew Mccauley, Edmund Jones, and Hardy Morgan.r

These landmarks of the late eighteenth century correspond to other landmarks
now. The chapel stood near where the Carolina Inn now stands. The north-south
road corresponds to South Columbia Street, the east-west road to Cameron Avenue.
Christopher Barbeet house probably stood on the presenr site of Paul Green's house
at the end of Greenwood Drive. The eastern plain was the site of Meadowmont
Farm in the twentieth century and is now the location of the Meadowmont devel-
opment. The campus was built one-half mile west of the edge of the ridge, known as

Point Prospect, where Gimghoul Castle now srands.

3
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Fig. r. rg4r Mural depict-

ing the ry93 laying of the

cornerstone for the Uni-
versirl of Norrh CaroLina

b1 ar tist D e an C or nw ell,

United States Post Office,

r79 East Franklin Street
(Photct bl Bill Garrett,
courtesy of the North
CarolinaOffice of Ar-
chiues and History)

On October ..2, t7g3, the cornerstone was laid for Old East, the first building

consrrucred at the University of North Carolina (Fig. r). This is considered the uni-

versity's birthday. At this time the town of Chapel Hill was nothing but lines on a

surveyor's plat and a vision in the minds of many of North Carolina's most progres-

sive citizens. Chapel Hill was described in q95 as "happily situated, with a delight'

ful prospect, charming groves, medicinal springs, light and wholesome air, and inac-

cessible to vice."4 Most of the leaders of the new university were staunch Federalists

who supported the authority of the federal government and, in turn, their own au'

thority as leaders of the state government. They believed that the government was

a progressive influence in the lives of all its citizens. The first buildings at the Uni-

versity of North Carolina, built from r7g5 to t8zz, as the newly created United

States of America was establishing its own public institutions, reflect this Federal-

ist philosophy. lt is fitting, therefore, that the new buildings exhibit the so-called

Federal style, a continuation of the Georgian Classical forms of the Colonial era,

yet with a lightness and delicacy inspired by the archaeological study of Roman

4 THE TOWN AND GOU/N ARCHITECTURE OF CHAPEL HILL
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residential architecture by British architects such as Robert Adam. These forms be-

came specifically American when disseminated through published pattern books,

especially those of American carpenter Asher Benjamin, and when interpreted by

American craftsmen. The university's first buildings were grouped in a Palladian

quadrangle symbolic of classical harmony. Although austere, befitting a frugal public

educational enterprise, their Flemish bond brickwork with glazed headers and the

graceful arched windows of the chapel, Person Hall, reveal the era's delight in archi-

tectural delicacy.

The man most responsible for the establishment of the university was General

Wllliam R. Davie (:'756-:,8zo), born in England, who emigrated to the colonies as a

boy of ten in 1766. He attended the College of New Jersey (later Princeton Univer-

sity), married a woman of wealth in Halifax, North Carolina, and was elected to the

House of Commons in 1784. In 1798, when he was elected governor of North Caro-

lina, he became the state's last governor who belonged to the Federalist Party, which

supported a strong, centralized federal government. For the university's first decades,

until his death in r8zo, he was its principal guide and counselor. It was Davie who

influenced Joseph Caldwell to move from Princeton to become the first president of

the university in qg6. Caldwell remained president until 1835.

Since the state commissioners were designing the first pubhc university in the

United States, it was necessary to cast far afield for models for the new campus. At
the beginning of the Revolutionary \Var, the thirteen states had nine colleges. Only

one-the College of Philadelphia (now the University of Pennsylvania)-was non-

sectarian.5 The North Carolina commissioners laid out a town plan, containing the

university "ornament ground" of g83/ acres, bisected by two avenues, Point Pros-

pect Avenue (present Cameron Avenue) running east, and Grand Avenue running

north toward town, whlch existed only on paper and was never built (Fig. z). The

town contained twenty-four two-acre lots and six four-acre lots, arranged along both

sides of an east-west avenue called Franklin Street after Benjamin Franklin, advo-

cate of a practical education for American students, rather than an aristocratic edu-

cation such as that given at Harvard University. A second avenue, running north-

south, bounded the university on the west and was named Columbia Street after

the goddess Columbia, a symbol of the new American Republic. The planned build-

ing arrangement was a three-part structure facing Point Prospect Avenue, and the

original building, East, was intended to be one wing of this structure. This plan was

abandoned and instead the present north-facing scheme, a Palladian arrangement

with a center main building and flanking side buildings, was constructed.6 East, the

first building, a two-story dormitory containing sixteen rooms completed in 1795,

resembled other university dormitories in the United States, such as a dormitory

built at Yale University in rygz. (lt was renamed Old East after a newer pair of build-

EAST, sourH, wEST, AND THE cHApEL, r795-r8zz , 
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Fig. z. Plan of the uil\age

of ChapelHiLl, drawn
around t797 (Courtesy of
the U niu er sity Ar chiu e s,

Uniuersity of North Caro-
lina, ChapelHill)

ings were built on either side of the original buildings in 1859.) The floor plan is es-

sentially two houses joined side-to-side, each with a center hall and two rooms on

each side. Chimneys provided a fireplace for each dormitory room. It is difficult to

imagine now the original appearance of Old East because in r1zz, when its com.
panion dormitory, Old West, was built, Old East received a third floor to provide

more dormitory space for the growing student body. The dormitories, although plain

and gaunt in their architectural design, followed the genteel standards for fine Fed-

eral construction in piedmont North Carolina. The walls have handmade brick laid

in decorative Flemish bond, with glazed headers. The tall sash windows have stone

sills. The entrances are double doors with tall transoms. Compared to log cabins,

the standard educational buildings of the day, these were luxurious quarters for the
young men at the university.

6 rur rowN AND GowN ARCHITECTURE oF cHApEL HILL



A house for the president was also completed in r7g5. Part of it was moved and

reused as a private dwelling in r9r3 when Swain Hall was built on its site at the
northeast corner of Cameron Avenue and South Columbia Street. The house was a

Federal side-hall-plan house that would have been at home in New Bern.7

The other early campus buildings were as simple and unpretenrious as the dormi-
tory. The university chapel, Person Hall, was constructed from 1795 to 1798 a short
distance to the north. It was originally an elegant one-srory side-gabled building, six
bays wide, which faced the central unopened avenue that led from campus to the
main commercial avenue (Fig. :). Its religious function is symbolized by the round
arches of its door and windows rather than by more overtly religious Gothic arches.

After all, the university was a public institution without ries ro any particular Chris-
tian denomination. Until 1837, commencemenr was held here "whereat were gath-
ered, it was said, 'more distinguished men and beautiful women' than at any other
spot in North Carolina."S The other wings of the building were added later, after it
had become a classroom building.

In r79B there were eighty studenrs, most living in old East. Each room held

Fig. 3. PersonHall,
constructed from r7g5

to ry98 (Courtesl of the

North Corclina Collec-
tion, Uniuersity of North
Carolina, ChapelHill)
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Fig. 4. SouthBuilding,
constructedfrom ryg8 to

r8r4. Documentary uiew

ca. t9go. (Courtesy of the

North Carolina Collec-

tion, UniuersitJ of North
Carolina, ChapelHill)

four students. Half of these were placed in the preparatory department because they

were not yet prepared for college classes. For some years there were but two fac-

ulty members-Caldwell and tutor Charles W. Harris. The university followed the

model of Princeton, with compulsory morning prayer held in Person Hall.e

The main campus building, South Building, was begun in r7g8, although it was

not finished until r8r4. Built as both a dormitory and classroom building, it has

served as the administrative building and a symbol of the university since its con-

struction (Fig. +). The monumental three-story building, eleven bays wide with a

central pavilion, was modeled on Nassau Hall at Princeton University. University

trustee Richard Dobbs Spaight, a signer of the U.S. Constitution and a North Caro-

lina governor from r7g2 to 1795, is traditionally credited with the building's formal

B rue rowN AND GowN ARCHITECTURE oF cHAPEL HILL
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design. Its great dignity comes from the high raised basement, Flemish bond brick

walls, pedimented pavilion, and rows of windows with stone sills and stuccoed flat

arches. On completion, the Dialectic and Philanthropic societies, the two debating

clubs established at the opening of the university, finally had their first real halls.

While writers have called the university's first buildings "honest" and spartan,

they represented a new type of public architecture-structures in which higher edu-

cation would take place. Archibald Henderson thought the simple'tolonial" style of

Old East, South Building, and Old West was influenced by the buildings of Prince-

ton University and colleges in New England.ro

lTilliam Dunn Moseley, class of r818, reminisced in his old age about the campus

and village as he knew it as a student. He lived in Old East, then called the "new-

College." Along the main street were about a dozen houses, two stores---Tiice's Store

and Tom Thylor's store-and Hilliard's tavern.lr In r8zo the university had around

r16 students. All of the private buildings remembered by Moseley are gone except for

two of the houses still standing in the first block of East Franklin Street, one block

east of the campus. William Hooper, professor of ancient languages, built his house

about r8r4 at 5o4 East Franklin Street (Fig. s). Across the street at number 5or,

widow Jane Puckett built a house about the same time. The houses are two stories

of simple Federal form, with side-gable roofs, brick gable-end chimneys, and center

front doors with transoms. Like the campus buildings of the era, the houses repre-

sent simple but fine workmanship. The backcountry of North Carolina was a thrifty
society not given to architectural gewgaws.

Two other houses that may have been standing in rSrB survive in Chapel Hill.
A few blocks north of campus, at 4r9 Hillsborough Street, stands a simple log house

on a tract of land purchased in rSrz by professor Andrew Rhea, who may have built
the log house for his own residence.rz It is known as the "Old Thvern," although

whether it ever actually functioned as such is not documented. A frame house a

short distance northeast of campus, at 38r Tenney Circle, was a dwelling, probably

a caretaker's cottage, on the John B. Tenney Farm. The one-story frame house with a
side-gable roof and gable-end brick chimneys has much interior fabric surviving from

the days when a future American president may have rented a room here. James K.

Polk (president of the United States in the r84os), a member of the class of r8r8,

and William Horn Battle, class of r8zo, took room and board with the Tenneys and

walked two miles to campus.ll Between r8r8 and 1823, enrollment at the university

increased from about n6 to ry3. In rSzz the fourth and fifth campus buildings-
Old West, the corresponding dormitory to Old East, and Gerrard Hall-were con-

structed from designs by state architect William Nichols. Nichols is best remembered

as architect of the old North Carolina State House, the old Alabama state capitol,

EAST, sourH, wEsr, AND THE cHAeEL, t7g5-t8zz g



Fig, 5. Hooper-Kyser

House, ca. r9r4
the Mississippi state capitol, and the Mississippi governor's mansion.l4 For the dor-

mitory, Nichols's creativity was constricted by his instrucrions to build a srrucrure of
like design to Old East. Nichols's design for Gerrard Hall made it the first Romantic

structure on campus, thus beginning a new chapter in university architecture.

Notes

r. Powell, The First State Universir), 3-ro; Snider, Light on the Hill, rc-r4.
z. Russell, These Old Stone Walls, ry.

3. Battle, Hlsrory of the Uniuersitl of Norrh Carolina, r;23.

4. Letter from Charles !7. Harris to Dr. Charles Harris, June r, r7g5, quoted in Hender-

son, The Campus of theFirstStatelJniuersiq, r6-q.
5. Powell, The First State Uniuersity, 5.
6. Allcott, The Campus atChapelHill,6-9.

7. Powell, The First State Uniuersity, 16.

8. Henderson, The Campus of the First State Uniuersity, 67-68.

9. Ibid., 4r,66; Russell, TheseOld Stone V/alls, 18.
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David Swain's Romantic Campus, 18zz-186o

The antebellum era at the university, when it became the second largest institution

of hlgher education in the United States, corresponds to the Romantic era in arts

and architecture. Town and gown landmarks such as the Playmakers Theatre, the

Chapel of the Cross, Phillips Law Office, and New East and New West show a sense

of beauty and an appreciation of nature that deflne the Romantic movement, in

contrast to the classical Federal values of the university's founding era. Romanticism

valued the imagination, the exotic, the distant past, the emotional, and the indi-

vidual over the rational, orderly, intellectual, and universal. In search of the "pictur-

esque," a wild or natural beauty or a pleasant unfamiliarity or strangeness, architects

at Chapel Hill designed churches and a ballroom to look like a Greek temple or a

Gothic chapel, a law office to look like a medieval gatehouse, and a dormitory and

classroom building to look like an Italian villa.

Gerrard Hall, designed in tSzz to replace the original chapel, occupies a transi-

tional position between the severe Federal-style campus buildings of the {irst era and

the Romantic Classical buildings of the antebellum era. Nichols, an English-born ar-

chitect and engineeq served in the r8zos as the frrst North Carolina state architect.

Early in his renure, he remodeled the old state capitol in Raleigh into a fine Federal

building. Gerrard Hall was the frrst Romantic design on campus because its monu-

mental lonic portico, facing south (with four two-story-tall masonry columns), was

a Romantic Classical feature (Fig. 6). During the Romantic era of the early r8oos,

architects began to borrow elements of classical Greek and Roman architecture to

express ideals of national identity and cultural heritage. The portico was demolished

in rgoo because the trustees could not comprehend why a porch had been placed

on the rear of the building. After all, the spine of the campus remained Cameron

Avenue.

David Lowry Swain (18or-1868), a native of the Asheville area whose father

was from Massachusetts and whose mother was descended from the Lanes of Wake

County, was a fiscal moderate and champion of the interests of western North Caro-

lina. He married Eleanor White, the granddaughter of Revolutionary governor Rich-

CHAPTER 2
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Fig. 6. GerrardHall, uiew

ca. r\go with the portico
(Courtesy of the North
C ar olina C ollec tion, U ni -

uersity of North Carolina,
ChapelHiLl)

ard Caswell. While governor in the early r83os he championed internal improve-

ments, including railroad construction. At Joseph Caldwell's death in 1835, Swain

was appointed president of the university and went on to serve until his death in
1868, the longest term of any president. During his administration rhe state and the

university prospered. By 186r the university had nearly five hundred students and

was the largest educational institution in the South.

The university's progressive leaders were patrons of the arts and cared passion-

ately about the university's aesthetic appearance in addition to its educational mis.
sion. Trustees such as William Gasron, Robert Donaldson, and John Motley More.

head helped to create the national Romantic movement in architecture through

their patronage of architect Alexander Jackson Davis. William Gaston (r778-t841,
a ryg6 graduate of Princeton and the father-in-law of Robert Donaldson, champi.

oned religious liberty and racial justice as a Roman Catholic and as an attorney. His
r83z commencement address to the university advocating the abolition of slavery

was reprinted and distributed widely.r For Gaston, Davis designed one of the earliest

Roman Catholic chapels in North Carolina in the r83os (never built).2 Ar Gaston's

death in r844, Davis designed a Roman sarcophagus monumenr for his grave in Ce-

dar Grove Cemetery in New Bern.

!7ith Swain's leadership and strong involvement from certain trustees, the Ro-
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mantic campus evolved. Soon after arriving in Chapel Hill in 1836, Swain con-

ceived the idea of using the plentiful fieldstones around the campus to build rock

walls to keep out livestock. In rB3B he hlred professor Elisha Mitchell to superintend

construction of a wall enclosing the campus. The work wenr on unril 1843. Mitchell,
raised in Connecticut where such walls were traditional, proved to be the perfect su-

pervisor for the project. ln r84o Swain wrote to Scottish architect David Paton, who
was finishing up the smte capitol's construction in Raleigh, to inquire about covering
the university buildings with lime. Swain informed an associare that the university
was "about to change the dull aspect of the college edifices" by coating them with a

tinted mixture of cemenr, lime, and water.l Thus began the stucco tradition for the
campus buildings, which continued throughout the nineteenth century.

In October rB43 the rrustees

Resolved that Govr. Swain be and he is hereby instructed to open a corre-

spondence with Robt. Donaldson, Esq. Of New York in relation to the best

mode of procuring plans for the Society Halls at Chapel Hill, and for obtain-
ing the services of an individual skilled in laying our pleasure grounds, land-

scape gardening, etc.; and the prices at which these plans can be had and

the services had.a

Robert Donaldson (r8oo-r872) was a native of Fayetteville and member of the
class of r8r8. Donaldson married Susan Gaston, the daughter of William Gasron,
in rSzB and moved with her to New York City. There he became a parron of the
young artists and writers of the emerging Romantic movement. His architect friend
Alexander Jackson Davis remodeled the Donaldsons' residence in Manhattan, over-
Iooking the Battery. Under the influence of Romanticism's celebration of nature,
Donaldson moved in the mid-r83os to an estate on the Hudson River known as

Blithewood, which became one of the earliest manifestations of the new Romantic
movement. Davis designed gatehouses, a gardener's cottage, and other structures for
the English garden that Donaldson developed. Landscape architect Alexander Jack
son Downing featured Blithewood in his popular r84r pattern book, Landscape Gar-
dening and Rural Architecture. Downing dedicated his r84z book, Cotrage Resid,ences,

to Donaldson as "arbiter elegantiarum," the arbiter of elegance.

Donaldson remained deeply involved with North Carolina as philanthropist and
patron. In the r83os he hired Davis to design a hall for the Philanthropic Society. It
was never built, but Davis carried on a correspondence with President Swain about
gardening, landscaping, architects, and furnishings.s In November rg43, swain
wrote Donaldson the following letter authorizing him to engage Davis as the univer-
sity's planner, architect, and landscape architect.

DAVID swAIN's RoMANTIC cAMpus, rSzz-r86o t5



Raleigh, z9thNou. rB43

My Dear Sir

Your favor in relation to Society Halls, improvement of College grounds,

&c. &c. was rec'd ten days since-(after informal consultation with some of

the tustees) I feel myself authorized to invite Mr. Davis to visit the Univer-

sity with a view to the execution of working drawings, specifications &c. &c.

on the terms indicated in your letter, the sum ($roo) required for travelling

expenses, can either be remitted to you, or paid to him, on his arrival here by

Chas. Manly Esq as you may direct. . . .

I fear that our resources will not justify an immediate appropriation for

the establishment of a Botanical garden and pattern farm-l am not without

hopes however of being able to obtain such aid from the next General assem'

bly as will justify our attempting it on a proper scale-ln the meanwhile we

will have enough to do in erecting the Halls & in improving the grounds and

on the latter subject I would be very glad to have a communication and a very

full one from you-Will not Mr. Davis be competent to advise and direct on

this hand?

. . . Our village is improving--The Episcopalians have erected the wall

(brick) of a very neat church planned by Mr. Walton [sic] of Philadelphia-

The Presbyterians & Methodists have subscription papers in circulation for

similar undertakings-Judge Battle and other respectable families are settling

among us, and at present, I think there is no difficulty in pronouncing it the

most moral & best governed village in the state.6

University trustee John Motley Morehead (qg6-t866), class of r8r7, was also

deeply involved in campus design. He was called "the father of modern North Caro-

lina" because of his efforts at internal improvements, most notably as the builder

of the east-west North Carolina Railroad in the mid-r85os. Morehead was goveP

nor from r84r to 1845 and a university trustee from r8z8 to his death in 1866. Af-

ter Morehead had conferred with Swain and Davis in Chapel Hill about the design

of Smith Hall in 1844, he took Davis to his home in Greensboro to help him plan

his new residence. The house Davis designed, which Morehead named Blandwood,

is a stuccoed brick urban villa with deep bracketed eaves and a central three-story

entrance tower with flanking dependencies. Blandwood created a new style-the

American Italianate style-that was published in one of Alexander Jackson Down-

ing's pattern books and influenced suburban architecture nationally. Davis used a

version of this modern bracketed style in the additions to Old East and Old \Uest in

the mid-r84os.

In the r83os Alexander Jackson Davis (r8o3-r892) of New York City was the
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best-known architect in the United States (Fig. z). He began his ca-

reer as an architectural illustrator, and his beautiful watercolor ar-

chitectural designs helped to popularize his work. In r8z9 he

became the partner of Ithiel Town, known for his Greek Re-

vival designs. From 1833 to r84o, the firm of Town and Davis

(as well as Williams Nichols and David Paton) designed the

new North Carolina state capitol in Raleigh, a Neoclassical

masterpiece.

Davis became a full-blown Romantic designer in his later

career. He almost single-handedly popularized the Gothic Re-

vival style in residential architecture in the r84os. He visited

the university in February fi44 and remained in communica-

tion with Swain and the trustees until the mid-r85os.7 In 1846, to

provide new halls for the Dialectic and Philanthropic societies, Da-

vis designed north additions to Old East and Old West, providing each

literary society with dormitory rooms, a library, and a debating hall. The lit-
erary societies maintained their own libraries, and these served as the university's

primary library facilities until the lare r8oos, even though a campus library, Smith
Hall, was built in r85z. As cenrers of university life, the Di and the Phi were self-

governing societies that molded young men into skillful orators who became the
leading lawyers and public figures of North Carolina for many years thereafter.s The
additions have Greek Revival facades featuring colossal pilasters and a pediment. A
characteristic Davisean bracketed cornice unifies the new wings and the original
buildings. The old buildings, which had always faced outward to both the east and

the west, were now reoriented boldly northward toward Franklin Street. Instead of
the evenly spaced windows that would have been expecred, Davis pierced the north
facade's entire central bay with a wide entrance and continuous translucent window
that he called'bne good eye, altho' that be Cyclopean in its characrer" (Fig. 8).e The
talented artisans who brought Davis's designs into reality were Virginians Dabney

Cosby, who worked in Raleigh, and Thomas Day, a free black cabinetmaker who

worked in Milton, North Carolina, and provided interior woodwork and furnish-
ings. The Phi Society was given Old East; the Di, Old \Uest, giving rise to the cusrom

that students from eastern North Carolina joined the Phi and those from wesrern

North Carolina joined the Di.ro

The return of alumnus James K. Polk to Chapel Hill to give the commencement

address of fi47 prompted the construction of a picturesque architectural landmark
on the edge of the campus, the Eagle Hotel annex (located on the presenr site of
Graham Memorial Hall, on McCorkle Place). Polk was born in ryg5 in Mecklen-
burg County and graduated from uNc in r8r8. A hardworking, decisive, and pro-

Fig. 7. Portrait of Alexan-
der Jackson Dauis (Cour-

tesy of the North Carolina
C ollection, U niu er sity of
North Carolina, Chapel

HilI)
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Fig. 8. View of OldWest

following its r 848 enlarge-

ment (CourtesJ of the

North Carolina Collec-

tion, Uniuersity o/ North
Carolina, ChapelHilL)

gressive leader, he was governor of Tennessee from lB39 to r84r and the eleventh

president of the United States from 1845 to rS4g--the only uNc alumnus so far to

hold that position. To welcome the president, Nancy Hilliard, proprietress of the Ea-

gle Hotel, added to that frame building a two-story stuccoed annex that featured a

crenellated porch of Romantic medievaldesign (Fig.s).

About the same time, Samuel Phillips, lawyer and professor, built a law office for

himself with a bold entrance porch that duplicates the porch of the annex (Fig. ro).

Dabney Cosby is the presumed builder of the law office, and probably also the Eagle

Hotel annex, which burned in rgzr. Such a Tudor-style porch was characteristic of

A. J. Davis's repertory, and he may have furnished designs for these structures. For

example, Bellemeade, the house Davis designed for the Cocke family on the James

River in Virginia, has a stepped gable porch.lr Cosby was a talented designer in his

own right and may have designed the hotel annex and law offrce himself. President

Polk died in 1849 just after completing his term of of6ce. Polk Place, the south quad-

rangle, is named for him.

As the university grew, Chapel Hill flourished. The village had "maintained a

mere snail's pace in development" in the first half of the r8oos.12 By 1836 there was

one store and one doctor, but no schools or churches (the old Anglican chapel hav-
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Fig. g. Eagle Hotel annex,
fi47 (demciished) (Cour-

tesy of the North Carolina
Collection, U niu ersity of
NorthCarolina, Chapel
HilT)

Fig. rc. PhillipsLaw
Office, r84os, 4ot East
Franklin Street (Photo b)
Kinslel Dey)

ing long since disappeared). Growth quickened in the mid-rg5os, and from then un-
til the start of the Civil !7ar in 186r "handsome residences had sprung up all over
the town, [and] new streets were opened." By 1869 there were eight or ten stores, four
churches, two drugstores, six schools, and a population of one thousand.lr
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Fig. rt.Chapelofthe
Cross, 846, jo4 East

Franklin Street (Photo bJ

Bill G arrett, cour tesy of
rhe North Carolina Office

of Ar chiu es and Hi stor y )

In the r84os the Episcopalians and Presbyterians constructed their first build-

ings, of the Gothic Revival and Greek Revival styles characteristic of these congre-

gations. The Episcopal chapel, called the Chapel of the Cross, at 3o4 East Frank

lin Street on the edge of the campus, was designed by noted Philadelphia architect

Thomas U. \Ualter, one of the principal popularizers of the Gothic Revival style in

the United States. The stuccoed brick building has a crenellated entrance tower,

buttresses, and lancet-arched windows (Fig. rr)'

Robert Donaldson, a devout Presbyterian, furnished a church design by A. J. Da-

vis for the Presbyterian congregation in Chapel Hill in 1847. The university lead-

ership, including President Swain and a majority of the faculty, were Presbyterians.

Davis's design, a small stuccoed brick temple with a bracketed cornice and a lou-

vered belfry, was completed in 1848 (Fig. rz). The style is based on a Greek temple

but was described by Davis as "Vitruvian Tuscan." It was derived from the Roman

architecture of Vitruvius as revived in the Italian Renaissance. The church, located

on the north side of the zoo block of East Franklin Street, was replaced in rgzo by

a larger building.
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Davis's primary legacy on the university campus is Smith Hall, completed in
1852. Now known as Playmakers Theatre, the building had been long sought by stu-

dents as a ballroom where commencement exercises and dances could be held. In
order to persuade the faculty to approve construction, the trustees stipulated that it
should be a library as well. Davis worked on the design for over a year, beginning in
1849, and created an elegant Greek temple with brick walls stuccoed and scored to

resemble granite blocks and a pedimented portico. It has fluted columns and stone

capitals carved with corn and wheat instead of the usual Greek acanthus leaves (Fig.

r3). Located east of South Building, with its facade facing east, the building bal-

anced Gerrard Hall on the west, giving the campus a symmetrical composition. Hills-

borough builder John Berry constructed the building.

After nearly a decade of stylish campus and ecclesiastical architecture had

beautified Chapel Hill, its private citizens became more adventurous in residential

design in the r85os. The most unusual residential structure in Chapel Hill is the

polygonal annex to the house at 6rr East Franklin Street known as the Horace

Fig. rz. Presblterian
Church of ChapelHill,
designed by Alexander

Jackson Daois and com-
pleted in r8q8 (demol-

ished) (Courtesy of the

North Carolina Collec-
tion, U niu er sitl o/ North
Carolina, Cha1elHill)
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Flg. 13. Smirh HalI (Play-

makers Theatre) , Cam-

eron Auenue, designed b1

Alexander J ackson Douis
and completed in r85z
(Courtesy of theNorth
C ar olina C ollecti on, U ni-
uersity of North Carolina,

ChapelHill)

!7i11iams House. Chemistry professor Benjamin S. Hedrick, a native of Salisbury,

purchased the property from the university for $3oo in 1855 and probably soon af-

terward had the polygonal room to the rear, connecred by a breezeway, added to the

original simple farmhouse. The stuccoed one-story room has a central chimney and

corner recessed porches with trapezoidal brick posts (Fig. r4). Given its bold modern

appearance, it is tempting to speculate that the room was designed by Davis.

Hedrick (1827-1886) achieved notoriety in his own right as the only professor

ever fired from the university for his political beliefs. He was raised near Salisbury

and was a member of uNC's class of r85r. He later studied at Harvard University and

in 1854 became a professor of chemistry at uNC. In 1856 he was asked if he would

vote for the Republican anti-slavery, "free soil" candidate, John C. Fremont, in the

national election. When he replied yes, \W. W. Holden, editor of the Raleighstandard

and a powerful politician, attacked Hedrick, maintaining that no antlslavery pro-

22 THE TOWN AND GOWN ARCHITECTURE OF CHAPEL HILL



fessors should be allowed in North Carolina schools. Hedrick was dismissed by the

university and moved to New York and later Washington, D.C., where he worked in
the U.S. Patent Office.la

In 1856 professor Samuel Phillips built a new residence for his family at 4o7 East

Franklin Street, next to his law oflice. The rwo-srory house, of newfangled gable-

and-wing form, was the first town dwe[ing to depart from the conservative rectan-
gular Federal and Greek Revival forms. Its front wing and casement windows set into
segmental arches reflect the romanric Italianate Revival style designed by A. J. Davis
and other architecrs and popularized in A. J. Downing's parrern books of the r84os.

Phillips's contractor may have copied these features from a partern book.

The only known example of the Gothic Revival cortage, a mode favored bv A. J.

Davis for its picturesque appeal and championed in A. J. Downing's patrern books,
is the cottage built in the r85os at 3zr West Cameron Street by Dr. Johnston Blake-
ley Jones, one of rwo antebellum village physicians. Dr. Jones was the son of Edward

Jones, a solicitor-general of North carolina, who lived at Rock Rest plantation in
Chatham county. A wealthy eccenrric, Dr. Jones likely used plans from a patern
book such as Downingt Rural Residences, with model houses designed by Davis. His
cottage, built of picturesque board-and-batten siding, with a front gable with Gothic
windows, projecting wing with a bay window, and a porch with arched latticework
bays, was a marvel of the residential Gothic style (Fig. r5). The house became the

Fig. 14. Po$gonalannex
of the Horace Williams
House, 6t r East Franklin
Street, probab\ added

about 1855 b1 Professor

Benjamin S. Hedrick
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Chi Psi fraternity house when the property was purchased by W. C. Coker in 1928,

and it burned in rgzg. Its site is now occupied by the splendid Tirdor Revival Chi Psi

fraternity house.15

The Methodists and the Baptists also constructed their {irst churches during

the r85os. The Methodist Church, located at zor East Rosemary Street, is a hand'

some Greek Revival-style stuccoed brick building with a pedimented facade and

a wooden bracketed Italianate cornice. The architect is said to have been a Mr.

Horn from Pittsboro, North Carolina.r6 The church, built in 1853, was no doubt

influenced by the earlier Tuscan-style Presbyterian Church. In the twentieth cen-

tury the church building served as the office of architect jim \Uebb, a preservation-

minded Modernist. The Baptists built a fashionable brick chapel in 1855 on their

property on West Franklin Street at the corner of Church Street (Fig. 16). The ar-

chitect was Thomas Tefft of Rhode Island, who later popularized the Romanesque

Revival style in the United States.rT

By 1855, the university's dormitories were overflowing with students able to at-

tend uNc thanks to statewide economic prosperity, so President Swain requested

permission from the faculty and trustees to construct new residence halls. They went

back to A. J. Davis, who had served so ably in the past. ln the summer of 1856 Davis

visited and submitted several designs for alterations and additions to existing build-

ings. About rB57 William Percival of Richmond, Virginia, supposedly a retired army
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Fig. r5. Dr. Johnston

Blakeley Jones House,

r85os, 3zt WestCameron

Street. It burned in ryz 9.
(Courtesy of the North
C ar olina C ollecti on, U ni-

uersity o/ Norrh Carolina,

ChapelHill)



oflicer, relocated to Raleigh, where he designed the Gothic Revival-style First Bap-

tist Church (r8sz), the ltalianate-style Boylan Mansion (ca. rB57), and, in Caswell

County, the Romantic Classical-style Caswell County Courthouse (1858).18 By the

time the trustees took action on the two dormitories, in 1858, they hired Percival

instead of Davis. Percival wooed the trustees with his exuberant Italianate design

and an experimental central heatirig system for the proposed dormitories. Contrac-

tor Thomas H. Coates completed the buildings in 186r (Fig. rz). They contained

dormitory rooms, classrooms, and a large library and debating hall quarters for the

Philanthropic (New East) and Dialectic (New \X/est) societies, which had outgrown

their spaces in Old East and Old West. Both buildings have tripartite Italianate de-

signs with central pavilions adorned with pilasters and a belvedere, and flanking

wings with a lower roofline. Walls are stuccoed to resemble stone blocks. Altogether

the buildings evidence the considerable influence of Davis's remodeling of Old East

and Old West with stuccoed walls, pilasters, and bracketed cornices. Unfortunately

the much-anticipated heating system never worked.

Fig. 16. ChapelHill
BaptistChurch, fi55. k
was demolishedin t96r.
(Courtesy of the North
C ar oLin a C olle ction, U ni-
o,ersiry of North Carolina,

ChapelHilL)
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Fig. ry.NewWest,by
ar chi t e c t W illi am P er c iu al,
r\58-fi6r (Courtesy

of the North Carolina
C oll ection, U niu er sity of
NorthCarolina, Chapel
HiLI)

In the late r85os Mary Southerland hired noted'Warrenron, North Carolina, ar.

chitect Jacob Holt to build her house on \Uest Franklin Street just west of Columbia
Street. Holt designed the house in his characteristically flamboyant Italianate Re-

vival style, with such machine-sawn woodwork as heavy cornice brackets, large cor-

ner pilasters, and round-arched windows. The big front porch had ornare brackets,

drip courses, and posts. University Square now stands on the site of the house, but a

number of Jacob Holt plantation houses have survived throughout lil/arren County,
on the Virginia border.

Although no structures associated with Chapel Hill's African American slave

population have survived, slaves' presence in the village and on the campus in ante-

bellum days is well documented. Professor William Mercer Green and his slaves con-

structed the Gothic Revival-style brick Chapel of the Cross in the early r84os on
East Franklin Street. Slave artisans constructed most of the other campus and vil-
lage buildings as well during this era.le November Caldwell (r7g--t87z), a slave of

Joseph Caldwell, and Dave Barham, who belonged to Elisha Mitchell, were beloved
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by the students for whom they supplied wood and congenialhumor.2o The family of
mathematics professor James Phillips, who lived at 5ol East Franklin Street in the

antebellum years, owned slaves Ben and Dilsey Craig, who lived in a brick kitchen
in the rear yard. Dilsey (r8oz-r8g4) remained with the family for many years afrer

emancipation. Perhaps the best-known slave in Chapel Hill was poet George Moses

Horton, who belonged to a farmer in nearby Chatham County and sold produce in
the village. Horton taught himself to read and write and exhibited a literary bent.

President Caldwell and Caroline Hentz, wife of language proGssor Nicholas Hentz,

encouraged Horton's writings. Horton earned money by composing romantic poems

for the students to send to their sweerhearts. His work was published in Raleigh,

New York, and Boston in the late rSzos and r83os. At the end of the Civil \Var

he went north with lJnion troops.2r November Caldwell, Dave Barham, and Dilsey

Craig are commemorated by distinctive memorials in the old Chapel Hill Cemetery

on the university campus.

Fig. rB. fi52 map of
ChapelHill (Courtesy

of the North Carolina
Collection, U niuer sity of
NorthCarolina, Chapel
HilI)
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Fig. 19. Mason-Lloyd-
Wiley House, ca. 186o,

4rz WestCameron

Auenue

By the eve of the Civil War, Chapel Hill had expanded to the north, easr, and

west. Houses stood on East Franklin Street, on East Rosemary Streer, along Hills-

borough Road extending to the north, and along lUest Franklin Street and \West

Cameron Avenue (Fig. r8). One of the most substantial dwellings west of the uni.

versity was the Mason-Lloyd-Wiley House at 4zr 
'West 

Cameron Avenue. The two.

story brick house with line brickwork and a central double door with sidelights may

have been built by Turner Bynum about 186o (Fig. rq).
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The Dark Interlude of \Var

and Reconstruction, 186r-1895

Long before the official onset of the Civil War in 186r, students departed the cam-
pus in droves to enlist in the Confederare army. At the height of enrollment in 1859,

over 45o students attended the university. By 186o only 75 remained. Although most

of the students and the younger faculty members enlisted, President Swain and the
older professors remained to teach a few students, and commencement was held ev-

ery year during the war. The university was one of only two Southern colleges that
remained open throughout the conflict.l The village was protecred by Confederate

forces until the end of the war. After the Confederate surrender, Union soldiers un-
der the command of General Smith Atkins occupied the town for several monrhs

in the spring of 1865. General Atkins met President Swain's twenty-one-year-old

daughter, Ellie. The couple fell ln love and married on August 23, t865. The ro-
mance caused nearly universal condemnation of Swain and of the university because

Swain was seen as a traitor to the Southern cause.2

Only twenty-two students enrolled at the university in the fall of 1865, and only
three graduated in June 1866. The university had lost irs endowment, which was in.
vested in Confederate money, and was deeply in debt. When Republican Wllliam
W. Holden of Raleigh was elected governor in 1868, he became ex officio chairman
of the university board of trustees. He sent a contingenr of black soldiers to guard

the university campus, and their acrions caused great indignation among the popu-

lace of the village. According to contemporary accounts, buildings were plundered,

horses were stabled in South Building and Smith Hall, buildings were crumbling,
and the campus was in a ruined state. The existing faculty were dismissed.

Under Reconstruction provisions, the new state constitution shut the univer-
sity down and dismissed its trustees in 1868. President Swain remained in his posi-

tion but was an old, broken-hearted man. On August rr, 1868, he died following a
buggy accident. In 1869 Holden appointed as presidenr Solomon Pool, class of 1853,

who had been a mathematics tutor and professor at the university in the late r85os

and throughout the Civil War. Pool, the most unpopular president ever to lead the

CHAPTER 3
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Fig. zo. Senlac, the home

of Kemp Plummer Battle,
ca. fi84, zo3 Battle Lane
(Courtesll of the North
C ar olina C olle ction, U ni -

uersity of North Carolina,

ChapelHiLl)

university, appointed an entirely new faculty of Republicans, and classes resumed.

Enrollment dwindled to nine students by r87o, due to the general poverty of North

Carolinians after the war and to distrust of the new Republican administration. On

February r, r87r, the trustees voted to close the university.l In one of the classrooms,

the following message appeared on a blackboard: "February r, r87r. This old univer-

sity has busted and gone to hell to-day."4 The university remained closed until 1875.

By this time, Holden had been removed from office by the Democrats, and a new

board of trustees had been appointed which returned the university to its pre-war

leadership. On March zo, t875, the General Assembly passed a bill that gave yearly

funding to reopen the university. On hearing the news, Cornelia Spencer, daughter

of university professor James Phillips, climbed to the belfry of South Building and

triumphantly rang the university bell to announce the reopening to the village.

Restoration of the buildings and campus following the Civil \Var was personally

t'

II,
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supervised by Paul C. Cameron, a wealthy alumnus from Raleigh. Cameron was on
the executive committee appointed by Governor Zebulon Vance to oversee the re-

opening of the university. Kemp Plummer Battle, son of Judge William Horn Battle,
who had helped to establish the law school at the university in the rg4os, was ap-
pointed the new president in 1876. He purchased his father's house on Battle Lane
and hired an architect named Mr. Keith to add flanking bedroom and parlor wings
with bay windows and a front porch in the bracketed Italianate style that was still
popular (Fig. zo). Battle named it Senlac after the site of the Battle of Hastings in
ro66, which put the invading Normans in control of England.5 A sense of optimism
pervaded Chapel Hill. Cornelia Spencer wrote ro a friend that "everybody is having
a new front fence."6 Battle's reworking of his father's antebellum house symbolized
the beginning of the restoration of the university to its former prosperity.

The 1869 population of chapel Hill comprised 483 whites and 454blacks.z cha-
pel Hill's freedmen established residential communities at the western edge of the
village, along west cameron Avenue, on'west Franklin Street, and in the potter,s

Field area west of Church Street, and they set up businesses throughout town. Blacks
continued to be valued workers at the university. Former slave November Caldwell
purchased one'half acre in the 4oo block of West Cameron Avenue and lived there
in retirement.s November's son Wilson Swain Caldwell was one of the first employ-
ees to be hired by the university when it reopened in rg75. He had been a slave of
President Swain, the second university president. \Tilson Caldwell was respected by
the students and townspeople, and in the mid-rggos they elected him to the town
commission. He died in r8gr.e

A number of blacks operated businesses in town in the late rgoos and early
rgoos' Tom Dunston ran a barbershop, and George Tiice and his wife Lucy owned
a shoe repair store and restaurant near the Presbyterian Church. University janitor
Tom McDade ran a grocery store and catering business. Bill Jones operated a ,,press-

ing club" on \Uest Franklin street. Jesse Jones owned the coop, a members-only
restaurant located on the western edge of campus near Columbia Street. The Afri-
can American communiryt real estate increased from gg lots in rgro to r7o lots in
tgzo.lo

soon after the waq Northern church groups and the Freeclman,s Bureau worked
in chapel Hill, as they did throughout the South, ro organize church congregarions
and schools for newly freed blacks. The euakers built a log school on wesr Frank-
lin street at rhe corner of Merritt Mill Road, which they operated from about lg66
to 1876. The Chapel Hill school committee supervised the school until the rgros.l
The lirst all-black church in chapel Hill was St. paul AME church, begun under a
fig tree near the Quaker school. The congregation built its church about r87o across
Merritt Mill Road from present St. Paul, built in tggz.tl

THE DARK TNTERLUDE oF wAR AND RECoNsTRUCTToN, rg6r_rg95 33



An event of profound significance to the renewal of the university in the late

nineteenth century was the coming of the first railroad to Chapel Hill. A univer'

sity railroad was chartered by the General Assembly in 1869, but due to political

infrghting, work did nor begin until ten years later. The General Assembly stipulated

that the terminus of the railroad must be no closer than one mile to the campus, in

order to prevent rhe commercial activity associated with railroads from corrupting

the students' morals or scholarship. In r88z the ten-mileJong rail connection from

University Station on the North Carolina Railroad, located a few miles southeast

of Hillsborough, to the wesrern edge of Chapel Hill was completed.tr The depot, 1o-

cated about three blocks west of Merritt Mill Road, became the nucleus of a new

town, called West End, and renamed Carrboro in the late r8oos.

With the new rail connection, student enrollment increased, and attendance at

the annual commencements began to grow. The trustees determined to construct a

new building to replace old Gerrard Hall, where public ceremonies of this type had

taken place since the r8zos. The trustees hired Philadelphia architect Samuel Sloan,

designer of the Executive Mansion in Raleigh, a masterful picturesque brick man-

sion in the Queen Anne style, begun in 1883. Named Memorial Hall in honor of

former president David Swain and alumni who had served in the Confederate army,

the large brick building with a great slate roo{ located on the west side of Gerrard

Hall, was completed in 1885. Sloan died of sunstroke in 1884 while working on the

building.

Sloan was one of the greatest architects of the Queen Anne style, a colorful re'

vival of late medieval English architecture, which emphasized polychromed brick and

slate patterns and ornare woodwork. Memorial Hall resembled a large auditorium-

type church, with a polygonal auditorium uninterrupted by supports. The exterior

featured rwin entrance towers and butrresses with rows of gables containing high

arched windows (Fig. zr). Distinguished by its voluminous multicolored slate roof,

the auditorium resembled the Memorial Hall erected at Harvard University in the

r87os in honor of its Civil War dead. But the building's design (probably regarded by

some as an urban, Yankee style), its bad acoustics, and its high cost of $45,ooo (more

than double the original esrimate of $zo,ooo) made it controversial from the begin'

ning. Called a "curious, turtle-like structure" and an "architectural monstrosity" by

campus historian Archibald Henderson, the building was demolished in r93o for

rhe construction of the present Memorial Hall on its site.ra It was the only university

building erected between 186r (New East and New \il/est) and rgoo (Carr Dormitory

and Alumni Buitding). The only other construction that took place at the university

in the late r3oos was the pair of wings added to the rear of Person Hall as the first

chemistry laboratories in 1886 and r89z.
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chapel Hill had changed little since the r85os when a New york newspaper cor-
respondent described the village in 1889.

chapel Hill is a quiet and beautiful village on a branch line of the . . .

North carolina Railroad and twelve miles from the famous tobacco rown
of Durham. The village with its broad streets, picturesque walrs, large yards,
gigantic grape-vines, noble elms, old fashioned houses, and the University
campus with its buildings of imposing proporrions, wide-spreading oaks
and acres of grass, is remarkably attractive.l5

In r89r George T. winston (r852-rg3z) became the sevenrh president of the
university at the age of thirty-eight. A native of Bertie county, North carolina,

Fig. zt. MemorialHall,
fi85; demolished ry3o
(Courtesl of the North
Car olina C ollection, Ll ni-
u er sitl of N or th C ar olina,
ChapelHill)
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Fig. z z. Horace Williams
House, r84os, ca. t855,

ca. r8go, 6rt East Frank'

lin Street (CourtesJ of the

NorthCarolinaOffice of
Archiues andHistorJ)

'Winston attended the university in the I86os and became professor of languages

and literature when the university reopened in rB75' He served as president until

1896, when he left to become the first president of the University of Texas.16 In rB79

he purchased Professor Benjamin Hedrick's house, with its curious polygonal an'

nex. Ca. r89o he unified the old farmhouse and its annex with an addition that re-

oriented the house to Franklin Street with a front porch, a spacious entrance hall,

and a parlor (Fig. zz). This thlrd phase, of Queen Anne style, is a catalogue of

machine.made High Victorian woodwork-intricate brackets, patterned beadboard

ceilings, and turned and pendanted posts and mantels-probably delivered to Cha-

pel Hill on the new train, known affectionately as "the'Whooper." The house is

known as the Horace Williams House for the philosophy professor who was its long-

time twentieth-century occupant. The Preservation Society of Chapel Hill now oc'

cupies it.

As the university gradually rebuilt its student body and added new faculty in the

r88os and r89os, new residences went up along East Franklin Street. ln r89z Pro-

fessor Collier Cobb moved from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology in Cam'
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bridge to become chairman of uNc's Department of Geology. The next year he built
a house at 5r7 East Franklin Srreet, then enlarged it in the late r8gos. The cottage,
one of the first Queen Anne-style houses in Chapel Hill, has a front wing with a

pedimented gable and Palladian window, a front porch that follows the contour of
the main facade, and upper windows with Gothic arched munrins. In 1897 chem-
istry professor Charles Baskerville built the most whimsical Queen Anne house in
town, at 5z4East Franklin Street. A large polygonal enrrance bay with a pyramidal
roofgives the house the appearance ofa one-story cottage, although it is two stories

tall. Such Queen Anne features as a turret, a gabled dormer with a balcony, and a

gabled ventilator enliven this pyramidal section (Fig. z:).
The west side of town attracted rhe business community due to its proximity

to West End, where the depot of the spur line to the North Carolina Railroad was

built in 1879. Henry "Hoot" Parterson, owner of a high-quality general store on Easr

Franklin Srreer, purchased a frame l-house ar 4o3 West Cameron Avenue in the
r89os and transformed it into a grand Queen Anne villa by adding a front gable

Fig. 4. Baskeruille-
Kennette House, buik for
Charles Baskeruille, fi 97,

524 East Franklin Street
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F ig. 24. Pool-Patterson

House, 4o3 West Cam-

eron Avenue, remodeled

ca. r8g5

with a rose window, exuberant bracketed eaves, a side bay window, ornate attic win'

dows, and a wraparound porch with hlghly decorative posts, brackets, and balusters

(Fie. z+).
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HAPTERC 4

Democracy Cries Out for Beauty

to Give It Backbone, 1896-1915

A new chapter in the architectural direction of the campus began in 1896 when

President W'inston departed for Texas and professor of history and education Ed-

win A. Alderman (186r-193r) was appointed president. Alderman was a native of

Wilmington, North Carolina, and a member of the class of rBBz. He taught and be-

came a superintendent in the Goldsboro school system in the r88os, then taught

at the new women's college, the State Normal and Industrial School in Greens'

boro, prior to becoming a professor at the university. During Alderman's relatively

short tenure as president (he left in rgoo to become president of Tulane University),

he presided over the return of classical architecture to the campus after the High

Victorian Gothic of Memorial Hall. Alderman supervised construction of the {irst

two buildings of a campaign that would complete the main campus located around

McCorkle Place. Carr Building, east of Smith Hall, and the Alumni Building, on

the east side of McCorkle Place, were completed in rgoo-r9or. Carr, designed by

Pearson and Ashe in 1899 in the Romanesque Revival style, was the flrst campus

building used solely as a dormitory. Alumni Hall, designed by Frank Milburn, is a

Beaux Arts-style building. The new construction was assisted by a generation of

wealthy North Carolinians loyal to the university, who began an era of private phi-

lanthropy in the r89os that allowed the university to expand to meet the demands

of a steadily growing student body. General Julian S. Carr, who made a fortune in

tobacco manufacturing in nearby Durham after the Civil War and then moved into

textile manufacturing, linanced the construction of Carr Dormitory in 1899. Mary

Ann Smith of Raleigh, heiress of a Chapel Hill merchant, gave a large bequest in

r8gr that f,nanced the Smith Building, a men's dormitory of Jacobethan Revival

style, at the turn of the century.

ln addition to presiding over new construction, Alderman, a man of great aes'

thetic sensitivity, made several small improvements to the old campus, almost un'

touched since 1858. Inspired by the follies built in English gardens in the eighteenth

century, he replaced the old well cover in front of South Building with a "little

4r



Fig. 25. SouthBuiLding

and the OldWell, abour
r93z (Courtesy of the

North Carolina Collec-
tion, Uniuersity of North
Carolina, ChapelHill)

temple . . . derived largely from the Temple of Love in the Garden at Versailles." Al-
derman also enhanced South Building with an elaborate stone pedimented doorway
copied from Westover, an eighteenth-century mansion on the James River in Vir-
ginia (Fig. z5). These features can be viewed as the prelude ro rhe Colonial Revival
program that later dominated university architecture. Reflecting on his aesthetic im.
pulses, whlch cost less than $5oo, he gave this justiflcation: "Democracy cries our for
beauty to give it backbone-spiritual backbone-that will make it so srrong that it
can and will defy self gratilication, mobs and red rerrors."r

Frank Pierce Milburn was the most prolific architect in the South in the early
twentieth century. Practicing out of Washington, D.C., Milburn was the consum-
mate eclectic designer of city halls, courthouses, churches, schools, and houses in
the medieval and classical styles. Milburn's compositions and the scope of his design
talent conformed to the Beaux Arts method that was ascendant in the early twen-
tieth century. Based on the Neoclassical teaching at the Ecole des Beaux Arts in
Paris, France, the Beaux Arts style was popularized in the United States at the rB93

columbian Exposition in chicago, where a "ciry" of Beaux Arts-style buildings was
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designed by such architects as Richard Morris Hunt and McKim, Mead and White

of New York City.

Milburn's Alumni Hall, of gray pressed brick, was the first campus building that

contained only classrooms and offices, with no dormitories. The two-story, eleven-

bay-wide building sits on a high rusticated granite basement and is enriched with

ornate Beaux Arts-style stone trim (Fig. z6). University publications praised it as

"modeled after the Boston Public Library, with the addition of a very beautiful clas-

sic portico."2

Francis Preston Venable (fi56-rqfi succeeded Alderman as president in r9oo.

A native of Virginia and graduate of the University of Virginia, Venable was an emi-

nent chemist with a Ph.D. from the University of Gottingen, Germany. He began

his ur.rc career as a professor of chemistry in rBBo. Since the university population

was booming, with 785 students who needed to be accommodated by r9o7, Venable

supervised construction of ten buildings that filled out the north quadrangle during

his tenure, which ended in r9r4.r A11 were designed by Frank \4ilburn in the Beaux

Arts, Collegiate Gothic, or Arts and Crafts styles. In addition to Alumni Hall, these

were the Mary Ann Smith Building, rgor; Bynum Hall, r9o4; the vuca building,

rgo4-tgo7i Howell Hall, 19o6; Carnegie Library (Hill Music Ha11), rgoT; Aber-

nethy Hall, r9o7; and Davie Hall, rgo8 (demolished in ry67 and rebuilt); Battle-

Vance-Pettigrew Dormitories, rgrz; and Swain Hall, rgr4.

Beaux Arts classicism, with its Neoclassical porticos and ornate stone cornices,

Fig.26. AlumniHaLl,
fig8, designedby Frank

PierceMilburn
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Fig. 27. Battle-Vance-

Pettigrew Building, r gr z,
de signed by F r ank P ier ce

ltlilburn (Photo by BiLL

Garrett, courtesl of the

North Carolina Office of
Archiqes andHistory)

is the style of many well-known public buildings in the United States-especially
libraries. The Carnegie Library (Hill Hall), financed by philanthropist Andrew
Carnegie, and Alumni Building are the most distinguished representarives of the
style on the university campus. Most of Milburn's other campus buildings have me-

dieval and Arts and Crafts designs that seemed appropriate for their functions.

His dormitories-the Mary Ann Smith Building and the Battle-Vance-Pettigrew

Building-are of Romantic medieval style, with decorative curved gables, oriel win-
dows with diamond panes, and other features of the so-called Collegiate Gothic
that was favored for residential buildings on campus in the early twentieth century
(Fig. zZ). His yr,rca building, a combination of auditorium and meeting rooms, has

a Gothic and T[dor design that symbolizes the building's function as a meeting hall
for "Christian young men." Swain Hall, the student dining hall, has a late medieval

style. Milburn's student infirmary, Abernethy Hall, is a gray brick Arts and Crafts-
style building.

%T
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Fig. 28. President's House,

rgo7, 4o2 East Franklin
Street, b1 architect Frank

P ier c e Milb urn (Photo b y

BiLl G arrett, cour tesy of
the North Carolina Office

of Archiues and History)

The house that Milburn designed in r9o7 for the president on Franklin Street

at the east edge of the campus has a welcoming monumental portico and one-story

side porches that evoke an antebellum plantation house (Fig. zB). The resemblance

is not accidental. Called "Southern Colonial," this style was used by the white elite

in the South from the r89os to the rgzos to reinforce their link with the planta-

tion aristocracy of the antebellum South.a The Colonial Revival style in general is a

manifestation of a conservative nationalism prompted by the massive influx of for-

eign immigrants and the continuing dislocations of the Industrial Revolution.

Frank Lloyd Wright created the startlingly modern Prairie style in the Chicago

area out of the Arts and Crafts mode early in the twentieth cenrury. The full ef-

fect of modern architecture would not be felt in Chapel Hill until after World War

II, but several professors' residences showed an awareness of the new national styles.

In rgo8 botany professor !7i11iam C. Coker built the house that most closely resem-

bles the Prairie style in Chapel Hill-his two.story stuccoed house on a tall stone

foundation on his estate, "The Rocks," norrh of the village (presently 6o9 North
Street) (Fig. zq). "The Rocks" Gatures a decidedly modern heldstone wainscor, sruc-

coed walls, and overhanging roof planes that integrate the house into the land-

scape. Large casement windows have Tirdor-style muntins that create a more pictur-

esque medieval mood than the Prairie-style houses of \Vright. Coker's architect is
unknown, but the design does not appear to be the work of Frank Milburns firm.

Private residential architecture in Chapel Hill was generally more old-fashioned

DEMocRACy cRrES our FoR BEAUTv ro GrvE rr BACKBoNn, r896-191 5 45



Fig. zg. William C. Coker

House ("The RocLs"),

r9o8, 6o9 Noth Street
(Courtesl of the Southern
Hi st or i c aL C olLe c ti o n,

Uniuersity of North Caro-
lina, ChapelHill)

than the new president's house or the Coker House. Modest Queen Anne-style
frame houses were built along McCauley Street in western Chapel Hill during the

first decade of the twentieth century. Thomas S7. Strowd built a substantial two-

story frame house with a high hlp roof, a two-story bay window with scalloped fret-

work, and a decorative wraparound porch at zzo McCauley Street about rgor. About

rqo5 John O'Daniel built a Queen Anne cottage at 237 McCauley Street; the house

features a front wing, a bay window, a high hip roof, and a wraparound porch with
a corner gazebo (Fig. 3o). Archibald Henderson (r877-ry63), a native of Salisbury,

North Carolina, uNc class of r8g8, was a mathematics professor at the university

from rBgB to his retirement in 1948. He published works of history and literary criti-

cism as well as mathematics. Henderson's r94g book, The Campus of the First State

Uniuersity, is an important study of campus architecture. Henderson built his house

at 7zr East Franklin Street in rgo5. His large frame house is loosely Colonial Re-

vival, with such lingering Queen Anne features as diamond panes and Gothic-type

window muntins and bay windows. The classical entrance with sidelights and tran-

som, the classical porch wrapping around the front and sides, and the deep hip roof

with widow's walk reflect the colonial and antebellum past (Fig. :r).
Similar houses of transitional late Queen Anne and Colonial Revival style were

built by merchants in west Chapel Hill. Isaac \7. Pritchard, an industrialist and de-

veloper who operated one of the earliest textile mills near the university depot in
Carrboro, built his spacious frame house at 4oo Ransom Street in the r89os. Most
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Fig. 3o. JohnO'Daniel
House, ca. ryo5, 47 Mc-
Cauley Street

(BeLow) Fig. y. Ar-
chib ald Hender son Hous e,

rgo5, 721 East Franklin
Street (Photo by BilL Gar-

rett, courtesJ of the North
CarolinaOffice of Ar-
chiues and Hisror))
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Fig. 32. Louis RoundWiI-
son House, ryrr, 6o7 East

Rosemary Street

of his property was later developed into a portion of the Westwood subdivision. The
house combines Colonial features such as a hip roof and Palladian dormer window

with a Queen Anne entrance and a wraparound porch. Another of these early Co-
lonial Revival-style houses was built for businessman Junius Webb at 3oz Pittsboro

Street about r9r3. The two-story house has a deep hip roof, a hlpped front dormer,

large sash windows, and a wraparound classical porch.

The Arts and Crafts style, often ca[ed the Craftsman style, appeared in Chapel

Hill in the early rgoos. Craftsman bungalows were one or one-and-one-half story

houses, derived from India, and built in Great Britain and the United States as sum,

mer cottages beginning in the late r8oos. By the earty rgoos the bungalow had be-

come an ubiquitous suburban house type. Louis Round lil/ilson, a history professor

and librarian at uNC in the first half of the twentieth cenrury, had a large, comfort-
able Craftsman-style house built at 6o7 E. Rosemary Street in r9r r (Fig. 3z). A good

collection of bungalows was built in the Norrhside area in the rgros and rgzos. The
house at 3o7 Pritchard Avenue is a classic side-gabled, one-srory bungalow with a

large front dormer window. \Uest of Church Street, in the African American section

of Northside, carpenter Luther Hargrave built a similar bungalow at 3o8 Lindsay

Street for his daughter and her husband, Ethel and Edward Perry, in rgzo (Fig. 33).
T. Felix Hickerson (r882-r968), an engineering professor who in rhe rgzos wrote

a classic textbook on modern road design, Route Surctey andDesign, built his house

based on the Colonial Revival style at ro8 Battle Lane about r9r5. The two-story
weatherboarded house has a classical entrance porch combined with such practi-
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Fig. y. Ethel andEdward
Perry House, ryzo, 3o8
Lindsal Street

cal Craftsman Gatures as a front bay window and a side porch topped by a sleeping

porch.

State forester John S. Holmes built a large wood-shingled house at zo4 Glen-

burnieStreetin tgr4.5 ltisoneof ChapelHill'sonlyreflectionsof thepicturesque

late-nineteenth-century Shingle Style, part Queen Anne and part Colonial Revival

in inspiration, that was created by architects McKim, Mead and White for summer

cottages in Newport, Rhode Island. The house has a front-gable roof, a fronr porch,

a screened side porch, decorative bargeboards at the roofline, and diamond-paned

window sashes.

Notes

r. President Edwin A. Alderman, in a letter of t923, quoted in Henderson, The Campus

of the First State UniuersilJ, 34g.
z. Allcott, The Campus at ChapelHill, 57.

3. Henderson,The Campus of the First State UniuersitJ, 22.?.

+. Bishir, "Landmarks of Power."

5. Doug Eyre, telephone conversation with author, August 31,2oo4.
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Return to the Correct and Southern Path:

The Town and Campus Beautiful, ryzo-r965

ln rgrr eminent New York architectural critic Montgomery Schuyler wrote a critique

of the university campus. He likened the old buildings to those of Harvard, both be-

ing strictly businesslike, but found those of Chapel Hill to have a pleasing placement

rather than being "promiscuously huddled" as at Harvard. Schuyler damned the old

Memorial Hail as "illiterate" and pronounced the Beaux Arts-style buildings around

McCorkle Place to be aesthetically neutral-neither detracting from the university

nor advancing it. Schuyler thought it fortunate that the university could only afford

to hire "inferior architects" who followed conventional models during the late r8oos

and early rgoos, since this protected the campus from the "babel of romantic eclec-

ticism" that had ruined many Northern universities.r Such critical language reflected

a national shift in taste toward classical architecture at this time.

The lirst major twentieth-century step toward the expansion and modernization

of the university was the hiring of nationally prominent urban planner John Nolen
by acting president Edward K. Graham in rgr3. The faculty Committee on Grounds

and Buildings, composed of W. C. Coker, George Howe, and Collier Cobb, urged

that a master plan be developed to guide the enlargement of the university. Between

rgrT and rgrg Nolen analyzed the campus and advocated development of the area

south of South Building for large-scale development. John Nolen's consuharion was

part of a national trend in city planning that came out of the Beaux Arts ideals of
order and unity. The building program was delayed by World \il/ar I, insufficienr
funds, and Graham's death in the rgr8 influenza epidemic. At the end of rhe war,

the university faced a crushing enrollment of new students that overwhelmed exist-

ing dormitory and classroom spaces. rn rgzo, one thousand students were crowded

into the old dormitories and into totally inadequate classroom space.2 During rgzo
a broad campaign by the university to raise funds to expand the physical plant was

conducted. This culminated in a state legislative grant of almost $r.s million for new

buildings in rgzr and rgzz.3

President Harry \Toodburn Chase assumed office in rgrg. Chase (1883-1955)

was a New Englander with advanced degrees in the new fields of psychology and
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Fig. 34. rg4o map of the

uniu er sity ( C our te sy of
the North Carolina Col-
Lection, Uniuersity of
NorthCarolina, Chapel
HilI)

education. His work during his presidency of the university, until rg3o, created a

modern physical plant for a student body of three thousand and enlarged the faculty

from 78 to rr5 members. President Chase created a modern administration to ease

the faculty's supervisory load. He staffed the professional schools with professional

educators, reorganized the graduate school, and successfully deGnded the right to
teach science against the nationwide fundamentalist crusade to outlaw the teach-

ing of evolution.a New departments created during Chase's tenure were the gradu-

ate school of engineering, the school of commerce, and departments of journalism,

music, and psychology. He hired Howard Odum as a sociology professor. Odum be-

came the South's first modern sociologist, launching an academic journal of national

distinction (Journal of Social Forces, still published under the title Social Forces) and

helping to foster a climate of creative research in the social sciences that led to the

establishment of uNc Press in r9zo. Librarian Louis Round Wilson was its {irst di-

rector and a work by professor William C. Coker its first publication. Drama profes-

sor Frederick H. Koch launched a nationally known program in drama in the rgzos.

During the rgzos and r93os the university became the "intellectual citadel of the

South."5

President Chase established a building organization to create a new secrion of
campus to house the expanding university. Chase, the university trustees, and the

staff were in agreement that the new campus should possess "a certain austere dig.

nity in the simple Colonial style of the early buildings, a deviation from which in the

post-bellum period produced mistaken and unhappy consequences."6 They intended

the restoration of Colonial style to the campus as a rejection of the false styles of the

past and the return ofarchitecture to the correct Southern path.

In rgrg the university hired the architectural Iirm Aberthaw of Atlanta to re-

work the master plan and the prestigious New York City flrm McKim, Mead and

White and its head architect, William Kendall, to design the new buildings. These

were to be of red brick with white trim in the Colonial Revival style, a selection that

established the architectural theme of the university and the town for the rest of the

twentieth century. The local supervising architects were Durham engineer Thomas

C. Atwood, architect H. Alan Montgomery, and architect Arthur C. Nash. Nash

(fi7r_l969), a Harvard- and French Ecole des Beaux Arts-trained architect, moved

from New York to Chapel Hill in rgzz ar'd went into partnership with Atwood to

serve as local architects for the new campus.T The massive building project created

a second major section of the campus that emulated the quadrangle of the old cam-

pus's plan to the north. The new quadrangle was named Polk Place for U.S. president

and alumnus James Knox Polk. It was laid out behind South Building with a cross-

axis and secondary quadrangles. From rgzr to r93r, twenty-one buildings were con-
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Fig. zs. Yiew of Polk

Place, buik in the rgzos
structed on the new section of the campus-the largest building campaign that had

ever taken place at the university (Figs. 34 and 35).

The first building on the new quadrangle was Steele Dormitory, built in rgzr just

south of Smith Hall. It was designed by Raleigh architect J. A. Salter and was the

most attractive and best equipped dormitory erected on campus to this date. Subse-

quent buildings, designed by the McKim, Mead and White/Atwood and Nash team,

were the Upper Quad dormitories of Grimes, Manly, Ruffin, and Mangum Ggzr).
These three-story red brick Colonial dormitories with dormered roofs and classical

entrances contain sixty-nine rooms each (Fig. :6).
Throughout the rgzos, construction continued on the campus addition, and the

first women's residence hall was built on the old campus. ln rgzz-rgz3 the team

designed a minor quadrangle opening onto the great south quadrangle on the east

side: the classroom buildings of Murphey, Saunders, and ManninC (FiC. :Z). Mur-

phey Hall, with an elegant fanlighted entrance, housed languages and literature.

Saunders Hall, of similar design, housed the departments of history and social sci-
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ence. Manning Hall, with a grand Ionic porrico and cupola, housed the Law School.

Spencer Hall, the 6rst women's dormitory, was completed in r9z4 on the prominent

southwest corner of Franklin and Raleigh streets. More gracious and residential in
character than the men's dormirories, the three-story brick dormitory has projecting

wings that enclose a courtyard with a decorative brick wall, as well as an entrance
porch and a side porch (Fig. :8). The dormitory was named for Cornelia Phillips
Spencer, a champion of the university during the dark days of the Civil \Var and Re-

construction. A second quadrangle of men's dormitories, the Lower Quad of Aycock,
Graham, and Lewis, three-story red brick buildings similar in design to the Upper

Quad dormitories, were built from rg24 to rgz8, with Everett Dormitory complet-
ing the quad in 1938. The huge new chemistry building, venable Hall, was built in
rgz5.ln 19z6 architect Nash added a monumental Ionic portico on the rear of South
Building to face the new campus quadrangle. This device linked the new campus

addition to the venerable north campus and provided a fulcrum for the entire quad-
rangle. To accommodate university athletic events, Kenan Stadium and Kenan Field
House were constructed below the campus addition in rgz,7-r9z8 from funds pro-
vided by industrialist William Rand Kenan Jr. The architects preserved the wooded
site of the stadium by hollowing it into the hillside. In ry29 the classroom building
of Bingham Hall was erected at the southeast corner of Polk Place quadrangle.

The crowning jewel of the new quadrangle is the Louis Round wilson Library,
erected at the south end in rgzg from a design by Wilham Kendall and Arthur Nash.

Fig 38. Spencer Residence

Hall, ry24
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The great domed library with a Corinthian portico aligned opposite the Ionic por-

tico of South Building is the most magnificent building of the campus addition (Fig.

39). Like the domed library that is the focus of Jefferson's quadrangle at the Univer-

sity of Virginia and the Neoclassical Revival library at Columbia university, Wilson

Library forms the intellectual and aesthetic focus of the quadrangle. On the interior,

wide marble steps, brass doors, green marble columns, and a central rotunda and

dome create an awe-inspiring space.

In r93o, Frank Porter Graham succeeded Harry \Toodburn Chase as president of

the university. Graham (fi86_r972) was a cousin of former president Edward Kid-

der Graham, a history professor, and a champion of labor rights and civil rights. In

rg3z president Graham became president of the new consolidated university system,

which included North Carolina State College in Raleigh and the !7omen's College

in Greensboro, bur his office remained in Chapel Hill.8 Due to his vigorous leader-

ship, three more buildings were built in the early r93os in spite of the Great Depres-

sion. A new Memorial Hall replaced the old maligned Victorian auditorium that sat

at the heart of the campus. The new hall has three entrances sheltered by a monu'

mental Doric portico facing Cameron Avenue. A student activities building, known

Fig. 39. Louis Round

WilsonLibrary, ry29
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as Graham Memorial, was built at the northeasr corner of the north quadrangle, on

Franklin Street. The wide Colonial building has a Doric portico above the three

entrances facing the quadrangle and a large terrace at the rear. The Morehead and

Patterson families, prominent alumni, financed the construction of a tall Italianate

Revival-style bell tower behind Wilson Library, on South Road near Kenan Sta-

dium. Following the cessation of campus construction in the early r93os, Arthur
Nash moved to Washington, D.C., and opened an office there.

With some funding from various New Deal programs, particularly the Public

\Uorks Administration, thirteen campus buildings were constructed and some ad-

ditions and remodelings completed between 1935 and r94r.e The Colonial Revival

style had become so indelibly associated with the university that this style was used

for these buildings and in fact for all subsequent architectural additions to the cam-

pus until the mid-r96os. Architect H. R. Weeks, who had gone into partnership with
Atwood following Nash's departure, designed \Woollen Gymnasium and Bowman

Gray Pool (1937) on South Road. From tg37 to tg3g a quadrangle of red brick wom-

en's dormitories-Alderman, Mclver, and Kenan, designed by Atwood and Weeks-
were erected on Raleigh Road across from the arboretum. Like Spencer Dormitory,

each of these has a gracious classical portico. Lenoir Hall, a new red brick dining hall

with large windows, designed by Atwood and \Ueeks, was built near \Tilson Library

in 1939.

While the university doubled in size during the rgzos, the village grew apace.

The reminiscence of ChapelHillWeekll editor Louis Graves about changes in Cha-

pel Hlll from rgzr ro :1946 dramatizes how profoundly Chapel Hill remade itself dur-

ing this era:

!7hen I came back [from New York City and from service in \forld War

I] in r9zr, not one of the outlying colonies that are part of the community

today was in existence-not lWestwood, or Forest Hills, or the Gimghoul or

Country Club section, or Davie \foods, or Tenney Circle, or any of the clus-

ters of homes on Chase avenue, or beyond the town limits on the Durham

road, or out along the Airport road, or down on the Pittsboro road near the

creek, or south of the campus on the Mason Farm road.

The creation of the suburbs here, as in thousands of other communi-

ties throughout the country, was the result of the inventiveness and the tal-

ent for production that brought the automobile within reach of the family of
small means. W'hen people had to go on foot-or in horse-drawn vehicles,

which were not used to any great extent for ordinary goings-about-town-

nearly everybody wanted a home close to the campus and the post office and

the stores. But there was no need to be close in when, by the magic of the
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internal combustion engine, you could go three miles in the time it had for-

merly taken you to go rhree hundred yards, and with much less effort.
The case of the Gimghoul colony presents an illustration. I am not sure

of the exact amounr, but, as I remember the talk at the time, the Gimghoul
society paid from 4 to 5 thousand dollars for the go-acre tracr of land out
beyond Battle Park. lt had no notion ofever going into real esrare develop-

ment. Its idea was to have the secluded woodland as a seting for a simple

rustic home.

At that time only a dozen or so Chapel Hillians were so prosperous or

profligate as to have automobiles. A few years later, when the automobile had

become a common convenience, the society sold part of its tract to home-

builders for 4o to 5o thousand dollars, and had left over some 35 ro 40 acres

of park land whlch it conveyed to the University as a gift. And a handsome

gift it was, too. . . .

All the [white] churches in the village have been erected since rgzr

[bud the old Episcopal and the old Methodist churches have been allowed

to remain alongside the more imposing new structures. And all the frater-

nity houses. And the Carolina and Village [Varsity] rheatres. And the bank
and most of the stores on Franklin streer. I can't do better than guess about

homes, but my guess is that, if those in the suburbs be included, and those

that have been so altered as to be practically new, at least 9o per cent of
Chapel Hlll's homes, and probably more, have gone up since rgzr.l0

The residential area along East Franklin Street largely filled in during rhis era,

with some homeowners following the campus theme of Southern Colonial for their
houses, while others built in the more informal Craftsman bungalow mode. Most
of the designs probably derived from popular plan books of the day. Chapel Hill's
foremost contractor during the rgzos and r93os, Brodie Thompson (r884-r97r),
built a number of the Colonial Revival-style fraternity houses around the campus

and private residences in the village. One of the finest of these is his own residence

at zr4 Henderson Street, built in rgzo (Fig. 4o). In rgzT Thompson built a two-srory
brick Colonial Revival-style house ar ro4 North Boundary Street for Milton Ho-
gan, a Chapel Hill banker, and his wife Carrie. It has an imposing Doric-columned
entrance, a modillion cornice, and flanking one-story porches. For history professor

Henry McGilbert wagstaff (fi76_rg45) and his wife Mary, Thompson consrructed
one of his loveliest private houses. Built in 19z6 and located at zo6 North Bound-
ary Street, the two-story frame house has delicately proportioned classical features

such as a fanlight and sidelighrs around rhe entrance, a fronr porch with a turned
balustrade, and a deep cornice and high hip roof. At the rear is a rwo-story ell, and
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Fig. 4o. Brodie Thompson

House, rgzo, zr4 Hen-

derson Street

a long one-story classical porch extends along the side elevation facing Rosemary

Street.

The three churches that adjoin the campus on the east, north, and west out-

grew their small nineteenth-century sanctuaries by the rgzos and put up grand new

buildings. The Baptists relocated from their church a few blocks west of campus to

the prominent corner of \il/est Franklin and South Columbia Streets, where in rgz3

they built a grand Neoclassical Revival-style brick and stone church facing the cam-

pus. The tan brick building designed by architect Frank Milburn was perhaps his last

commission in Chapel Hill, where his Beaux Arts approach had been superseded

by the more 'American" Southern Colonial work of Kendall and Nash. The grand

classical pictorialism of the Beaux Arts style suited the Baptist congregation well: its

sanctuary on a raised basement, with a wide dramatic portico with stone Ionic col-

umns, is a major landmark in Chapel Hill (Fig. 4r). The Methodists replaced their

old sanctuary at r5o East Franklin Street, adlacent to the campus, with a monumen-

tal Georgian Revival-style sanctuary completed in 19z6 from a design by New York

architect James Gamble Rogers. The red brick building with crisp white wood trim

blends well architecturally with the Colonial design theme of the university, but the

five-story steeple dwarfs the university buildings and the commercial district around

it. ln r9z5 the Episcopalians, rather than demolishing their venerable Gothic Re-

vival chapel of the r84os, erected a large Neo-Gothic Revival sanctuary beside it,

linked to the older building by a stone arcade. New York City architect Hobart Up'
john, grandson of Richard Upjohn, the most famous Gothic Revival architect of the
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nineteenth century, designed the new church. It is a pink granite structure with but,

tresses, large Gothic windows, and a corner crenellated tower (see Fig. rr).

The dominant statemen[s of the Southern Colonial style in the village are the

Carolina lnn, the large hotel west of campus, and the fraternity houses built in the

rgzos and early rg3os around the inn along South Columbia Street and West Cam-

eron Avenue.In ry23 university alumnus John Sprunt Hill, a Durham financier, pur-

chased the property at the southwest corner of South Columbia and West Cameron

Avenue, site of the earlier Anglican 'thapel of ease," in order to build a hotel for uni-

versity visitors. Hill hired architect Arthur C. Nash, who was helping to design the

university's new south campus at this time, to design the Carolina Inn. Nash created

a gracious building, nine bays wide and two stories tall, with a slate-covered gambrel

roof, dormer windows, and a grand two-story portico patterned after Mount Vernon.

The carriage porch allowed visitors to drive up to the side entrance on South Co-

lumbia Street. The brick floor of the portico on Cameron Avenue has always been

lined with rocking chairs overlooking the large front lawn (Fig. 4z). William Friday,

university president from 1956 to 1986, called the inn "the university's living room,"

Fig. 4r. Uniuersitl Baptisr

Church, ry4, rcz South

Columbia Street
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Fig. 42. Carolinalnn,
rg24, 2rr Pittsboro Street

and so it has functioned for meetings and social occasions since the rgzos. The inn's

rear additions, completed in rg4o, r97o, and rg95, have paralleled the university's

expansion,

The evocation of the antebellum southern plantation house, with its tall col-

umned portico, is perhaps nowhere more obvious than in some of Chapel Hill's
rgzos fraternity houses, with their red brick Colonial forms and gracious Mount
Vernon porticos resembling the Carolina Inn. In the rgros Frarernity Row was 1o-

cated on a private alley on the west side of the campus, behind the Carnegie Library
(Hill Hall). After a rgrg fire destroyed three of the houses and almost burned down

the nearby library, the university purchased private property on the west side of
South Columbia Street and traded it to the fraternities in exchange for the property

on Fraternity Row. By October ry26 the Big Fraternity Court in the roo block of
South Columbia Street, containing five houses built by Brodie Thompson, had been

constructed.ll Around the corner on Cameron Avenue is the Little Fraternity Court.

These were financed by donations from alumni. The Big Court and Little Court fol-

low the model of the dormitory complexes built at the university in the early rgzos,

the Upper Quad (Grimes, Ruffin, Manly, and Mangum) and Lower Quad (Aycock,
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Graham, and Lewis, and later Everett) set around central quadrangles. The frater-

nity houses are smaller than the dormitories, of two stories with dormered attics, and

have tall porches modeled after Mount Vernon's porrico, often with French doors

that open out to the porches for social occasions. One of the most handsome houses

is the Beta Theta Pi House at rr4 South Columbia Street, set apart from the frater-

nity courts. Completed in t929, the building has Flemish bond brick walls, a dor-

mered slate roof, a full-width Doric portico, and flanking side wings overlooking a

wide lawn.rl

Not all of the fraternity houses followed the Southern Colonial theme. William
C. Coker, a member of the Chi Psi fraternity as a student at the University of South

Carolina, helped the chapter at the University of North Carolina with the gift of a

large tract at 3zr 
'West 

Cameron Avenue. Designed by university architects Atwood

and Nash in the "Norman style" and completed in 1934 at a cost of $5o,ooo, the

house features a steep gabled slate roof, brick walls, casement windows with stone

trim, an arched recessed entrance, and a stone terrace along the facade (Fig.+:)."

By the mid-rgzos, most of the building lots located within walking distance of
the university had been built upon, and, as Louis Graves related, people had begun

to buy automobiles. The story of residential architecture shifts at this point to the

new suburbs that were being developed on the village edges. Cobb Terrace, devel-

oped by geology professor Collier Cobb in r9r5 on land at the north end of Hen-

derson Street, should be considered the first suburb, although it is only three blocks

Fig. a3. Chi Psi Fraternity
House, ry34, 3zr West
Cameron Auenue (Photo

by Bill Garrett, courtesJ

of the North Carolina
Office of Archiues and
Hisrory)
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from campus. Cobb wanted to provide affordable rental housing for young professors,

and he constructed eleven bungalows on his property. Cobb purchased them from

North American Construction Company, whose Aladdin homes were advertised as

being "ready-cut" and "built in & day."14 The houses remained rentals until Cobb's

death in 1934, when they were sold to private owners.

The second and first true suburb is what Graves called "the Gimghoul colony,"

a small development containing approximately fifty lots on land purchased by the

honorary student society, the Order of the Gimghouls, as a site for their lodge. Lo-

cated east of the university off Country Club Road, the subdivision was platted by

engineering professor T. Felix Hickerson in rgz4, and the first houses were con.

structed the same year. The plan consisted of three streets of generally linear design.

Two of the earliest houses are small plain dwellings built for employees of university

architects Atwood and Nash. Other early houses, such as the Edward Knox House,

7r5 Gimghoul Road, and the Phipps House, 723 Gimghoul Road, are Craftsman in
style, though with some elegant features such as massive Doric porch columns on

the Knox House (Fig. ++) and floor-length tripartite windows and a front terrace at

the Phipps House. By the late rgzos the Colonial Revival style took a firm hold in

Gimghoul. Anatomy professor Critz George built a small frame front-gabled house

with wood-shingled walls and an entrance portico from a design by Durham archi-

tect George \ilatts Carr at zo8 Glandon Drive. Carr practiced from the early rgzos

until the r96os, creating fashionable period revival houses in high-status neighbor-

Fig. 44. EdwardKnox
House, ry25, 7r5 Gimg-

houl Road (Phoro by M.
B. Gatza, courtesy of the

NorthCarolinaOffice of
Archioes andHistory)
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hoods of Durham and Chapel Hill. The Colonial Revival style endured in Gimghoul

throughout the rest of the century. Durham architect William Van Sprinkle de-

signed the two-story brick Colonial Revival-style house with a one-story side wing

for salesman Benjamin Edkins and his wife at 739 Gimghoul Road in 1939. Sprinkle,

a native of Mocksville, North Carolina, studied architecture at Yale University and

moved to Durham about r94o. After service in \Uorld War II he returned to Durham

and practiced architecture until his death in 1965.15

One of Chapel Hill's most intriguing landmarks of the rgzos is Gimghoul Castle

itself, built from tgzz to rg27 on Point Prospect bluff, overlooking the flat plain to

the east. Designed by university alumnus and architect N. C. Curtis and constructed

by Waldensian masons from Valdese, North Carolina, the meeting hall is not really

a castle, but a rectangular two-story building of local fieldstone. Its romantic appeal

comes from a three-story battlemented tower and an arcaded porte-cochere at the

entrance (Fig. +S). The castle derives its mystery from its location deep in the woods

and im unpublicized membership and activities. It has a resident caretaker, and visi-

tors are not allowed to enter.

Fig. 45. Gimghoul Castle,

ry27 (Photo by M. B.

Gat7a, courtesy of the

NorthC&rolinaOffice of
Archiues and History)
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The thlrd Chapel Hill suburb, Laurel Hill, lies at the southeast edge of the cam.

pus south of South Road (NC 54). It was platted in tgzT by William C. Coker, uni-
versity professor of botany, on some of his extensive land holdings. From the rgzos to

the r96os Coker's property was developed as a number of different neighborhoods.

la rgz3 Coker had donated a portion of the land to the new Chapel Hill Country
Club for a golf course (now used by the university as a rennis facility and greenway

park). His associare T. Felix Hickerson platted the subdivision by laying out the
main road, Laurel Hill Road, along the ridge beside the golf course, with short in-
tersecting cul-de-sacs on both sides and large lots bordering the streets. Coker per-

sonally approved all house plans prior to construction and apparently required new

home builders to consult with the university architects, Atwood and Nash.16 Before

the economic crash of rgzg ended construction, seven houses were constructed in
Laurel Hill.

As in the Gimghoul neighborhood, picturesque house styles were initially fa.

vored in Laurel Hill. Coker's rwo pror6g6s and colleagues in the botany depart-

ment, Professors Totten and Couch, built picturesque revival-style houses. Henry

Roland Totten and his wife built a stuccoed Tudor Revival-style house with a stone

wing at rro Laurel Hill Road in rgz8 (Fig. +6). John Couch built an Elizabethan

Revival-style house at 3 Ridge Road at rhe same time. The two-srory frame Couch
House has dormer windows and a front wing with a large bay window. English pro-

fessor George Howe built a Ti:dor Revival-style stuccoed house at z Buttons Road

Fig. 46. Henry Roland

and AddieTottenHouse,
tgz9, rrcLaurelHill
Road
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about rgz8. Such features as the steep hip roof, dormer windows, front wings, and

casement windows create the medieval character. When Cornelia Spencer's grand-

daughteq Cornelia Love, built her own one-srory frame house in the subdivision

in r9zg, she designed it herself with some assistance from architect Arthur Nash,

who added 'turving tips to the roof and a small porch, which greatly improved the

appearance."lT

When construction resumed in Laurel Hill during the later r93os, the Colonial

Revival became popular. Professor Horace D. Crockford and his wife built a brick

and weatherboard two-story house at 3o5 Country Club Road about r94o. Durham

architect Wllliam Van Sprinkle designed the simple Colonial house with a side wing

containing a garage and a cupola. University controller William D. Carmichael Jr.

and his wife had one of the largest Colonial Revival-style houses built at ro6 Lau-

rel Hill Circle in r94o. Designed by Durham architect George Watts Carr and con-

structed by Brodie Thompson, the imposing red brick house has a prominent classi-

cal entrance and flanking wings. On the rear, a full portico overlooks a wooded vista
(Fig. +Z). The most famous American Colonial residence, Mount Vernon, George

Washington's home in Virginia, inspired many architects to design porticoed rear

elevations for houses with large suburban grounds. Although Carr also designed

numerous Tirdor Revival houses, his specialty was the two-story red brick Colonial

with crisp, generously proportioned white wooden entrances, windows, cornices,

and porches.

Fig. 47. WilliamD. Car.
michael Jr. House, r94o,
by Durham architect

George Watts Carr, ro6
Laurel Hill Circle. View

from the rear.
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Fig. 48. Chapel Hill Post

Office, ryj7, ryg East

Franklin Street

The Great Depression stopped all construction for half a decade on campus and

in the town. In 1935 federal grants got things moving again and in the process helped

to establish the town of Chapel Hill as a separate entity from the university. In ad-

dition to extensive funding for new campus buildings, the New Deal financed two

new government buildings for the town. A new post office was completed in rg37 at

r79 East Franklin Street, on the site of the old frame post office (Fig. +8). The Clas-

sical Revival-style one-story brick building has an elegant pedimented stone portico,

a tall lantern with an iron railing, and two well-preserved interior murals. One mu-

ral depicts the laying of the university cornerstone in r7g3, and the other one the

initial sale of town building lots in the same year. ln rg38 the lUorks Progress Ad-

ministration financed about one-half of the cost of the town's first permanent town

hall, located at ror 'West Rosemary Street. University architects Atwood and lUeeks

designed the building in a version of Colonial style modeled on Colonial Williams-

burg, the colonial Virginia capital that the Rockefellers began to re-create in the late

rgzos. The rectangular two-story brick building has a hipped slate roof with a cupola

bearing a weathervane and a swan's neck pediment over the entrance (Fig. +s).

68 THE TowN AND GowN ARCHITECTURE oF CHAPEL HILL

t.

i.-L



Fig. 49. Former Chapel

HillTownHaL| ry38,
ror Wesr Rosemary Street

One final New Deal project in Chapel Hill was the rebuilding of the Forest The-

atre, an outdoor amphitheater at the western edge of Battle Park, owned by the uni-

versity. Although built in 19r9, the present structure is the result of its remodeling

in t94o under the auspices of the Works Progress Administration, which character-

istically utilized rustic forms and local materials. lts rustic architecture features stone

walls that form a screen along Country Club Road, circular stone seating that follows

the natural contours of the hillside, stone towers for the lighting and sound equip.

ment, and a primitive stone stage (Fig. So). The theater is now named Koch Theatre

in honor of drama professor Frederick Koch, who led the drama department to na.

tional distinction in the rgzos and r93os with his emphasis on plays that celebrated

the folk spirit of an area. Playwright Paul Green was one of Koch's students.

Chapel Hill's African American community continued to grow in size and stat-

ure in the second quarter of the twentieth century. One of the sons of $Tilson

Caldwell (longtime university janitor), Edwin Caldwell (r867-ry32), earned his

medical degree at Shaw University in Raleigh and practiced medicine in Durham,

although he lived in Chapel Hill. He is credited with developing a cure for pella-

gra.18 Well-known folk singer Elizabeth Cotton grew up in a house on Church Streer,

in the Northside neighborhood, in the r89os. Many of her songs describe her Cha-
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Fig. 5o. Foresr Theatre
(KochTheatre), r94o,
Country CLub Road

pel Hill childhood. Her best-known song is "Freight tain." She left Chapel Hill in
rg4r.re

In rg38 construction began on a community center for African Americans in
Northside. The Quakers, their benefactors since the end of the Civil War, helped

to {inance the facility at z16 North Roberson Street, now known as the Hargraves

Community Center (Fig. 5r). The one-story Colonial Revival-style stone building

on a raised basement resembles community buildings in nearby towns such as Pitts-

boro and Wake Forest. Construction stopped at the beginning of \forld War II, but

in 1942, when the Navy Preflight Tiaining School was established at the universiry,

the black military band used the unfinished center as a barracks. At the close of the

war in rg45, the navy completed the building's construction.

One of the best-loved African American business enterprises in the later twen-

tieth century has been that of the "Flower Ladies," a group of individual entrepre-

neurs who have sold fresh bouquets offlowers on Franklin Street since around rg5o.

In ry7r they moved from the main sidewalk to their present location in the corridor

of the NcNa Plaza and the alley beside the Intimate Bookshop.2o
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In rg4o, the splendid appearance of the new, southern campus of the univer-

sity, as well as the many new houses and institutional buildings in the vi[age, made

Chapel Hill's commercial district along Franklin Street look shabby by compari-

son. Louis Graves, the town's editorial conscience, began to promote the redesign

of Franklin Street in editorials praising the commercial buildings of Colonial Wil-
liamsburg. With funding from John D. Rockefeller Jr. and extensive research and ar-

chaeological investigation, the early buildings of lTilliamsburg, the colonial capital

of Virginia, had been restored or reconstructed as a colonial museum from the late

r92os to 1937. The architecture of Colonial !7illiamsburg, heavily popularized in

shelter magazines such as House andGarden, became a staple of American commer-

cial and residential design throughout the rest of the twentieth century.2r Because

of its close geographic and historical associations with Virginia, North Carolina en-

thusiastically embraced the Williamsburg style. Chapel Hill town leaders including

Joseph Hyde Pratt, John M. Booker, W. D. Carmichael Jr., and Collier Cobb, as well

as Durham businessman George \Uatts Hill, supported the Williamsburg plan for

Franklin Street. Durham architect Archie Royal Davis became university architect

in the r94os. He had moved to Durham in the r93os to work for George \Uatts Carr

and became a leading practitioner of the Colonial Revival.22 Davis donated his de-

sign services to the Town Planning Commission, preparing watercolor renderings to

influence the owners of existing commerciat buildings to remodel their businesses in
the Colonial style or to build new buildings.2r

Fig. 5r. Hargraues Com-
munity Center, ry38-ca.
r945, zr6 North Roberson

Street

I lXx
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The campaign had little effect on existing businesses in the roo block of East

Franklin Street, but in t94z the new Carolina Theatre at ro8 East Franklin was

built using Davis's Williamsburg design. The two-story brick theater has a steep ga-

bled roof with dormer windows and ornate brick pediments, arches, and moldings

(Fig. Sz). In the same year Carl Smith built a small Williamsburg-style dry clean-

ing business at r13 North Columbia Street. A group of distinctive Williamsburg-

style commercial buildings rose in the 3oo, 4oo, and 5oo blocks of West Franklin

Street as the commercial district expanded to the west in the r94os, after the war.

A group of dairy farmers led by George Watts Hill constructed a dairy processing

plant and dairy bar named the Farmers Dairy Cooperative at 43r 
'West Franklin

Street in 1945. The one-story brick building, called "modified Colonial" by the plan-

ning commission, has a pedimented entrance wing and a hip roof with a cupola and

weathervane, but large plate-glass windows in the front public area.2a Later it was

renovated and expanded as the Pyewacket Restaurant. The Carolina Coach Com-

pany built a Williamsburg-style bus station at 3rr \il/est Franklin Street in 1946 with

a pedimented portico, a cupola with weathervane, and Colonial details. A solid row

of Williamsburg-style stores sprang up in the 3oo and 4oo blocks of West Franklin

Street from 1946 to r95o, many designed by Archie Royal Davis (Fig. Sl). ln ry49
Carl Smith built one of the finest \Tilliamsburg-style commercial buildings in the

business district at rzr North Columbia Street, next door to his dry cleaning busi-

ness. Architect Archie Royal Davis carried the standard two-story Flemish bond

Fig. 52. Carolina Theatre,

1942, rc8 EastFranklin
Street (Photo bJ BiLl Gar-
rett, courtesJ of theNorth
CarolinaOffice of N-
chiues and History)
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brick form, with parapeted gable ends, to a new level of elegance with a central

three-bay-wide recessed portico with Corinthian columns.25

In the boom that followed the end of World War II, housing of any kind was a

scarce commodity. Of the 6,8oo students enrolled at the university in t946, 4,5oo
were veterans, many with families. In response, the university obtained military

surplus frame housing units from Camp Butner near Durham and elsewhere and

erected them on Manning Drive across from Memorial Hospital. Dubbed "Victory

Village," this married student housing survived until about 1977, when it was re-

placed by brick buildings for married students known as Odum Village.26

In ry4g the University of North Carolina Press published Archibald Henderson's

history of campus architecture, The Campus of the First State Uniqtersity. Henderson

included a critique of the early-twentieth-century university buildings that he had

commissioned in 1945 from Fiske Kimball, director of the Philadelphia Museum of
Art and doctrinaire classicist. Kimball's assessment indicates how thoroughly the

"Southern Colonial" theme had become identified with the university and how pop-

ular it still remained:

Fig. 5j. Commercial

Buildings, 1945-1948,

4oo block of West Frank-
lin Street
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During a twenty.year period at the opening of the present century, a wave

of TLdor influence swept over the Campus, leaving in its wake infelicitous

evidences of that misguided trend. Mary Ann Smith Building, with well-

burnt brick satisfactorily weathered, fortunately lacks the most glaring fea-

tures of Tirdor. The dormitory pile, Battle-Vance-Pettigrew, with diamond-
paned oriels and characteristic gargoyles, is forgivable because offacades

of the first two. But they can only be thought of as transitional structures,

doomed to ultimate supercession by some noble counterpart ro a two-winged

Graham Memorial of the original plan. Swain Hall is so business like as

scarcely to justify critical architectural comment. Philhps Hall, overmod-

ernized Tirdor, presents some Gatures of "functional" architecture; but it is

sharply divergent from general Campus style and demands radical remodel-

ing and reconstruction.z7

Continuing nostalgia for the Southern past and the authoritative image of the

Colonial kept it as the university's architectural theme until the r96os. Philanthro-
pistJohn Motley Morehead's grand gift ro the university, the Morehead Building and

Planetarium of rg4g, is a monumental Southern Colonial-style red brick building
with a central dome and a portico facing McCorkle Place. It was designed by New

York architect Otto Eggers (formerly of the firm of John Russell Pope) and his part-

ner Daniel Higgins in ry49. One of the last major Colonial Revival buildings on

campus is the rg58 Ackland Art Museum and art classroom building, also by archi-

tects Eggers and Higgins. The Ackland is a Georgian Revival-style red brick build-

ing with a recessed vaulted entrance facing South Columbia Street. Funded by a
bequest from Tennessee attorney, art lover, and philanthropist William Hayes Aclc
land, who had no prior contact with the university, the building was a significant ad-

dition to uNc's arts program.

Just as the university's architectural image remained a Colonial Revival one

until the mid-t96os, so too the Colonial Revival remained the architectural im-

age of choice for most of Chapel Hill's residents. Durham architects George Watts

Carr, William Sprinkle, and Archie Royal Davis designed numerous Georgian and

Williamsburg-inspired houses in suburban neighborhoods such as Gimghoul, Laurel

Hill, \Westwood, and Coker Hills from the r93os to the early r97os. One of Archie
Royal Davis's last major residential designs is a large Colonial Revival-style brick
house at 8zo Kenmore Road in Coker Hills, built for Al Pons about r97o. A full por.

tico shelters the front of the house, and lower frame flanker wings creare the impos.

ingly wide elevation that is an essenrial elemenr of the style.
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Midcentury Modernism in Chapel Hill, rg5o-rg75

A trio of progressive presidents from the r93os to the rg8os maintained the univer-
sity's position in North Carolina as the center of progressive education and research.

Although campus architecture continued with the traditional theme of the Colo-
nial Revival throughout most of this period, modern architecture quietly appeared

on the residential streers of Chapel Hill. By the rg3os and r94os, when Milton Ab-
ernathy's Intimate Bookstore on East Franklin Street was a gathering place for cam-
pus radicals and social critics, the university had acquired a reputation as a cenrer
of labor sympathizers, beatniks, communists, civil rights activisrs, and left-wingers
in general. President Frank Porter Graham, a champion of human rights, presided

over a progressive campus in this era and protected the campus from criticism dur-
ing the McCarthy witch hunts of the r94os. In r95o Graham was appointed to the
U.S. Senate, and when he ran for the seat later in the year, conservarive Raleigh at-

torney willis Smith defeated him. Gordon Gray, descendant of a tobacco manufac-
turing family from Winston-Salem, succeeded Graham as the consolidated univer-
sity president from r95o to 1955. During his tenure the university was desegregated

quietly and with little controversy. In 1955 Gray left to become an undersecrerary
in the Department of Defense in Washington, D.C.r The next year William Friday,

Gray's assistant during his years as consolidated university president, was appointed
to fill the vacant presidency.

Born in r9zo, Bill Friday finished law school at the university in the late rg4os
and immediately began his career as an educational administraror. He became the
longest-serving president of the twentieth century.2 During the late rg5os and r96os,
as the Cold War, the civil rights and labor movemenrs, and the Vietnam \Uar caused

friction between conservarives and liberals, President Friday managed to protect
the university from antiliberal and anti-intellectual senrimenr while attracting ex-
panded public support. Friday, president of the university from ry56 to 1986, embod-
ies the creative mixture of tradition and innovarion that marked Chapel Hill in the
third quarter of the twentieth century.l

The university was renowned as a beacon of southern liberalism. In rg54 Inti-
mate Bookstore owner Milton Abernathy was summoned to testify before a Sen-

c-HeprpR 6
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ate subcommittee and was questioned as to whether he was a communist. The civil

rights movement of the l96os began in North Carolina with the Greensboro sit-ins

of 196o. During the early rg6os university faculty and students participated in civil

rights demonstrations in Raleigh and elsewhere, and controversial figures like Martin

Luther King Jr. and folk singer Pete Seeger came to the campus. One of the last chap-

ters of the McCarthy era in North Carolina took place in 1963 when, in an attempt

to prevent civil rights activities, the state legislature enacted the Speaker Ban Law,

which barred any "known communists" or persons who had taken the Fifth Amend-

ment regarding communism from speaking at state colleges and universities.a

President Friday worked behind the scenes to regain the university's autonomy,

and in 1968 the bill was declared unconstitutional. Inspired by his mentor, Frank

Porter Graham, Friday was a progressive whose two main goals were to further the

universiry's mission to aid in the economic and political modernization of North

Carolina and to prorect the university from outside intrusion. Looking back on his

presidential tenure, Friday celebrated the Chapel Hill spirit:

Any place that is doing something creative, that is striving to serve all citi-

zens effectively and is being truthful and candid in dealing with problems,

is inevitably going to disturb people. Most of us do not like to change too

much. . . . It is the . . . thinking and acting creatively to improve our lot . . .

that is the everlasting glory of this University. lt is what we call the spirit of

Chapel Hill.5

Another progressive movement that took hold in Chapel Hiil after World War II

was Modernist architecture. Its creative solutions to architectural challenges repre-

sent "the spirit of Chapel Hill" in the third quarter of the twentieth century. On its

appearance in Europe in the early twentieth century, modern architecture-the first

architecture not dependent on the past-was considered "the end of style," in that

style was now viewed as a historical costume that disguised the structural essence

of a building. One of irs centers was an architectural and design school in Germany

called the Bauhaus, founded in rgrg by \Talter Gropius and continued by Mies van

der Rohe. French architect Le Corbusier was another major creator of this new style,

known as the "lnternational Style" and characterized by the use of new materials

such as steel and glass to revolutionize interior space, by the absence of references

to past historical styles, and by the avoidance of applied decoration. The most fa-

mous dictum of the lnternational Style, "less is more," coined by Mies van der Rohe

(known simply as Mies), explains the startlingly austere, boxy, flat-roofed buildings

with glass-curtain walls. An icon of the style is Mies's Farnsworth House in Plano,

Illinois, built in 1946.

While Modernist architecture with its utopian socialist ideals was developing
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in Europe, America's frrst modern architect, Frank Lloyd Wright, evolved his own

hlghly individualistic new architecture in the first decade of the twentieth cenrury.

Chicago architect Louis Sullivan coined the phrase "form follows function" to ex-

press his independence from the dogma of style. \Tright admired such a radical re-

thinking of architectural form and explained that one reason he went to work with
Sullivan was that "he did not believe in cornices." The cornice, for Wright, symbol-

ized a heavy sham feature of pseudo-historic style. Wright created a new style for
suburban houses-the Prairie Style-which stripped away the traditions of Vic-
torian architecture by simplifying the floor plan into multifunctional spaces that
flowed into one another. The new sryle, exemphfied in Wright's rgog Robie House

in Chicago, integrated indoor and outdoor spaces by exploiting rhe new technolo-
gies of steel and glass to enlarge windows and extend roof and deck planes into na-

ture. At the same time, the style reflected the American penchant for natural mate-

rials and respect for the landscape. The Wright school of architecture, often called

the "humanist school," allowed function and site to determine the outward form.
"First, pick a good site . . . a site no one wanrs-but pick one thar has features mak
ing for character: trees, individuality, a fault of some kind in the realtor's conven-

tional mind."6

European Modernism came to the United States in the late r93os with the im-
migration of a number of its leaders during the exodus from Europe as Hitler rose

to power. Mies van der Rohe, head of the Bauhaus for three years, emigrated to the
United States in 1937 and became head of the School of Architecture at the Illinois
Institute of Technology in chicago; walter Gropius came to America in 1939. In
1936, Frank Lloyd Wright gained renewed popularity with his renowned Fallingwa-
ter house, built over a rocky waterfall in Bear Run, Pennsylvania, a mixture of rhe
geometric modern concrere forms of the International Style and the organic Ro-
manticism of native stone forms. Beginning in the late r93os he designed a series

of more modest, low-cost but high-quality houses that he termed "[Jsonian." These
houses often incorporated a carport (Fig. s+), a streamlined version of the porte-
cochere popular in the earlier twentieth century.

[n the r93os and r94os, modern architecture in the United States was largely
confined to a few urban centers. In big Northeastern cities Bauhaus architects Wal-
ter Gropius and Marcel Breuer americanized European Modernist ideas. In Califor-
nia William Wursrer and Harwell Harris fused \Tright's style with European ideas
to create a regional Modernism known as the San Francisco Bay area style.? The
Bay area style was characterized by the influence ofJapanese archirecrure, the use of
wood and stone, and a connection to nature.s Harris taught and practiced in Texas
before coming to the School of Design at North Carolina State University in rg6z.e
A thlrd center of Modernist design was the Midwest, where Frank Lloyd Wright,s
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Fig. 54. FirstHerbert

Jacobs House, Madison,
Wisconsin, a"Usonian"
house b1 Frank Llold
Wright, ry37 @hotobl
P. Behrens, ry88. Cour-
tesy of Image Exchange,

S ocietl of Ar chitectural

Hisrorians uww.sah.orgl
index)

Prairie School gradually gave way to a mix of the hard-edged International Style of

Mies van der Rohe and the lyrical, organic forms of Scandinavian Modernism im-

ported by architect Eero Saarinen.ro

After World War II, Modernism quickly gained widespread acceptance in major

metropolitan areas as the most appropriate architecture for the new age, but it came

to North Carolina very gradually. lts first significant appearance had been at an ex-

perimental arts school near Asheville, Black Mountain College, designed by archi-

recr A. Lawrence Kocher and built in the early r94os. Modernist architecture did

not rake root in rhe state, however, until the establishment of the School of Design

at North Carolina State College (now North Carolina State University, or NCSU)

in 1948. The new dean, Henry Kamphoefner, and faculty members Matthew No-

wicki, George Matsumoto, Eduardo Catalano, Milton Small, Edward \/augh, John

Latimer, and others trained many architects in the principles of Modernism and de-

signed a number of Modernist buildings in Raleigh. Houses and schools in partic'

ular were influenced by tl-re School of Design, although the most celebrated Mod-

ernist building by a faculty member is the Dorton Arena at the state fairgrounds in

Raleigh, designed in r95o by Professor Matthew Nowicki. Its revolutionary form,

with intersecring concrere parabolic arches that support a network of cables holding

the saddle-shaped roof, was so unique that the building was known throughout the

world as the "Raleigh arena."ll

As the School of Design was being founded in Raleigh, the winds of change were

also blowing in Chapel Hill. A new generation from all over the country moved into
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the village as the university expanded to meet the postwar demand for higher edu-

cation. Many new faculty were hired; North Carolina Memorial Hospital opened in
rg5o, and medical personnel moved to the village to teach and work in the hospital

and the School of Medicine, newly expanded from two years to four years. The new-

comers needed places to live, and architects moved to town to supply their needs.

By r95o most of the level plateau of Chapel Hill village had been built up. The hilly
farmland around the village being subdivided to meet the demand for new houses

demanded new house forms. The flourishing of contemporary residential design in

Chapel Hill from r95o to rg75 can be attributed in part to the adaptability of Mod-

ernist forms to rugged terrain.

The first large apartment complex in Chapel Hill, Glen Lennox, located along

N.C. S+ on the way to Raleigh, was built in r95o to alleviate the housing shortage.

Raleigh architect Leif Valand and Durham contractor \Tilliam Muirhead (who was

the developer) designed and built the first phase of 3r4 apartments in one-story

brick buildings with staggered shapes allowing generous windows and simple Mod-

ernist features such as corner windows. The buildings are arranged in superblocks

with large landscaped common areas, a new concept in multifamily housing that

developed in the rg4os. Many of the early tenants were university faculty and stu-

dent families.t2 During the r95os and rg6os expansion of Chapel Hill, new neigh-

borhoods developed around the village. The older subdivisions of Laurel Hill, West-

wood, and Greenwood saw many of their remaining lots occupied by new houses.

South of Memorial Hospital, the new subdivision of Whitehead Circle developed.

In the rg6os the gentle hills north of Battle Park were platted as the Glendale sub-

division. Farther north, a large tract of land along Estes Drive owned by William
Chambers Coker, well-known university botanist and real estate developer, was be-

queathed to Coker College in Hartsville, South Carolina, at his death in 1953. The

college hired Coker's colleague in the botany department, Henry Roland Totten, to

develop the earliest sections of the neighborhood, known as Coker Hills, along El-

liott and Clayton roads in ry6o-tg6r. The remainder of Coker Hills was developed

through t972.t3

North of Coker Hills is a large subdivision called Lake Forest, also built on land

owned by Coker that was bequeathed to Coker College in 1953. This land featured

a large man-made lake called Eastwood Lake. The area on the south side of the lake

was developed in 1957 by Mortgage Insurance Company and known as "Old Lake

Forest." In 1963, E. J. (Peg) Owens purchased some of the subdivision and continued

its development. Owens also bought the section west of the lake (along the present

North Shore Drive), laid out the streets, and built many of the early houses between

1965 and 1968. Owens gave the entire area the name Lake Forest Estates. Some of
the houses have a lodge-like look inspired by the area's rustic character. Whether
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Fig. 55. Left to right:

JohnWebb, JimWebb,
unidentifiedman, Sarah

Wurster, WiILiamW.
\Wurster, and his wife

Catherine Bauer. Photo

ca. rg5o (JimWebb

Papers)

traditional or Modernist, the houses featured stained wood and a "big view," often

toward the lake.

A third large neighborhood developed in this era was Morgan Creek, located

along the south side of the r5-5or Bypass. Development began while the bypass was

under construction from r95z to rg54. The land belonged to a variety of individuals,

including William Chambers Coker and \7i11iam L. Hunt. A short distance north of
Morgan Creek and also on the far side of the bypass, a group of faculty established

the cooperative subdivision of Highland \foods in 1956.

A11 ofthese neighborhoods begun in the rg5os and rg6os and developed over a

long period of time have large lots, rugged terrain, and substantial houses. Among

the popular Ranch and Colonial Revival-style houses are a number of Modernist

residences.la

ln ry47, architect and planner James Murray Webb, better known as Jim, moved

to Chapel Hill to help John Parker found uNc's city and regional planning program

(Fig. SS). \Uebb (r9o8-zooo) was born in Mexico and raised in California; he re-
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ceived a degree in architecture at the University of California at Berkeley in ry37.
There he worked in the office of architect William \Tursrer (Fig. 56). After serving

in the army in World War II, he earned a master's degree in city and regional plan-

ning at the Massachusetts Insritute of Technology in 1946. From rg52 to 1957 Jims
brother, John B. webb, worked with him in Chapel Hill. John also trained at Berke-

ley and was influenced by William Wursrer. The \Uebb brothers brought the region-

alist modern style of the San Francisco Bay area to Chapel Hill in the late rg4os.15

Jim Webb's earliest commissions date from 1948. In that year he designed a mod-

est Modernist house on Round Hill Road in Laurel Hill for English professor Nor-
man Eliason and his wife. The low-gabled recrangular house had a chimney at the
rear, a wide carport attached to the front, and a covered walkway leading from the
carport to the front door (Fig. 5Z). As built, the carporr in the drawing was omit-
ted. A carport was later added to the west end. Although Jim taughr until 1975 in
the planning school, he maintained a private practice and designed a large number
of buildings, primarily houses, in Chapel Hill and throughout North Carolina. The
{irst significant group of Webb houses is on Whitehead Circle, where in the early

rg5os the Webbs designed similar "Bay area houses" for young faculty families, in-
cluding Bill Friday and his wife Ida. The progressive design of their house at 4rz

Fig.56. AlbertSmith
House, ry45-rg5o,
Stockton, California,
designed by the firm of
WilliamWurster (Photo

by Sturdeuant, courtesy of
Enoir onm ent al D e sign Ar -

chiu e s -W illi am W ur s ter

I WBE Collection,
U niu er sity of C alif or nia,
Berkele)
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Fig. 57. Mr. andMrs.
Norman E. Eliason

House, rg48, RoundHill
Road, per spective drawing

by architect J ohn B. Webb
(Courtesy of Robert E.

Stipe)

Whitehead Circle, a sleek rectangle with a translucent rear wall overlooking the

woods, reflected Bill and Ida's embrace of modern ideas (Fig. 58). One of the small-

est but most accomplished webb houses was built on a tiny lot in the traditional sub-

division of Westwood. Ruth Price, a university instructor with a tight budget, hired

the \Uebb brothers in rg53 to construct her house at 4 Briar Bridge Lane. On her

steeply sloping corner lot, the \febbs built a two-level house whose main floor con-

tained a large living room with a skylight and a dropped trellis that created a study

area with built-in bookshelves. Two bedrooms, a bath, and a kitchen surround the

living room.

Among the \Uebb brothers' most visible legacies are the "core plan" houses of

Highland Woods, designed in 1956. Highland Woods was a cooperative subdivision

created by a group of young faculty families. The Architects Collaborative, founded

by \Talter Gropius and his students at Harvard, had designed a similar Modernist

subdivision, Six Moon Hill, in Massachusetts in 1948.16 In Highland Woods, the

modest houses are based on a living room-dining room-kitchen core and a bed-

room core. They present the essence of the Bay area Modernism-a post-and-beam

structure allowing exposed beam ceilings, high windows under the eaves, an open

floor plan, multiple levels nestled into a sloping site, balconies opening off the living

areas overlooking the wooded rear vistas, privacy from the street, and an attached

carport.
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Fig. 58. Bill andlda
Friday House, rg53, 412
WhiteheadCircle, by

architects Jim and lohn
Webb (PhotobyKlle
Troxell, courtesy of
Robert E. Stipe)

To illustrate the radical differences between Modernist houses and traditional
houses, it is helpful to compare the site, collstruction, plan, cost, and lifestyle of
a typical traditional house, such as the Colonial Revival house built by Brodie

Thompson as his own residence at zr4 Henderson Street ir tgzo (Fig. 4o), to a rypi-

cal Highland Woods house, such as that built in ry57 for Bob and josie Stipe ar rozz

Highland Woods (Flg. SS). The Thompson House sits on a flat site in the village,

while the Stipe lot is a slice of a hillside, sloping sideways in relation to the street.

While such a topographically challenged lot would have been considered unusable

by Thompson, to the \7ebb brothers it was ideal because it allowed a two-level build-

ing: a masonry lower level provides a base for the frame box above. The lower level

was less expensive than a traditional second srory, and the strong asymmetry of the

facade introduced a bold dynamic into the house design.

The post-and-beam consrruction of the Stipe House, in which the load is car-

ried by heavy wooden corner posts and roof beams, allows transparent glass walls.

The wooden balloon frame of the Thompson House necessitated load-bearing studs

around the perimeter walls and f,xed load-bearing interior walls; thus its windows,

which had to fit between the studs, are smaller. The fixed interior walls create a com-

partmentalized plan in the Thompson House, while the Stipe House has an open

plan with a living room, dining room, and kitchen that flow as one space. The ceil-
ings of the Thompson House are bounded by ceiling joists that support the second

floor. The Stipe House has cathedral ceilings, since the ceiling and the roof are the
same plane. The Stipe House conserves energy because its window wall and deck to
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Fig. 59. Bob andJosie

StipeHouse, rg57, to22
Hi ghl an d Vo o d s, ar chit ect

JimWebb (CoLLrtesJ of
Robert E. Stipe)

the rear have a deep roof overhang that shades the house in the summer and allows

the sun to warm the interior in the winter. Bathrooms, kitchen, and utility spaces

are located on the street side, with smaller windows that ensure privacy.

After \Uorld lUar II, the cost and lifestyle arrangement of a Modernist house also

suited young families better than those of a traditional house. A traditional house

would have cost $r2 to $r5 a square foot, while the Stipe House was constructed

for $ro a square foot because of savings resulting from the use of modular design, a

less expensive daylight basement level instead of a traditional second story, and its

inclusion in a group of houses built by a single contractor. The Thompson House

has a kitchen located in a rear room reached by the back door and close to the de-

tached garage or rear wing where a live-in maid or cook might live. The Stipe House

kitchen is located at the front of the house, connected directly to the living room,

allowing the wife to be connected to the rest of the household activities while coolc

ing. A porch is recessed beneath the bedroom wing.17 Although traditional houses

continued to be built in Chapel Hill after World War II, Modernist houses became

more and more popular for their adaptability to diffrcult sites, open plans, lower cost,

and energy-saving design.

Several architects from North Carolina State College's School of Design worked

in Chapel Hill in the rg5os and early rg6os. Edward (Terry) Waugh (ryry-ry66)
was a South African, the son of an architect, who was trained in architecture in Ed-

inburgh, Scotland. \7augh worked in California, studied and worked in architecture

and city planning with Eliel Saarinen in the mid-rg4os, taught in the architecture
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Fig. 6o. Dr. andMrs. Tim
ThomasHouse, tg53,

4oB Morgan Creek Road,

ar chitect E dw ar d (Terr y )
Waueh (Photo by Bill
Garrett, courtesy of the

NorthCarolinoOffice of
Archir.,es and History )

school at the University of Kansas, and from 1948 to his death taught intermittently

at the School of Design at N.C. State. His best-known buildings are Harrelson Hall,

a round classroom building at NCSU; LJVM Coliseum in \Tinston Salem; and the ex-

pansion of the Universidad Agraria campus near Lima, Peru. Public schools and resi-

dences were an important aspect of his practice. In Chapel Hill he designed a group

of the earliest houses in Morgan Creek Hills for doctors who had moved to town to

work in the expanded four-year School of Medicine and Memorial Hospital. lUaugh's

Modernist residences follow in the general California regional Modernist tradition

of the Webbs, with post-and-beam construction, translucent walls alternating with

vertical wood siding, integral screened porches and carports, and a generous use of

native stone.

Typical of Waugh's houses is the residence for Dr. Colin G. (Tim) Thomas and

his wife at 4o8 Morgan Creek Road in 1953. The Thomases had moved to Chapel

Hill in rg5z from the University of Iowa when Tim was appointed a professor of sur-

gery at the School of Medicine. Waugh designed a sleek, small, side-gabled rectan-

gular house set on the slope, with a lower level located under the bedroom end. The

exterior is covered with large expanses of long, thin, dark red "Norman" brick and

redwood siding (Fig. 6o). Like the Webb houses, Waugh's house has exposed ceiling

beams and large expanses of glass on the south side, protected by a porch. The bed-
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Fig. 6t. Mihon andVir-
giniaJulianHouse, ca,

1956, rcr LedgeLane,
architect George Mat-
sumoto (Photo by Bill
Garrett, courtesy of the

NorthCarolinaOffice of
Archic)es andHistory)

rooms have built,in srorage. In 196o Waugh and his wife Elizabeth wrote The South

Builds, a groundbreaking book analyzing conremporary architecture in the South, in
which they stated their preference for the humanist school of Modernism because of
its emphasis on the accommodarion of the building to the climate.ls

Modernist buildings were nor accepred by some Chapel Hillians in the rg5os

without a fight. As President Friday stared, change is hard. In 1956, when respected

local clothier Milton Julian and his wife Virginia tried to build a conremporary

house designed by architect George Matsumoto, a professor at N.C. State's School of
Design, on Ledge Lane in the Laurel Hill subdivision, Julian's neighbors sued him to
prevent construction. They argued that the design was not in character with existing
houses on Ledge Lane and attempted to use the deed restrictions in the subdivision
governing aesthetic harmony ro prevenr Julian from building his home. They sued

all the way to the North Carolina Supreme Court, which held that the aesthetic re-

striction was no longer enforceable.le Thus the Julians' International Style house

went up (Fig. 6r). Marsumoro was a California architect brought along with Waugh

from the School of Architecture in Norman, Oklahoma, by Henry Kamphoefner to
help establish N.C. Stare's School of Design in 1948. In conrrast to lWaugh, Matsu-

moto followed the Formalist approach of the International Style.

By the time N.C. State School of Design-trained architects Robert Burns and

Brian Shawcroft designed a house at zr4 Hillcrest Circle, off East Franklin Street,
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changes in level according to zone. A tall porch

extends across the south rear elevation to shield

the living areas from the sun. The wide roof

overhang and privacy screen beside the front

entrance have a Japanese character. Stewart

says of his trademark wide overhanging roof,

"l always tried to put a hat on a house."22 His

most dramatic Japanese house is the Bowers-

Nelson House at go3 Coker Drive in Morgan

Creek Hills. Built ca. 196o, the small Modern-

ist house on a sloping lot has a number of fea-

tures drawn direcdy from Japanese houses (Fig.

6:). The post-and-beam framework is exposed

on the exterior, whlch originally was painted

Fig.6z. ArchitectDon
Stewart at right (Courtesy

of Don Stewart)
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for university chemist Robert Work and his wife in t962, Modernist houses had lost

their shock value. The Work House, with its two-level form nestled into a sloping

site, translucent rear wall, and elevated rear deck, had become a common sight in

Chapel Hill suburbs. The central, open staircase allowed a smoother integration be-

tween the two levels than in earlier houses, which often had small enclosed stairs.

The Work House won both a national "Homes for Better Living" award and a North

Carolina Chapter of the American Institute of Architects (ara) award.2o

Among Jim \7ebbt most lasting contributions to Modernist architecture in Cha-

pel Hill were the young architects who worked in his office and became important

in their own right. Foremost among these was Don Stewart, who was born in 1926,

raised in Ohio, and received his architecture degree at Miami University in Ohio in

r95z (Fig. 6z). While earning a master's degree in regional planning at Chapel Hill,

he worked in the \7ebb brothers' office. Stewart brought the Midwestern organic ar-

chitectural ideal of Frank Lloyd Wright to Chapel Hill. When Stewart received his

architecture license in 1956, Jim Webb made him a partner, and the firm became

known as City Planning and Architecture Associates. In r95B engineer Bob An-

derson joined the flrm. \7hen they purchased land on Estes Drive and built a new

office in the mid-r96os, Jim !7ebb returned to the old office in the former Methodist

Church on Rosemary Street and practiced there for the rest of his career.2l

Don Stewart's early work, such as the award-winning 1956 Kai Jurgenson House,

4ro lThitehead Circle, fused the regional lvlodernism of the Bay area with the Eu-

ropean modern residential style of Gropius and his students at Harvard University.

Around 196o Stewart's design took a strong Asian turn. The house he designed

for Robert Mace, a physicist, and his wife Ruth at zzz Hlllcrest Circle, a small sub-

division off East Franklin Street, has an open floor plan on one level, with small

{
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Fig. 63. Bowers-Mlson

House, ca. ry6o, go3

Coker Driue, architect

Don Stewart (Photo b1

Bill G arrett, courtesy of
the North Carolina Office
of Ar chiu e s and Histor y )

red, yellow, and black. Shoji screens of translucent paper slide on tracks to separate

the spaces. Off the living room is an engawa, a sunken pebbled garden area.

One of Stewart's most dramatic later houses was designed in 1968 for his part-

ner, Bob Anderson, on a rocky ridge beside Booker Creek. The house stands ar 60r
Brookview Drive in Lake Forest Estates. A steep gabled pavilion containing the liv-
ing room and dining room is set on stilts over the rock-strewn Booker Creek, with
balconies extending out at each end as on a Swiss chalet. A stilted bridge conrain-
ing the kitchen and staircase connects the house to the bedroom wing, set into the
rocky hillside above the other units. Glazed eaves, large windows, rustic board-and-

batten siding, and a variety of roof levels recall both Oriental and Swiss architecture

in this house, which celebrates the beauty of its natural setting.

Although the Webb brothers, Don Stewart, and other modern architects from

out of town were constructing Modernist residences in Chapel Hill in the rg5os and

rg6os, the university continued its Southern Colonial theme for most of these de-

cades. Major buildings of the rg5os-structures for the Institute of Government and
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the School of Public Health, and Dey Hall, which housed uNc's foreign language

departments-continued the Southern Colonial theme. Not until 1965 was the first

Modernist building erected on campus. This was Chase Hall, designed by Milton
Small and Associates of Raleigh. The International Style building was a glass and

steel dining hall that seemed to float above its recessed concrete lower level (Fig. 6+).

It was demolished in zoo5. Small, a student of Mies van der Rohe in Illinois in the

r94os, was one of the principal practitioners of Miesian Modernism in North Caro-

lina during the mid-twentieth century.

From 196z to 1967 a group of four high-rise dormitories, designed by Graves and

Toy, were built around Chase Hall at the south edge of the campus. Craig, Ehring-

haus, Morrison, and Hinton James dormitories are steel buildings with brick veneer

walls and entrances with simplified classical decoration. On the rear, metal balconies

serve as open hallways to suites of student rooms. The first modern building on the

main campus was Davie Hall, designed by Holloway-Reeves and Brian Shawcroft of
Raleigh and built in ry67. The tan brick and concrete International Style building

with no exterior ornament contrasts dramatically with the Federal and Greek Re-

vival styles of the original campus buildings nearby.

The university flowered into a major research university in the r96os, resulting

in a building boom of Modernist structures along South Road. In 1968 the center of
student activity shifted to a new three-building complex: the Robert B. House Un-

dergraduate Library, the Josephus Daniels Student Stores, and the Frank Porter Gra-

Fig. 64. Chase Hall, ry65,
ar chit e c r Milton S m all and
Associates ( demolished

zoo5)
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ham Student Union. These stark two-story Modernist buildings of concrete stucco

and plate glass enclose a sunken brick courtyard known as "The Pit," a favorite open-

air gathering place. The law school was finished in 1968 across South Road. A new

building for the Department of English, Greenlaw Hall, was completed in rg7o, and

a ten-story chemistry laboratory tower was added to Venable Hall in rgTr.In ry72
the expansion of uNc from three to sixteen campuses brought extensive administra-

tive revisions under President Bill Friday.2l

Like the university, the town remained committed to traditional architecture un-

til the rg6os. Don Stewart relates a conversation around 1965 regarding the design

of the Chapel Hill Public Library on East Franklin Street with Mrs. Richmond P.

Bond, the head of the library committee: "[She] asked me about doing a traditional

building. I said, well, I'm really not a traditional architect. I recommend, if that's re-

ally what they wanted, Sprinkle-over in Durham. Mrs. Bond didn't go for that so I

ended up doing the building."z+ Mlliam Van Sprinkle was a Durham architect who

had designed a number of Georgian Revival houses in Gimghoul, Laurel Hill, and

other Chapel Hill subdivisions in the rg4os and r95os. Stewartt Modernist aesthetic

required him to design a building whose form evolved out of its function. Obviously

the library's selection committee decided that they wanted a contemporary building,

and the product-which now houses the Chapel Hill Museum and the Chapel Hill
Historical Society-represents one of Stewart's finest designs (Fig. 65).

With his commercial and institutional buildings of the r96os and r97os, includ-

ing Carmichael Gymnasium (1965), the Chapel Hill Library Gg66), the Chapel Hill
Professional Mllage (1968), the State Employees Credit Union on Pittsboro Street

GgTr), and the Totten Center at the North Carolina Botanical Gardens (t97r),

Stewart came into his own as a masterful Modernist in the tradition of his favorite

architect, Frank Lloyd Wright. Stewart's buildings honor their sites through their

multilevel designs, their sensitive use of native stone and wood, and their environ-

mental ethic. Carmichael Gymnasium, with its system of steel beams supported by

steel tie rods buried in the ground, was the largest single-span building in North

Carolina when built in 1965. The Chapel Hill Library's battered native stone walls

and stained wood blend the Modernist building into the streetscape of traditbnal
faculty houses along East Franklin Street. The Professional Village is a one- and

two-story office complex with bold brick supports, sheltered parking, extensive land-

scaping integrated into the architecture, and a bridge through the center that recalls

Wright's massing. The Credit Union uses brick walls and floating roof planes to ex-

press its gentle Modernism. The Totten Center, built of concrete and plywood under

a tight budget to house the staff and laboratories of the botanical gardens, is a pas-

sive solar building sunk into the earth, with large skylights illuminating the work

areas.
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Chapel Hill's other major contemporary architecture frrm was Arthur Cogswell/
Hausler Associates, active from the late r96os until partner Werner Hausler's retire-
ment in rg9o. since then, Arthur cogswell has practiced on his own. cogswell,
who was born in r93o, graduated from the University of North Carolina in t95z
and served in the air force during the Korean War. He returned to school to earn an
architecture degree at N.C. State, then moved to Chapel Hill and worked for Don
Stewart in the late r95os. In ry6zhe opened his own {irm in Chapel Hill. Cogswell's

architecture is based on a Miesian composition of boxy geometric shapes with flat
roofs, cantilevered over masonry bases, absorbed from School of Design professor

George Matsumoto, a strong influence in Cogswell's work. Cogswell's buildings have
a clarity of structure and elegance of detailing characteristic of the International
Style. In 196o he designed his own residence at 5 Marilyn Lane, which earned an
award from the North Carolina chapter of the ara. The twolevel house, nestled
into a sloping site, was designed according to Matsumoto's geometrical four-foot grid,
with vertical pine siding. The enrrance, reached by a short bridge from the driveway,
provides the only illumination on the street side. Cogswell gave the small house a

Fig. 65. Former Chapel
HillLibrary, 1966, 523
East Franklin Street, ar-
chircct Don Stewart
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more open feel with a "pleated gable roof'-a series

of small gables with glass ends-in the living room

and a deck across the rear elevation.25

Cogswell designed a number of Chapel Hill resi-

dences before going into partnership with Werner

Hausler in ry67. In 1963 he designed a house for

Duke University engineering professor David Hill
at zo5 Wood Circle in Coker Hills. This house rep-

resents rg6os experimentation with modern ma-

terials: it was constructed out of concrete and fea-

tures a barrel-vaulted roof. The residence Cogswell

designed for botany professor Mlliam J. Koch and

family in ry64 at 4or Clayton Road in Coker Hills

won a North Carolina ata award. The one-story

flat-roofed house is a platform cantilevered over a

concrete block foundation, with a louvered carport

and a covered corridor forming the street facade.

The house faces a pond at the rear, where transpar-

ent walls open to a deck. In 1966 at 4rr Clayton

Road Cogswell designed an ingenious pyramidal house for Marion Townend. At its

peak the tall pyramidal roof has a skylight that illuminates the large central living

room and the other rooms that open into it, changing their character as the sun

moves across the sky.

Cogswell's partner, Werner Hausler (ca. r935-r9gg), was born in East Germany

and earned his architecture degree at N.C. State, where he and Arthur became

friends. ln ry67 they formed Cogswell/Hausler Architects' an inseparable team (Fig.

66). All commissions by the flrm represent the equal contribution of both men, with

significant input from the other young architects working in the firm. In the rg6os

and r97os the firm specialized in residential design. While much of their work oc-

curred after 1975, they designed numerous contemporary houses in the subdivisions

of Coker Hills, Lake Forest, Morgan Creek Hills, and Glendale in the early years of

their partnership. In 1969 the firm designed a second residence for Arthur Cogswell

at 3o8 Elliott Road-another North Carolina ata award winner. The flat-roofed

steel-frame house, ausrere and white-walled on the exterior, is an oasis of delight on

the interior. Rooms with glass walls wrap around a terrace with heated swimming

pool (Flg. 67).

In r97o the firm designed a sanctuary for the Community Church, a progres'

sive congregation at ro6 Purefoy Road. The Reverend Charlie Jones, pastor of the

Fig. 66. Arthur Cogswell

and Werner Hausler, late

r97os (Courtesy of Arthur
Cogswell)
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Chapel Hill Presbyterian Church, was a noted advocate of civil rights in Chapel

Hill who was forced out by the Presbyterian leadership. In rg53 he and a large group

of his former congregation formed the integrated, nondenominational Community

Church on Purefoy Road, where whites and African Americans could worship to-

gether. Their original church was a utilitarian concrete block building designed in

ry57 by George Matsumoto. Cogswell/Hausler created a dramatic International

Style two-story sanctuary with theater-type seating and colorful cylindrical lighting,

connected to the old building by a glazed "hyphen" (Fig. 68).

The firm designed Chapel Hill's first subsidized housing project, Ridgefield Town-

houses, on a secluded tract of land at the end of South Estes Drive in rg7o. The two-

story brick and frame apartment buildings, constructed with a modest budget yet

designed to resemble middle-class apartments, are arranged in courtyards, with a

community building and playground as a community focus. A striking commercial

building by the {irm is Straw Valley, designed and built in ry74 on the NC r5-5or

Highway just inside the Durham city limits. The white building with bold roof sky-

lights is a Modernist landmark. The firm had their office here for a few years.

One of the most remarkable Modernist landmarks in Chapel Hill is the Blue

Cross Blue Shield Building at 59or Chapel Hill Boulevard. Designed in 1973 by

Fig. 67. Arthur Cogsu,ell

House No. z, rg7o, 3o8
Elliott Road, uiew of inte-
rior courty ard (Courtesy

of Arthur Cogswell)
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Charlotte's distinguished Modernist firm A. G. Odell Associates, the insurance

office is the most dramatic modern building in Chapel Hill and perhaps in all of

North Carolina from the period. The Blue Cross Blue Shield Insurance Company

had their offices in a large Williamsburg Colonial-style building at 44o \Uest Frank
lin Street. The companyt move from the pedestrian-oriented main street of the

town for a suburban location on Highway r5-5or, halfway between Chapel Hill and

Durham, symbolized the shattering suburban explosion of the town in the rg7os.

This new company headquarters also symbolized the architectural transformation

that had taken place since rg5o. The four-story glass rhomboid is elevated on ma-

sonry columns, and three-story office walls of tinted glass that reflects the sky are set

at 45 degrees to deflect the sun's glare (Fig. 69).

Modernism in Chapel Hill in the third quarter of the twentieth century was not

the end of style, but the first phase of modern architecture in this academic village

where so many architects and builders have symbolized North Carolina's heritage

and outlook. The town's Modernist landmarks of the r95os, rg6os, and rgTos are

landmarks of the progressive spirit of Chapel Hill and of the Thr Heel State. Archi-
tecture of the modern (and the appropriately named "Postmodern") style continues

to enrich Chapel Hlll to the present day.

Fig. 68. Communitl
Church of ChapelHill,
rg57 @rchitectGeorge
Matsumoto) and tgTo
( C o gsw ell I H ausler As-
sociates, architects), rc6
Pwefoll Road (Photo by

Bill G arrett, courtesy of
the Norrh Carolina Office

of Archiues andHistory)
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A view through the trees of McCorkle
Place to OLd East (Photo by Bill Garrett,
courtesl of the North CarolinaOffice of
Archiqtes andHistory)



The Campus of the University of

North Carolina at Chapel Hill

At the core of the campus of the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill are the

buildings surrounding the upper (northern) quad, known as McCorkle Place, which

developed from 1793 to rgr2, and the buildings surrounding the lower, southern

quad, Polk Place, which developed in the rgzos. The old campus is one of the most

beautiful in the United States and captures the spirit of the state's history and char-

acter more than any other place does. The forms, ideas, and ambitions expressed in

the physical campus evolved over two centuries to create a harmonious whole. The

buildings represent a marriage of the plain, vernacular forms of Old East, Old S7est,

Person Hall, and South Building, with the academic design concepts of architects

Nichols, Davis, Milburn, Nash, and others. The corn-and-wheat capitals of Smith

Hall (Playmakers Theatre) symbolize this blend of the state's rural and vernacular

origins with high culture.

The low stone walls that border the campus grounds, built from the r$3os out

of fieldstone scattered about the campus, symbolize the university's location in pied-

mont Norrh Carolina. Most of these stone rubble walls were rebuilt in the twentieth

century with a core of cement and a stone veneer mortared to the core, yet simulat-

ing stone rubble. Local African American masons developed the construction of

these distinctive walls into a livelihood in the early twentieth century.

The twentieth century expanded the main campus to its present size, bounded

on the north by Franklin Street, on the west by South Columbia Street, on the

south by the r5-5or Bypass, and on the east by Country Club Road, Ridge Road, and

the r5-5or Bypass. This chapter contains entries on forty-three of the most signifi'

cant campus properties.

The original plan of the university and town, drawn i t tTg2,depicts two axes-the

residential axis that larer was named Franklin Street, extending generally east-west'

and Grand Avenue, the wide ceremonial street extending generally north-south. It

is no accident rhat the new university and town were located here on high ground at

the crossroads, for the commissioners appointed to lay out and build the university

were directed to find the most pleasant part of the tract for the new university and
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UNIVERSITY OF NORTH CAROLINA. NORTH CAMPUS
1. Old East
2. Old West
3. Person Hall
4. South Building
5. Gerrard Hall
6. Smith Hall (Plagnaker's Theatre)
7. New East and New \Uest
8. McCorkle Place
9. Alumni Hall
10. Graham Memorial
1 1. Battle-Vance-Pettigrew Building
12. Hill Music Hall (Carnegie Library)
I j. Mary Ann Smith Building
i4. Swain Hall
15. Abernethy Hall

16. West House
17. Evergreen House
18. Ackland Art Museum and

Hanes Art Center
19. Morehead Building and Planetarium
20. Coker Arboretum
21. Davie Hall
22. Spencer Residence Hall
23. Women's Residence Hall Quadrangle
24. Upper Quad
25. Lower Quad
26. YMCA
27. Memorial Hall
28. Phillips Halt

29. Steele Building
30. Manning, Saunders, and Murphey Ha11s
31. Bingham Hall
32. Louis Round Wilson Library
33. Lenoir Ha[[
34. lTalter Royal Davis Library
35. Robert B. House Library, Frank Porter

Graham Srudent Union, Josephus Daniels
Student Stores, and "The Pir."

36. Woollen Gymnasium
37. Carmichael Gymnasium
38. Old Chapel Hill Cemetery
39. Forest Thearre and Battle Park
40. Morehead-Patterson Bell Tower
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41. Kenan Stadium
42. Craig, Ehringhaus,

Morrison, and Hinton James
Residence Halls

43. Dean E. Smith Student
Activities Center

44. Herman C. and Elizabeth
Baity House
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its adjacent town. Twenty-four two-acre lots and six four-acre lots were laid out along

Franklin Street to be sold to individuals who would create a new village. To the rear

of the lots along Franklin Street, nearly a hundred-acre rectangular 'brnamental
ground" was laid out for the university. Its boundaries, Franklin Srreet, Battle Lane,

South Road, and Columbia Streer, were generally square. The existing road from
Raleigh to Greensboro, which ran in a generally east-west direction through the
center of the ground, is now known as Cameron Avenue. The other existing road

through the tract, which ran from Pittsboro north to Petersburg, intersected on the
western border of the campus in the center of what is now South Columbia Street.

Just west of the intersection was rhe Anglican chapel thar gave the new town the
name Chapel Hill. The commissioners named the main street of the town Franklin
Street after Benjamin Franklin, who advocated practical education for American
youth. They named the western boundary street Columbia Street after the symbolic
goddess of the new republic of America.

The commissioners followed a master plan that evolved slowly into a row of
buildings along Cameron Avenue, facing north to Franklin Streer, and arranged

around Grand Avenue, which became known as McCorkle Place. The {irst four
campus buildings-two dormirory and classroom buildings, a dining hall, and a

chapel-were constructed between q93 ar.d 18r4 from designs by the commissioners

themselves. old East, the first building, was begun in q93 on the northern side

of Cameron Avenue and completed in January r7g5. The first student entered the
university in February r7g5. The second building, Sreward's Hall, a temporary frame

dining hall, was built just ro rhe easr. The third building, a chapel, was built between

1795 and 1798 along the wesrern side of Grand Avenue and named Person Hall.
The fourth building, South Building, was begun in 1798 on the southern side of
Cameron Avenue, but not completed until r8r4.

During the period from rSzz to 186o, three professional architects designed five

new buildings. While he worked in Raleigh between r8zo and r8z4 remodeling the
Old State House, William Nichols, an English engineer and architect, was hired
by President Caldwell to work on several new buildings at the university. In r8zz
Nichols designed and built a second building, Old West, and added a third story

to the two-story Old East. Nichols also constructed a belfry in the yard between

Old East, Old West, and South Building. West of South Building, Nichols began a

new chapel, which became known as Gerrard Hall, about r8z4. Construcrion was

completed in 1837. The plain building was distinguished by an Ionic porrico facing
south. This portico was demolished in rgoo.

New York architect Alexander Jackson Davis served as the primary architect for
the campus from 1843 to the late r85os. Davis had a srrong connection to North
Carolina. Robert Donaldson, an alumnus of the university and a businessman in
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New York, hired Davis in the early r83os to design a building for one of the university

debating societies and also a monument for President Caldwell, but neither structure
was ever built. Following the burning of the Old State House in r83r, the New York

architectural firm Ithiel Town and Alexander Jackson Davis were hired ro construct
a new State House. Their Greek Revival-style stone building, constructed from 1833

to r84o, is one of the frnest public buildings of this style in the United States. In
1844, under new president David L. Swain, Davis added norrhern additions to old
East and Old lfest which reoriented the main facades of the buildings to the north
and gave dormitory rooms and a library and debating hall to each of the campus

debating societies, the Dialectic Society and the Philanthropic Society. In r85z he

completed Smith Hall (Playmakers Theatre), a ballroom and library building east of
South Building, with a facade facing east.

A. J. Davis's vision of the campus as a group of buildings whose stuccoed
walls resembled stone construction, the ideal of Greek Revival architecture, left a

remarkable legacy. Davis had planned to apply rusticated srucco to Old East and
Old West, but the budget allowed only a tinted wash. This replaced the originalred
brick and glazed header sparkle of the Federal-era walls with a soft, smoorh stone
effect that appealed ro rhe romantic spirit of the antebellum era. In 1847, all campus

buildings were "rewashed with a coat of Hydraulic cemenr" ro spruce them up for the
visit of President James K. Polk, an alumnus.l In the rgzos, person Hall and South
Building were cleaned back to their red brick color, but the other buildings still
retain their tan stucco.

In response to a critical need for larger debating halls, library space, and more
dormitory rooms for the Philanthropic and Dialectic societies, two large new build-
ings were constructed in 1859. lTilliam Percival, a Virginia architect who was work
ing in Raleigh, designed New East and New lwest, flanking old East and old'west, to
contain classrooms, dormitory rooms, and society halls. The rectangular Italianate-
style buildings, with stuccoed, pilastered walls, face north.

The university was closed during Reconstruction from rBTr to rg75, and no further
construction took place until 1885, when Philadelphia architect Samuel Sloan,
who was then designing the Executive Mansion in Raleigh, constructed Memorial
Hall west of Gerrard Hall. Unfortunately, the building was condemned from the
beginning for its awkward appearance, bad acoustics, and cost, which was double the
original estimate. Campus historian Archibald Henderson considered it a "curious,
turtle-like structure" and an "architectural monstrosity.,' New york architecture
critic Montgomery Schuyler considered it "illiterate."2 The large brick auditorium of
High Victorian Gothic style featured two enrrance rowers and polygonal side walls
with buttresses and Gothic arched windows. A slate roof covered the auditorium.
It was demolished in I93o for the construction of the present Memorial Hall on its
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site. The only other construction that took place at the university in the late r8oos

was the addition of two wings to the rear of Person Hall in 1886 and r89z as the first

chemistry laboratories.

Under President Edwin A. Alderman, who served from 1896 to rgoo' the cam-

pus consisted of only nine buildings located on the northern and southern sides of

Cameron Avenue; Old East, Old West, South Building, Person Hall, Gerrard Hall,

Smith Hall, New East, New'West, and Memorial Hall. Alderman, a history professor

and a man of great aesthetic sensitivity, made several small improvements to the

center of the campus that became campus symbols. He replaced the old well cover

in front of South Building with a "temple" based on an eighteenth-century French

garden folly. On South Building, Alderman installed an elaborate stone pedimented

doorway, copied from'Westover, an eighteenth.century mansion on the James River

in Virginia. Alderman also supervised the construction of Carr Dormitory, east of

Smith Hall, and of Alumni Ha[l on the eastern side of McCorkle Place. Both were

completed in r9oo. Carr Dormitory, designed by Raleigh architects Charles Pearson

and his partner Ashe in iB99 in the Romanesque Revival style, was the hrst building

on campus used solely as a dormitory. Alumni Hall, designed by Frank P. Milburn, is

a Beaux Arts-style building that was the first building consisting solely of classrooms

and offices. Milburn was a Kentucky architect who had one of the largest practices in

the South. Practicing out of Washington, D.C., Milburn was a consummate eclectic

architect at ease with both medieval and classical styles. He served as the university

architect during the early-twentieth-century campus expansion.

By Igo7, 785 students needed to be accommodated on campus.r Architect

Milburn designed ten additional buildings on the university campus between rgor

and r9r4: Mary Ann Smith Building, Igor; Bynum Hall, r9o4; YMCA' rgo4-r9o7;

Howell Hall, 19o6; Carnegie Library (Hill Music Hall), I9o7; Abernethy Hall,

rgoT; and Davie Hall, rgo8 (destroyed and rebuilt later); Battle-Vance-Pettigrew

Dormitories, rgrz; and Swain Hall (rql+). His signature tan/gray brick walls feature

Collegiate Gothic bay windows, Gothic arched windows, decoratively curved brick

gables, or Neoclassical porticos and ornate stone cornices. Milburn's buildings filled

out the northern quadrangle during the first decade of the twentieth century. His

grand frame r9o7 residence for the president at the eastern edge of the campus, on

Franklin Streer, embodies the "southern Colonial" style with a welcoming monu-

mental portico and one-story side porches.

Following World \Uar I, President Edward Kidder Graham established a build-

ing and grounds commirtee and hired prominent landscape designer John Nolen,

who prepared a masrer plan in r9r8. Nolen designed the Beaux Arts classical space

of the southern quadrangle, known as Polk Place, with its axial progression from
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South Building south to Wilson Library bisected by diagonal sidewalks. The grand

quadrangle, shaded by tall hardwood trees, is one of the most special places on the

university campus, inviting generations of students and the campus dogs who roam

freely to congregate on its grassy lawns.

New president Harry Woodburn Chase and his administration created a new

South Campus in the Southern Colonial style. In rgrg the university hired the

architectural firm Aberthaw of Atlanta to rework the master plan. The famous New

York City firm McKim, Mead and \il/hite, with its head architect, William Kendall,

was hired in rgzr to design the new buildings of red brick with white trim in the

Colonial Revival style. From rg2r to rg3r, twenty-one buildings were constructed

on the new campus-the largest building campaign that had ever occurred at the

university. The local supervising architects were engineer Thomas C. Atwood, archi-

tect H. Alan Montgomery, and architect Arthur C. Nash. Nash moved from New

York to Chapel Hill and went into partnership with Atwood in rgzz. Architect

H. R. Weeks succeeded Nash as partner in r93o. The massive building project created

a second major section of the campus that emulated the old campus's arrangement

around a quadrangle to the north.

The first building on the southern quadrangle was Steele Dormitory, built in
the Colonial Revival style in rgzr just south of Smith Hall. It was designed by state

architect J. A. Salter (as the firm McKim, Mead and White had not yet been hired)

and was the most attractive and best-equipped dormitory erected on campus to this

date. Subsequent buildings, designed by the McKim, Mead and White/Atwood and

Nash team, were the Upper Quad dormitories of Grimes, Manly, Ruffin, and Man-

gum (rgzr); the cross-axis classroom buildings of Murphy, Saunders, and Manning
(rgzz-rg4); the classroom building of Bingham Hall (1929); and the Lower Quad
dormitories of Aycock, Graham, and Lewis (tqr+). Everett Dormitory completed the

Lower Quad in r9z8. Subsequent buildings were Spencer Dormitory (rgr+); Venable

Hall (1925); Kenan Field House and Kenan Stadium (rqz8); South Building portico
(t926); Wilson Library (tSril; Memorial Hall (r93r); Graham Memorial Student

Union (rS:r); and the Morehead-Patterson Bell Tower (rS:r).

The Colonial Revival style became so indelibly associated with the university

that all subsequent buildings on the campus were designed in this style until the

mid-rg6os. In the later r93os, during recovery from the Great Depression, architect

H. R. Weeks, who had gone into partnership with Atwood following Nasht de-

parture, designed Woollen Gymnasium and Bowman Gray Pool (rSsz); Alderman,

Mclver, and Kenan lWomen's Dormitories (tSll-rSZil; Lenoir Dining Hall (r94o);

and other buildings. Two of the most signi{icant of the later Colonial Revival build.

ings include the Morehead Planetarium, designed by Otto Eggers (formerly of the
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nationally known Neoclassical frrm of John Russell Pope) and his partner Daniel

Higgins (rS+il; and the Ackland Art Museum and art classroom building, also by

Eggers and Higgins (rqS8).

The first completely modern building at the university was the Kenan Stadium

Addition, designed in 1963 by Ezra Meier, a Raleigh engineer. The seating addition

of reinforced free-form concrete stands on tall angled concrete legs that recall the

organic, monumental concrete buildings of such European Modernist architects as

Le Corbusier in the rgzos. Between ry62 and 1967, four hlgh-rise dormitories and a

cafeteria were built at the intersection of Manning Drive and Ridge Road south of
Kenan Stadium. These buildings have traditional red brick facades with white trim,
but on the rear are modern balcony walls. Chase Cafeteria, designed by the Raleigh

firm Milton Small and Associates, was a mature International Style steel and glass

pavilion in the manner of Mies van der Rohe. In 1965 Carmichael Gymnasium, a

feat of structural engineering designed by Chapel Hill architect Don Stewart and

engineer Ezra Meier, was attached to \Woollen Gym. In ry67 an International Style

classroom building replaced the main section of Davie Hall. Designed by Raleigh

architects Holloway-Reeves and Brian Shawcroft, this was the first modern building
built on the main campus.

Two major buildings of the r98os introduced Postmodern design to the university.

The Hanes Art Center, an addition to the Ackland Art Museum, was designed by

Charlotte architect Gerald Li in 1983. Forming an interior courryard with the old

building, the design alludes to the Colonial Revival forms of the old building through

its Postmodern Palladian entrance, large dormer windows, and a freestanding arch

facing Columbia Street. The Walter Royal Davis Library, designed by distinguished

American architect Romaldo Giurgola and completed in rg84, also interacts with
the Colonial Revival buildings around it to make a Postmodern sraremenr.

The Dean E. Smith Student Activities Center, completed in 1986, is a massive

polygonal arena designed by coordinating architects Hakan/Corley and Associates

of Chapel Hill. The lower level is built into a hillside, and the basketball courr where

the Thr Heel team plays is illuminated by a giant skylight.

Notes

r. Powell, The First State University,66.

z. Henderson , The Campus of the First State Universit), 2oo, 255, 343

3. lbid., zz7.
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Old East

1793-95, r8zz, t844-45, 1924

Alexander J ackson D avis, architect

Old East was built as a wing of an in-

tended three-part building facing east.

Its cornerstone was laid October rz,

qg3, in a ceremony led by \7illiam
R. Davie, a Revolutionary lUar leader

from Halifax County. It is the oldest

state university building in the United

States. James Patterson, a Chatham

County contractor, constructed the

building based on plans drawn by the

university commissioners, which speci.

fied a plain two-story ten-bay long brick

dormitory building. The plan conforms

to the confrguration of two center-hall houses

with two rooms on each side and a fireplace

in every room. Such a plan was typical of late-

eighteenth-century university dormitories, such

as that for a dormitory at Yale University designed

in qgz. The wing contained a total of sixteen

dormitory rooms on its two floors. Construction

details consist of Flemish bond brick walls and

wooden sash windows with stone sills. The win-
dows on the 6rst story have nine-over-nine sashes;

those on the second have nine-over-six sashes.

The side entrances have double doors with four

raised panels in each leaf and tall transoms. In
r8zz, when Old West dormitory was constructed

by the state architect William Nichols, he also

added a third story with six-over-six sash windows

to Old East.

Eminent New York architect Alexander Jack-

son Davis enlarged both Old East and Old West

in 1844 to provide much.needed quarters for the

Philanthropic and Dialectic societies, the debat-

ing societies that were important student orga-

nizations. At the northern end of each building,

toward Franklin Street, he added five-bay-deep,

three-story extensions in the Romantic Italianate

Revival mode, each with a bold Italianate facade

facing north and featuring a central tall window

and a pediment; bracketed eaves extended around

the whole building. Davis covered the entire

building with a tan stucco wash that still remains.

The facade has a sophisticated severity result-

ing from the center bay being filled from bottom

to top with a door and a tall window, which Da-

vis called "one good eye," and plain flanking bays.

The first floor of the additions contained dormi-

tory rooms, the second contained a society meet.

ing room, and the third contained a society li.
brary lit by a rooftop belvedere. On Old East,

Davis also added two classical entrance porches

with square brick posts to shelter the eastern en-

trances. ln ry24 the debating society additions

were converted to dormitories, but Davis's origi-

nal exterior treatment remains. In rgg3, to com-

memorate the bicentennial of the laying of the

cornerstone of Old East rn ryg3, both buildings

were restored on the exterior and rebuilt on the

interior as up-to-date dormitories. The U.S. Sec-

retary of the Interior designated Old East a Na-

tional Historic Landmark in 1965.

OLdEast
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OldWest

Person HalL

Source: Davis and Sanders, Roman-

tic ,\rchitect in Antebellum North Caro-

lina, zo.

Old \fest
tSzz-23, fi44-45
William Mchols, ar chite ct

Alexander J ackson D auis, architect

ln t9zz, state architect William Nich-

ols designed and built the dormitory

known as Old !7est across Grand Ave-

nue, now known as McCorkle Place,

from Old East. The building is iden-

tical to O[d East, hut has minor con-

struction differences ; for example,

the walls have one-to-three common

bond, whereas Old East has Flem-

ish bond. No porches were ever added

to shelter the side elevations of Old

West. A. J. Davis added the north-

ern addition in 1844-1845 to house

the Dialectic Society, the literary soci.

ety whose members came largely from

western North Carolina. It is iden-

tical to that at Old East except thar

the facade is slightly shorter in order

to compensate for the higher eleva-

tion of Old '!7estt site and keep the

two buildings at equal height; thus,

the paneled section above the north-

ern door of the later building has only

one row ofpanels instead ofthree.
lUith Old West as with Old East, Da-

vis had a tan stucco wash applied to

the building.
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Person Hall
qg5-98, 1886, r89z

The second building constructed for

the new university was built as the

university chapel and meeting room.

It was named for its benefactor, Gen.

eral Thomas Person, prominent North
Carolina Revolutionary leader and a

founder of the university. The original

chapel, the easternmost wing of the

present building, is {ive bays wide and

two bays deep, with a center door and

Flemish bond brick walls. The only

feature that distinguishes the unpre-

tentious little building as a Federal-

era chapel is the round-arched win-

dows with rubbed brick arches with
keystones. When the new chapel,

Gerrard Hal[, was finished in 1837,

Person Hall became a classroom build-

ing, called the Old Chapel. In 1886 a

chemistry laboratory was added to the

rear (west), with a second rear addi-

tion in r89z that creates the present

H-shaped building. In the twentieth

century three Gothic Revival-style

sculptures from England were donated

to the university and installed along

the southern wall.

South Building

ry98-r9t4, t9z7

South Building appears on the 1792 plan of Cha-

pel Hill as the main building of the university, al-

though it was not begun until 1798. Modeled on

Nassau Hall at Princeton University, the build-

ing declared its authority as the principal campus

edi6ce through its three-story height, nine-bay

length, and central projecting pavilion. Its severe

classical design is traditionally credited to univer-

sity trustee Richard Dobbs Spaight of New Bern.

Construction ceased in r8or when funds ran out

and the building was finally completed in r8r4.

It sits on a partially raised basement and is

eleven bays wide, with a center three-bay pedi-

South Building

South Building, rear uiew
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mented pavilion on the main (northern) facade.

Six-over-six sash windows with stone sills and

stuccoed flat arches illuminate the building. The

Flemish bond brick walls, with glazed headers,

are covered with a tan stucco wash. The building
has undergone a number ofsmall changes over

the years. The belfry was removed in r8zz and

replaced in 186o. The plain main entrance was

adorned in r8g7 by a Georgian Revival surround

copied from Westover, a grand Virginia house. In
1927, when the "South Campus" was constructed

behind South Building, architect Arthur Nash

added the monumental Ionic portico on the rear

to face the new campus quadrangle. A stone den-

til cornice also was added around rhe roof at this

time. The effect of the new portico was to turn
the venerable landmark, located at the crest of
the hill, into the fulcrum of the campus design.

Source: Bishir and Southern, A Guide to the

Historic Architecture of Piedmont North Carolina,

234.

Gerrard Hall
rSzz-37

W illi am Nichols, ar chitect

Gerrard Hall, a plain, two-story ga.

bled brick building, is small, utilitar-

ian, and easy to overlook in its present

appearance. Yet it was conceived in
the spirit of Romantic Classicism by

state architect \7illiam Nichols, and

originally it had a grand Ionic portico

facing south. Nichols, the flrst profes-

sional architect involved with cam-

pus architecture, gave the new cha-

pel an image of classical grandeur in
contrast to the eighteenth-century re-

ligious spirrt of the old chapel. The

"New Chapel" was completed in time for the

commencement exercises of 1837 to be held in.
side. The six.bay-wide and two.bay-deep build-

ing has one-to.three common bond brick walls,

twelve-oveptwelve sash windows with stone sills

and rubbed brick flat arches, and a box cornice. lt
rests on a brownstone base. Thn stucco wash cov-

ers the walls. The portico was demolished in rgoo

and the southern entrance removed. Today the

building is a small lecture hall with two newer

entrance doors cut into the eastern and western

elevations.

Sources: Although Archibald Henderson

states that A. J. Davis designed the portico in
1844 (Henderson, The Campus of the First State

Uniuersit.^t,89), more recent scholars who have

studied Davis's papers have concluded that it was

original to rhe building. See AllcotqTheCampus
atChapelHill,4; Edrvard T. Davis, Raleigh, tele.

phone conversation, Nov. 3,2oo3.

Gerrard HaII
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Smith Hall (Playmaker's Theatre)
fi49-52
Alexander J ackson D auis, architect

Designated a National Historic Landmark rn ry73
because it is one of the most signi{icant extant

buildings by Alexander Jackson Davis in North
Carolina, Smith Hall was designed as rhe univer-

sity ballroom and library. The building was pro-

posed by the students in order to have a space for

their commencement balls, and the faculty pro-

posed that library shelves be installed around

the perimeter. Davis designed an eleganr rem-

ple, three bays wide and fourteen bays deep, of
stuccoed brick, with a pedimented porrico fac-

ing east. The Corinthian capitals conrain, instead

ofthe usual acanthus leaves, corn and wheat to

symbolize the riches of the North Carolina land.

Hillsborough builder John Berry constructed the

building, and a New York flrm carved the capitals.

The temple rests on a sandsrone plinth. lts side

elevations have tall nine.over-nine sash windows

with stone sills. The walls have srucco scored ro

resemble ashlar and are covered with a tan stucco

wash. The reddish brown color of the wooden

trim resembles brownstone. The front double

door has a dignified Greek Revival surround con-

sisting of half-pilasters, a five.pane transom, and

a crosseted molded surround with battered sides.

Completed in time for the commencement ball

of t852, Smith Hall served as a ballroom until
1885, when it became the official library for the

Dialectic and Philanthropic societies, as well as

a small museum. It became the law school when

the new university library was built in r9o7, and

in t9z4 was remodeled to serve as the Playmakers

Theatre. At this time a new front wall was con-

structed five feet in front of the old one to provide

space for a basement staircase and a ticket booth.

Smirh Hall (Playmal<er's Theatre)
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New East and New lVest

fi59, t9z5

W illi am P er ciu al, ar chite c t

To accommodate the booming student population

of the r85os, two new buildings were constructed

in 1859 from designs by architect \Uilliam Per-

cival, known in North Carolina for his exuberant

Romantic Classical Caswell County courthouse.

Each building contained thirty-six dormitory

rooms and six classrooms as well as large quarters

for the Philanthropic (New East) and Dialectic
(New \Uest) societies, which had ourgrown rheir

spaces in Old East and Old \7est. Both build-

ings have tripartite designs with central pavilions

adorned with pilasters and a belvedere, and flanlc

ing wings with a lower roofline. To create uni.
fied elevations on the northern side, facing Frank
lin Street, where the land slopes down sharply

to the east, New East has four stories, while New

lUest has three. The buildings sit on stone bases

and have large six-over-six sashes with stone sills.

Simple entrances, a single door with a transom

and sidelights, face north toward town. The stuc-

coed walls are scored to resemble ash-

lar (stone blocks) and are painted an

ochre color. Both have heavy braclc

eted cornices. The 6rst two stories of
New East are capped by a molded cor-

nice and function as a piano nobile.

New'West's piano nobile is only one

story tall.

In the mid-rgzos a remodeling low-

ered the top-floor windows of the

middle pavilions, closed the side en-

trances, and added a cramped Colo-

nial Revival doorway out of character

with the original design on the south-

ern sides. The Dialectic and Philan-

thropic Society halls still exist on the

top floors of the buildings.

McCorkle Place

McCorkle Place is the name of the northern cam-

pus quadrangle, which is actually the old Grand

Avenue identified on the original ry92 plat of

Chapel Hill. Its best known landmark is the Old

\fell, which serves as a symbol of the university.

In the nineteenth century a simple well cover

stood here over the student water supply. Presi-

dent Edwin Alderman, during minor campus

beautification in 1897, had a domed, columned

temple patterned after the Temple of Love at Ver.

sailles, France, built over the well. This structure

was rebuilt on a stone base in 1955, with fluted

columns, curved cornice brackets, and a copper.

sheathed roof. The water fountain now in the

center recalls the well that formerly stood here.

The oldest tree on this quadrangle "groved

with magnificent ancient trees," as Thomas Wolfe

wrote, is the Davie Poplar, whose leaning trunk

has a cable support. According to tradition,

founder William R. Davie and the trustees rested
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beneath the tree in the summer of ry92 while dis-

cussing their plans for the university.

The Caldwell Monument is a marble obelisk

erected in 1858 as a memorial for Joseph Caldwell,

first president of the university and "an early,

conspicuous, and devoted advocate of Common
Schools and Internal Improvements." Made by

the Philadelphia stone carver Struthers, rhe mon-
ument replaces a crude one erected in the r83os.

President Caldwell, Mrs. Caldwell, and Professor

l7illiam Hooper, son of Mrs. Caldwell by her flrst
marriage, are buried at the monument.

In r9r3 the Confederare Monumenr was

erected to honor students and alumni who served

in the Civil !Uar. Beneath the sratue of a soldier,

affectionately known as "silent Sam," who holds

a rifle, the base conrains a relief panel showing a

student dropping his books to join rhe war.

Source: Powell, The First State lJniuersity, 66.

Alumni Hall
r898-rgor

Frank P. Milburn, architect

Architect Frank P. Milburn designed this Beaux

Arts building, a key edifice in the early-twentieth-

century campus expansion. The large tan brick
building with stone trim, arched windows, and a

stone Corinthian portico signaled the return of
the classically inspired architectural styles to the
campus after the romanticism of the late nine-
teenth century. Built under the leadership of
President Edwin Alderman, rhis was the firsr

campus building that contained only classrooms

and offices, with no dormitory. University pub-

lications praised it as "modeled afrer the Boston

Public Library, with the addition of a very beau-

tiful classic portico." The three-story, eleven-bay-

wide building sits on a high, rusticated granite

McCorkle Place
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AlumniHall

GrahamMemorial

basement and is enriched with ornate

Beaux Arts-style stone trim.

Graham Memorial
I93I

McKim, MeadandWhitel

Atwood and Nash, architects

Located along the eastern side of

McCorkle Place, abutting Franklin

Street, the gracious red brick Colo.

nial Revival-style building with stone

trim was built as the student center

and named for Edward Kidder Gra-

ham, who died in rgrS during the in-

fluenza epidemic, while president of

the university. The two-story build-

ing contains a monumental six.bay-

wide Doric portico sheltering its three

entrances facing the McCorkle Place

quadrangle. A stone balustrade con'

ceals the roof. lts interior spaces con-

tained lounges, a library, offlces, a

grill, game rooms, and a bowling

alley. The main lounge, with oak'

paneled walls, was said to be the most

beautiful room south of the Mason-

Dixon Line. The lounge opens onto a

large terrace with a stone balustrade

at the rear. Graham Memorial served

as the student union until 1968, when

the Graham Student Union (named

for university president Frank Por-

ter Graham, cousin of Edward Kidder

Graham) was built along South Ave-

nue. The building now contains the

offices of campus organizations.
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Battle-Vance-Pettigrew Building
t9r2

Milburn and Heister, architects

This connected set of three dormito-

ries of Collegiate Gothic style gives

the appearance of a medieval Lon.

don streetscape to the western side of
McCorkle Place as one enters from

Franklin Street. The three-story build.

ings of tan brick are arranged so that

the front dormitory, Battle Building,

faces Franklin Street. The two rear

buildings-Vance and Pettigrew-are

connected and offset from Bartle, with
an archway connecting Battle with
the rear buildings along the eastern

elevation. The architects were Mil-
burn and Heister; J. G. Lawrence was

the contractor. Picturesque architec.

tural details include two-story oriel

windows on the eastern side, with di-

amond.paned windows and gargoyle

downspouts at the top, parapeted ga-

bles, and window hoods. These build.

ings have long been used as offices.

Hill Music Hall
(Carnegie Library)
1907

Milbur n an d Hei st er, ar chitects

The main block of this Beaux Arts-style build-

ing of tan brick, on a high raised basement facing

McCorkle Place, was built in rgo7 as a Carnegie

Library to house the consolidated library holdings

of the university. This building replaced the three
earlier libraries-the university's own col[ec-

tion and the libraries of rhe Dialectic and Philan-
thropic Societies. The building was largely funded

'lh l|F

B attl e -Van c e - P e t ti gr eu B uil ding
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Hill Music HaLL (CarnegieLibrary)

by noted philanthropist Andrew Carnegie, whose

beneficence resulted in the construction ofCarne-
gie Libraries across rhe counrry. !7hen Wilson
Library was completed in rgz9, the Department

of Music took over the building. lUhen an audi-

torium was added in rg3o through funding from
Durham philanthropist John Sprunt Hill, the
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building was renamed Hill Music Hall. The two-

story, five-bay.wide building has horizontal mass-

ing, a high hip roof with red roof tiles, and full-
height window units offset by Ionic pilasters. The

interior retains its round rotunda with a skylight,

but the surrounding space, once open as a library,

has been partitioned into offices.

Mary Ann Smith Building

Swain HaLL

Mary Ann Smith Building
r9o4

F rank P. Milburn, architect

Erected as a men's dormitory in r9o4, it became

a women's dormitory from 1945 until the r96os,

then was converted to an oflice and classroom

building. The two-and-one-half-story brick build-

ing, ofJacobethan Revival design, features a

dominant decorative front-entrance gable, one-

over-one sash windows with keystones,

decoratively curving gable ends, and

a tall slate hip roof with large dormer

windows. On this building Milburn
used red brick walls, in contrast to

his usual tan or gray brick. The build-

ing was constructed with funds be-

queathed to the university by Mary

Ann Smith, the heiress of a promi-

nent local merchant.

Swain Hall
19r4

Milburn, Heister and Co., architects

Swain Hall, the last of architect Frank

Milburn's buildings on the campus,

was constructed by contractor'West

B. Barrow as the dining hall, which

seated 46o students. After a bad fire

in rgz4, it was rebuilt and enlarged by

architects Atwood and Nash. Known

affectionately as "Swine Hall," the

large two-story tan brick building has

a late medieval style, with stepped ga-

ble ends, a decorative front gable, win-

dows with diamond-paned transoms

and hood moldings, and an arcaded

front porch. The Department of Ra-

dio, Television, and Motion Pictures
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occupied the building from the early r95os to the

r99os. wuNC Radio had its studio here during

this period.

Abernethy Hall
r907

Frank P. Milburn andComparry, orchitects

Frank P. Milburn and Company, a Washington,

D.C., firm whose Beaux Arts-style brick build-

ings filled out the old campus in the first decade

of the twentieth century, designed Abernethy
Hall as the third university infirmary, equipped

with sixty-four rooms and completed in lgo7. The
two-story gray brick building has Arts and Crafts
features-the smooth expanses of brick, the
high roof with wide overhanging eaves wirh ex-

posed rafter tails, and the second-story entrance

Abernathl HalL

with a double diamond-paned transom over the

front porch. A classical entrance porch shelters

the main entrance. The building was named for

longtime university physician Eric A. Abernethy.

Campus architects Atwood and Nash designed

an addition in rgz4, and in 1939 a clinical annex

was added. ln ry46 the infirmary moved to the

former U.S. Navy preflight infirmary, attached to
MacNider Hall in the Medical School complex

on South Columbia Street. Abernethy Hall was

rented as faculty and staff aparrments until the

r95os, when it was renovated as the Extension Di-
vision and other offlces, including, in the rggos,

the Division of Continuing Education. The build-
ing is slated for demolition to make way for the

new Arts Commons.

Sources: Long, "Building Nores"; Henderson,

The Campus of the First State Uniuersity, zz7-228,

293, 364.
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Wesr House

Evergreen House

'West 
House

r935

Old Fraternity Row

Martin BoJer Jr., architect

In 1935 Kenneth S. Tanner, a textile industrialist

from Rutherford, North Carolina, constructed a

private residence at the university to give his son

more luxurious quarters than dormi-

tories or fraternity houses. It was de-

signed by Charlotte architect Martin
Boyer Jr., designer of several fraternity

houses at Davidson College, and built

at a cost of $9,ooo along a private al-

ley known as Old Fraternity Row on

the western edge of the campus (and

thus called West House). With its di-

minutive size and exaggerated Doric

entrance porch, the Iittle dormitory

resembles a "fo11y," a stytish garden

house built on English country estates

in the eighteenth century. The one-

story, 958-square-foot brick building

utilized the finest materials, including

a slate roo( copper guttering, tapestry

brick, and interior pine paneling. In
its heyday the house contained a spa-

cious lounge and library room, a kitch-

enette, a bathroom, a common sleep-

ing room with builpin bunks, and five

individual study cells. At the rear is

a garden enclosed with a Jeffersonian

undulating brick wall.

Kenneth Tanner Jr. lived here with
four housemates, one of whom was

C. Vann \Woodward, who was study-

ing for his Ph.D. in history. In r98z

lToodward won a Pulitzer Prize in his-

rory for Mary Chesnutt's Ciq,)ilWer.

Another housemate was Thomas My-

ers of Charlotte, who later developed

the Myers Park subdivision in his hometown. In

ry42 the elder Tanner deeded the house to the

university. Subsequent occupants have been the

computer science department, office of the Insti-

tute of Arts and Humanities, and the Carolina

Asia Center.

Sources: "lt's Incredible-Perfect House Built

for Five University Boys," Raleigh News and Ob-

I
I

{

122 THE TOWN AND GOWN ARCHITECTURE OF CHAPEL HILL

/mln '



seruer, Oct. 20, 1935; "uNC House

Raised for r Now Set to Fall," Raleigh

Mqrs and Obseruer,Feb. z, zoo4.

Evergreen House
Old Fraternity Row

Ca. r89o

Evergreen House is one of the last two

remaining fraternity houses stand.

ing along the alley that was known

as "Old Fraternity Row" prior to the

r 9zos. Late-nineteenth-century maps

show a row ofhouses along the alley

that were used by campus fraternities.

This was private land until the rgzos,

when the university purchased land

across Columbia Street and traded it to the fra-

ternities in exchange for their OId Fraternity Row
properties. In spite of its dull beige color, the two-
story frame house has architectural interest as an

early example of the Classical Revival style. Its

side-gable roof is pedimented, and paneled posts

support a full classical portico across rhe facade.

The weatherboarded walls and rwelve.over.one

sash windows are apparenrly original. Because the
portico has been enclosed as rooms, the original
design of the house is not immediately obvious.

The house was apparenrly used by the Kappa

Sigma Fraternity from its construction about r8go

to the r92os, when it was acquired by the univer-
sity. Its early university function is unknown, but

from rg45 to tg4g it housed the Delta Delta Delta
sorority. From 1957 to rg83 it housed the Center
for Urban and Regional Studies. The Compurer
Science Department occupied it from 1983 to
1987, and since that rime ir has been occupied by

the Curriculum in Leisure Studies and Recreation

Administration. The building is slated for demoli-
tion to make way for the new Arts Commons.

Source: Long, "Building Notes," r77.

Ackland Art Museum and Hanes Art Center

Ackland Art Museum
and Hanes Art Center
ry58, Eggers andHiggns, Atwood

andWeeks, architects

r98j, Gerald Li, architect

The universityt art deparrment and an associated

art museum are located in this complex, a land-

mark near the southeastern corner of East Frank-

lin and South Columbia Streets. The three-story

brick building of Georgian Revival sryle features

Flemish bond brick, a srone corbel cornice, a re.

cessed barrel-vaulted entrance, and a low hip roof.

The only orher ornamenrs on rhe facade are pedi-

mented stone tablets in the end bays. The facade

forms a monolithic wall along the first block of
South Columbia Street.

The museum and art department building was

built in rg58 with funds from the Ackland Tiust.
Tennessee philanthropisr and atrorney William
Hayes Ackland's will provided money for the
building with the provision that his tomb be vis-
ibly installed in the museum. Behind the gallery
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spaces is a classroom wing that originally housed

the Department of Art.
The classroom and studio building, completed

in rg83 from designs by Gerald Li of the Char-

Iotte firm Clark, Harris, Tribble and Li, is one

of the first Postmodern-style buildings in North

Carolina. The three-story brick structure with

long side elevations and large dormer windows

lighdng the third-floor art studios faces the origi-

nal building. [ts curved, glazed northern wall re-

flects the traditional colonial architecture of the

old building across a courtyard. Its Columbia

Street facade features a front terrace and large

metal-framed window walls and is symbolically

united with the original building by a freestand-

ing arch that forms an entrance to the terrace.

Morehead BuiLding and Planetariwn

Morehead Building and Planetarium
1949

Eggers and H(gzns, architects

The Colonial Revival-style planetarium build-

ing, constructed with a gift from the Morehead

Foundation in rg4g, was named for John Motley

Morehead (187o-1965), class of r89r. Morehead

was a chemist and cofounder of Union Carbide.

The large two-story building on a raised basement

is built of red brick with stone trim. It contains a

front section with a large central dome and a five-

bay Ionic portico facing McCorkle Place to the

west. Over the entrance is a large fanlight. To

the rear are a long flat-roofed section and another

domed section. The elegant building includes art

galleries, science exhibits, meeting rooms, class.

rooms, laboratories, and a dining room, in ad-

dition to the planetarium. According to More-

head, this is the first planetarium located on an
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American college campus. One of rhe world's

best planetariums, it contains the Zeiss Projector

Model VI, one of seven in the nation, purchased

in 1969. In 1956 the Morehead Garden, with irs
well-known sundial surrounded by beds of roses,

was completed in the front yard facing Franklin
Street. The building is a popular conference cen-

ter for university groups and other organizations.

Source: Snider, Light on the Hill, 4o.

Coker Arboretum
Northuestern corner of Raleigh Srreer

andCameron Aqtenue

r903-rg4os

Wilham Chambers Coker (r872-r953), distin-
guished botanist and a professor of botany at the

Coker Arboretum

university, developed the arboretum gradually

from rgo3-r9o4 to the r94os on a swampy frve-

acre tract of land adjacent to the campus on rhe

northeast. Dr. Coker taught botany at the univer-

sity from r9o2 to 1944. His objective at the arbo-

retum was to include as many woody plants na-

tive to North Carolina as possible, and by the
early rgros the arboretum was well established.

The rustic pergola bordering Cameron Avenue,

in place by ,935, was planted by Coker with flow.

ering vines. Among the four hundred ornamen.

tal plants in the arboretum by the mid.twentieth
century were rare varieties of pine tree, magno-

lia, haw, river plum, dogwood, and spice bush.

Much of the campus's legendary beauty is due to
Dr. Cokert role as campus horticulturisr. In r92o,

during his senior year ar the university, novel.

ist Thomas Wolfe wrote in a letter to a friend:
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Dat-ie HaLl

"Other Universities have larger student bodies

and bigger buildings, but in Spring there are

none, I know, so wonderful by half."

Sources : Josli n, \[/illiam Chamb er s C oker, 9 4 ;

Henderson, The Campus of the First State Uniuer-

sity, 258-263.

Davie Hall
ry67
Holloway -Reec)es and Brian Shawcroft, architects

The lirst modern building constructed on the

main campus, this International Style classroom

building replaced the original Davie Hall, built in
r9o8 and named for university founder William
R. Davie. In ry67 the main portion of the build-

ing was demolished, leaving the 19z6 north-wing

addition still standing to the rear. (This wing, de-

signed by campus architects Atwood and'Weeks,

is a Beaux Arts-style Neoclassical building with
tan brick walls and stone trim.)

The new Davie Hall contained the Depart-

ment of Psychology. The Raleigh architects de-

signed the simple rectangular facade with repeti-

tive slender windows and tan brick, recalling the

earlier building, to serve as a wall that introduces

the nearby courtyard area of the Old Well when

approached from the east. Its style, called "New

Brutalism," was an experiment in poured concrete

construction. Former Institute of Government

professor Robert Stipe recalls that the university

felt that the modern design of Davie Hall was ap-

propriate in order to allow the campus to con-

tinue to express changing architectural taste, as it
had from the late eighteenth century. The build-

ing received a merit award from the North Caro-

lina chapter of the American Institute of Archi-
tects in 1968.

Sources: Allcott, The Campus atChapelHill,

78; Long, "Building Notes," 93; Robert E. Stipe

interview, Feb. r3, zoo4.
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Spencer Residence Hall
r924

McKim, Mead andWhitelAtwood and

Nash, architecs

The lirst women's dormitory on cam-

pus, named for Cornelia Phillips

Spencer, devoted champion ofthe
university in the later nineteenth cen.

tury, was completed in ry24 as a part

of the rgzos campus expansion. Its

prominent location on Franklin Street

at the southwestern corner of Raleigh

Street and its grand front lawn make

it the most distinguished dormitory

on campus. The three-story red brick

building of Colonial Revival style has

a gabled slate roof with dormers. Pro-

jecting front wings enclose a court-

yard, entered through a decorative

brick wall. A classical entrance porch

shelters the center entrance, and an

open one-story classical porch shelters

the western side. A one-story sunroom

is on the eastern side. A rubble stone

wall borders the front and side yards.

Women's Residence Hall
Quadrangle: Alderman, Kenan,
and Mclver Residence Halls
1937-1939

Atw o o d and We eks, ar chit e cts

Funded in part by ewa grants, these three Colo-

nial Revival-style red brick dormitories enclose a

quadrangle on the eastern side ofRaleigh Street

between Franklin and Cameron Streets. They

stand near Spencer, the first women's dormi-

tory, built in the rgzos. Each of the dormitories is

three stories, with arched dormer ventilators and

Spencer Residence HalL

Women's Residence Hall Quadrangle

gracious Southern-style classical wooden porticos

which create a more feminine atmosphere than
the simple entrances to the men's dorms of the

rgzos and r93os.
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Upper Quad: Grimes, Ruffin, Manly, andMangum Residence Halls

Lower Quad: Aycock, Graham, Lewis, and Eq,terett Residence HaLLs

,' ,a t{

YMCA

Upper Quad: Grimes, Ruffin, Manly,
and Mangum Residence Halls
r922

McKim, Mead andWhite, architects

(H. P. AlonMontgomery)

A group of four men's dormitories, of three-story

brick form and Colonial Revival style, creates a

quadrangle at the corner of Cameron Avenue

and Raleigh Road a short distance west of South

Building. These dorms were designed as part of

the South Campus expansion. The red brick

buildings have slate hip roofs with dormers that

create a fourth story of dormitory rooms. Their

entrances have decorative transoms and swan's-

neck pediments with pineapple finials.

Lower Quad: Aycock, Graham, Lewis,
and Everett Residence Halls
tgz4-1928

McKim, Mead and White I Atwood and N ash,

architects

This group of four men's dormitories, of three-

story brick form and Colonial Revival style, was

designed by Atwood and Nash and built between

r9z4 and rgz8. The fifth dormitory of the group,

Stacy Dormitory, was built in 1938. Located on

the eastern side of Raleigh Road, the dorms form

a quadrangle set on a cross-axis to the Upper

Quad of dormitories. The buildings have red brick

walls, slate hip roofs, stone pedimented entrances,

and central pedimented cross-gables with bull's-

eye windows.
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YMCA
t9o4

Frank P. Milbwn, architect

Constructed as the campus headquarters of the

Young Mens Christian Association, the build-

ing functioned as a student activity center at the

heart of the campus. It originally contained a

library/reading room, a meeting room, classrooms,

and an auditorium. Its Gothic Revival design, ex-

pressed in the arched entrance, window hoods,

and steep hip roof with dormer windows and mul-

tiple chimneys, symbolized the building's religious

function as a Christian meeting place. The rear

one-story auditorium, with its tall Gothic win-

dows, resembles a chapel. The building has stuc-

coed walls accented with mock quoins created

out of stucco and one-over-one sash windows

with transoms. The first motion pictures in Cha-

pel Hill were screened in the auditorium. In rgzr

the campus bookstore occupied the building, and

it remained here until the Daniels Building (Stu-

dent Stores) was finished in 1968. The building

still contains Y offices and a lounge.

The rear section of the first floor of
the Y Building was converted to a

campus snack bar at that time, and

this use has continued to the present.

The snack bar has recently been reha-

bilitated.

Source: Allcott, The Campus at

ChapelHill,6o.

Memorial Hall
r93r

McKim, Mead and lYhite 
I Atwood

andNash, architects

The boisterous High Victorian Gothic-style Me-

morial Hall that had stood just west of Gerrard

Hall on Cameron Avenue since 1885 was demol-

ished in rg3o and replaced on the site by this Co-

lonial Revival-style red brick auditorium. The re-

placement of the Victorian building, which was

detested by many individuals at the university,

with this quietly tasteful building that blended

with the oldest campus buildings was an impor-

tant element of the rgzos campus expansion and

renovation. The three-story hip-roofed build.

ing faces Cameron Avenue, with three entrances

sheltered by a monumental Doric portico. The

interior contains a large auditorium. The much-

used building was renovated in zoo3-zoo4 and

expanded with shallow side wings.

MemorialHaLl
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Phillips Hall

Ste ele D ormitor y B uiLding

Phillips Hall
r9r8

C. C. Hook, architect

C. C. Hook of Charlotte designed the building,

with wings added in rgz5 and ry27 by architects

Atwood and Nash. It was named for James Phil-

lips, mathematics and natural philosophy profes-

sor, r8z6-1867; his son Charles Phillips, engi-

neering professor, r845-186o, and mathematics

professor, 186r-1868 and 1875-1879; and Charles

Phillips's son \il/illiam Battle Phillips, professor of

agricultural chemistry and mining, r885-1888.

Phillips Hall was constructed to house the math.

ematics, physics, and engineering departments.

Archibald Henderson notes that "the style for the

building was designated in the contract as English

Collegiate, in red tapestry brick with limestone

trimming; but the general effect was that of an

industrial plant, suggesting automobiles or sewing

machines." Art critic Fiske Kimball grouched that

the style was "overmodernized Tudor" and clashed

with the general classical campus style. The two.

story building on a raised basement resembles a

high school of the period in its wide facade with
repetitive bays of windows and the central arched

entrance. One of the most striking features is the

battlemented parapet along the roofline. It was

the first university building constructed to mod-

ern standards, with a steel-reinforced concrete

framework. The building contains ninety.eight

rooms. In 1938 the school of engineering moved

to North Carolina State College in Raleigh. Phil-

lips Hall continues to be occupied by mathe-

matics and physics and also houses the statistics

department and the computing systems and infor.

mation technology department.

Sources: Henderson, The Campus of the First

State Uniyersit),232, 344, 365; Long, "Building

Notes."

Steele Dormitory (Steele Building)
r92r

J. A. Salter, architect

The lirst building completed on the new cam-

pus around Polk Place, Steele Dormitory was de-

signed hy J. A. Saltea who worked for the State

of North Carolina. All subsequent buildings in
the rgzos expansion were designed by McKim,

Mead and lUhite architects and their local con-

sultants. The three-story red brick building repre-
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sents an elegant Adamesque version of the Colo-

nial Revival style. The western facade facing Polk

Place resembles a row of three townhouses, each

five bays wide with a center pedimented entrance

with a blind fanlight. Above each enrrance, a tall
Adamesque window illuminates the stairwell.

Manning, Saunders, and Murphey Halls
1922-1924

McKim, Mead andWhite, architecm (H. P. Alan
Montgomery)

Saunders Hall was completed in rgzz for the his-

tory and social science departments. Manning
Hall was completed in rgz3 to house the Law

School. Murphey Hall was completed in r9z4 for
the languages and literature deparrmenrs. These

three buildings enclose a quadrangle that forms

an eastern cross-axis to the main quadrangle of
Polk Place. The center building, Manning, fea-

tures a grand Ionic portico and a cupola that echo

the architecture of South Building. The flanking
halls, Saunders and Murphey, fearure elegant en-

trances with tall arched fanlights and pilastered

facades. All three buildings srand two or rhree

stories tall on a high basement and share English

bond brick walls, ornare fanlights over rhe fronr
doors, and stone trim.

Bingham Hall
r929

McKim, Mead and White I Atwood and N ash,

architects

The three-story, red brick building with stone rrim
has a center entrance onro the quadrangle, with a

two-story arched surround enclosing a fanlight. It
was built for of{ices and classrooms and occupies

the eastern corner adjacent to \Tilson Library.

ManningHall

Murphey Hall

BinghomHalL
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Loui s Round Wilson Libr ar y

Louis Round'S7ilson Library
r929

McKim, Mead andWhite, architects

(WlliamKendall) wtd Arthtn C. Nash

The library occupies the "chief space" at the

south end of the South Quadrangle, which was

"reserved for some extra-ordinarily important and

dominant building." Campus architect Arthur

Nash, with the consultation of McKim, Mead

and White's chief architect, l7illiam Kendall, cre-

ated a library that magnificently occupies its spe-

cial site. A Guide n theHistoric Architecture of

P iedmont N or th C ar olino remarks that "the gre at

domed library with Corinthian portico embod-

ied the university's claim to national stature in

its kinship to McKim, Mead and White's Low Li-

brary at Columbia University. Faced in pale lime-

stone to contrast with the predominant red brick,

r

its symmetrical two-story composition with piano

nobile expresses the spaces within." The low hip

roof is concealed by a stone halustrade.

l7ilson Library's interior design is as special as

its exterior. Ascending the wide, tall marble steps

and entering the brass doors beneath the Corin-

thian portico, the visitor is awed by the grandeur

of the library's interior architecture of marble,

stone, and ornately carved wood. At the rear of

the large entrance hall is a pair of enclosed stairs

reached by a landing with a niche containing a

large gilded bronze sculpture of a winged woman,

"The Spirit of Life," by Daniel Chester French.

The reading room on the second story features

a central rotunda supported by a circle ofpaired

green marble columns with gilded Corinthian

capitals. The magnificent dome has a clear glass

oculus. Since the completion of Davis Library

in 1983, Wilson Library has held the universi-
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tyt special collections, including the

Southern Historical Collection, the

Rare Book Collection, and the North
Carolina Collection.

Source: Allcott, The Campus at

ChapelHill,6T.

Lenoir Dining Hall
r939

Atwood and Weeks, architects

Constructed in part with a ewa grant,

the two-story red brick dlning hall

with stone trim, set on a raised base-

ment, is located at the south end of

Polk Place near'l7ilson Library. It re-

placed the earlier dining facilities in
Swain Hall. The Colonial Revival-

style building features Flemish bond

brickwork, pilastered bays, and tall

windows. At each end of the main
(west) elevation are pedimented en-

trance bays with wide steps. In rg47 a

second dining area, known as the Pine

Room, was added in the basement. In
rgTo the main dining room was closed

following a period of student unrest

and a strike by food service worlc

ers. The building has since been re-

furbished and returned to its original

function.

Walter Royal Davis Library
r983

Mitchell I Giurgola, architects, with

Leslie N. Boney Jr. of Wilmington

Davis Library replaced lTilson Library, then more

than 6fty years old, as the main university li-

Waher Royal Dauis Library

Lenoir DiningHall

/
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brary in 1983. Designer Romaldo Giurgola flt-

ted the state-of-the art university library into a
constricted site between Lenoir Hall and Raleigh

Street, at the center of campus. The high-rise

building is one of the first Postmodern-style build-

ings in North Carolina and one of the finest late-

twentieth-century buildings at the university. The

building contains storage for r.8 million books
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and study facilities for the large campus. Its bulk

is minimized by use of the traditional red brick

and classical details of the campus architectural

idiom. Along its sides are a series of dormered

study towers that relate to the dormer yindows

of adjacent dormitories. The two-story reading

room on the northern side has a double vaulted

ceiling hung from a gable roof lit by dormers that

send shafts of light into the room. Campus archi-

tectural critic John Allcott likened this space to

the great reading room in the Bibliotheque Sainte

Genevieve in Paris, built in r85o of iron arches

supported in the center by tall iron columns.

"The Pi"

Woollen Gymnasium

Robert B. House Undergraduate Library,
Frank Porter Graham Student Union,

Josephus Daniels Student Stores, and

"The Pit"
Ca. 1968

The center of action on campus is a complex of

three buildings grouped around a recessed brick

plaza known as "The Pit." The complex is located

at the northwestern corner of South Road and Ra.

leigh Street, between Wilson Library and Davis Li-

brary. The simple brick pit, with its border of three

steps so perfect for sitting, unifles three impor-

tant ca. 1968 buildings that have bland Modernist

styling-the Student Union, the Undergraduate

Library, and the Student Stores. All three are two

stories tall, with plate-glass lower elevations and

paneled upper elevations ofpebbled concrete.

'Woollen Gymnasium
r937

Awood and Weeks, architects

The Classical Revival-style gymnasium building,

containing the main gymnasium, lockers, courts,

offices, classrooms, and the Bowman Gray Me.

morial Pool, is located on South Road just east of

the Raleigh Street intersection. It is one of sev-

eral campus projects partially funded by the fed-

eral Public lUorks Agency (pwa) during the De.

pression. The two-story red brick building has

stone trim and a pedimented entrance pavilion

with three pedimented entrances facing South

Road. It was named in honor of university con-

troller Charles T. Woollen for his long struggle

to construct the much-needed facility. The Bow-

man Gray Memorial Pool, funded by the Bow-

man Gray family of \Tinston-Salem, is an indoor

pool that was built as an original component.

During the war in rg4z, the U.S. Navy selected
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the university as one of its four preflight training

schools, and swimming was an important compo-

nent of the training of the preflight cadets. The

navy financed a large addition containing addi.

tional gymnasium facilities, including an outdoor

pool, to serve the students enrolled in the pre-

flight school.

Carmichael Gymnasium
1965

Don Stewart, architect

ETraMeier, engineer

Carmichael Gymnasium is actually an addition

to the eastern side of lToollen Gymnasium and

originally contained a goo.seat gymnasium/au-

ditorium, locker, dressing and shower rooms, and

Athletic Association offrces. It was named for

William D. Carmichael Jr., longtime university

controller who was instrumental in securing {i.

nancial support for the university. Don Stewart

was the architect, and Ezra Meier of Raleigh the

engineer. Stewart based the design on the shape

of the seating, so that all sections of rhe bleachers

would have equally good views. A system of steel

beams (supported by steel tie rods buried benearh

the building) connecrs in rhe center of the roof.

The three new elevations have a polygonal shape

determined by the seating areas of the auditorium
and the corridor that allows access to the seat-

ing around the outside. The exterior design fea-

tures an exposed concrete frame with brick cur-

tain walls and small horizontal bands of windows.

\7hen builr, Carmichael Gymnasium was rhe

largest single-span building in North Carolina.
Since completion of the Smith Center in 1985,

Carmichael Gymnasium has been used primarily
for wornen! varsity basketball and offices.

Sources: Long, "Building Notes"; Don Stewarr,

interview with the author, Feb. 25, zoo4.

Old Chapel Hill Cemetery
Northwestern corner N.C. S+

and Country Club Road

The cemetery was established in r7g8 as a grave-

yard for students and townspeople. University

student George Clarke of Bertie County died

suddenly in 1798 and was the graveyard's first in-
terment. In the early rSoos additional bodies were

buried around Clarke's grave. In 1835 the uni-
versity built a stone wall around the cemetery,

and in 1845 the graveyard was officially desig-

nated the "College Graveyard." The western half
of the graveyard was reserved for African Ameri-
can burials.

Among rhe numerous disringuished individ-
uals buried here are University presidents Ed-

ward Kidder Graham (1876-1918), Marvin Hen.

drix Stacy (t877-tgt9), Francis Preston Venable
(t856-ry31, and Frank Porter Graham, first presi-

dent of the Consolidated Universities of North
Carolina and a U.S. Senaror (1886-1972). Others
buried here are Cornelia Phillips Spencer (1825-

rgo8), credited with convincing the srare ro re-

open the university after Reconstruction in 1875;

James Phillips (ry92-fi67), renowned marhemar-

ics professor; Thomas West Harris (r83o-r888),

first dean of the Medical School; Gusrave Braune

Carmichael Gymnasium
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Otd Chapel HiLl Cemetery

(t872-rqo), first dean of the School of Engineer-

ing; Collier Cobb Sr. (t862-ry34), professor of
geology for forty-two years; Horace !7i11iams

( r858-r94o ), philosophy professor; Joseph Hyde

Pratt (r87o-rg4z), professor ofgeology; and Fred-

erick Henry Koch (1877-1944), founder of the

Carolina Playmakers. Other well-known univer-

sity individuals are lVilliam Chambers Coker

(fi72-tg11;), head of the botany department for

many years; Jim Tatum (rgr3-r959), coach of the

university's champion football team in the r95os;

J. G. de Roulhac Hamilton (r828-rg6r), eminent

historian who established the Southern Histori-

cal Collection at the university; and Paul Green

(r8g+-rq8r), dramatist and author of the popular

outdoor drama The Losr Colony.

Townspeople of renown buried here include

Nancy Hilliard (1798-1873), who ran the Eagle

Hotel from r83o to r85z; \il/illiam Mallett (r8r9-

1889), physician who ran the first student infrr-

mary; Harriet Morehead Berry (r877-r 94o), ad-

vocate of improvements to North Carolina roads;

Louis Graves (r88:-rq6s), founder, publisher, and

editor of rheChapelHillWeekly; James Kern "Kay"

Kyser (rgo5-rg85), world-famous bandleader;

and Edward "Papa D" Danziger (r8g3-rg7z), res-

taurateur whose establishments fed generations

of college students; and CBS News correspon.

dent Charles Kuralt (rg34-r997). Notable Afri-
can Americans are Dilsey Craig (I8oz-r8g4), a

slave for over sixty years in the home of the Phil-

Iips family; George Tiice (r838-r9r5), who ran an

oyster restaurant and shoe repair shop on Frank-

lin Street; and Dr. Edwin Caldwell (1867-1932),

a Chapel Hill physician who developed a cure for

pellagra.

Among the more than r,6oo monuments in

the cemetery are a number that carry significant
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sculptural design. The oldest gravemarker is the

Baroque-style marble headstone of Margaritta

Chapman (d. r8r+). The fenced plots of the Dia-

lectic Society and the Philanthropic Society are

surrounded by Gothic Revival-style cast iron

fences erected in the r8oos, with gates bearing

each society's name. The eleven monuments in

these plots are among the earliest and most artis-

tically distinguished monuments in the cemetery.

The marble ledger for James N. Neal (d. r83z) is

supported on classical marble posts. Lewis Bowen

Holt (d. r84z) is memorialized by a ledger with a

richly carved biblical scene by master stonecut

ter George Lauder, a Scottish immigrant who had

a workshop in Fayetteville, N.C. Lauder inscribed

his signature on the marble obelisks in the Di.Phi
plots that mark the graves of David !7hite Fisher

(d. rSso), Mark Bennett (d. r85r), and John AI-
exander Smith (d. 1855).

The western, African American section of the

cemetery contains slave burials as well as buri
als from the later nineteenth and twentieth cen-

turies. The most signifrcant monument is the tall
sandstone obelisk for \filson Swain Caldwell, a

highly regarded African American employee at

the university who died in r89r. The obelisk orig-

I was a Thr Heel born

And a Tar Heel bred

And Here I lie

A Tar Heel dead

Born Jan. z, t8g6

And still here, rg8o

Source: Little and Baten, "Old Chapel Hill
Cemetery."

Forest Theatre (Koch Memorial Theatre)
and Battle Park
1919, r94o

The Forest Theatre, a local stone amphitheater

located at the western edge of Battle Park, was

constructed in rgrg and remodeled in r94o us-

ing federal !7orks Progress Administration funds.

Its rustic stone architecture, which features stone

walls that form a screen along Country Club

Road, circular stone seating that follows the natu-

ral slope of the hillside, stone towers for the light-

ing and sound equipment, and a primitive stone

Forest Theatre

fX'rr'{
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inally stood on campus over the grave

of Joseph Caldwell, first president, who

died in 1835. !7hen a new monument

replaced this one, it was reused by the

students to mark l7ilson Caldwell's

grave. The beloved Phillips family ser-

vant Dilsey Craig (r8oz-r894) is bur-

ied here with a granite headstone that

was erected many years later by Cor-

nelia Philhps Spencer.

One of the most famous stones in
the cemetery is the monument of Jane

Tenney Gilbert, whose epitaph at-

tracts many visitors:
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stage, reflects the tendency of wpe projects to uti-
lize local materials and rustic forms. Plays by play-

wright Paul Green and others have been pre-

sented at the theater since its construction. The

approximately sixty acres of natural forest that ex-

tends north and east, wrapping around the Gim-

ghoul neighborhood, is a remnant of the origi-

nal university acreage. Its natural landscape is

the last vestige of the forest that once surrounded

the university. It was named Battle Park in honor

of Kemp Plummer Battle, university president in
the late r8oos, who roamed these woods clearing

paths, building benches, and giving names such

as Tiysting Poplar and Flirtation Knoll to his fa.

vorite spots.

Source: Henderson, The Ccunpus of the First

State Uniuersity, 268.

Morehead-Patterson Bell Tower
I93I

McKim, Mead andWhite, architects

(WilliamKendall)

The red brick tower with Indiana limestone trim
rises 167 feet above South Avenue, directly be-

hind !7ilson Library. The tower resrs on an ar-

caded base topped by a stone balustrade and con-

tains a clock face on each side and twelve bells in

the circular belfry at the top. It was constructed

privately to memorialize members of the More-

head and Patterson families. Bronze plaques con-

taining the names of family members who were

alumni-plus their occupations, such as "manu-

facturer," "lawyeq" "banker," 61 "f616g1"-line the

walls of the arcade. Along with Kenan Stadium

(erected a few years earlier), these final elements

in the South Campus expansion created a bridge

across the old South Road boundary to connect

the university with land to the south.

Kenan Stadium
t9z7-ryz9
Atwood and Nash, architects

ry63
ETraMeier, engineer

The university's football stadium was funded by

William Rand Kenan Jr. as a memorial to his par-

ents. Kenan, an alumnus who had assisted in the

discovery of calcium carbide (the basis for the

manufacture of acetylene, which led to the forma-

tion of the Union Carbide Company), was a na-

Mor ehe ad-Patter son B ell Tow er
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tional financial and industrial leader. The z5,ooo.

seat amphitheater is located below the South

Campus, across South Street from Wilson Li-

brary. The dedication pamphlet for the stadium

describes the building's site as a "natural amphi-

theater" at a place called the Meeting of the \7a-

ters. The stadium was designed to preserve rhe

beauty of the forest and streams by being hol-

lowed into the hillsides, with access paths wind-

ing through the trees.

The seating addition of reinforced concrete

was designed in 1963 by Raleigh engineer Ezra

Meier.

Source: Bishir and Southern, AGuide to the

Historic Architecture of Piedmont North Carolina,

235.

Craige, Ehringhaus, Morrison, and
Hinton James Residence Halls

ry62-ry67
Graues and Toy, architects

The university's lirst foray into modern architec-

ture, and its southernmost expansion, was the

construction ofa group offour cross.shaped high-

rise dormitories between 196z and 1967 at the

southern edge of university land. The front eleva-

tions of the dormitories continue the Colonial ar-

chitectural tradition of red brick with whire trim.

Each dormitory has a dignified main entrance of
stone, designed in the "Stripped Classicism" popu.

lar in the mid-twentieth century. Extending from

the entrance to the roof is a two-bay pavilion or-

namented with brick quoins and stone window

panels. The metal sash windows have flat, arched

lintels with keystones. Modern elements of the

design, in addition to the sheer height and size

of the buildings, are reserved for the rear, where

metal balcony walls serve as the open hallways to

student rooms, in the modern architectural tra-

Kenan Stadium

dition. Morrison and Hinton James Dormitories,

the two taller towers, house about one thousand

students each.

The high-rise dormitories were set back from

the intersection of Manning Drive, Ridge Road,

and Skipper Bowles Drive, leaving generous open

grounds around them. Much of that space has

been occupied in recent years by four-story brick

dorms built at the corners of the intersection;

they have a NeolTiaditional design with red brick

walls, sash windows, and hip roofs.
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Morrison Residence Hall

Morrison Residence Hall, reco uiew

Dean E. Smith Student
Activities Center (Dean Dome)
r986

Hakan I Corley and Associates,

c o o r din atin g ar chit e ct s

The Smith Center is a basketball

arena that seats 22,ooo, named for

Dean Smith, uNc's head basketball

coach from 1962 to rggT and one

of the nation's most beloved basket-

ball coaches. The arena also accom-

modates graduation ceremon ies, con-

certs, and other public events. The
polygonal building takes advantage of

a natural ravine to locate the lower deck seating

into the hillside, thus blending the large build-

ing into the site. Earth berms further conceal the

lower section of the building. The elevations are

covered with buff-colored concrete conglomer-

ate. Each side ofthe polygon has a deeply recessed

curtain wall of tinted glass. On the interior, a

wide corridor encircles the court, with food ser-

vice spaces around the perimeter. The steel beam

construction is exposed and painted a brilliant
Carolina blue, as are all of the plastic and metal

arena seats. The most remarkable feature of the

building is the gigantic fiberglass skylight over the

playing floor, which allows natural light to illumi-

nate the action.

Herman G. and Elizabeth Baity House
r5o3 Baity Hill Drive

Ca. rg3o

Herman Baity earned the first Ph.D. in sani-

tary engineering from Harvard in rgz8. He was

the first person in the world to be awarded a de-

gree in this new branch ofengineering. Profes-

sor Baity was an undergraduate at the University
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of North Carolina in Chapel Hill in
rgr3 and returned to serve as dean of
the School of Engineering in rg3o. He

married his wife, Elizabeth Chesley, in

r93o. The Baitys acquired a large tract

of land and designed and built the

substantial brick, Tudopstyle house on

a hilltop site. The site, now known as

Baity Hill, is off Mason Farm Road,

behind the Dean E. Smith Student

Activities Center (Dean Dome) on

the south campus. The house has

Flemish bond brick walls with quoined

corners and a corbel brick cornice, a

high slate hip roo( and a one-and.one-

half-story side brick wing with a front chimney

and hipped wall dormers. The entrance is tucked

in the side of the main block, beneath a Tirdor

timbered entrance porch. On the other side is a

two-car brick garage with brick steps rising to a

dormered room in the attic. At the foot of the hill
adjacent to the driveway is a round brick dove-

cote, with a stone base and a turreted roof.

When the Engineering School moved to

North Carolina Stare University in Raleigh in

1937, Baity remained in Chapel Hill as a profes-

sor in the School of Public Health. From r95z to

196z he was director of the Division of Environ-

mental Sanitation of the \forld Health Organiza-

tion and worked throughout the world on sanita-

tion issues, particularly malaria control. Professor

Baity died in ry75. Mrs. Baity is remembered in

her own righr as an author, poet, journalist, and

teacher. She remained in the house until her

death in 1989. The university had already pur-

chased a portion of the Baity property on which

to build the Dean E. Smith Student Activities

Center. After her death, the university purchased

the house and the rest of the property. The house

now serves as a ceremonial center for the Baity

Hill Married Student Housing development. The

Dean E. Smith Student Acttuities Center

Herman G. and Elizabeth Baity House

Baity House now resembles a manor house with a

circle of serf residences at the base of its hill.
Sources: Doug Eyre, interview with the author,

zoo4; "Dr. Baity Returns to uNC after Decade,"

D urham Mor ning Her ald, F eb. 4, ry62 ; "Engineers'

Society Honors Dr. Baity," Chapel Hill \Yeekly,

Dec. 8, 1965; Ola Maie Foushee, "Chesley: In Re-

membrance," Chapel Hill Newspapel Nov. rz,

r989.
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1. Chapel ofthe Cross
2. University Presblterian Church
3. Alpha Tau Omega Fraternity House
4. President's House
5. Samuel FielJ Phillips Lrw Office
6. Samuel FielJ Phillips House

(Delta Delta Delta Sorority House)
7. Spencerlove House
8. Widow Puckett House
9. Hooper-Kyser House
10. Presbyterian Manse
11. Collier Cobb House
12. Former Chapel Hill Public Library
1 3. Baskerville,Kennette House
14. Lawson House
15. Horace !7illiams House

16. Royster-Umstead House
17. Howe-Fitch House
18. Archibald Henderson House
19. \Tilliam MacNicler House
20. Pollard.Lacock House
21. 803 E. Franklin St.
22. Old Methodist Church
23. Thomas and Lorena lWilson House

(Pi Beta Theta Sorority House)
24. Mangum.Smith House
25. Martin-Dey House

(Delta Upsilon Fraternity House)
26. Former Episcopal Church Rectory
27. Bell House
28. Pickard House
29. Milton and Carrie Hogan House
30. Henry and Mary lWagstaff House

31. Louis Round Wilson House
32. Kent Brown House
33. HolmeyKoch House
34. Brodie Thompson House
35. Cobb Terace
36. Ward House
37. Old Tavern
38. Roulac Hamilton House
39. William C. and Louise Venable Coker

House and Gardens
40. Robert Coker House
41. Erle E. Peacock House
42. John B. Tenney Farm Overseer's House
43. T. Felix Hickerson House
44. Edward Kidder and Susan

Moses Graham House
45. Senlac

r42

EAST CHAPEL HILL t
40

t 4t

 
N

, / r;;"';;

I
42

* -.(\"
3el

o
o

f' 7. 1lea

a I
t9

20
t

t6 Gtil
Ggl ?rl8

1-a t-
17 

n"u

I
nklin St

't

g

\.\o'

5!.
22

t.
aa( l

Ro'

CBD
Franl<lin-Rosemary
Historic District Boundary

c/u6
4 q,.



East Chapel Hill

East Chapel Hill has a unique character, with its wide gravel sidewalks, stone rubble

walls bordering front yards, and substantial but not ostentatious houses of Colonial,

Victorian, and Craftsman styles. This neighborhood, which centers on East Frank-

lin Street and East Rosemary Street, is more than the sum of its historic houses be-

cause ir embodies the quintessential spirit of Chapel Hill-the restrained, modestly

scaled variations on the Colonial Revival-built by professors and university staff.

The landscaping is generally naturalistic, and there are few grandiose houses, re'

flecting the townt economic base of education rather than commerce and industry.

The neighborhood shows "a quality of good taste and quiet thoughtfulness that says

Chapel Hill."r
It is along East Franklin Street, in the homes of faculty, staff, and townspeople

from the rSros ro the rgzos, that the architectural taste of these individuals can be

seen in a personal arena-the designs of their private dwellings. A group of historic

churches also reflect their architectural sensibilities. Like the vernacular, utilitar-

ian designs of Old East, South Building, Person Hall, Gerrard Hall, and Old West of

the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries, the earliest dwellings are spare

and without architectural style. The oldest houses, the Hooper-Kyser House and

the Widow Puckett House, both dating from the r8tos, are plain two-story, side-

gable houses with brick chimneys. Their general form, their windows, and the tran-

soms over their doors reflect the Federal-era sensibility, but, as with the early campus

buildings, no extra funds were available for architectural ornament. A few blocks to

the north, on Tenney Circle, stands a dwelling of the John B. Tenney Farm' believed

to date from about r8ro.

By the mid-r8oos, when attorney Samuel Field Phillips was building his house

and law of{ice at the corner of East Franklin and Raleigh Streets, professional archi-

tect A. J. Davis was working on campus. Davis was the primary planneq architect,

and landscape architect for the university from 1843 to 1856.2 Phillips's brotheq pro'

fessor of civil engineering Charles Phillips, corresponded with Davis about the uni-

versity's architectural needs in the early r85os. Samuel's house at 4o7 East Franklin

Street has a front gabled wing with French doors opening onto the porch, and case-

ment windows with arched transoms on the upper story. His law office next door, al'

SECTION 2
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though functional, is a romantic "fo11y." The little two-room side-gabled building is

monumentalized by its stuccoed walls of simulated stone, its diminutive butrresses,

and bold crenellated front porch. On their esrates, English gentlemen built min-
iaturized structures of Romantic style, known as follies, that created a picturesque

vista for their viewing delight. Samuel's office is attributed to builder Dabney Cosby,

who constructed Alexander Jackson Davis's additions to old East and Old West in
1846. Possibly A. J. Davis himself suggested or even casually sketched the design of
the little building for Phlllips. Davis's comprehensive daybooks do not document his
connection with the law offrce, but that does not mean that he was not involved.

Such porches were a part of Davis's repertory. About r84o he designed a Gothic
villa named Sunnyside in Thrrytown, New York, with an arched entrance porch
with a stepped pediment.r Another porch nearly identical to the crenellated law of-
fice porch led into the annex added in rB47 by Nancy Hilliard to her Eagle Hotel in
Chapel Hill for the visit of President Polk. Davis may have designed this annex and
porch as well. The hotel has been demolished.

Other professional architects were constructing churches in the neighborhood
during the mid-nineteenth cenrury as Chapel Hill grew from an academic village
into a town. Philadelphia architect Thomas U. Walter designed the stylish Gothic
Revival Episcopalian chapel, the Chapel of the Cross, at 3o4 East Franklin Streer.
It was completed in 1848. A. J. Davis designed the handsome Tirscan Revival Pres-

byterian Church on East Franklin Srreer, built by Dabney Cosby in 1847-1848. In
the late r85os Rhode Island architect Thomas Tefft designed a Romanesque Re-

vival brick church for the Baptists on \ilest Franklin Street. Tefft was one of the first
American architects to design in the Romanesque style. These Presbyterian and
Baptist churches are gone.

In the mid-rS5os, Professor Benjamin Hedrick had a striking polygonal build-
ing constructed of stuccoed brick behind his house at 6r r East Franklin Street (now
known as the Horace Williams House). By placing over the six-sided srructure a

square roof supported by sturdy brick posts, the building's designer creared triangu-
lar porches at three corners. Hedrick may have hired A. J. Davis to design the build-
ing, and Dabney Cosby may have built it. Davis sometimes used polygonal rooms in
his residential designs, such as Grace Hill in Brooklyn, New York, which was built
about 1855 and contains several octagonal rooms. He built a polygonal gatehouse for
Robert Donaldson at his Blithewood estate in the Hudson valley of New york.

Four other residences of the antebellum period that survive in this part of town
are 5r3 East Franklin Street (r8+Z); the core of Senlac, zo3 Battle Lane, ca. 1843;

the Mangum-smith House, 3r5 East Rosemary Street (r85os); and the Martin-
Dey House, 4or East Rosemary Street, ca. r85o. These two-story, frame, side-gable
houses are not greatly different from those built along East Franklin Street in the
early r8oos, but their entrances, windows, porches, and rooftrim reflect the popular
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Greek Revival style. In their simplicity and lack of overt style, these dwellings con-

tinue the characteristic plainness of the village.

The town languished during the r86os and r8Tos because of the Civil War and

Reconstruction. By the r88os, Chapel Hill and the campus had regained much of
their former beauty and charm, as well as their student population. Professors James

Lee Love, Collier Cobb, and Charles Baskerville built Victorian-style houses along

East Franklin Street in the r88os and r89os. The land along the south side of East

Franklin Street was owned by the university at this time and was leased to faculty

and staff for home construction.a [n 1887 Love and his wife, June Spencer, built a

rambling one-story frame house, essentially a simple country farmhouse, at 4ro East

Franklin Street. The Loves added a few Queen Anne decorative frllips-a fanlight
over the front door, decorative wood shingles in the side gables and enrrance ga-

ble, and floor-length triple-sash windows opening onto the generous porch. Collier
Cobb, a geology professor who moved to Chapel Hill from the Massachusetts Insti-
tute of Technology in Boston, built a full-fledged Queen Anne cottage for his family
in the r89os at 5r7 East Franklin Street. The picturesque frame house has a gabled

front wing, an L-shaped porch, and fancy windows that make it one of the earliest

stylish houses that remain in the area. Chemistry professor Charles Baskerville built
the most eccentric Victorian house in town at 5z4Bast Franklin Street in r8g7. The
two-story house appears to be one-story because it is dominated by a polygonal en-

trance bay with pyramidal roo( a balconied dormer window, and a turret. Professor

George Winston added an Eastlake Gothic addition to the little farmhouse and cu-

rious polygonal building at 6rr East Franklin Street during this era. Winston's addi-

tion contains delicate Queen Anne woodwork both inside and outside.

During the first two decades of the twentieth century, while Frank Milburn's tan
brick Gothic and Beaux Arts-style buildings were enlarging the university cam-

pus around the green quadrangle of McCorkle Place, professors built bungalows and

comfortable Colonial Revival-style houses for themselves. The university commis-

sioned Frank Milburn to build a new house for the president at 4oo East Frank
lin Street, on the site of the earlier one that had burned in 1886. Milburn used the

Southern Colonial style, which allowed New South industrialists and businessmen

to proclaim their continuity with antebellum culture. The state's most important

architects, such as C. C. Hook of Charlotte and Herbert \Toodley Simpson of New

Bern, built in this style in the first decade of the new century. The hallmark of the

style-a bold central portico, with one-story porches wrapping around the sides-
distinguishes the president's house.

A group of houses in the Southern Colonial and Craftsman styles, all of frame

construction with large porches, were built in the neighborhood in the early twen-

tieth century. Professor Archibald Henderson, an ardent admirer of Colonial archi-

tecture, built a large example of the Southern Colonial for his family at. 7zr East
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Franklin Street about the same time. His big frame house has a deep one-story clas-

sical porch that wraps around three sides of the house, and large windows with dec-

orative sashes with diamond-shaped panes and Gothic-type panes. Professor George

Howe, a nephew of President lVoodrow \il/ilson, built an equally large, comfortable

Colonial-style house for his family at 620 East Franklin Street in r9o8. The large

spaces of entrance hall, parlor, and dining room-the freestanding grand staircase

has a built-in seat or "ingleno6ft"-are a direct reflection of the interiors designed by

McKim, Mead and White in vacation homes for northeastern industrialists in the

late r8oos. Botanist \7i11iam C. Coker built his picturesque stuccoed Prairie-style

house on extensive boulder-strewn grounds along North Street in rgo8. John Hol-
mes's substantial front-gabled rgr3 house, covered with wooden shingles and enliv.
ened with decorative bargeboards and diamond-paned sash windows, at zo4 Glen-

burnie Street, reflects the Shingle Style. Professor Louis Round \Tilson's house at

6o7 East Rosemary Street, built in rgrr, is a large Craftsman-style house with a

wood-shingled upper story and dormer windows. Professor Robert Lawson remod-

eled an older house at 6c,4 East Franklin Street into a large shingled bungalow with
a big front porch about r9ro. About five years later, Professor T. Felix Hickerson had

a comfortable Colonial Revival house built at ro8 Battle Lane; its side porch has a

sleeping porch above it.

The boom years of the rgzos, which brought much new campus construcrion

and many new students and professors to the university, saw the completion of the

residential development of the eastern section of the old town. The finest builder of
the era was Brodie Thompson, who built a series of Colonial Revival houses for pro-

fessors and staff in East Chapel Hill, as well as a home for his own family. Thomp-
son built his large brick Colonial Revival house at zr5 Henderson Street in rgzo. In
the later rgzos he built substantial houses for Milton Hogan, a banker, at ro4 North
Boundary Street and for professor Henry Wagstaff and his wife, Mary, at zo6 North
Boundary Street. The Wagstaff House, a large frame house with elegant details and

a one-story porch stretching along its side elevation, is one of the finest Colonial
Revival-style houses in Chapel Hill.

Notes

r. Michael Southern, senior architectural historian, North Carolina Historic Preserva-

tion Of6ce, Chapel Hill survey project flles.

z. Davis and Sanders, A Romantic Architect in Antebellum North Carolina, zo.

3. Peck and Davies, Alexander JacksonDauis,7r.

4. See references to the leasing of land from the university to build the Love House and

the Baskerville House in The Chapel Hill Historical Societl Tour Guide, 7, to.
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Chapel of the Cross

3o4 East Franklin Street

fi42-fi46, Thomas IJ. Walter,

architect

ryz 5, Hobart IJ piohn, architect

Unhke the other early congregations,

the Episcopalians did not tear down

their original church when they out-

grew it, but built a new building to

the side. The Episcopal church com-

plex consists of a pair of Gothic Re-

vival churches, the small nineteenth-

century chapel connected to the large

twentieth-century church by a clois-

ter, a vaulted passage. The buildings

occupy a verdant site near the cor-

ner ofFranklin Street and Raleigh Street, on the

eastern edge of the university campus. The Epis-

copalian church is the successor of the chapel

for which the university was named-New Hope

Chapel, an Anglican chapel that stood in the late

rToos on the site of the Carolina Inn on Cam.

eron Avenue at the corner of Columbia Street.

The area was known then as New Hope Chapel

Hi11.

The r84os chapel is a stuccoed brick gable.

front building with a crenellated entrance tower

centered on the main facade, buttresses, and

lancet-arched windows of the picturesque Gothic
Revival style particularly favored by Episcopalian

congregations of the era. Professor !7i11iam Mer-

cer Green (r7g8-r88g), professor of rhetoric and

logic, supervised the slaves who constructed the

building from a design by Philadelphia architect

Thomas U. lfalter and supplied rhe brick from a

kiln on his own property. The chapel is covered

with a yellow stucco wash similar to that applied

to the campus buildings in the r84os. Green be-

came the church's first rector. A new church de-

signed by New York City architect Hobart Up-

john, grandson of the famous nineteenth-century

Gothic Revival architect Richard Upjohn, was

constructed rn 1925. Industrialist William A. Er-

win of Durham, an investor in Erwin Mills, was a

major benefactor of the construction. The build-

ing's gable-front form with corner crenellated

tower, walls of rustic pink granite with buttresses,

and large Gothic windows with stone tracery

complement the intimately scaled earlier chapel

but have a confident twentieth-century assurance.

University Presbyterian Church
zo9 East Franklin Street

r958

The original Presbyterian sanctuary was built on

this site in 1847-1848 from a design by A. J. Da-

vis. In r9zo, the stuccoed brick Greek Revival

church was replaced by a large Neoclassical Re-

vival brick building with a four-stage steeple.

Wealthy philanthropist James Sprunt of \7i1m-

ington donated the church as a memorial to his

wife, Luola Sprunt. This burned in 1958 and was

immediately rebuilt in nearly identical form. The

Chapel of the Cross

'. r47EAST CHAPEL HILL

{
I

,.

t'
I

i
I



U niu er sity Pr e sby ter i an Chu'rch

Classical Revival-style sanctuary has red walls, a

swan's-neck pediment over the entrance, a three-

bay pedimented Corinthian porrico, and round-

arched sanctuary windows. A one.story arcaded

wing extends in front to a one-story westside

wing.

Source: Vickers, ChapelHill, eB.

Alpha Thu Omega Fraternity House

3o3 Easr Franklin Srreet

r930

C. C. Curtis, architect

The large Tirdor Revival-style fraternity house

is an anomaly among the dominant Colonial

Revival-style fraternities. It was designed by ar-

chitect Courtland Curtis. The two-and.one.half-

story, five-bay-wide building has a steep side-ga-

bled roof, a crenellated stone entrance gable with
an arched entrance, and flanking bays ofFlem-

ish bond brick with half.timbered gables. The ga-

ble ends are half-timbered as well. At the westerrr

end is a porch with arcaded stone bays. Casement

windows complete the medieval character.

President's House

4oo East Franklin Street

r907

Frank P. Milbnrn, architect

The current president's house is the third in the

universiry's history. The first house for the presi-

dent of the University of North Carolina, built

about r7g3, stood on the site of Swain Hall, fac-

ing Columbia Street, just north of Cameron Av-

enue. The second, an older house on this site at

the corner of East Franklin Street and Raleigh

Road, was acquired by the university in 1835.

That house burned in 1886.
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The current two-story frame house

of Southern Colonial style was de.

signed by Frank Milburn, the univer.

sity architect during the early twenti.

eth century who designed the Alumni
Building, Hill Hall, the Mary Ann
Smith Building, Battle.Vance-Petti.

grew Buildings, the YMCA, and sev-

eral other buildings. The Presidentt

House has weatherboarded walls, an

entrance with a diamond-paned tran-

som and Queen Anne sidelights, and

paired one-over.one sash windows.

Irc chieffeature, the grand entrance

portico with paired Corinthian col-

umns and an intersecting one-story

wraparound porch, is a hallmark of
the Southern Colonial style used in

the early twentieth century by Mil-
burn and other architects for the

Iarge houses of wealthy Southerners.

A stone rubble wall borders the front

and sides of the property.

Samuel Field Phillips
Law Office
4or East Franklin Street

r84os

D abney Cosby, attributed builder

The charming two-room law office

at the northeastern corner of Frank
lin and Hillsborough Streets was built
for Samuel Field Phillips about 1843.

The prominent lawyer held both state and fed.

eral appointments in the mid-nineteenth cen-

tury. He was the brother of mathematics professor

Charles Phillips and Cornelia Phillips Spen-

cer, a writer and university promoter. The cot-

tage's picturesque architecture and prominent site

President's House

Samuel Field Phillips Law Office

have made it a beloved landmark in Chapel Hill.
Its bold ltalianate design, with side pediments, a

front arched entrance porch with massive classi-

cal piers, and a crenellated pediment roof, recall

the picturesque designs of Alexander Jackson Da-

vis, the architect who designed additions to Old
East and Old West in the r84os. The law office is
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attributed to Raleigh builder Dabney Cosby, but

Davis, who worked with Cosby on the campus

buildings, may have had some influence in its de-

sign. The law office also had a stylistic affinity to

the 1847 annex to the Eagle Hotel, adjacent to

the campus and no longer standing, which had an

identical porch.

The law office has a central chimney, a pair of

Greek Revival doors, six-over-six sash windows,

and stucco scored to look like ashlar. Unusual fea.

tures are the halfbuttresses at the front corners

SamueL Field PhiLlips House (Deka Deha Delta Sorority House)

Spencer-Loue House

and down the side elevations. In the rg8os the

building was carefully restored and enlarged with
a one-story rear addition of similar design.

Samuel Phillips practiced law in the oflice

for many years and also taught school here in
the r85os. He later shared it with Judge Wilham

Horn Battle. Generations of university students

have lived in the offce since the days of Samuel

Phillips; it is a coveted student address.

Samuel Field Phillips House
(Delta Delta Delta Sorority House)

4o7 East Franklin Street

r856

Samuel Phillips, an attorney and son of James

Phillips (see !7idow Puckett House), gradu-

ated from the university in r84r. A surviving let-

ter of 1856 states that the Sam Phillips House

was "raised" on November zo of that year. Phil.
lips lived here until 1868. The two-story gable-

and-wing house is the first town dwelling to de-

part from the standard, conservative Federal and

Greek Revival-style rectangular form. Its front

wing and doors and windows reflect the roman-

tic Italianate Revival style that was popular dur-

ing the decade. French doors with segmental-

arched transoms open onto the porch from the

main block and the wing, and another French

door opens onto the porch roof above the main

entrance. The upper windows are casements

with segmental-arched transoms. Symmetrically

molded surrounds with corner blocks surround

the windows. The corner porch gazebo was added

in the early twentieth century.

Source: Russell, These Old Srone Walls, roo.
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Spencer-Love House

4ro East Franklin Street

r887

Professor James Lee Love, a mathematics profes-

sor, and his wife, June Spencer (daughter of Cor-

nelia Phillips Spencer), had this house built in
1887 on a lot leased from the university for {ifty
years at fifteen dollars a year. The rambling one-

story frame house has modest vernacular Queen
Anne finish, including floor-length triple.sash

windows opening onto the porch, and decorative

wood-shingled gables. A deep porch with slender

columns wraps around the front and down the

Iong rear ell. The house has weatherboarded walls

and a front door with an arched fanlight. A srone

rubble wall borders the front and side yards. Af-
ter the Loves moved to Harvard University about

1889, Cornelia Spencer lived alone in the house

and wrote several books here, including Last

Ninety Days of theWar and First Sreps in Norrh

Carolina History. In 1894 she moved to Cam-

bridge, Massachusetts, to live with her daughter

and son.in-law.

\Uidow Puckett House

5or East Franklin Street

Late rSros

One of the oldest houses in Chapel Hill (along

with the Hooper-Kyser House and the John B.

Tenney Farmhouse), the Puckett House is be-

lieved to have been built for Jane Puckett, widow

ofpostmasterJohn Puckett, between r8r7 and

r8zo. Jane purchased the lot in r8r7 for $4o and

sold it in r82o to Professor Denison Olmstead for

$rgoo. In r8z5 Olmstead sold the house to the

university. Mathematics professor James Phillips
(t7gz-t867) and his family lived here for sixry

years. Phillips emigrated from England to New

York City in r8r8 and taught school in Harlem

prior to moving to Chapel Hill. The Phillips chil-
dren-Cornelia, Charles, and Samuel-grew up

here and made important contributions ro rhe

state as adults. Mrs. James Phillips operated a fe-

male academy in the house (at that time girls

were not allowed to attend the university). The

two family slaves, Ben and Dilsey, lived in a brick

kitchen in the backyard that disappeared about

rgzo. After 1885 the house became the chancel-

lor's residence. Chancellor Robert B. House lived

here from ry34 to his death in r99o. At that time

the university sold the house to privare owners

who restored it.

The two-story side-gable Federal-style house

has a side-hall plan, with two gable-end chimneys

on the west, six-over-six sash windows, a sim-

ple door with a four-pane transom, and molded

weatherboard that may be original. The front
porch, apparently rebuik in the mid-r8oos, fea-

tures decorative Italianate Revival-style posts.

The interior retains some original Federal-style

woodwork, as well as a late-r8oos Victorian-style

staircase.

Sources: Vickers, ChapelHill, 3o; Vaudreuil,

"S7idow Puckett House."

Widou Puckett House
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Hooper-Kyser House

5o4 East Franklin Street

Ca. r8r4

One of the oldest houses in Chapel Hil[, the

house was built about r8r4 for William Hooper

and his wife, Frances Jones, who married in r8r4.

Hooper was the university's frrst professor of an-

cient languages. He taught at other universities

in later years, and in 1846 he became president of
lUake Forest College. His book Fifty Years Since

is a witty history of his student days at Chapel

Hill. Ar his death in 1876 he was buried beside

Hooper-Kyser House

Presbyterian Manse

his mother, the second wife of President Caldwell,

beneath the Caldwell Monument on McCorkle

Place on the campus.

The Hooper-Kyser House has Federal massing

of two stories with a side-gable roo( similar to the

Puckett House across the street, but has a single

chimney at each end and tall windows with some

original nine-over-nine sashes. The entrance bay

features a door with a four-pane transom and flush

siding, indicating that the house originally had a

one-bay entrance porch. The present front porch

is a later addition.

For over fifty years the house has been asso-

ciated with the Kyser family. In r95r James Kern

"Kay" Kyser and his wife and lead singer, Geor-

gia Carroll, retired, moved from New York City

to Chapel Hill, and purchased this house. Ky-

ser, uNC class of rgz8, was a native of Rocky

Mount, North Carolina. As a student at uNc he

formed a band that entertained with stunts and

comical costumes in addition to music. Kyser be-

came a nationally known band leader during the

rg3os. From rg37 to 1948 Kyser had a radio quiz

show, "Kay Kyser's Kollege of Musical Knowledge,"

which was immensely popular. Kyser died in 1985.

His widow, Georgia Kyser, still owns the house.

Source: Vickers, ChapelHill, t4r.

Presbyterian Manse

5r3 East Franklin Street

l847

Reverend William Mercer Green, rector of the

Chapel of the Cross, had the house built rn 1847,

and in 1849 he sold it for $r,z5o to Charles Phil-

lips, who grew up at 5or East Franklin Street.

Phillips was a professor of engineering and math-

ematics at the university. He and his family made

their home here until the r87os or later. In 1889

it became the Presbyterian manse and was used
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as such until 1966, when it was sold as a pri-

vate residence. The simple two-story frame house

has a low hip roo( interior chimneys, nine-over-

nine and six-over-nine sash windows, and a sim-

ple door with a transom. The one-story porch is a

later replacement. An r88os documentary photo

shows the original porch, which had unusual in-

tricately cut latticework posts and frieze board.

Source: Vickers, Chapel Hill, 92.

Collier Cobb House

5r7 East Franklin Street

r893

Geology professor Collier Cobb (r862-1934)

came to the university in r89z from the Mas-

sachusetts Institute ofTechnology. In the early

r89os he bought this lot from the widow of

Charles Phillips, who lived next door. He and his

wife built a small house, which they enlarged in
the late r89os to its present size. The stylish one-

and-one-half-story weatherboarded house is one

of the 6rst examples of the Queen Anne style in a

Chapel Hill residence. Such features as the pedi-

mented front wing and Palladian window, the L-

shaped front porch, and the upper window sashes

with Gothic arched muntins are characteristic of

the popular style. Professor Cobb taught at the

university for forty-two years and was known for

his foreign travels; he brought the university great

renown through his distinguished lectures and

teaching on geology and geography.

Former Chapel Hill Public Library
523 East Franklin Street

r968

Architect Don Stewart designed the library on a

prominent location at the northwestern corner

CoLLier Cobb House

Former Chapel Hill Public Library

of East Franklin and Boundary Streets. The old

frame Hendon House was demolished to make

way for the library. As expected, some citizens op-

posed the introduction of modern architecture

into the heart of the Chapel Hil[ Historic Dis-

trict, but the building has become a beloved land-

mark. The building's natural insinuation into its
sloping site and use of native materials continue

the organic modernist tradition of Frank Lloyd

Wright, exhibited in such buildings as the Fall-

ingwater residence in P.ennsylvania. The rectan-
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B a sk er v iLLe - K enn ett e H o u s e

gular building features a fieldstone lower level sup.

porting a wood-shingled main level with angled

walls capped by a metal mansard roof with a wide

roof overhang. The entrance and windows are

deeply recessed into the walls. Stone walkways,

planters, and retaining walls integrate the build-

ing into the site. The library moved to new, larger

quarters on Estes Drive in ryg4. ln 1998 the main

floor of the 1966 building became the Chapel Hill
Museum. The lower level is the headquarters of
the Chapel Hill Historical Society.

Source: Doug Eyre, telephone conversation

with author, Feb. 24, zoo4.

Baskerville-Kennette House

5z 4 East Franklin Street

r897, ca. zooo

Chemistry professor Charles Baskerville had this

whimsical Queen Anne-style house built on uni-

versity land in 1897. Although the house is two

stories tall, its large polygonal entrance bay with

a pyramidal roof gives it the appear-

ance of a one-story cottage. This py-

ramidal section is enlivened by such

Queen Anne features as a turret, a ga-

bled dormer with a balcony, and a ga.

bled ventilator. A one-story porch

with chamfered posts wraps around

the front and sides. The walls are

weatherboarded, and the windows

have two.over-two sashes. lfhen
Baskerville moved to another college

in rgo4, chemistry professor Charles

Herty bought rhe house. The house

is known today for Professor Joseph

Kennette and his wife, Ella, who be-

came the owners in rgzo, and it re-

mained in the family until at least

1976. About the year 2ooo owner

Clay Hamner had additions built on the western

side of the house and extensively landscaped the

side yard.

Lawson House
6o4 East Franklin Street

r88o

Professor F. K. Ball built a house on this prop-

erty in 188o. In 1896 he gave it to the university,

who leased it back to him for fifty years. !7hen
Ball left in rgo7, Dr. Robert Baker Lawson as-

sumed the lease and soon purchased the house.

It is hkely that Dr. Lawson remodeled the house

to its present bungalow appearance in the rgros.

Dr. Lawson, uNc class of rgoo, was a physician

and athlete who returned to the university as the

baseball coach in r9o5 and later served as athletic

director and a member of the medical school fac-

ulty. He taught until his retiremenr in r949.

The Lawson House, one of the finest examples

of the bungalow style in Chapel Hill, is a large
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one-and-one-half-story house with a steep side-

gabled roof, a deeply recessed porch, and a front

bay window. The porch posts are sheathed with
clapboard hke the walls. It is likely that an archi-

tect designed this impressive bungalow.

Source: Doug Eyre, "Chapel Hill Produced a

National Golf Champ," Chapel Hlll Mu.,s, Ocl 23,

2002.

Horace Williams House
6rr East Franklin Street

r84os, ca. 1855, ca. r89o

This small but complicated house has an archi-

tectural history that is as fascinating as the his-

tory of its occupancy. In the r84os a small one-

story, two-room house with a central chimney

was constructed on the property facing west, to-

ward Boundary Street. lts walls are stuccoed, ap-

parently over a wood frame. The main western

facade has two front doors with transoms and a

hip-roofed front porch with Italianate-style slen-

der paneled porch posts. Six-over-six sash win-

dows illuminate the structure. The south room

has an original tall mantel that is transitional

Federal-Greek Revival in style. Other original in-

terior trim includes symmetrically molded sur-

HoraceWilliams House

Lawson House
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rounds with corner blocks and two-panel doors,

all evidence of construction during the Greek Re-

vival era. In 1855 chemistry professor Benjamin

S. Hedrick, a native of Salisbury, purchased the

property from the university for $3oo.

Soon afterward Professor Hedrick apparently

built the polygonal room to the rear, connected

to the original two rooms by a breezeway. He is

said to have been inspired by the strong form of a

bee honeycomb, which is hexagonal. The struc.

ture actually has an incomplete octagonal shape,

because at the southwestern corner, adjacent to

the original house, it has a conventional right-

angle shape that allows for several small service

areas. The stuccoed brick structure on a raised

basement has a central chimney and a square hip
roof that extends out at the corners beyond the

walls and is supported on trapezoidal brick col-

umns. Three small triangular porches are created

by the roof structure. The bold modern appear-

ance of this curious building with its unusual cor-

ner porches leads to speculation on rhe identity of
the designer. Perhaps it was designed by New York

architect A. J. Davis, who was involved with nu-

merous new construction and remodeling proj-

ects at the university from the r83os to the r85os.

The interior of the polygonal room has handsome

Greek Revival finish, including a mantel, plaster

walls, and casement windows with symmetrically

molded surrounds with corner blocks.

University professor H. Hosea Smith, from

New Hampshire, purchased the house from He-

drick in 1857 for $r,5oo. His son Hoke Smith
grew up here and became governor ofGeorgia

and later, under President Grover Cleveland, the

secretary of the interior. In r87g Latin professor

George T. Winston purchased the property for

$r,ooo. Winston enlarged the small house by add.

ing a connecting room to link the old house and

the polygonal room, adding a room to the south

side of the polygon, and reorienting the house by

constructing an entrance porch on the south side

toward Franklin Street. His addition of stylish

Eastlake Gothic design gives the house its domi-

nant Victorian character. The weatherboarded

exterior features a porch with turned and brack-

eted posts and a spindle frieze, and a large lunette

window illuminates each gable of the connecting

room. Tongue-and-groove pine paneling in a par-

quet design enlivens the ceilings, and the man-

tels are of Eastlake Gothic design. Professor Win.
ston served as president of the university in the

rSgos and left in 1896 to become president of the

University of Texas. In rSgg he returned to North
Carolina and became the second president of
North Carolina State College.

Horace Williams (r858-r94o), professor of
philosophy at the university from r89o to 1935,

is the best-known resident of the house, although

he had nothing to do with its architectural evo-

lution. lfilliams grew up in northeastern North
Carolina, graduated from the University of North
Carolina at Chapel Hill, and studied theology

at Yale and philosophy at Harvard in the r88os.

During his long years on the university faculty,

!7i11iams became one of the foremost leaders of
the idealistic movement in American philosophy,

derived from Hegel's dialectic-balancing an idea

with its antithesis to find a larger idea that con-

tains the two opposing ones. \Tilliams's teach.

ings and writings promoted the search for truth
through the understanding of concepts of the di.
vine throughout history; he rejected dogmatism

in religion and education. Described as the "Gad-

fly of Chapel Hill," Williams was a witty icono-

clast who helped to establish the university as the

state's center of intellectual freedom.

At his death in r94o, Williams, a bachelor, be.

queathed his eccentric house, with its extensive

grounds, to the university. It has been the Hor-

ace \7illiams House museum and the of{ice of the

Preservation Society of Chapel Hill since 1972.

Source: House, The Light Thar Shines, 86; \7il-
liams, Origin of Belief.
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Royster-Umstead House
6rg East Franklin Street

1923

Just east of the extensive grounds of

the Horace Williams House is the

Royster-Umstead House. James Finch

Royster, a professor ofEnglish and

dean of the graduate school, hired ar-

chitect Hobart Upjohn to design this

house. Upjohn was designing a new

sanctuary for the Chapel of the Cross

at this time. In 1933 Professor Roys-

ter sold it to John Umstead, a state

senator and brother of Governor \fil-
liam B. Umstead. The two-story frame

Colonial Revival-style house has a

side-gable roo( a gable-end chimney,

weatherboarded walls, six-over-six sash

windows, and a full-length one-story

shed porch. Each of the 6ve bays of

the facade has a pair of French doors

that open onto the porch. This porch

and abundant doors give the house

an informal, country atmosphere.

The house is set well back from East

Franklin Street, and has verdantly

landscaped grounds.

Howe-Fitch House
6zo Easr Franklin Srreet

rgoS

frame house features an open plan characteristic

of the early Colonial Revival-style houses of ar-

chitects McKim, Mead and White. The entrance

hall, featuring a grand staircase with a landing

containing a built-in seating area known as an

inglenook, flows into the living room through a

screen of classical columns.

Royster-Umstead House

Howe-Fitch House

EAST CHAPEL HILL \57

George Howe, professor of Latin and head of

uNc's classics department, had this large Colo-

nial Revival-style house built in r9o8. Dr. Howe

taught at the university from r9o3 until his death

in 1936. He had been raised by his uncle, Presi-

dent \iloodrow Wilson, who visited George at this

house on several occasions. The large two-story
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Ar chib ald Hender son Ho us e

V/iLLiam MacN ider Holse

In ry44 R. B. Fitch, one of rhe founders of
Fitch Lumber Company in Carrboro, and his

wife, Katherine, purchased the Howe House, and

they lived here until their deaths. Their daugh-

ter Mary Anne Fitch Havens and her family made

their home here until zoo3.

Archibald Henderson House

7zr East Franklin Street

rgo6

N.C. Curtis, architect

Sited well back from the street on a

large lot, the spacious two-story frame

house of Colonial Revival style fea.

tures a deep hip roof with a wid.

ow's walk, an impressive main en-

trance with sidelights and transom,

and a deep one-story classical porch

that wraps around the front and sides.

The frrst-story windows and entrance

have diamond-paned windows. Up-
per sash windows have Gothic.type

Queen Anne muntins. The house has

weatherboarded walls and bay win-
dows. A large rear wing added in the

late rgoos has nearly doubled the size

of rhe house.

Archibald Henderson (r87 7 -tgg),
a native of Salisbury, North Carolina,

uNc class of r8g8, was a mathematics

professor at the university from 1898

until his retirement in 1948. He and

his wife, Barbara Bynum Henderson,

a poet, had the house built. Professor

Henderson's wide interests made him a

Renaissance man. He was the official

biographer of lrish playwright George

Bernard Shaw and published works of
history and literary criticism as well as

mathematics. Henderson's tg4g book,

The Campus of the First State Unic)er-

sity, is the definitive history of the

campus.
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William MacNider House

737 East Franklin Street

r9r8

Sited on a large lot and bordered by a stone rub'

ble wall, the two-story frame Craftsman-style

house has a side-gable roof with wide bracketed

eaves, a front cross-gable, wood shake walls, and

a one-story hipped porch with posts covered with

wood shakes. The entrance has a transom and

sidelights. Above is a balcony with a French door

opening onto it. Large flfteen-over-one sash win.

dows illuminate the substantial house. It was built

by Dr. \7i11iam deBerniere MacNider (r88r-r95r),

one of the most famous members of the universi-

ty's young medical school.

Pollard-Lacock House

738 East Franklin Street

Ca. rgz5

This well-preserved two-story brick Craftsman-

style house was built as a duplex for a Mr. Pollard

of Durham, but the only hints of its double na-

ture are the two front doors and the low balus-

trade separating the front porch in the middle.

The house has brick walls of a deep orange color,

a hip roof with large paired brackets, a hipped

dormer window, and a one-story porch with brick

posts and a roof railing forming an upper balcony.

Nine-over-one sash windows illuminate the inte-

rior. This is one of the earliest duplexes built in

Chapel Hill. Although many townspeople rented

apartments to students, these tended to be small

detached "offices" in rear yards. The Lacock fam-

ily purchased the house in the r94os.

House
8o3 East Franklin Street

Ca. ry25

Set on a large hilltop site at the northeastern cor-

ner of East Franklin Street and Carolina Ave-

nue, the two-story brick Colonial Revival-style

house has a high hip roof. Other features are a ga-

bled entrance bay with a fanlight and sidelights, a

hipped entrance porch, and six-oversix sash win.

dows. The first-floor windows have stuccoed lin-

tels. One-story sunporches flank the house. A
stone retaining wall extends along the frontage.

Pollard-Lacock House

8o3 East FrankLin Street
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Old Methodist Church
zor East Rosemary Street

r853

Although the Methodist congregation abandoned

this original church in 1889, the building stands

as one ofthe two out ofthe four original churches

built in Chapel Hill. The Episcopal Chapel of the
Cross also survives, but the frrst Baptist and Pres-

byrerian churches have been demolished. The
small, handsome Greek Revival-style church is a

stuccoed brick building with a pedimented main
facade. The central entrance has an eight-pane

transom, a paneled soffit and reveals (the under-

side and interior side panels of an opening), and

a crosseted architrave surround. Large sixteen-

ovepsixteen sash windows with stone sills flank
the entrance. The cornice has simple Italianate

wooden brackets. The architect is said ro be a Mr.
Horn, from Pittsboro, North Carolina. The flrst
pastor of the church was the Reverend J. Milton
Frost.

In r88g the congregation moved to their new

church on Franklin Street, and the old church

was used by the American Missionary Sociery

OLd Methodist Church

and as a sanctuary for a small black congregation.

In ry26 it became an automotive and airplane ga-

rage. It is likely that the building had an original
front porch ofclassical design, but this has been

gone for many years. Another change is the wing
construcred along the wesrern side, which dis-

turbs the temple form. In rg49 architect James

!7ebb and his brother John srarred their architec-

tural practice in a corner room ofthe church. In
the early rgTos Jim \7ebb bought rhe church, re-

modeled it as rental offices, and kept his practice

here.

Source: Vickers, ChapelHill, 49, to5.

Thomas and Lorena Wilson House
(Pi Beta Theta Sorority House)
rrr Pickard Lane

Ca. rB95

This substantial frame Victorian house was

given to Thomas James $7ilson Jr. and his wife,

Lorena, by Lorena's parents, the Pickards, when

the younger couple married in r9oo. Wilson was

the university registrar from rgo8 to tg4z anda
leader in admissions and scholarship standards.

The two-and.one.half-story house

has a side-gable roof, weatherboarded

walls, and a large front cross-gable

with decorative wood shingles. An
original one-story porch with cham-

fered posts, sawnwork brackets, and a

turned balustrade wraps around the

front and south side of the house.

The double.door entrance has a tran-

som, and two-over-two sash win-
dows illuminate the house. The win-
dows flanking the entrance are larger,

with small-paned upper sashes. This is

H;1. 
Pi Beta Theta sorority house
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Source: Doug Eyre, "Wilson Family

Left Its Stamp on Chapel Hill," Cha-

pelHill Mu.,s, Apr. 3c,2oo3.

This two-story frame side-gable house

is one of Chapel Hill's landmark

Greek Revival-style dwellings. It sits

well back from Rosemary Street on a

large lot at the corner of Hillsborough

Street. Isaac J. Collier, a contractor

who supervised the r84os additions to

Old East and Old !7est, is believed to

have built the house as his residence ii
about r85j. The double front door

has a transom and sidelights. Other

Greek Revival features are a stylish

paired casement window over the en-

trance and six-over-six sash windows.

In 1857 Andrew Mickle, the univer-

sity bursaq was living here. By 1867

the house was owned by Robert Bing-

ham, director of the Bingham School

in Hillsborough. Dr. Adolphus Man-

gum, university English professor and

Methodist minister, owned and occu-

pied the house from 1885 to r89o.

The most famous occupant was

Betty Smith (t8g6-rylz), a daughter

of Austrian immigrants who grew up

in Brooklyn, New York. Although her formal edu-

cation ended in eighth grade, her love for read-

ing and writing enabled her to become one of the

nation's leading female novelists. After marriage

and motherhood and residence in Michigan and

New Haven, she arrived in Chapel Hill to take a

job in the wpa Federal Theatre Project, working

Thomas and Lorena'V/ilson House

Mangum-Smith House

with Paul Green's "Lost Colony" outdoor drama.

Smith fell in love with Chapel Hill and remained,

earning a living by writing short plays for ama-

teur production. In the early r94os she wrote an

autobiographical novel, ATree Grocrs in Brook-

l1n, that was published in ry43 and became an in-

stant best-seller. With her newfound prosperity,

Smith was able to buy her first house, and in rg44

EAST cHAPEL HtLL t6t

Mangum-Smith House

3r5 East Rosemary Street

Ca. 1853
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Martin-Del House

she purchased the Mangum House from the heirs

of Adolphus Mangum. She left the interior un-

altered but removed the front porch and bricked

the front first story and side walls of the house.

She published two other successful novels and

was a luminary in Chapel Hill literary and drama

circles. She lived here until rg7r.

Sources: Doug Eyre, 'Author Chose Chapel

Hill for Life," and "Betty Smith Re-

mained a Literary Light," Chapel Hill
Mus, June z5 and July 23, zoo3; Vick-

ers, ChapelHill,6o.

Martin-Dey House
(Delta Upsilon Fraternity
House)

4or East Rosemary Street

Ca. r87o

The earliest owner of this house was

Dr. \Tilliam P. Mallette, who super-

vised the university infirmary. The

date when he purchased the property

is not known, but he sold the house

in r87r to Methodist minister Joseph

Martin. Martin's wife, Clara, ran a

boardinghouse here for students. In
rgzr Professor William M. Dey, head

of the romance languages depart-

ment, and his wife, Alice, purchased

it and made their home here for forty

years, At Alice's death in 1965 it
was purchased by the Delta Upsilon

Fraternity.

The two-story, one-room-deep

house has simple features that are

characteristic clf the mid-nineteenth

century-weatherboarded walls, six-

over-six pane sash windows, a gable-

end brick chimney, and a boxed roof

cornice. The front door with fanlight, sidelights,

and an arched entrance porch are early-twen-

rieth-century replacements. It is likely that the

house originally had a wide porch.

F ormer Episcop al Rectory
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Former Episcopal Church Rectory

5or East Rosemary Street

r915

The two-and-one-half-story frame house is one of
many stylish houses that frlled the blocks of East

Chapel Hill during the boom period of the early

rgoos. Such features as the side-gable roofwith
clipped gables, walls covered with wood shingles,

diamond-paned windows, and a brack

eted entrance hood are characteristic

of the Elizabethan Revival style.

James M. Bell House

5rz East Rosemary Street

rg2os

The two-story, side-gabled house is

one of many large, comfortable houses

built in popular architectural styles in
East Chapel Hill in the rgzos. The

weatherboarded walls, paired six-over-

six sash windows, and striking stone

trim, including a pillared stone en-

trance and flanking one-story porches

with stone pillars, are characteristic

of the Arts and Crafts style. This was

the residence of James M. Bell, a dis-

tinguished professor of chemistry, who

died in 1934.

Source: Doug Eyre, interview with
author, 2oo4.

Pickard House
6oz East Rosemary Street

r925

Chapel Hill master builder Brodie

Thompson built this large Colonial

Revival-style house for the daughters of George

and Sarah Pickard, who had grown up on South

Columbia Street. Six of their daughters-Bertha,

Myrtle, Mitte, Minna, Annie and Nell-never
married and lived here for most of their lives.

George Pickard operated a livery stable transport,

ing university students and later became superin-

tendent of the university grounds. The academic

JamesM. BellHouse

PickardHouse
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Colonial Revival-style two-story, side-gabled

house has weatherboarded walls, nine-over-one

sash windows, and a gable-end chimney. The en-

trance has a shallow Doric entrance porch, and

at the side is a one-story porch.

Sources: Doug Eyre, "Pickard Family Has Deep

uNC Roots," Chapel Hill Mcrs, Nov. zz, zooo.

Mibon and C ar r ie Ho gan Ho use

Henr y and Mar y Wagst af f Hous e

Milton and Carrie Hogan House
ro4 N. Boundary Street

1927

Chapel Hill master builder Brodie Thomp-

son built this substantial brick house for Milton
and Carrie Hogan in 1927. Milton Hogan was a

cashier of the Bank of Chapel Hill and president

of the N.C. Bankers Association. Carrie Hogan

was the only one of the seven daugh-

ters of George and Sarah Pickard to

marry. The substantial two-story brick

Colonial Revival-style house features

a Doric-columned entrance with a

nonfunctional balcony above, nine.

over-nine sash windows with stone

sills, a modillion cornice, and a full
front terrace. One.story porches flank

the main block. Dr. Kempton Jones

and his wife, Eunice, owned and lived

in the house until recently.

Source: Doug Eyre, "Pickard Fam-

ily Has Deep uNc Roors," ChapelHill

Muls, Nov. 22,2ooo.

Henry and lvlary \Tagstaff
House
zo6 North Boundary Street

ry26

History professor Henry McGilbert
'Wagstaff (t876-tg4) and his wife,

Mary, purchased a large wooded tract

at the northeastern corner of East

Rosemary and Boundary Streets in
r9o8 and built a traditional two-story

frame house. ln t9z5 the l7agstaffs

moved this house to the northwestern

corner ofthe parcel (zr4 N. Boundary

Street) and hired contractor Brodie
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Thompson to construct the current grand two-

story frame Colonial Revival-style house, one of

the finest Colonial Revival houses in Chapel Hill.
The house has a high hip roo( a deep boxed cor-

nice, and a deep rear two-story ell. The entrance

has a lovely fanlight, sidelights, and a one-bay en-

trance porch with a turned balustrade around the

roof. Twelve-over-twelve and eight-over-twelve

sash windows illuminate the interior. A long

one-story porch extends along the south eleva-

tion facing Rosemary Street across a broad lawn.

Professor Wagstaff taught at the university for

thirty-eight years, specializing in English history.

Source: Doug Eyre, 'A House Filled wirh Fam-

ily Memories," Chapel Hill Mcrs, Sept. 26, zoor.

Louis Round Wilson House

Louis Round \Uilson House

6o7 East Rosemary Street

r9r r

Louis Round lTilson (fi26-ry1il had this large,

comfortable house built on a parcel of land that

he purchased in r9o8. In rgog he married Pe-

nelope l7right of Charlotte, and they raised four

children here. The two-story house has a hip roof,

weatherboard on the first story, wood shingles on

the second story, and twelve-over-one sash win-

dows. Other features are a one-story front porch,

dormer windows, and a two-story side porch. The

entrance has a transom and wide sidelights. !7il-
son was a university librarian from Igor until
r969, developed the university's library science

deparrment, established the historical collection,

and frorr tg22 to rgjz directed the uNc Press.

\7ilson Library is named for him.
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Kent Brown House

Holmes-Koch House

Source: Frances A.'Weaver, "!7il-
son, Louis Round," DNCB, vol. 6.

Kent Brown House
6rr East Rosemary Street

Ca. rgr5

The large, well-preserved bungalow

has a side-gabled form with an en-

gaged porch, weatherboard, and a side

bay window supported on brackets.

The use of river rock for the founda-

tion and the piers of the porch posts

adds a rustic character. The front shed

dormer has a recessed balcony with a

railing. At the rear is an upper sleep-

ing porch. Dr. Kent Brown was pro-

fessor of Germanic languages and lit-
erature at the university from r9r2 to
1944.

Holmes-Koch House
zo4 Glenburnie Street

I9I3

This two-and-one-half.story house

covered with wood shingles is one of
the few houses in Chapel Hill that re-

flects the Shingle Style, a picturesque

late-nineteenth-century variation of
the Queen Anne style that was largely

conlined to New England. The house has a front-
gable roo( a two-bay front porch, and a side en-

gaged porch that is screened. Exposed rafters and

decoratively carved bargeboards ornament the

main roof and porch roof. The upper window

sashes have diamond panes. State foresrer John S.

Holmes had the house buik in r9r3. From r9z4 to
1944, the house was the home of Frederick Henry

166 THE TowN ANI) GowN ARCHITECTURE oF cHApEL HrLL

I

1,



Koch ("ProffKoch"), creator ofthe theatrical rep-

ertory group Carolina Playmakers. The house is

now the home of a private campus ministry.

Source: Doug Eyre, telephone conversation

with author, Aug. 3r, zoo4.

Brockwell Building, and the original Carolina

Theatre building in the business district.

Source: Doug Eyre, "Brodie Thompson, Master

Builder," Chapel Hill Necrs, Oct. 25, zooo.

Brodie Thompson House
zl4 Henderson Street

792o

Orange County native Brodie Stewart Thomp-

son (r884-rg7r) was the finest builder in Chapel

Hill in the rgzos and r93os. Thompson's intro-

duction to building occurred during !7orld lUar I,

when he built barracks on a Virginia army base.

After the war he moved to Chapel Hill and began

a building career that lasted until 1942. He built

this house in rgzo for his wife, Lovie, and their

children. Brodie and Lovie lived here until his

death in r97r. The large brick house is an impres-

sive example of the Colonial Revival style. It has

a clipped gable roo( a front pedimented dormer

window, and eight-over-twelve and eight-over-

eight sash windows. The recessed central bay has

an entrance with a transom and sidelights, and a

circular Doric entrance porch with a

roof balustrade. On the south side is

a recessed two-story wing with a sec-

ondary entrance with transom and

sidelights. On the northern side is a

one-story Doric porch. A brick terrace

runs along the facade. The house has

been owned by the university since

1971.

In addition to many substantial

town houses that Thompson built in

the rgzos and r93os, he constructed

the five fraternity houses in Big Fra-

ternity Court on South Colum-

bia Street, the Strowd Building, the

Cobb Terrace
Extension of Henderson Street,

beyond North Street

r9r5

Professor Collier Cobb, a geology professor

trained at Harvard, purchased the steeply sloped

land north of the one-bloclclong Henderson

Street at auction in rgr5. Although the land had

been considered unusable, Cobb's knowledge

of erosion and contouring enabled him to ter-

race it to allow residential development, hence

the name Cobb Terrace. Cobb wanted to pro.

vide inexpensive rental housing for young profes.

sors and their wives. He built a roughly oval lane

around the periphery of the property and con-

srructed eleven Aladdin kit houses around it. A11

of these were rental houses until Professor Cobb's

death in r934. The houses were then sold to pri-

vate owners.

Brodie Thompson House
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z Cobb Terrace

A 1916 postcard shows the first three houses

on the front row, numbers 2,6, and 8, all sub-

stantial houses with large front porches. \7hen
the house at rz Cobb Terrace was being reno-

vated, the Aladdin name was found on the back

of a piece of weatherboard. The North American

Construction Company was rhe narional distribu-
tor of Aladdin kit houses. One of the least altered

houses is z Cobb Terrace. The one-and-one-half-

story bungalow has a side-gable roof, an engaged

porch, wood.shingled walls, and a wide shed dor.

mer across the facade, as well as Craftsman.style

sash windows and wide eaves. The porch was par-

tially inlilled with a room in larer years.

Source: Ralph M. lUatkins, "The Origin and

Growth of Cobb Terrace," Chap el Hill N ew spaper,

Aug. 24, rg8o.

\Uard House

3o7 Hillsborough Streer

Ca. r84o

The small one-story, side-gable frame house, one

room deep, appears at first glance to be a late-

nineteenth-century farmhouse. Closer inspection

reveals it to be an antebellum house with vernacu-

lar Federal architectural fearures including an en-

trance with an ornate transom and sidelights, six-

over-nine sash windows, and boxed and raking
cornices. Four vernacular Federal.style mantels

decorate the original fireplaces. The Ward family

lived here in the r85os. The area was a large dairy

farm in the nineteenth century. In the rgzos

chemistry professor Vernon Kyser purchased it
from the Warren family and lived here for some

years. In the r95os Georgia Kyser had the house

restored.
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Source: Kimberly Kyser, former owner, tele-

phone interview with author, Oct. 4, zoo4.

Old Thvern

4r9 Hillsborough Street

Early r8oos

In r8rz Professor Andrew Rhea purchased nine-

teen acres along Hillsborough Road from the uni-

versity. This was quite rural property at that time.

In r8r4 he sold it to Captain Samuel Hogg. The

simple house that stands on the property is the

only early log house left in Chapel Hill and may

have been built by Professor Rhea. In recent years

the house has been heavily restored. It has half-

dovetailed log walls (logs cut with an interlocking

notch), four-over-four sash windows, a freldstone

foundation, and a fieldstone chimney. On the

south side, a smaller pen of Vnotched logs (logs

cut at the top in a Vshape) has been attached

with a frame connecting bay. A shed porch with

plain posts extends across the front ofboth log

buildings. Log houses such as this represent the

most common dwelling built throughout OP

ange County from the late eighteenth to the mid'

nineteenth centuries. Chapel Hill doubtless had

many log houses in the nineteenth century, but

this is the only example that has survived.

Roulhac Hamilton House

5r7 North Street

r9r4

N.C. Curris, architect

In rgr4, Dr. J. G. de Roulhac Hamilton, head

of uNc's history department from r9o8 to r93o,

hired architect N. C. Curtis, a uNc graduate who

designed Gimghoul Castle in 1924, to design

this large open bungalow on his spacious wooded

WardHouse

Ol.dTauern

Roulhac Hamihon House
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property on North Street. The frame house has

a pyramidal roofthat engages a large front porch

with posts covered with weatherboard. Two ad-

ditional rooms were added to the northwestern
(rear) corner in rgz4 in a similar style. Dr. Ham-
ilton established the Southern Historical Collec-
tion at the university.

William C. and Louise Venable Coker
House and Gardens ("The Rocks")
6o9 North Street

rgo8

In 19o6 Professor William Chambers Coker and

his wife, Louise, a daughter of university presi.

dent Venable, purchased sixty.live acres norrh
of the village. On a hill behind a dramatic out-

V{iLLiam C. and Loui s e Venable C oker Hous e and G ardens ( "The Rocks,, )

cropping of boulders, they built their house in
r9o8 and named it "The Rocks" for the natural

landmark. Described as a "modified prairie-style

house," the two-story stuccoed house has a slate

hip roof with deeply overhanging eaves, a hipped
porch with stone piers, and windows with Queen
Anne decorative muntins. The house was surely

designed by an architect, although his idenrity is

unknown. Coker landscaped his property wirh or-

chards and gardens featuring native plants and

exotic trees as an extension of his teaching gar-

den at the campus 2$61s1urn-a demonstration

of the potential of a town garden. Professor Coker
died in 1953, and Mrs. Coker inherited the home

place, comprising about fifty acres by this time.

She remained here until her death in 1983, when
a portion ofthe acreage was subdivided and de-

veloped residentially. The present owners have
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restored the house and tend the garden, includ-

ing the rock walls and stone pathways. The North
Carolina Botanical Garden staff tend a small pub-

lic park among the boulders on North Street.

Mrs. Preston Fox provided the garden with a per-

manent endowment fund in memory of her aunt,

Mrs. Coker.

Source: Joslin, lV'illiam Chambers Coker,

nz-n6.

Robert Coker House

329 Tenney Circle

Ca. ry25

This two-story frame Colonial Revival-style

house was built for Robert Coker, a professor of

zoology who founded the uNc lnstitute of Fisher-

ies Research at Morehead City and pioneered the

development of the North Carolina seafood in-

dustry. Professor Coker built one of the first out-

door swimming pools in Chapel Hill here in his

yard in rg45. He was a brother of William Cham-

bers Coker, whose residence is nearby. Rob-

ert Coker lived here until his death in ry67. k
is one of the older houses on Tenney Circle and

has a sizable front yard with an ancient oak tree

and a stone retaining wall. The five-bay-wide,

side-gabled house has a center entrance with a

transot.rr, sidelights, and a shed entrance porch

with paired Doric columns. A cross-gable with

a rondel window provides a central focus at the

roofline. Six-over-six sash windows illuminate the

house. At the left is an open side porch, at right a

sunporch.

Sources: Doug Eyre, interview with author,

zoo4; "Funeral Rites Held Today for Dr. Coker,"

Chapel Hill Weekly, Ocl 4, ry67.

Erle E. Peacock House

35o Tenney Circle

Ca. r9z8

The two-story brick Colonial Revival-style house

was built for Erle E. Peacock, professor of ac-

counting at the university. Peacock served as

Chapel Hill's town auditor from the r93os un-

tit his death in 1968. The house, which occupies

a large lot with a deep front lawn, is representa-

tive of many of the nicer faculty residences built

during the growth of the university in the rgzos

q

RobertCoker House

Erle E. PeacockHouse
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lohn B. Tenney Farm Ouerseer's House

and r93os. The side-gabled five-bay-wide house

has a chimney at each end, six.over-six sash win-
dows, and a cenrral entrance with sidelights and a

swan's-neck pediment with a finial. Especially fine

is the wooden cornice, which contains tapering

modillions. On one side is an original sunporch,

on the other an original open porch, both with
roof balustrades. Collier Cobb III, an officer in
the family business, and his wife made their home

here for the rest of the twentieth century.

Sources: Doug Eyre, interview with author,

zoo4l "Funeral Services Held for Dr. Erle Pea-

cock," Chapel Hill\Yeekly,July 3, 1968.

John B. Tenney Farm Overseer's House

38r Tenney Circle

Ca. r8ro, r84os, r99os

The tract that became Tenney Circle, a residen.

tial subdivision, in tgzz was rhe farm of John B.

Tenney from the early rSoos through the rest

of the nineteenth cenrury. Kemp Plummer Bat-

tle records that James K. Polk, class of r8r8, and

- t ' l,; William Horn Battle, class of r8zo,

boarded with the Tenneys and walked

two miles to campus rather than eat

in the student dining hall. Polk later

became president of the United States.

John Tenney and later his son Ore-

gon B. Tenney operated a brick kiln
in their meadow until the late rSoos.

When John died in 1892, Oregon in-

herited the property. The main house

burned, and in 1922 Mrs. Oregon

Tenney and other heirs subdivided the

property into the Tenney Circle devel.

opment of approximately twenty-two

lots. Houses were constructed in the

r92os, rg3os, and rg4os. Although the

overseer's house that survives has been

moved from its original site and has undergone

a series of small alterations during the twenti-

eth century, it is still recognizable as a substantial

early-nineteenth-century one.story frame house.

It has a side-gable roo( gable-end chimneys, plain
weatherboard, and nine-over-six sash windows.

The front shed porch is a replacement. The inte-

rior was probably originally a hall-parlor plan but

now has a narrow center hall. An enclosed stair

to the attic leads to two small bedrooms. Original
heart pine floors, two.panel Greek Revival doors,

and attic batten doors have survived. In the r84os

a shed addition on rhe rear added three additional

small rooms. An unanswered question is whether

Polk slept in the main house, now gone, or in the

overseer's house.

The Tenney family retained ownership of the
home tract with the overseer's house until 1992,

when John and Elizabeth Pringle purchased it.

The Pringles added a rear wing and rehabilitated

the early portion to preserve the remaining origi.
nal fabric.

Sources: Paul Shearin, "Tenney Circle Res-

idential Area," Chapel Hill Newspaper, Mar. z,
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r98o; Elizabeth Pringle, interview

with author, Oct. zr, zoo3; Doug Eyre,

telephone conversation with author,

Aug.3o, zoo4.

T. Felix Hickerson House
ro8 Battle Lane

Ca. r9r5

T. Felix Hickerson (1882-1968), an

engineering professor who in the

r92os wrote a classic textbook on

modern road design, Route Survey and

Design, had this house built about

1915. The two-story weatherboarded

Colonial Revival-style house has an

entrance porch, a front bay window, and a side

porch with sleeping porch above it. The house

is adjacent to the university campus. Hickerson

had been a member of the Gimghouls as a stu-

dent and was instrumental in helping the secret

fraternity construct Gimghoul Castle in ryz6.He
never married, and when he died in 1968, he left

the university his house. It is now the university's

Center for Urban and Regional Studies.

Edward Kidder and Susan Moses

Graham House
rr5 Battle Lane

rgo8

Located directly behind Kenan Residence Hall,

the two-story frame Colonial Revival-style house

has wood-shingled walls, large two-over-two sash

windows, and a Craftsman-style front porch. The

house is a remnant of the early-twentieth-century

neighborhood that has largely disappeared. Pro.

fessor of English Edward Kidder Graham and his

wife, Susan Williams Moses, had the house built

T. FelixHickeronHouse

EduardKidder and Susan Moses GrahamHouse

shortly after they married in 19o6 and named it
Bulrushes. They lived here until rgr4 when Gra-

ham became president of the university and they

moved into the president's house on East Franklin

Street. Mrs. Graham died there in 1916, and Ed-

ward died in the influenza epidemic of rgIS at the

age of forty-two.
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Senlac

Senlac
zo3 Battle Lane

Ca. 1843, 1876

Judge William Horn Battle, who shared a law of-

fice with Samuel Phillips and helped to establish

the law school at the university, built this dwell-
ing about 1843 on a prominent hilltop sire easr

of the university. The imposing two.srory frame

house, five bays wide, has a door with a transom

and sidelights, tall six.over-six sash windows, and

interior end chimneys.

The judge's son, Kemp Plummer Battle, made

his home here when he was professor of history
and president ofthe university from 1876 to r89r.
Battle named the property Senlac for the name

of the hill where the English King Harold stood

at the Battle of Hastings. In 1876 he hired an ar-

chitect named Mr. Keith to enlarge the house. At

this time the flanking wings were added to cre.

ate a tripartite form. The wings are set forward of
the main block so that the porch in berween is

recessed. The inside gable ends of the wings have

pediments truncated at rheir junction into the

main block. The house has been renovated in re.

cent years and serves as the campus Baptist Stu-

dent Center.

Source: Battle, Memories of anOldTimeTar
Heel,245.
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( aboue) Phillips ktw Office,
photo by Knsley Dey

( f acing) P l"ay nwker s T heater,

phoro b1 Kircley Dey

(preceding page) Oll East (top)
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(faring) Battb Vmtce P ettigrew Dorms,
photo b1 Bill Gorrett

(aboue) Pool Patterson House, photo by

BillGmten
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Wikon Librory, photo by Bill Garrett
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Carolina Inn, photo by Bill Gonett
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(left) Dauie HaLI, photo by BiLl Ganett

(below) Chapel Hill Public Librarl ,

photo by Kinsley Dey
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\il/est Chapel Hill

West Chapel Hill is a large residential area containing the nineteenth- and early-

twentieth-century residences of townspeople-the merchants, professionals, and

other workers that supported the university-in contrast to the largely academic

neighborhood east of the university. The western side of town was conveniently sit-

uated near 
'West 

End, as the depot of the spur line to the North Carolina Railroad

was known after its construction in r87g, and therefore attracted the business com-

munity. The densely developed gridded streets contain a wide-ranging assortment of
brick and frame houses built from the r84os to the present.r

The southwestern corner of South Columbia and Cameron Avenue, the loca-

tion of the Carolina Inn, was the site of the eighteenrh-century Anglican "Chapel

of Ease" that resulted in the name of the settlement of Chapel Hill when the univer-

sity was founded in q9z. The chapel, already in disuse in the late eighteenth cen-

tury, disappeared sometime in the early nineteenth century. This area was nor in-
cluded in the initial town plat of ryg3. Cameron Srreer, the principal campus street

(once known as College Street), was named in rBB5 for Paul Carrington Cameron, a

wealthy plantation owner who was instrumental in reviving the university after the

Civil \7ar.

During the antebellum era, merchants and professional men attracted to Chapel

Hill by the university began to create a town neighborhood on the wesrern side of
the campus. In r85r the town of Chapel Hill was incorporated, bounded by North
Street on the north, Boundary Street on rhe east, Raleigh Road (South Road) on

the south, and Merritt Mill Road on the wesr. Until the r88os, the only roads west of
the university were Cameron Avenue, Pittsboro Road, and Mallette Street. The ear-

liest West Chapel Hill buildings are a group of houses along Mallette and Cameron

Streets. Mallette was named for Charles P. Mallette, an early-nineteenth-century

bookseller on Franklin Street, who lived here. His daughter Salhe Mallette lived at

zr5 West Cameron Avenue, where she ran a student boardinghouse in the r84os.

The one-and-one-half-story frame house still srands.

In the r85os, as nationally known architecrs were designing buildings on the

university campus, substantial dwellings were erecred in West Chapel Hill. Dr. John-
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1. University Baptist Church
2. Beta Theta Pi Fraternity House
3. Big Fraternity Court
4. Delta Kappa Epsilon Fraternity House
5. Carolina Inn
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ston Blakeley Jones built a stylish Gothic cottage in the middle rSoos at 3zr West
cameron Avenue, at the corner of Ransom Street. In r85r Dr. Jones sold property
on \Uest Franklin Street to Mary Southerland, who hired noted \Tarrenton architect

Jacob Holt to build a large Italianate house just before the Civil War.2 Both of these

houses are gone. In 1857 merchant Calvin Scott bought the property at 4oo lUest

Cameron Avenue, at the corner of Mallette Street, and soon afterward built a sub-

stantial two-story frame house of the one-room-deep form known as an l-house. The
house has always had a wide front porch. About the same time Tirrner Bynum built
a brick I-house at 4r2 \Uest Cameron Avenue that is still standing. Several other
antebellum houses stand along Mallette Srreer near Franklin Street.

One of the largest late-nineteenth-century landowners in rVest Chapel Hill was

David Mccauley (r83z-r9rr), grandson of early sertler Matthew Mccauley. David
McCauley and his partners Thomas Long and John Wesley Carr owned a srore on
West Franklin Street in the r87os. During that decade McCauley purchased tracts

of land in the cameron-Mccauley area, including rhe site of his new residence,

the Gothic Revival-style house of Dr. Johnston Blakeley Jones at 3zr \Uest Cam-
eron Street (the southeastern corner of Cameron and Ransom Streets). The Jones-
Mccauley House was destroyed in rgz9. McCauley laid out McCauley Street and

other streets in the area and gradually sold off small tracts of land.

The second-largest landowner in the area was Isaac \07. Pritchard, who purchased

a large tract to the south of McCauley's land, along Briar Brook, in the r88os.

Pritchard was the brother of William N. Pritchard, who owned the Saunders land
north of Rosemary Street that became part of the Northside neighborhood.

Following the Civil \i7ar, November Caldwell (r79t-t}7z), who had been a slave

of the {irst university president, Joseph Caldwell, purchased one-half acre in the

4oo block of West Cameron Avenue and lived there in retirement.s November's son

Wilson Caldwell was one of the first employees to be hired by the university when
it reopened in 1875. He had been a slave of President Swain, the second university
president. Wilson was loved and respecred by the studenrs. !7i[son's son, Dr. Edwin
Caldwell, became Chapel Hill's firsr black physician.

In 1879 a spur track was built from University Station (a stop on the North Caro-
lina Railroad a few miles from Hillsborough) to a depot ten miles to the south.

The settlement around the depot became known as West End. The farmers and

merchants living in West Chapel Hill developed gristmills, a corron gin, and rextile
mills around the depot. \Uest End grew inro an industrial village, and in the early

twentieth century it was renamed Carrboro. Thomas F. Lloyd, a farmer and gristmill
operator, and William Pritchard formed a partnership in the early r88os to build a

cotton gin and gristmill at the depot. In 1899 Lloyd built the Alberta Textile Mill, a

small steam-powered two-story Italianate brick cotton mill, beside the smtion. Isaac
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Pritchard and William Lindsay leased space in Lloydb mill and started the Blanche

Hosiery Mill in rgoz.a

Lloyd and Isaac Pritchard purchased large tracts of land and moved to West Cha-

pel Hill in the r88os. Their residences are still standing. Lloyd purchased the sub-

stantial brick James B. Mason House at 4rz West Cameron Avenue as his residence

about rBB5. Pritchard built his house at 4oo Ransom Street in the r8gos. He served

as a state representative in rgoT-rgo8, a director of the Bank of Chapel Hill, and

developed the \Testwood subdivision on his Briar Brook property in the rgzos and

r93os.

A second spur was built from \Uest End to the university campus in the rgzos in

order to deliver building materials for construction of the new South Campus. It was

located at the rear of the northern side of McCauley Street. (The tracks have been

removed, and it is now used as a bike path.)
lil/est Chapel Hill citizens embraced the Queen Anne style enthusiastically in the

late r8oos. Henry Patterson, owner of a high-quality general store on East Franklin

Street, purchased a frame l-house at 4o3 West Cameron Avenue and transformed it
into a grand Queen Anne villa by adding a front gable with a rose window, exuber-

ant bracketed eaves, a side bay window, ornate attic windows, and a wraparound

porch with hlghly decorative posts, brackets, and balusters. In the early twentieth

century Patterson was one of the town's most prominent citizens: a banker, a village

alderman, and chairman of the board of education. He also founded the telephone

company in r9or.

A group of stylish Queen Anne houses went up on McCauley Street in the late

rSoos and early rgoos. In rgor Thomas W. Strowd bought a lot at zzo McCauley

Street from David McCauley and built a substantial two-story frame house with a

high hip rooi a two-story bay window with scalloped fretwork, and a fancy wrap-

around porch. At 47 McCauley Street, a Queen Anne cottage was built about r9o5

for John O'Daniel. Among its Queen Anne features are a front wing with a bay

window, a high hip roo( and a fancy wraparound porch with a corner gazebo.

The rgzos expansion of the university and student population boom changed

the character of the West Chapel Hi[l neighborhood dramatically. In r9z4 Dur-

ham industrialist John Sprunt Hill built the splendid Carolina Inn at the corner

of Cameron Avenue and South Columbia Street, at the edge of the neighborhood.

Property owners in the area, who had always boarded students in their homes, began

to construct separate apartment buildings for students at this time. G. H. Paulsen,

university laundry superintendent, built the earliest known apartment building at

4o5 Ransom Street in ryz4The stylish Colonial Revival-style frame building, two

and one-half stories tall, appears to be a single family house, but its design cleverly

conceals four apartments. The handsome Doric entrance leads to a single apartment
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on the frrst floor, and a side porch with another elegant entrance leads to two second-

floor apartments and one attic apartment. In rgz8 Carter Sampson, a Richmond,
Virginia, developer who constructed apartment complexes in other cities of North
Carolina, built the first large apartmenr complex in Chapel Hill. Located at 333-335
McCauley Street, the Graham Court Apartments consist of a pair of two-and-one-
half-story brick buildings of handsome Dutch Colonial style that face each other
across a narrow courtyard. Each building contains twelve five-room apartments.

While fraternity houses occur in East chapel Hill as well, the majority stand

in West Chapel Hill along South Columbia Street and \West Cameron Avenue, a

convenient walk to campus. By the rgros, ten frame houses formed Old Fraternity
Row along an alley behind the Ackland Art Museum. A Iire in rgrg burned down
three of the houses and nearly burned down the nearby university library. The uni-
versity purchased private property across South Columbia Street and traded it to the
fraternities in exchange for property on Old Fraternity Row. Fraternity membership

rose from 17 percent in the rgros to 25 percent in the r9zos.5 By ry26 the Big Fra-

ternity Court in the roo block of South Columbia Street, containing five subsrantial

brick fraternities of Colonial Revival style, had been constructed by local conrracror
Brodie Thompson. Four other large brick fraternity houses are situated along South
Columbia Street, and a number of houses stand in the roo block of lff/est Cameron
Avenue, including three called Little Fraternity Court. Built in the rgzos and early

rg3os, all of these buildings have brick or stone walls and imposing Colonial Revival
designs inspired by the architecture of the rgzos campus expansion as well as by the
gracious Southern Colonial charm of the Carolina Inn, which dominares this sec-

tion of the neighborhood. Standing apart, both geographically and architecturally,
is the Chi Psi Fraternity, three blocks west at 3zr lUest Cameron Avenue. In the
early rgzos the fraternity used Dr. Jones's Gothic cotrage on the property as their
residence. lUhen it burned in rgz9, the chapter built a large new house designed in
the "Norman style" by university architects Atwood and Nash.

Notes

r. west chapel Hill includes the cameron-Mccauley Local Historic Districr, desig-

nated in 1898. See Reeb, "The Cameron-McCauley Neighborhood Significance Re-

port." Much of the area is a National Register Historic Districr. See Graybeal, "Wesr
Chapel Hill National Register Historic District Nominarion."

z. Vickers, Chapel Hill, 68 : documentary photo.

3. Ibid., 4o.

4. Brown, Carrboro, North Carolino, tr-t2.
5. Powell, The First State Uniq,)ersity, 168.
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U nitt er sity B aptist Chur ch

BetaTheta Pi Fraternitl House

University Baptist Church
roz S. Columbia Street

r922-1923

Frank P. Milburn, architect

The large Classical Revival-style church complex

of tan brick was designed by architect Frank P.

Milburn. It is located across from the

university on the prominent south-

western corner of South Colum-

bia and lUest Franklin Streets. The

church sits on a raised basement, with

a 6ve-bay-wide facade with a shal-

low Ionic portico with huge stone col-

umns. Beneath the portico are two

entrances with stone pediments. The

stained glass windows have classi-

cal stone surrounds. The use of tan

brick was a trademark of Milburn,

who designed six university buildings

of this material in the rgros. When

the church was completed in the fall

of ry4, a reporter described it as "a

style-defying example of architecture,"

probably a reference to Milburn's

eclectic Beaux Arts design.

This is the second sanctuary of the

congregation of the Baptist Church

of Chapel Hill, organized in 1854 by

William Henry Merritt, George W.

Purefoy, and Brantley J. Hackney. The

frrst church sat at the corner oflUest

Franklin and Church Streets.

Source: Vickers, ChapelHill, r:,8.

Beta Theta Pi Fraternity House
r14 South Columbia Street

r929

Located directly south of the Uni-

versity Baptist Church, the Beta Theta Pi House

has one of the largest front lawns of any frater-

nity house in Chapel Hill. The two-and-one-ha1f-

story building, five bays wide, features a full-width

Doric portico with a roof balustrade. Other fea-

tures are Flemish bond brickwork, a slate roof

with dormers, and an entrance with transom and
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sidelighrs. Above the enrrance is an iron balcony.

Windows are six.over-six sashes with keystones.

One-and-one-half-story wings flank the building.

Big Fraternity Court
roo block South Columbia Street

Ca. tgzo-tgz6

Five two- and three-story brick Co-

lonial Revival-style fraternity houses

form a courtyard, located oppo-

site the university. The Alpha Ep-

silon Pi House in the center is the

Iargest house and forms the focus of
the court. The frve-bay-wide, three.

story building features French doors

with blind fanlights opening onto

a Doric portico, six-over-six upper

sash windows, and flanking two-story

sunporches.

On the northern side are the Pi

Kappa Alpha House, a two-story

building with an elliptical enrrance

porch and arched firststory windows,

and the Sigma Chi House, a two-story

house with a Doric portico. On the

south side are the Sigma Alpha Epsi-

lon House, a smaller two-story house

with a small entrance porch, and Pi

Lambda Ph| a three-bay-wide house

with a one.story classical porch.

Delta Kappa Epsilon Fraternity
House
r3z South Columbia Street

Ca. ry7o

Standing at the northwestern cor.

ner of Cameron and Columbia Streets

across from the Carolina Inn, the DKE House was

rebuilt as a copy after a fire destroyed the origi.
nal house around r97o. The imposing red brick

two-and-one-half.story house has a side-gable roof

of slate, dormer windows, and an entrance with
a fanlight, sidelights, and colonettes. Above the

Big Fraternity Court

Deba Kappa Epsilon Fraternitl House
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Carolina Inn

door is a bracketed wooden balcony. Twelve-over-

twelve sash windows illuminate the frrst story, six-

over-six sashes the second story. The pedimented

portico has four columns. One-story open porches

flank the main block.

Carolina Inn
zrr Pittsboro Street

tg23-r924 Arthur C. Nosh; rg3g-rg4oGeorge

W. Carr; ry69-ry7o Archie R. Dauis; rg95 James

Glac)e, architects

Called "the university's living room" by William
Friday, the former president of the University of
North Carolina, the Carolina Inn stands at the

southwestern corner of South Columbia and West

Cameron Streets on the western border of the

campus. The inn, with its large meeting and en-

tertainment facilities, has functioned as the pri-

mary gathering place for students, faculty, towns-

people, and alumni since the rgzos.

The inn's prominent location is the site of the

original Anglican chapel that was standing when

the land was donated to the State of North Caro-

lina to create the university rn q9z. The ho-

tel was built in rg24 as a private project of Dur-

ham businessman and alumnus John Sprunt Hill
to provide a hotel for university visitors. Hill, an

1889 graduate of the university, moved to Dur-

ham in rgo3 and founded the Durham Loan and

Trust Company, which became Central Carolina

Bank. !7ith his wife, Annie, the only child of
prominent tobacconist and philanthropist George

\Uatts, Hill was one of the most prominent phi-

lanthropists in North Carolina.

Hill hired T. C. Atwood and Company and

their principal architect, Arthur C. Nash, to de-
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sign and build the hotel. This was one of Nash's

6rst major commissions. The Atwood Company

were the local architects who worked under the

New York firm McKim, Mead and White to build

the South Campus expansion. Nash designed

the inn in what he called the "Southern Colo-

nial" style, a mixture of the Flemish bond brick
work and grand two-story prazza patterned af-

ter George Washington's home, Mount Vernon,

with Georgian motifs from New England colo-

nial architecture. The inn's carriage porch on the

eastern side accommodated visitors arriving on

South Columbia Street. The two-and-one-half-

story brick building has a slate-covered gambrel

roof with parapet walls on the ends and a cupola

in the center. A full classical portico with wooden

posts stretches across the nine bays of the facade

overlooking'West Cameron Street, and in the

center are two front doors. The windows on the

lirst story have eight-over-twelve sashes with key-

stones, and those on the upper story have eight-

over-eight sashes. The building's size, its grand

portico, and its carriage porch set it apart from

the fraternity houses of similar age and design

that surround it. This was the first private com-

mercial building in Chapel Hill that

was designed in the Colonial Revival

style. It contained fifty-two bedrooms,

a dining room, a cafeteria, a lobby and

parlors, and a ballroom.

Hill operated the hotel for ten

years, and in lg35 donated it to the

university with the stipulation that

the profits from its operation would

support the North Carolina Collec-

tion, a special branch of the univer-

sity library that collected books and

papers pertaining to the history of the

state. In rg3g-194o architect George
\il/atts Carr of Durham designed and

built an L-shaped addition to the rear

that contained meeting rooms and over forty new

guest rooms. Federal \7orks Progress Administra-

tion funds assisted in this addition. In 1969-197o

Durham architect Archie Royal Davis added two

wings to the Pittsboro Street side of the inn, con-

taining a new cafeteria and kitchen, a new ball-

room, and forty-five new guest rooms. At this

time the main entrance was shifted from Cam-

eron Avenue to Pittsboro Street. In r9g5 the inn
was refurbished and a new wing of guest rooms

was added to the rear, on the South Columbia

Street side, bringing the total number of rooms to

r84. The architect was James Glave.

Chi Phi Fraternity House

3oo South Columbia Street

Ca. rg3o

Located at the southwestern corner of Colum-

bia and McCauley Streets, across from the uni-

versity, the Chi Phi House is a two-and-one-half-

story brick Colonial Revival-style residence with
a gambrel roof and dormer windows. The walls

are constructed of clinker brick (irregularly

Chi Phi Fraternity House
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faced brick) that has been painted white. A clas-

sical portico shelters the facade; French doors

open onto it at the first story level. A front wing

has a bay window. lTindows have six-over-six

sashes.

Phi DeLta Theta Fraternity House

Chi LambdaDelta Fraternity House

Phi Delta Theta Fraternity House

3o4 South Columbia Street

ca. r93o

Facing the university and located immediately

south of the Chi Phi House, the Phi Delt House

is a two-and-one.half-story Colonial Revival-style

brick residence hall. It rests on a raised basement

and has a gambrel roof with dormer

windows, Engllsh bond walls, an en-

trance with a pedimented surround,

and eight-over.eight sash windows.

The full portico has a roof balustrade.

On the south side is a recenr addition

of similar design.

Chi Lambda Delta Fraternity
House
ro8 lVest Cameron Avenue

Ca. rgj5

The two.story side-gabled Colo-

nial Revival-style building has Flem-

ish bond brick walls, a slate roof,

and dormer windows. The entrance

has a classical swan's.neck pediment.

Twelve-over-twelve sash windows light
the first story, eight-over-eight sashes

the second. A classical porch extends

across the main block, and two-story

recessed wings flank the main block.

The building was heavily restored af-

ter a deadly fire in the late r99os.
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Little Fraternity Court
rto-2o4 \7est Cameron Avenue

Ca. ry25-t93o

The three two-story houses arranged

in a U shape, with a lawn in the cen-

ter, belong to the Kappa Alpha, Kappa

Sigma, and Zeta Upsilon fraterni-

ties. The ZU House is red brick Colo-

nial Revival-style, wirh a fanlighted

entrance, an iron balcony, an Ionic

three-bay portico, and six-over-six

sash windows. The flanking KA and

Kappa Sig houses are built of quarried

stone, with recessed five-bay porches.

The KA House suffered a bad fire in

the late twentieth century and has been rebuilt

inside its stone walls; the new gable roof is higher

than the original.

Pool-Harris House
zo6 lWest Cameron Averrue

Ca. r87o

The earliest known owner of this house was Sol-

omon Pool, in the early r87os. Pool sold it to Dr.

Thomas West Harris about 1875. Harris, a physi-

cian, pharmacist, and owner of a drugstore ar the

corner of Franklin and Henderson Streets, was

the founder and first dean of the university medi-

cal school, established in 1879. The I-house has a

low hip rool two rear chimneys, weatherboarded

walls, an entrance with sidelights, and a one-story

classical porch. French doors open onto the porch

on either side of the entrance. The upper story

has six-over-six sash windows.

Chapel Hill Chdstian Church
zrr 'West 

Cameron Avenue

Ca. rgr4

The well-preserved front gabled brick sanctuary

of Classical Revival design has a corner entrance

tower, a classical door surround, and stained glass

windows. The congregation was established in
rgro by a group of local citizens, including Isaac

\7. Pritchard. The building was constructed about

Little F r ater nitl C our t

Pool-Harris House
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Chapel HiLl Christian Church

Mallette-Wilson House

r9r4. The Christian denomination merged with
the Congregational Church, and in the r93os this

was the United Congregational Church of Cha-
pel Hill. It is now privately owned and leased as

offices.

Mallette-\filson House
2r5-2r7 lil/est Cameron Avenue

Ca. 1845

Sallie Mallette, daughter of early settler Charles

Mallette, ran a student boardinghouse here in the

r84os. \Uhen her brother, Edward Mallette, was

kllled in the Civil !7ar, she raised his five chil-
dren here. In r89r Thomas J. Wilson, formerly

a surgeon in Virginia's Confederate army, pur-

chased the house and practiced medicine in Cha-

pel Hill. The \Tilson family owned the house

until rg44. Thomas \il/ilson's son, T. J. lUilson

Jr., became a university registrar, and his grand-

son, T. J. Wilson III, became head of uNc Press

and later of Harvard University Press. The sim-

ply finished one-and-one-half-story frame house

has a side-gable rool a center door with a three-
pane transom, and plain weatherboard. On the

first story are six-over-six sash windows, with six-

pane casements illuminating the upper half-story.

The entrance porch is a replacement. The house

sits in the middle of a large yard shaded from the

street by trees and shrubs.

Chi Psi Fraternity House

3zr lUest Cameron Avenue

r934

Atw o o d and N ash, ar chit ects

In the r87os David McCauley purchased the

Gothic Revival-style house of Dr. Johnston
Blakeley Jones on this site at the southeast-
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ern corner of Cameron and Ransom Streets and

made his residence here. Jones was the son of Ed-

ward Jones and Mary Mallette, who resided at

Rock Rest Plantation in Chatham County. The

elder Jones was solicitor-general of North Caro-

lina from rTgr to 1827. Dr. Jones was a farmer and

physician who helped to found the North Caro-

Iina Medical Association. A. J. Davis may have

designed the board-and-batten house during his

Scott-Smith-Gattis House

4oo \West Cameron Avenue

Ca. r86o

This mid-nineteenth-century I-house at the

northwestern corner of Cameron and Mal-

lette Streets was probably built before the Civil
!Uar, on property purchased in 1857 by Calvin

Scott, a merchant and elder ofthe Presbyterian

Church. By r88r Mary Ann Ruf{in Smith, daugh-work on the campus in the r85os.

In the early rgoos \Tilliam Cham-

bers Coker, botany professor and

wealthy land developer, purchased the

property and donated it to his own

Chi Psi fraternity for use as a frater-

nity house. After the house was de-

stroyed in rgz9, university architects

Atwood and Nash designed the new

"Norman-style" house. The house

property is the only tract in lfi/est

Chapel Hill that represents the origi-

nal ample size of early residential lots.

The house also has the most natu-

ral setting of any university fraternity

house, with extensive shrubs and trees

and a stone rubble wall enclosure.

The Medieval Revival design of the

large brick house sets its architecture apart from

the dominant Colonial Revival designs of univer-

sity fraternity residences. The two-and-one-half-

story house is eight bays wide, with a steep ga-

bled roof covered with slate, casement windows

with keystones, and hipped dormer windows. The

entrance is recessed within an arched brick sur-

round, and a stone terrace extends along the en-

tire facade.

Source: Mckers, ChapelHill,4, zg, 54;Tar
Heel,lan. 3, 1929.

Chi Psi Fraternitt House

Scort-Smith-(lnris House
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ter of James S. Smith of Hillsborough, owned

the house. ln 1889 she bequeathed r,5oo acres

in Chatham County to the university. A promi-

nent later owner was Samuel Mallette Gattis, who

graduated from the university in 1884 and served

as a university trustee from rgog to r9rr. Among

its features are a stone foundation, gable-end

chimneys, plain weatherboard, an entrance with
transom and sidelights, and six-over-six sash win-
dows. The flush siding (boards abutting one an-

other) beneath the porch is original, indicating

that the house has always had a wide front porch,

although the posts have been replaced.

Pool-Patterson House

4o3 !7est Cameron Avenue

Ca. r87o, ca. 1895

Sokrmon Pool, a native of Elizabeth City, gradu-

ated from the university and was appointed uni.

PooL-Patterson House

versity president during the Reconstruction era

between r87o and 1875 because of his promi-

nence in the Republican Party. He is known as

the most disliked president of the university. In

1875 a committee organized by Governor Zebulon

Vance reconstituted the university under guide-

lines more acceptable to the faculty and major-

ity of the state's citizens. Pool owned a house at

zo6 West Cameron Avenue as well, and it is not
known which was his residence. At this rime, the

house consisted of the main two-story block, typi-

cal of the I-houses that had been built in the zoo

and 3oo blocks of Cameron Avenue.

Pool apparently sold the house to Dr. Thomas
'W'. Harris, who sold it in 1888 to Henry Houston

"Hoot" Patterson, proprietor of a store at Frank
lin and Henderson Streets. Patterson seems to

have been the one who remodeled it into its pres-

ent look: it is now one of the finest examples of
the Queen Anne style in Chapel Hill. Patter-

son, born in 1844 near Chapel Hill, was wounded
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at Chancellorsville rvhile serving in ,

the Confederate army and became a

prominent civic leader in Chapel Hill
in later life. He was vice president and

director of the Bank of Chapel Hill, a

village alderman, founder of the tele-

phone company in r9or, and chair-

man of the board of educarion.

The house is located on a large site

at the southwestern corner of Cam.

eron and Ransom Streets. The side-

gable house has a center cross-gable

with a rose window, bracketed eaves,

and a central double door with a tran-

som and sidelights. A one-story porch

with a bracketed cornice and a cen-

tral pedimented entrance bay extends across the

front and down the rear ell; its chamfered posts

have ornate sawnwork brackets and turned balus-

ters. \Windows sheltered by the porch are paired,

floor-length sash windows. The upper floor has

six-over-six sash windows. Gable ends have a pair

of arched windows, and the eastern elevation has

a square bay window.

Source: Reeb, "The Cameron-McCauley

Neighborhood Report," 1989; Vickers , Chapel

Hill,78.

Mason-Lloyd-!7i1ey House

4rz W'est Cameron Avenue

Ca. 186o

The earliest known owner of this house was

Turner Bynum. In r87B he sold it to James B.

Mason, who sold to Thomas Lloyd in 1885. Lbyd
was a prominent industrialist; he and his part-

ners, the Pritchard brothers, builr the area's firsr

cotton gin at the \West End railroad depot one

mile west of the Chapel Hill town limits (the

heart of the present town of Carrboro). In 1899

Mas on - Llo y d -W ile y H o u s e

he built the Alberta Mill, a cotton mill at the de-

pot, and a second mill about r9o9. Lloyd made

his home here during rhis rime. Built of brick, the

two-story, one-room-deep house stands out among

a group of frame l-houses along Cameron Avenue.

The house is laid in one-to-four common bond

brick, with end chimneys. The western chimney

has concave-curved shoulders. The central double

door has sidelights. The nine.over-nine sash win-
dows on the first story and nine-over-six sash

windows on the second story have flat brick
arches. The one-story front porch has slender

classical columns that may be later replacemenrs.

Behind the house is a one-story brick ell that is

original. A stone well with a well cover is located

on the western side of the house. The \7iley fam-

ily purchased the house in the mid-rg3os.

uNC Power Plant and Laundry
5oo-6oo blocks lUest Cameron Avenue

1940

The University Power Plant and Laundry are 1o-

cated along the railroad spur line built from Carr-
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uNc Laundrl

uNC Power Plant

boro to the university in the rgzos.

The power plant, a two- and three-

story utilitarian brick building, has

running bond brick walls and Art
Deco ornament. Art Deco was a style

featuring colorful geomet ric orna-

ment that was popular in the r93os.

The entrance is located in a three-

story towerlike section with zigzag-

profiled moldings around the door and

extending the height of the building.

Round stone ornaments flank the ver-

tical moldings. At the side and rear is

a large late-twentieth-century addi-

tion of dramatic modern design, with
a pair ofstriking concrete silos.

The University Laundry is a two-

story building of running bond brick with Art
Deco ornament similar to the power plant. It has

a central entrance with a wide stone surround

and stone window panels and cornice. The sash

windows are replacements.

\TarriolejTilley House
rr3 Mallette Street

Ca. rgoo

The small frame trigable one-story house is part

of a grouping of early houses along Mallette

Street, named for early-nineteenth-century book-

seller Charles P. Mallette. Among its original fea-

tures are weatherboarded walls, an arched glazed

panel front door, four-over-four sash windows, and

a decorative wood-shingled gable over the en-

trance. The front porch has original turned posts

and decorative brackets.

I9O THE TOWN AND GOWN ARCHITECTURE OF CHAPEL HILL
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Morris-Harris House
rr7 Mallette Street

Ca. 186o

The small two-story house has interesting propop

tions. Resting on a stone foundation, the house

appears to have a one-ovepone room plan. In the
center ofthe three-bay facade is a double fronr
door with a three-pane transom. lVindows have

four-over-four sashes. The arched entrance porch

is a twentieth-cenrury replacement; the siding is
artificial. The names of Morris and Harris appear

as owners ofthe property in the r88os, but the
house may date prior to the Civil !7ar.

Source: Reeb, "The Cameron-McCauley

Neighborhood Report."

Morrow-Neville House
rr8 Mallette Street

Ca. 186o, ca. rgoo

At the beginning of the Civil War a widow, Cor-
nelia Morrow, who subsequently lost two sons in
the war, lived in a house on rhis site. The house

was apparently completely rebuilt abour r9oo, and

all exterior fabric appears to date from this era.

The three-bay double-pile house is two stories,

with a hlgh hip roo( weatherboarded walls, one-

over-one sash windows, and a plain early-twenti-

eth-century door. The one-srory porch has simple

classical posts.

House
rzr Mallette Street

Ca. rgoo

The intact I-house (two stories and one room

deep in shape) retains original fearures that in-

WarrioLe-Tilley House

Morris-Harris House

q&

Morrow.Neville House

WEST CHAPEL HILL I9I



t2t MalLette Street

C. B. GriffinHouse

clude weatherboard siding, gable-end chimneys,

a center cross-gable over the entrance, and large

four-over-four sash windows. The one.story porch

has original turned posts.

C. B. Griffin House
zr4 McCauley Street

Ca. rgr3

Large landowner David McCauley

sold this lot in rgor to Thomas !7.

Strowd, who built a house on a poP

rion of the property and sold this lot

to C. B. Griffin in rgr3. Griffin, a

bank cashier, built the house in r9I3.

The well-preserved two-story, one-

room-deep house has weatherboarded

walls, a hip roo( one-over-one sash

windows, and a front porch with clas-

sical posts.

Thomas Strowd House
zzo McCauley Street

Ca. rgro

Thomas !7. Strowd purchased the

property from large landowner David

McCauley in rgor and built this house

about rgro. This very intact Queen

Anne-style house is two stories with a

pyramidal roof, weatherboarded walls,

and a wraparound porch with cham-

fered posts and sawnwork brackets.

At the side is a two-story cutaway bay

window (a window set diagonally be-

neath a squared upper level) with scal-

loped fretwork.

Braxton Craig House
zz4 McCauley Street

Ca. rgro

The probable builder of this house was Brax.

ton Craig, whose history is unknown. \7. L. Rob-

1

I n
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erson, L. Lloyd, and E. G. Norwood owned it in
close succession in succeeding years. The nar-

row two-story Queen Anne-style house has a ga-

ble and wing form with a wraparound porch with
original turned posts, brackets, and a spindle

frieze. In the front gable is an ornare sawnwork

bargeboard. Over the front window is a colored

glass transom.

John O'Daniel House
237 McCauley Street

Ca. r9o5

The one-and-one-half-story Queen Anne-style
cottage has a pyramidal roof, a front gabled wing
with a cutaway bay window, and a wraparound

porch with original slender classical columns. A

Thomas Snowd,House

Braxton Craig House
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gazebo with a pyramidal roof projects from the

corner ofthe porch. Beside the front door is a

large diamond-paned sash window The earliest

known owner was John O'Daniel, about whom

little is known today.

Graham Court Apartments
233-235 McCauley Street

ry28

Graham Court was the first large apartment com-

plex in Chapel Hill. Carter'W. Sampson, a devel-

oper from Richmond, Virginia, who constructed

similar complexes in Greensboro and Durham,

had the complex built in 1928. This multifam-

ily complex is an early example of high-density,

high-quality housing in Chapel Hill. It
occupies a single house lot along Mc-

Cauley Srreet, which developed in the

late nineteenth and early twentieth

centuries as a single-family house area.

Two large brick apartment build-

ings, each containing twelve five-room

apartments, are set with their nar-

row ends to McCauley Street. The en-

trances to the buildings face toward

the center. Originally a driveway ex-

tended between the buildings to a

parking area in the rear. The lot on

the eastern side was later purchased to

serve as a parking lot for the complex,

allowing the central area to serve as

a courtyard between the two build-

ings. The Dutch Colonial Revival-

style buildings have brick walls, two

and one-half stories high, with gam-

brel roofs featuring front and rear

shed dormers. The entrances have

swan's-neck pediments and classi-

cal surrounds around a large window

over the door. On the first story, six-

over-six sashes have segmental arches.

The original three-story porches that

project into the courtyard were en-

closed, apparently when the units

were converted to condominiums in

the rg8os. The Graham Court Apart-

John O'Daniel House

G r aham C o ur t Ap ar tment s
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ments became a popular place of resi-

dence among both student and faculty
renters.

Source: Doug Eyre, 'Apartment
Buildings Came to Chapel Hill in
rhe rgzos," Chapel Hill Mqr.rs, June 26,

2002.

Junius \Uebb House (Kappa

Kappa Gamma Sorority House)

3oz Pittsboro Street

Ca. r9r3

Junius D. Webb, a Chapel Hill busi
nessman, built the \Uebb-Lloyd Com-

mercial Building on Franklin Street

with his partner, Herbert Lloyd, about

r9oo. This was rhe first substantial

brick building consrrucred in the busi-

ness district as the old frame build-

ings were being replaced. About r9r3
\7ebb built this frame dwelling for
his family. The two.story Colonial

Revival-style house features a pyra-

midal hip rool a hipped front dormer,

eight-over-tweive sash windows on the
{irst story, eight-over-eight sash win-
dows on the second story, and a wrap-

around porch with Doric columns.

The corner lot is enclosed by a stone

wall. Now the Kappa Kappa Gamma

sorority house, rhe building has exren-

sive side and rear additions.

lunius Webb House (Kappa Kappa Gamma Sorority House)

State Employ e e s Cr e dit U nion

State Employees Credit Union
3ro Pittsboro Street

1974

Don Stewart, architect

The Modernist-style State Employees Credit
Union building is startling not only because it in-
trudes into the residential fabric along Pittsboro
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Henrt Latane House

Street but also because its complex modern style

is rare in architecturally conservative lfest Cha.

pel Hill. The two-story tan brick building has ex-

tensive large windows on the second story and a

copper mansard eave. (A mansard roof has a dou-

ble slope, with the lower slope longer and steeper

than the upper.) At the northern front corneq

a dramatically large triangular one-story wing,

containing the entrance lobby, has wide canti-

levered eaves with wooden supports that resem-

ble Frank Lloyd \Tright's Imperial Hotel in Tokyo

(destroyed).

Henry Latane House
zrz Vance Street

Ca. r9z8

One of the larger and more stylish early-twenti-

eth-century houses in lVest Chapel Hill, this was

built for an unknown owner in the late rgzos.

The Mediterranean Revival-style two'story brick

house features a hipped green tile roof with ex-

posed rafter tails, a simple entrance without

porch, groups of six-over-one sash windows, and

a side porch with brick posts. The house is sited

on a large lot. In rg57 Henry A. Latane, a pro'

fessor of finance, and his wife, Felicite, were the

owner-occupants.

Source: 1957 City Directory.

Isaac'!7. Pritchard House

4oo Ransom Street

r89os

William N. Pritchard bought this property from

Nancy McCollum Lewter and sold it in about

1884 to his brother Isaac Pritchard. In rgor Isaac

established the Blanche Hosiery Mill with a part.
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ner in a section of the Alberta Cot-

ton Mill in Carrboro, and he built
this house for himself abour rhe same

time. The large Colonial Revival-sryle

two-story house features a three-bay-

wide facade, a hip roo( and interior
chimneys. The gabled front dormer

has a Palladian window. The house

has one-over-one sash windows and

a wraparound porch with Craftsman

posts and a ramped railing. The door

has one sidelight with Queen Anne
muntins. The large comfortable house

remained in the Pritchard family into
the r96os.

Source: Brown, Carrboro, N.C., rz.

Paulsen Apartment House

4o5 Ransom Street

1924

Chapel Hill's flrst aparrment house

was built by G. H. Paulsen, superin.

tendent of the university laundry, in

ryz 4. The frame two-and-one-half-

story Colonial Revival-style building
betrays no hint on rhe exterior that it
contained four apartments: a six-room

apartment on the 6rst floor, two three-

room apartments on the second

floor, and one four-room apartment

in the attic. Access to the first-story

apartment is through a handsome

entrance with a transom, sidelights, and a Doric
entablature. The other apartments shared a

larger entrance beneath a side porch. The house

has weatherboarded walls, eight-over-twelve and

eight-over.eight sash windows, and three gabled

dormers across the facade roof.

Source: Doug Eyre, 'Aparrment Buildings

Came to Chapel Hill in the rgzos," ChapelHill
Me.us, June 26, zooz.

t{
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I saac W. Pritchard House

P auls en Ap artment Hou se
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Chapel Hill Business District

At the beginning of the twentieth century, the village business district, the roo

block of East Franklin Street between Columbia and Henderson Streets, was a one-

block dirt lane lined with a heterogeneous mixture of houses, one- and two-story

frame stores, and several hotels. Old photos show large trees shading the sidewalk

and street. As is true today, businesses came and went in the frckle economy of a

college town. The oldest buildings in the present business district date from about

rgoo, when businessmen began to rebuild the business district in brick. The oldest of

these early brick buildings is the Lloyd-\Uebb Building, 4B-r44 East Franklin Street

(photo on page zoz). About the same time, the two-story brick building at ror-ro3

East Franklin Street (occupied by Spanky's restaurant beginning ca. rg8o), at the

norrheasrern corner of Franklin and Columbia Streets, was erected. This building

had a variety of businesses, including, in the r93os, D. Penders Grocery and Fowler's

Grocery.

The roo and zoo blocks of East Franklin Street achieved their present appear-

ance during the rgzos, when five two- and three-story brick buildings were con-

structed. These are the Tankersley Building (located beside the post office); r75 East

Franklin Street, rgz3; Robert L. Strowd Building, ry9-t6t East Franklin Street,

r9z3; Kuralt Building, rrg E. Franklin Street, rgz3; and McRae Building, zor East

Franklin Street (northeastern corner of Franklin and Henderson), 1925. During the

construction boom of rgz3, the center eighteen feet of East Franklin Street was

paved to improve access to the stores. At thls time there were some roo automobiles

in the village. Each building housed numerous businesses in separate stores on the

street level, offices on the upper floors, and sometimes a commercial space in the

basement. These old brick buildings have a complicated history of occupancy. For

example, the Kuralt Building was constructed in rg23 as a three-story brick mat-

tress factory. Mattresses would have been a lucrative business in a college town like

Chapel Hill. From 19z6 to 1958 Berman's Department Store occupied the building.

The famous Intimate Bookshop was located here from 1958 until it was destroyed

by fire in tggz. This was operated from 1965 to tg92 by Wallace Kuralt, brother of

famous television correspondent Charles Kuralt, and Wallace's wife, Brenda. The
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View of East Franklin
Street, rgog. In the back-

ground is the LLoy d-Webb

Building, ca. rgoo (Cour-

tesy of the North Carolina
Collection, U niuer sity of
North Carolina, Chapel
HiLl)

facade, rebuilt in rgg3, has an elegant de-

sign featuring three tall arched windows

that bears no resemblance to its historic

appearance.l

From rg4o to r95o a group of prominent

citizens made a concerted effort to "Wil-
liamsburg" Chapel Hill's business district.
Louis Graves, editor of the Chapel Hill
Weekly (later the Chapel Hill Neus), pro-

moted in many editorials a unified theme

of Colonial design characterized by red

brick construction with gabled roofs and

white wooden trim. A new Town Planning Commission appointed in r94r to guide

the growth of the town, consisring of Joseph Hyde Pratt, John M. Booker, Clyde
Eubanks, H. G. Baity, and W. D. Carmichael Jr., was thoroughly committed to the

Williamsburg plan. Later commission members included businessman Collier Cobb

Jr. Another leader in the Williamsburg movemenr was George Watts Hill, a univer.
sity trustee and Durham businessman.z

Durham architect Archie Davis, who had trained under Arthur C. Nash, designer

of the new Georgian Revival-style southern campus in the rgzos, was the university
architect in the rg4os. He made lovely watercolor sketches of Williamsburg-style
commercial buildings for the Town Planning Commission, which he hoped would
convince businessmen to remodel their buildings or to build new buildings in the
style. Since the roo block of East Franklin Street was already developed, the new plan
had little effect except for several business facades and the Carolina Theatre at ro8

East Franklin Street, completed in tg4z on the sourh side of the streer. From 1945 to
r95o the primary location of the new Williamsburg-style commercial buildings was

in the roo-4oo blocks of West Franklin Street between Columbia Street and Gra-
ham Street, the town limit, and on North Columbia Street. The post-World War
II population boom resulted in the old business district's outgrowing its one-block
length. The West Franklin Street section, heretofore largely residential, developed in
these postwar years as a S7illiamsburg-style commercial row thar fulfilled the dream

of Graves and the Town Planning Commission.

Notes

r. Kuralt Building historical plaque.

z. Bryant, "Occupants and Structures of Franklin Street"; Lea, "The Williamsburging
of Chapel Hil1."
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Carolina Theatre
ro8 East Franklin Street

t94r-1942

The Carolina Theatre was con-

srructed by the lfilby-Kincey Com-

pany, operator ofa chain oftheaters,

as one of the first new buildings in the

business district to follow the "\7i1,

liamsburg Plan" for Franklin Street,

which commenced in rg4o under

the influence of ChaPeLHillWeekly

editor Louis Graves, the Town Plan-

ning Commission, and architect Ar-

chie Davis of Durham. Through the

persuasion of the planning commis-

sion and the assistance of Archie Da-

vis, the original theater design by the

staff architect of the Wilby-Kincey Company was

modified into the present Colonial Williams-

burg design. The company is said to have spent

an extra $5,ooo on the modification. Although

building materials were difficult to obtain during
'S7orld \7ar II, the theater was finished a month

after Pearl Harbor.

The two-story brick building has an elegant

Flemish bond brick facade with finely crafted Co-

lonial detailing. Two blind openings on the lirst

story (that originally displayed movie posters)

have molded surrounds with ornate brickwork

pediments. Other Colonial features are wooden

sash windows with flat arches of rubbed brick, a

steep gabled roof with four hipped dormers, and a

classical-style three-bay porch that served as the

theater marquee. The building was rearranged in

the r98os, with retail space facing Franklin Street

and the theater entrance on Columbia Street.

Sources: Diane E. Lea, "The Williamsburging

of Chapel Hill," ca. rg8o report; Stephen Stolpen,

Pictorial Historl; Doug Eyre, interview with the

author, May 4, zoo4.

University Service Plants Business Office

r34 East Franklin Street

t9t6, ca. rg47

The two-story brick Colonial \Tilliamsburg-style

office building, located adjacent to Porthole Alley,

is actually a remodeled early-twentieth-century

brick building. The front section was built in 1916

Uniuersity Seruice Plants Business Office

CarolinaTheane
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Lloy d-Webb -Hill B uilding

for a Ford automobile agency. The university pur-

chased it in rgz5. It functioned as the Univer-
sity Service Plants, where townspeople paid for
their electricity, water, and telephone service (all

owned by the universiry). Followinga rg47 fire,
the current facade was constructed. The front
block has the same aurhentic Colonial-style ar-

chitectural details seen in a number of other com-

mercial buildings along Franklin Srreer: the Flem-

ish bond brick walls, side-gabled roof with end

parapets, and front modillion cornice of wood.

In the center of the flve-bay facade is a recessed,

arched entrance. Flanking it are large multipane
display windows. On the upper facade are eight.

over-twelve sash windows. To the rear, the main
block of the building exrends back seven bays,

with common bond brick walls and plain sash

windows.

The building conrribures to the Colonial Wil-
liamsburg characrer of Franklin Street. Inreresr-

ingly, it was constructed by the university rather
than by private developers, who built the other
buildings. Archie Royal Davis, the Durham archi.
tect who worked with the Town Planning Com-

mission to promore the \Tilliams-
burg style for the business district, may

have designed the facade. Most of the

first-floor space was leased by the uni-

versity to First Citizens Bank for a

number of years. In the early r96os

the University Engineer's Office was

located in the building. In the rgTos

the Facilities Planning Office moved

into the building. Various adminis-

trative offices continue ro occupy the

building at present.

Sources: Doug Eyre, interview with
author, zoo4;Long, "uNc Building

Notes."

Lloyd-\Uebb-Hill Butlding
48-r44 East Franklin Street

Ca. rgoo

Herbert Lloyd and Junius D. !7ebb built rhis two-
story brick commercial building in rgoo ro re-

place a row of wooden shops on the site. The
simple building retains its upper facade, which
features two.over-two arched sash windows, plain

brick pilasters, and a corbelled brick cornice.

Among the businesses in the building in its early
years were the University Athletic Shop, a gen-

eral merchandise store, and the Carolina Con.
fectionary. In the rgzos Durham businessman

John Sprunt Hill bought the building and do-

nated it in parcels to rhe university from ry47 to
r95r, with the stipulation that the renr proceeds

benefit the North Carolina Collection in rhe uni-
versity library. This arrangement is still in effect.

The alley along the wesrern side of the building
led to the beloved Porthole restauranr, located in
a brick building (no longer standing) at the back

of the alley.

At r38 E. Franklin Streer, the oldest surviv-

IE
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ing restaurant in Chapel Hill, the Carolina Cof.

fee Shop, was established in r9zz. Prior to that,

the space was the student post oflice. The wood-

paneled coffee shop is a favorite haunt of univer-

sity students and faculty.

ln t942, Maurice Julian opened Julians Col-

lege Shop in the store at t4o-r42 E. Franklin

Street. The shop sold fine quality men's clothing

to cater to the large number of young men sta-

tioned in the U.S. Navy preflight school at the

university. Julian's son Alexander Julian, a nation-

ally known clothing designer, learned the cloth-

ing business at this shop, which is still in opera-

tion. Daughter Missy Julian also became a fashion

designer, focusing on children's wear.

The general merchandise store at r44 E.

Franklin Street became Gooch's Caf6 during the

rgzos. Bayard Wootten's photography studio was

above. In the r93os the storefront space was the

Durham Dairy. Robert Varley operated a men's

clothing store and pipe shop in the space from

1937 to t99o.

Sources: Rees, Plaque research; Bryant, "Occu-

pants and Structures of Franklin Street."

University United Methodist Church
r5o East Franklin Street

r925

James Gamble Rogers, architect

ln ry25 the Methodists decided to replace their

old church on East Franklin Street with a new

church, located on the adjacent western prop-

erty. New York architect James Gamble Rogers

designed this monumental Georgian Revival-

style sanctuary and church building, completed

io t9z6 at a cost of $zz5,ooo. Its steeple was in-

tended to be taller and more magnificent than

any other in Chapel Hill. The red brick building

with crisp white wood trim blends with the Wil-

U niv ersity United Methodist Church

liamsburg Colonial theme of the business district.

The large scale of the building dramatically dif-

ferentiates it from its surroundings, however, and

the frve-stage steeple towers over the university

buildings and the commercial district around it.

The pedimented Doric portico shelters three en-

trances with leaded glass fanlights, and a giant

triangular fan motif decorates the front pediment.

Round-arched windows illuminate the side eleva-

tions of the sanctuary. A two-story educational

annex stretches east along Franklin Street.

Source: Vickers, ChapelHill, o.
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United States Post Office
r79 East Franklin Street

r937

The major public works project financed by the

lUorks Progress Administration in Chapel Hill is

the distinguished Classical Revival-style United
States Post Of6ce. The one-story stone build-

ing has a recessed pedimented portico containing

three entrances with tall arched transoms. Flank
ing the entrance are blind arcaded bays contain-

ing large twelve-over-twelve wood sash windows.

The roof has a tall lantern with a cast iron rail-
ing, fluted pilasters, and nine-over-nine wooden

sash windows. Flanking recessed wings have large

windows set in shallow arched bays. Inside, artist

Dean Cornwell painted a mural in r94r depict-

ing the laying of the university corner.

: stone in 1793. This mural, in the dra-

. matic social.realist style common to

:. . wra artists, is still in place. It was

joinecl in r99j hy a mural by Michael

Brown showing the sale of lots for resi-

dential and commercial use in the new

town in 1793.

The wide sidewalk in front of the

Chapel Hill Post Office is famous as

the site of many demonstrations by

townspeople and students who have

paraded back and forth with signs pro-

testing wars and other public policy

issues since 1967, when the first dem-

onstrations, against the Vietnam \il/aq

took place.

Source: Doug Eyre, telephone con-

versation, May 4, zoo4.

Pure Oil Station
rrz \7est Franklin Street

r92OS, r94os

The exaggerated Ti-rdor Revival de-

sign that was the trademark of Pure

Oil Stations in the rgzos is still very

much in evidence here in the roo

block of \Uest Franklin Street. Al-
though a number of different busi-

nesses have occupied the building, the

little service station's design is largelyPure OiI Station

Lt*.L
rl
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intact. The very steep side-gable roof

is covered with tiles, painted red.

The automotive porte cochere, sup-

ported by heavy chamfered wood

posts with brackets, has a steep front
gable with half-timbered decoration.

The side gables of the station also are

hal0timbered. The station's facade

has an arched entrance door shel-

tered by a bracketed stoop and a large

oriel window sheathed with copper.

The decorative metal gutter down-

spout is monogrammed with the letter

P for Pure. The current tenant, Cari.

bou Coffee, has outdoor seating in the

porte cochere area.

The building operated as a Pure

Oil Sration until about 1945, when

it became an automobile dealership operated by

three Poes-A. H., Watts D., and George. The

Poes added a new car showroom to the western

side and service bays to the eastern side. These

low wings have red tile roofs, and, on the west, a

center half-timbered gable and a brick dado with
stuccoed walls.

Source: Vickers, ChapelHill, q5

\Talker's Funeral Home
rzo West Franklin Street

Ca. rg48

Houston J. Walker and his son Allen Hamilton

Walker established the funeral home in Chapel

Hill in ry37 in an old house on this site. Follow-

ing a fire, the house was rebuilt to its current ap-

pearance. The \7alkers operated a farm north of
Hillsborough and fashioned coffns which they

sold in rhat rown. ln tgzz they established their
first funeral home in Hillsborough as an out-

growth of this sideline. The building's setback

from the street and a small lawn reflect its begin-

ning as a residence. Its current appearance, with
Flemish bond brick walls, a side-gable roof, a den.

til wood cornice, a central entrance with a pedi-

mented surround, and eight-over-eight sash win-

dows, is characteristic of the Colonial Revival

style. At the left is a recessed two-story wing.

The driveway to the rear of the building passes

through an open porte cochere in this wing.

Here, the hearse parks during a funeral service,

which takes place in the chapel in a rear addition

to the main block.

Source: Mrs. Elizabeth Walker, interview with
the author, July 19, zoo5.

Commercial Buildings
3oo-4oo blocks West Franklin Street,

northern side

l945-ry48

This solid row of small Colonial Williamsburg-
style commercial buildings between Church and

Walker's FuneralHome
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3oa-4oo blocks West Franklin Street, northern side

3ao-4oo blocks West Franklin Street, northern side

Roberson Streets was built one by one between

1945 and 1948 as the business district expanded

after the end of !7or1d War II. Among the orig-

inal businesses in this block were the Johnson-
Strowd-Ward Furniture Store, Chapel Hill Dry

Cleaners, Knight and Campbell Hardware, the

Village Pharmacy, and the Beauty Box. The

Johnson-Strowd-!7ard Furniture Store, 462 \West

Franklin Street, was built in ry47.De-
signed by store owner Gene Strowd in
the !7illiamsburg Colonial style that
was the unofflcial theme for the busr-

ness district in the rg4os, the one-

and-one-half-story brick building has

three clipped gable dormer windows

and a recessed entrance with an open

pediment. Large display windows com-

posed of many small windowpanes

that evoke the colonial style flank the

entrance. Most were designed for the

individual owners by Archie Davis,

volunteer architect for the Chapel Hill
Planning Commission in the rg4os.

Although the commission had no le.

gal authority to demand that store

owners use its \il/illiamsburg designs,

most owners shared the vision of the

commission that a Colonial Revival-

style business district was a good idea.

The other buildings in the 4oo block

have similar !7illiamsburg designs,

each one slightly different, giving this

block the same overall harmony as

the business street created in Colonial

!7illiamsburg, Virginia, in the r93os.

Farmers Dairy Cooperative,
Inc.
43r \W. Franklin Street

1945

The Farmers Dairy Cooperative, built in 1945,

was one of the landmarks of \West Franklin Street

because it occupied a large \Williamsburg Colonial

Revival-style building and because it filled Cha-

pel Hill's "sweet tooth" with delicious ice cream

cones, milk shakes, and other dairy desserts dur-

ing its heyday from the r94os to the r97os. lndus-
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trialist and philanthropist George Watts Hill of
Durham was a principal shareholder in the coop-

erative, which served as the distribution and pro-

cessing plant of Durham Dairy Products. In rg53

the enterprise was purchased and renamed Long

Meadows Farm and Dairy Bar. From the r98os to

about zooz the building contained the Pyewacket

Restaurant, one of the first gourmet health food

dining establishments in Chapel Hill.
lUhen the dairy facility was con-

structed in t945, the Chapel Hill
Town Planning Commission was

pleased that it contributed to the Co-

lonial Williamsburg character of
the newly developing \West Franklin

Street extension of the business dis.

trict. The large red brick one-story

building was called a "modifled Co-

lonial" building. It has such Colonial

features as a prominent pedimented

entrance wing and a hip roof with a

cupola, but its large decidedly non-

Colonial windows reflect the function
of the front section as a dairy bar. Its

symbolic weathervane features a cow.

Sources : Stolpen, P ictorial His-

ror); report by Planning Board Chair.

man Collier Cobb Jr. to the Town of
Chapel Hill, June 22, 1945, cited in
Lea, "The Williamsburging of Chapel

Hill."

Hazzard Motor Company

5or West Franklin Street

ry48-r949

Located at the southwestern corner

of Franklin and Roberson Srreets, be-

side the Farmers Dairy Cooperative,

is the Jack Hazzard Chevrolet Agency

building. The auto dealership is an enlarged Co-

lonial l7illiamsburg-style building with the same

linely crafted Colonial fearures as other commer-

cial buildings along West Franklin Street built in
the mid- and late r94os during the town's love af-

fair with Colonial lTilliarnsburg design. Archie
Davis may have designed ir. Here, the historically

srnalt scale of Colonial architecrure was stretched

l!1"t*'-

F ormer s D airy C oop eratiu e, Inc.

II,r::,rrJ \1r rlrrr (iorttl,rtnr
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to accommodate the modern functions of an auto

dealership. The large showroom is a one-and-one-

half-story brick building with parapet walls, in-

terior end chimneys, an entrance with a swan's-

neck pediment, large multipane windows with

rubbed flat arches, hipped dormer windows, and

a modillion cornice. From the rear extends a one-

story flat-roofed automotive repair garage of in-

dustrial character. In zoor the building became

the Chapel Hill-Orange County Visitors Bureau.

Pender Grocery Store

Carl Smith Building

Pender Grocery Store

5o5 West Franklin Street

Ca. 1948

The Pender Grocery Store, which had operated

in various locations on East Franklin Street for

many years, built a large Colonial Williamsburg-

style building on West Franklin Street at the cor-

ner of Graham Street about 1948. Architect Ar-

chie Davis probably designed it. By 1953 the

Colonial Store, part of a large grocery chain, op-

erated here. For many years now it has been the

offices of the Chapel Hill Mcrs. The large, aca-

demic one-and-one-half-story side-gabled brick

building features parapet walls with interior end

chimneys, an entrance with a swan's-neck pedi-

ment, windows with rubbed flat arches, hipped

dormer windows, and a modillion cornice.

Carl Smith Building
rzr N. Columbia Street

1942, 1949

Archie Roy al D auis, architect

One of the most handsome commercial build-

ings in the Colonial \Tilliamsburg style in Chapel

Hill's business district is the Carl Smith Building.

The large two-story brick office building occupies

the prominent southwestern corner of North Co-

lumbia and Rosemary Streets, opposite the for-

mer Town Hall. Designed by architect Archie

Royal Davis, it shares carefully rendered Colonial

Revival details common to all of the commercial

buildings built during the Williamsburg remodel-

ing of the commercial district. These features in-

clude Flemish bond brick walls, a side-gable roof

with end parapets, and large, multipane display

windows on the first story. A unique feature is the

central, recessed porch, three bays wide, with Co-

rinthian columns extending the full two-story

zo8 THE TowN AND GOWN ARCHITECTURE OF CHAPEL HILL
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height. Sheltered by the porch, the main enrrance

has a transom and wide sidelights. The upper

level of the porch is enclosed with weatherboards,

and there are sash windows in each bay.

Attached to the south side is a one-and-one-

half-story wing with large multipane windows on
the lower level and two gabled dormers in the

side-gabled roof. Carl Smith built this wing in
rg42 to house his dry-cleaning business. It was

one of a few l7illiamsburg-sryle buildings con-

structed in the business district before the war-

time shortage of building materials brought down-

town construction to a halt.

In the r95os Smith became a stockbroker and

constructed the small brick building ar rhe corner
of the parcel (lo6 West Rosemary Street) as his

F ormer Chapel Hill Town Hall

brokerage oflice. Realtor J. P. Goforth purchased

the entire complex in the r97os. Since r99o ln-
vestors Title Insurance Company has owned and

occupied the entire building.

Source: Doug Eyre, "Carl Smirh Left Mark on
Downtown," Chapel Hi,l News, March 28, zoot.

Former Chapel Hill Town Hall
ror W. Rosemary Street

r939

Atwood and Veeks, architects

The notion and establishment of the rown of
Chapel Hill as a separare enriry from rhe univer-

sity occurred most dramatically in the late rgzos,
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t 4a1,, I Hr11 .\lrinr. r1,,r/ Brrrl.l,rs

when local government initiated police and

fire protection and provided a planning depart-

ment and street services for the town's expand-

ing boundaries. Completion of a new town hall

in rg39 at the northwestern corner of North Co-

lumbia Street and Rosemary Street, one block

north of the commercial hub of Franklin Street,

signaled the town's municipal coming of age. Un-

til this time, the town had no permanent offices.

The Works Progress Administration financed

nearly one-half of the cost of the construction of

the town hall. The rectangular two-story brick

Colonial Revival-style building was designed by

Atwood and'!feeks, the Durham architectural

firm that designed numerous university build-

ings. The Flemish bond brick veneer walls, slate

hip roof topped with a tall arcaded cupola with

a copper roofand a weathervane, tall nine-over-

nine sash windows with keystones, and a stone

entrance with a swan's-neck pediment are care-

fully rendered features of Colonial architecture.

It was the first prominent town building in the

Colonial Revival style and thus set the style that

was to dominate town architecture until the late

twentieth century. After a new town hall was

constructed in the r97os, the 1939 building, still

owned by the town, was renovated as a homeless

shelter.

Sources: Mary Reeb, Chapel Hill Town Hall

National Register nomination, r98g (listed r99o);

Doug Eyre, telephone conversation with author,

May 4, zoo4.

Chapel Hill Municipal Building

3o6 North Columbia Street

r97r, t99o

Don Stewart, Hager-Smith-Huffman, architects

By the late r96os Chapel Hill's government

had outgrown the town hall on \il/est Rosemary

Street. The new municipal building opened in

May r97r. Located a short distance north of
the old town hall at the fork of North Colum-

bia Street and Airport Road, two blocks north of
Franklin Street, the three-story municipal build-

ing has a heavy concrete frame expressed on the

exterior as an assemblage of concrete squares.

Some of the units have translucent tinted win-

dow walls, while others are enclosed with brick. It

has a flat roof with a heavy concrete cornice, The

entire building rests on a high brick foundation

and is accessed from Columbia Street by a con-

crete and brick bridge. In rggo a northern addi-

tion containing a new entrance doubled the size

of the building.

Source: Doug Eyre, telephone conversation

with author, May 4, zoo4.
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Pritchard Avenue Area and Northside

PRITCHARD AVENUE AREA

The northwestern quadrant of the village of Chapel Hill, bounded by West Rosemary

Street on the south, the town's edge along Sunset Drive and Bynum Street on the

west, McMaster Street on the north, and North Columbia Street on the east, has a

split personality. Church Street, located two blocks west of Columbia Street, divides

the area racially into a traditionally white section on the east, formerly known as

Pritchard's Field, and a larger traditionally African American neighborhood to the

west, traditionally known as Potter's Field. Church Street is a nineteenth-century

street named for the Chapel Hill Baptlst Church located at the northwestern corner

of Church and Franklin Srreets, constructed in rB55 and demolished in 196r.

The Pritchard Avenue area was once farmland. The mid-rBoos Saunders-Pritchard

House still stands in the middle of the former farm property at zo8 Pritchard Ave-

nue, facing Rosemary Street. The old farmhouse is squeezed onto a lot surrounded

by other standard-sized subdivision lots, with its narrow end fronting Pritchard Ave.

nue. The house was associated with William Laurence Saunders, founder of the
North Carolina Ku Klux Klan, who was born in Raleigh in rB35 and lived in Chapel
Hill twice: while attending the universiry, from which he graduated in rB54; and for
a period in the mid- to late r86os.1 From rB75 to 1888, local developers David Mc-
Cauley and Thomas Long owned the property. They sold it in r88B to William N.
Pritchard. Pritchard ran a store at Pritchard's Mills flve miles south of Chapel Hill
until r88z, when he moved to Chapel Hlll to open a general store with his parrner,

Thomas F. Lloyd. Pritchard became a prominenr town leader, serving as posrmas-

ter in the r8gos and as a state senator in the early twentieth century. Pritchard's

brother, Isaac !7. Pritchard, owned property in the Cameron-McCauley section and

developed a portion of the Westwood subdivision in the rgzos.

william Pritchard remained on the farm until r9zz, when he sold his house and

the surrounding eighteen acres to Zebulon P. Council of Durham. Council, founder
of the Dwhamltrl,orningHerald, moved to Chapel Hill and subdivided the property
into the current grid-patterned streets of Pritchard Avenue, Carr Street, and Short
Street. In the rgzos and r93os a dense group ofbungalows, Tudor cottages, and other
middle-class houses were constructed. The residents included proprietors of rown
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PRITCHARD AVE. / NORTHSIDE
Pritchard Avenue Area
l. Saunders-Pritchard House
2. 301.311 Pritchard Ave.
3. Harry Macklin House
4. Lustron House

Northside
5. Ernest and Helen Thompson House
6. Sherman and Mollie Purefoy House
7. Clyde lfilliams House
8. 300 Block Lindsay St.
9. Moses lngram House
10. Former Orange Counry Training

School (Northside Elementary
School)
Hargraves Community Center
St. Parrl Al\48 Chrrrch

13. Elks Lodge

11.
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businesses as well as university employees and faculty. Myrtle Etheridge, operator of
the university telephone system, lived on Pritchard Avenue. Foister's Camera Shop

owner Robert W. Foister, Intimate Bookshop owners Milton and Minna Abernathy,
and Harry's Delicatessen owner Benjamin Schreiber also lived in the Pritchard's

Field neighborhood.

The northern section of the Pritchard Avenue area was a tract owned by M. c. S.

Noble, dean of the university School of Education, and willed to his son. After
World War II, the tract known as Noble Heights was subdivided. The houses built on
this tract reflect the dominant styles of the postwar period-small Cape Cod-style
houses (one-and-one-half story side-gabled houses) in the late rg4os and Ranch-
style tract houses (wide, low one-story houses) in the rg5os.

Note

r. H, G. Jones, "Saunders, William Laurence," DNCB, vol. 5.
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S aunder s -Pritchar d House

Saunders-Pritchard House
zo8 Pritchard Avenue

Ca. I85o

The stately two-story frame l-house (two stories

and one room deep) is oriented east-west, fac-

ing \X/est Rosemary Street. It stands on its origi-

nal site, when it was at the center of a large farm.

Its shallow hip roof and large wooden windows

with decorative surrounds with corner blocks in-

dicate a construction date during the Greek Re-

vival era, possibly r84os to r85os. According to

local historians, the house is associated with Wil-

liam Laurence Saunders, founder of the North

Carolina Ku Klux Klan, who lived in Chapel Hill
in the early r84os while attending the university

and for a period in the mid- to late r86os. The

old farmhouse is squeezed onto a lot surrounded

by other standard-sized subdivision lots, with its

narrow end fronting Pritchard Avenue. The in-

terior retains its original wide pine floorboards.

The east-end chimney still stands, while the west-

end chimney was removed when a porch was

added to orient the house to Pritchard Avenue af-

ter rg22, when the farmland was sub-

dlvlded into a residential subdivision.

The Zebulon Councils lived in the old

farmhouse from r9zz, when they pur-

chased the farm, until their deaths.

Zebulon P. Council, a longtime mayor

of Chapel Hill in the mid-twentieth

century, died in rg58.

Sources: Vickers, Chapel Hill,
r7z; Jones, s.v. "Saunders, William
Laurence"; Reeb, "The Northside

Neighborhood."

Houses

3or, 3o3, 3o5, 3o7, 3rI Pritchard

Avenue

r92OS

The five houses that make up the western side of

the 3oo block of Pritchard Avenue, in the white

section of Northside east of Church Street, are

the most intact group of rgzos houses in the

neighborhood. A11 of the houses are in place on

the rg3z Sanborn map of Chapel Hill. At 3or,

a picturesque Tudor Revival cottage sided with

wood shingles displays a steep front-gabled facade

and a door sheltered by a bracketed overhang.

Mrs. Jane Gilbert, widow of John R. Gilbert, was

the owner-occupant in ry57.3o3 Pritchard Ave-

nue, the only two-story house on the block, was

owned and occupied by James M. Tilley, an engi-

neer with Southern Railway in ry57. The weath-

erboarded house with a hip roof is predominantly

Craftsman in style; its wide eaves have decora.

tively exposed rafter ends. The entrance with

transom and sidelights, sheltered by an entrance

porch with classical columns, is a Colonial Re-

vival feature. 3o5 Pritchard Avenue, owned and

occupied in rg57 by lTalter'S7. Boger, supervisor

of the University Service Plants, is a front.gabled
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Craftsman-style house with an offset gabled en.

trance porch. 3o7 Pritchard Avenue is a quint-

essential large side-gabled bungalow with wide

bracketed eaves, an engaged front porch, and a

large gabled front dormer window that provides

bedroom space in the attic. Harold Harris, an in-

structor at North Carolina Memorial Hospital,

was the owner-occupant in 1957. The house at

3rr Pritchard Avenue, another substantial bun-

galow, has a front-gabled facade with wide brack-

eted eaves and a large hip-roofed

porch with brick and wood porch

posts. James R. Durham, a mechanic

at Crowell-Little Motor Company, was

the owner-occupant in 1957.

Sources: Gatza, Survey frle; ry57

City Directory.

Harry Macklin House
rrz Noble Street

Ca. 1955

One of the few examples of Mod-

ernist architecture found in North-

side, the Macklin House is located

in the northern tract known as No-

ble Heights that was subdivided in

the late r94os. The small brick house,

probably built from a mail-order plan,

represents the popularization of ln-

ternational Style dwellings designed

by internationally known architects

such as Mies van der Rohe and Marcel

Breuer in the rg3os. This populariza-

tion occurred in the post-\ff/orld \War

II period as the principles of modern

architecture finally reached the main-

stream construction community. The

one-story house has an asymmetri-

cal front-gable roof, with large picture

windows flanking the central front door and case-

ment windows set beneath the roof eaves on the

side elevations. The western side of the roof ex-

tends to create an integral carport. This was orig-

inally open but is now inlilled as an additional

room. The house stands out sharply from the

Minimal taditional-style tract houses (simpli-

fied versions of the Tirdor or Colonial style) built

around it in the late r94os and early r95os.

joo block Pritchard Auenue

Harrl MacklinHouse
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Harry Macklin, owner of Harry's Delicatessen

next to the post office on Franklin Street, a popu-

lar restaurant for campus radicals in the r95os

and rg6os, was identified in the 1957 City Direc.

tory as the occupant.

Lustron House
ro9 Stephens Street

Ca ry49

This is the best.preserved of three Lustron houses

built in Chapel Hill. The Lusrron house was a

manufactured dwelling designed by industrial-

ist Carl Strandlund in response to one of the na.

tion's worst housing shortages at the end of World
lUar II. The components of the all-steel prefab-

ricated house, designed for economy, efficiency,

LustronHouse

and easy cleaning, were manufactured in Colum-

bus, Ohio, and delivered on tractor-trailer trucks

to the site, where they were assembled. This ex-

ample is apparently a two-bedroom model, con-

taining r,o8o square feet. It had a base price of

$?,ooo. The house is built with twenty-foot wall

sections of enameled steel in two-by-two-foot

panels, with metal tile roofs. The Lustron plant

closed in r95o after having produced some rhree

thousand houses.

Sources: Gatza, Survey file; Fetrers, TheLus-

fionHome.
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NORTHSIDE

Northside, bounded by Church Street on the east, is a historic African American

area once known as Potter's Field. This land on the northwestern edge of Chapel

Hill is said to have been given to African Americans after the Civil War. A ,gZg

study of Negro housing in Chapel Hill by a university student in the Department

of Social Work found Potter's Field to be "the largest negro settlement within the

corporate limits of Chapel Hill. . . . In most instances the yards [were] small and

carefully swepr at the front, spacious and cluttered in grand confusion at the back

[where] much of the laundrying [sic] [was] done out of doors" (Dorothy G. Jones,

'A Study of Housing in the Four Major Negro Settlements of Chapel Hill"). Pot'

ter's Field was also the town's most prosperous black community: half of the twenty

households studied were owner-occupied.

An early institution in the neighborhood was the Quaker School, organized at

the end of the Civil War by a Quaker group in Philadelphia. The Craig family do-

nared an acre of land at the corner of West Franklin Street and Merritt Mlll Road

(the western town limit of Chapel Hill) for the school. George Dixon, an English

Quaker, and his family were sent to operate the school. In the later r8oos the school

was enlarged to three rooms, and it stayed in operation until after \Uorld War I. The

school is now gone, but next door stands the oldest African American church con.

gregation in Chapel Hill-St. Paul AME Church. The Gothic Revival-style frame

sanctuary has been veneered with brick.

The 6rst public institution in the neighborhood was the Orange County Training

School, established on the site of a private school operated by Reverend Hackney on

the highest ground in the neighborhood, on Caldwell Street. The core of the pres'

ent building was constructed in 1924. This was the first public secondary school for

blacks in Orange County. The second prominent public building in the neighbor-

hood was the Hargraves Community Center, a public recreation center constructed

by the community from 1938 to tg45. The handsome stone building is still a com'

munity center.

Along Church Street, Lindsay Street, McDade Street, Cotton Street, Mitchell

Lane, and Roberson Street are a number of small, mostly frame historic black resi-

dences. The oldest are the one-story trigable houses, such as 4og Church Street,

built around r9ro. By far the most numerous are the bungalows, such as 4o4 Cotton

Street and 3o9 McDade Street, built around 1925. Many Northside residents worked

as domestic servants for white residents and at the university. Others worked in con-

srrucrion. Black stonemasons were responsible for a number of the stone walls that

are a Chapel Hill tradition.

PRITCHARD AVENUE AREA AND NORTHSIDE 2I7



The neighborhood has undergone a dramatic transformation in the pasr few de-

cades. Its historic African American character is gradually disappearing as historic
houses are demolished and new, larger-scale houses and student apartment buildings
are erected.

Sources: Reeb, "The Northside Neighborhood"; Stolpen, Pictorial Hisrory; Vick-
ers, Chapel Hill, 85-86; Doug Eyre, telephone conversarion with author, May 4,
2oo4.
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Ernest and Helen Thompson
House

5oo Church Street

Late rgzos

One of the largest historic houses in
the Northside neighborhood, this

two-story frame Craftsman-style

house features German siding on the

first story and wood shingles on the

second. Its wide eaves have decora-

tive brackets. Original twelve-over-

one wooden sash windows illuminate

the house. The wraparound porch has

brick and frame posts. An original

two-story side wing adds to the house's

size. The house was built for Ernest

Thompson, a post office worker. In
r95?, the owner-occupant was Mrs.

Helen Thompson, the widow of Er-

nest Thompson. She worked as a hos-

pital nurse in Durham.

Sources: Rebecca Clark, telephone

conversation with author, May 24,

2oo4; 1957 City Directory.

Sherman and Mollie Purefoy
House

4o9 Church Street

Ca. rgro

This one-story, side-gable frame house with a dec-

orative front gable represents the earliest house

type that survives in the Northside neighbor-

hood. Such houses were popular with middle-

class black families in the early rwenrieth cenrury.

Its decorative features include a diamond-shaped

ventilator in the front gable and a front-hipped

porch with boxed posts. The house apparently oc-

cupied a sizable tract of land in the early twenr!

Ern e st and Helen Thomp son House

Sherman ondMoLLie Purefoy House

eth century that has been subdivided since then.

In recent years, as the university has expanded,

this house has been converted to a multifam-

ily rental building by the addirlon of a large rear

wing. This was the home of Sherman Purefoy; his

wife, Mollie J.; and their son, Sherman Jr. Sher-

man Purefoy worked at the university laundry.

Mollie had a flourishing home business stretching

and starching the white cotton curtains that were
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fashionable in middle-class white homes in the

mid-twentieth century.

Sources: Rebecca Clark, telephone conver-

sation with author, May 24, zoo4; rg57 City
Directory.

C\deWilliams House

3oo bLock Lindsay Street

Clyd" Williams House

3o9 McDade Street

r92OS

This stylish brick bungalow, basically unaltered,

has characteristic wide eaves with brackets and

exposed rafter tails, original six-over-six wooden

sash windows, a large dormer window, and a

porch with a decorative brick railing. The porch

extends to cover an original porte co-

chere. In 1952, the bungalow's resident

was Clyde B. Williams, a waiter at the

university's DKE Fraternity House.

Source: rg57 City Directory.

Houses

3oo block Lindsay Street

rg2os-r94os

In a historic African American neighbor-

hood that is losing its minority popula-

tion and its original architectural charac-

ter, the northern side ofthe 3oo block of
Lindsay Street represents a well-preserved

block. 3oB Lindsay Street is an intact

side-gable bungalow with decorative

clipped gables, a wide shed dormer win-

dow, nine-over-one sash windows, and a

shed porch with brick and frame posts.

Luther Hargrave, a carpenter, under-

taker, and farmer, constructed it in rgzo

for his daughter, Ethel Hargrave, and her

husband, Edward Perry. Their daughter

Velma Perry still lives here. In rg88, she

provided valuable historical recollections

about the neighborhood for a study spon-

sored by the town of Chapel Hill. Other

houses are the trigable type and frame

bungalows.

Source: Velma Perry, telephone con-
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versation with author, May 24, zoo4;

1957 City Directory; Reeb, "The

Northside Neighborhood."

Moses Ingram House

4o4 Cotton Street

Late rgzos

The small bungalow is typical of the

middle-class, owner.occupied resi-

dences of the Northside neighborhood

in its heyday from the rg2os to the

r96os. The side-gabled house has dec-

orative eave brackets, exposed rafter

tails, original decorative Craftsman

sash windows, a side bay window, and

a gabled porch with brick and wooden

posts. The 1957 City Directory shows

the occupant as Moses Ingram, cook,

University Cafeteria.

Former Orange County
taining School (Northside
Elementary School)

4oo-41 4 Caldwell Srreet

r924-7925

This one.story brick school build-

ing originally faced Caldwell Street ro rhe sourh,

but it has been enlarged with a brick annex in
front of the original school and reorienred so

that the original rear facade, facing McMasters

Street, is now the front entrance. The 6rst school

on this site, the highest ground in the neighbor.

hood, was the Orange County Tiaining School,

the first public secondary school for blacks in Or.
ange County. It was established in 1916 when

the Quaker Free School, founded in r87r for

black children, merged with a black secondary

Moses IngramHouse

Former Orange Countl Training Scirool (Nothside Elementary School)

school. The current building was funded in rgz4

and rgz5 by the Julius Rosenwald Fund. \Uith
nine teachers, it operated as the Orange County
Training School until 1949, when it became Lin-
coln School. In r95r, when a new high school

was built on Merritt Mill Road, the old building
became Northside Elementary School, its final

phase as a public school in the r95os. The 1957

city directory lists the school at 324 Caldwell Ex-

tension, with James H. Peace as the principal. In
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H ar gr av e s C ommunitl C enter

196r, Chapel Hill schools were integrated and

the school was closed. The building has been en-

larged and is now the Northside Child and Fam.

ily Counseling Centeq part of a larger Southern

Orange Human Services Complex.

Sources: Fisk University Archives, Rosenwald

School Files, Sheet 1469: Orange County Train-

ing School; Doug Eyre, telephone conversation

with author, May 4, zoo4.

Hargraves Community Center
z16 N. Roberson Street

ry38-ca. ry45

A committee of black Northside residents, with
Iinancial help from area Quakers, began construc-

tion of the community center in their spare time

in 1938. The need for a recreation center for black

children was acute, since in this era there were no

public facilities, such as swimming pools, for black

children. The local laborers worked until r94r,

when construction stopped because of the war.
lWhen the U.S. Navy established a preflight train-

ing school at the university in rg4z,

the center became a barracks for its

black military band. In exchange for

this arrangement, the navy completed

the building about 1945.

Although no Works Progress Ad-

ministration funding went into the

building, it follows the model of the

Colonial Revival-style stone com.

munity centers built across the coun-

try as public works projects during the

Great Depression, such as the Com-

munity Building built in lfake For-

est in 1938. The handsome one-story,

five-bay-wide building is constructed

of stone rubble, with a raised base-

ment and large six-over-six wooden

sashes with hefty concrete sills and lintels. ln the

center of the facade is an entrance with a large

transom and sidelights, sheltered by a pedimented

entrance porch. The gabled rooffeatures louvered

eyebrow ventilators (round-arched louvered open-

ings in the roof) and pedimented gable ends with
arched louvered ventilators. The interior has a

large recreational hall with a floor-to-ceiling stone

fireplace. At the rear is a two-story stone wing.

The building was named in later years for \fil-
liam H. "Billy" Hargraves, a neighborhood resi-

dent who was active in community service work

with local young people before his untimely death

in an auto accident. In recent years the center has

been beautifully restored. The entrance porch is a

replacement.

Sources: Reeb, "The Northside Neighbor-

hood"; Stolpen, Pictorial Historl ; Little, "Wake

Forest Historic District."

222 THE TOWN ANI) GOWN ARCHITECTURE OF CHAPEL HILL

1 ,t,. '.
l -1- :'



St. Paul AME Church
ror North Merritt Mill Road

t89z

St. Paul AME Church is a late-nineteenth.

century sanctuary. The congregation, founded in
r864, is the oldest African American congrega-

tion in Chapel Hill. A school built for freedmen

by the Quakers at the end of the Civil !7ar stood

next ro the church but has been demolished. The

frame Gothic Revival-style church building of
r89z has a front-gabled main block, a corner en.

trance tower with bracketed eave, and Gothic-
arched stained glass windows. The building was

brick-veneered in the twentieth century. Its one-

story brick annex at the rear was constructed in
1954.

Elks Lodge
ror South Merritt Mill Road

1954

The Elks Lodge, meering hall for the rspopw

Pride of Orange 276 and Queen Esther Temple

696, is a significant reminder of the vibrant Af-
rican American community located here on the
western edge of Chapel Hill in the twentieth cen-

tury. The narrow rwo.story, front-gabled build-

ing, constructed ofconcrete block, is located

on South Merritt Mill Road jusr south of !7est

Franklin Street. Built in ry54 in the cusrom-

ary form of African American fraternal lodges

throughout North Carolina, the upper story holds

the society meeting hall. The facade is covered

with brick veneer. As this secrion of town has be-

come more commercial, the black community has

dispersed.

Sources: ry57-ry62 City Directories; Roland

Giduz, telephone conversation with the author,

May 4, zoo4.

St. Paul AME Church

ELks Lodge

2?

PRITCHARD AVENUE AREA AND NORTHSIDE 223

,t





Suburban Chapel Hill, rg2os-rg75

GIMGHOUL NEIGHBORHOOD AND GIMGHOUL CASTLE

The Gimghoul neighborhood is associated with a prominenr btuff that firsr arrracred

attention when the universiry was established. Early maps of rhe town of Chapel
Hill, laid out in r7gz, show that the main street through the campus, now Cameron
Avenue, was originally named Point Prospect Avenue. The name was derived from
the bluff known as Point Prospect, located a short distance east, that overlooked a
large flat plain. A hundred years lateq a student society renewed the fascination wirh
the promontory. The bluff became a sacred spot to the secret society of university
students known as the order of the Gimghouls, founded in r88g. In r9r5 the or-

der purchased about ninety-four acres surrounding the bluff In order to finance the
construction of a lodge, known as Gimghoul Castle, near the bluff, the Gimghouls
subdivided the western section of about thirty-five acres as a residential subdivision
ir rgz4. The Gimghoul neighborhood was the first housing development in Chapel
Hill outside of the original village.

Prominent real estate developer George Stephens of Charlotte, an a[umnus mem-
ber of the order and developer of the Charlotte suburb of Myers Park, supervised the
planning. Gimghoul alumnus T. Felix Hickerson, a university engineering professor

and well-known road designer, drew the plat in ry24. The subdivision consisrs of
Gimghoul Road, which extends straight from counrry club Road to the castle, and
Glandon Drive, which extends from the eastern end of Gimghoul Road and twists
along the hilly terrain back to the beginning of Gimghoul Road. The small Ridge
Lane extends through the center of the subdivision, whose average lot size is one-half
acre. The street names reflect the romanric medieval mythology of the Gimghouls.
Glandon Drive got irs name from Glandon Foresr, the name given to the woods
around Piney Prospect. Gimghoul Road leads directly ro rhe castle. The neighbor-
hood comprises about three dozen one- and two-story frame and brick houses, built
primarily {rom r9z4 to the late r93os. Most of the houses have Colonial Revival
design and were built from popular plans by area contractors. Durham archirects
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William Van Sprinkle, George \Uatts Carr, and George Hackney designed a number

of the houses. With its sidewalks of traditional Chapel Hill gravel (a fine-grained

gravel that looks like sand) and many stone walls along the street frontages, the

neighborhood has the unpretentious tradition that permeates Chapel Hill. Using

funds partially derived from the subdivision, Gimghoul Castle was begun in tgzz

and completed in r927.
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Clifford and Mary Lyons House

7o5 Gimghoul Road

rg36

Clifford Lyons, a uNc professor of romance lan-

guages, and his wife, Mary, had this Colonial

Revival-style house designed by Durham ar-

chitect George Hackney and built by Chatham

County contractor Barbour. The two-story brick
house has such simple classical features as a front
door with sidelights, a pedimented entrance por-

tico, and lunette windows in the gable ends.

Sterling and Mary Arthur Stoudemire
House

7rz Gimghoul Road

Ca. ry26

Sterling Stoudemire, a professor of romance lan-

guages at the university, had this Dutch Colonial

Revival-style house built about 1926. The one-

and-one-half-story frame house with weather-

board, a cross-gabled entrance, and recessed dor-

mer windows was probably built from mail-order

plans. Sterling and his wife, Mary Arthur, lived

here for the rest of their lives. Mary Arthur was

one of Chapel Hill's most dedicated advocates of
historic preservation.

Edward Knox House

7r5 Gimghoul Road

r925

One of the few houses in the Gimghoul neigh-

borhood with features of the Craftsman style that
was so popular at the time, the Knox House has

the characteristic bungatow Ibrm-one and one-

half stories with a side-gable roof, engaged front
porch, and shed dormer. Yet elegant Classical

Clifford andMary Lyons House

Sterling and Mar'1 Arthur Stoud,emire House

Edward Knox House

;
t
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James dndViuian Phipps House

Atkins-Peacock House

Revival features such as massive wooden Doric

porch columns and a large west-side porch with
identical columns raise the house from the typi-

cal bungalow to the level of an elegant residence.

Contractor Charlie Martindale constructed the

house for Mr. and Mrs. Edward Montgomery

Knox. In the mid-rg3os, the house served as the

rehearsal hall for a Sunday morning chamber

music group that was the beginning of

the North Carolina Symphony.

James and Vivian Phipps House

723 Gimghoul Road

Late rgzos

Chapel Hill attorney James Phipps

and his wife, Vivian, had this diminu-

tive Craftsman cottage constructed.

The central door is flanked by elegant

tripartite lixed-sash windows that are

floor-length, allowing much natural

light into the interior. A raised patio

extends the length of the facade, with

a classical arched entrance porch shel-

tering the entrance.

Atkins-Peacock House

733 Gimghoul Road

r924

The first house in the new subdivi-

sion was built for W. E. Atkins, an em-

ployee of the architectural firm At-
wood and Nash, designers of the new

South Campus of the university dur-

ing this period. A Chatham County

contractor named Barbour built the

house in ry24 The one-and-one-half-

story frame house has Craftsman fea-

tures, such as the transom and sidelights around

the front door, the tripled sash windows, and

the latticework entrance porch with a bracketed

hood. A short time after construction, Atkins
sold the house to Erle Peacock, a professor of ac-

counting at the university.

zz8 THE TowN AND GOWN ARCHITECTURE OF CHAPEL HILL

7

I

mrl



George and Colette Lane House

735 Gimghoul Road

Late r93os

The elegant Colonial Revival-style two-story

frame house was built for George Lane, a profes-

sor of Germanic languages, and his wife, Colette.

Distinctive features are the wood.shingled walls,

the ornate latticework entrance porch

with a concave metal hood, and the

classical frieze around the roof.

Benjamin and Marie Edkins
House

739 Gimghoul Road

r939

Willi am V an Spr inkl e, ar chi te ct

Tiaveling salesman Benjamin Edkins

and his wife, Marie, hired Durham ar.

chitect William Van Sprinkle to de-

sign this house. Sprinkle specialized

in the design of Colonial- and Tirdor-

style suburban houses. The two-story

brick Colonial Revival-style house is

two bays wide, with a one-story side

wing. The fi.rst-story windows have

twelve-over-twelve pane sashes, and

the side wing has a bay window.

Former Chapel of
St. Thomas More

74o Gimghoul Road

ry56-r957
Andr ew s and McG r e ad1, ar chitects

The only nonresidential building

in the neighborhood is the Chapel

of St. Thomas More, a large Neo-

Gothic Revival church built of rough-faced gran-

ite of pink and gray hues. Stained glass windows

add additional color to the surface. Designed by

Greensboro architects Andrews and McGready,

the chapel was the first permanent home of the

Chapel Hill Roman Catholic congregation, es-

tablished as a small mission in rgzz. The Cath-

olic mission met in various university buildings,

George and Colette Lane House

Benjomin andMarie Edkins House
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including the vuca building, Graham Memo-

rial, and Hill Hall. William D. Carmichael (1873-

1959) and his son William D. Carmichael Jr.

(r9oo-r96r) were devout Catholics, strong sup-

porters of the university, and instrumental in rais-

ing funds to construct the chapel. The elder Car-

Former Chapel of Sr. Thomas More

T. C. AtwoodDuplex

michael donated the large lot on Gimghoul Road

as the site for the chapel. His son Billy was con-

troller ofthe university from 1939 to r95z and

helped to acquire property on the r5-5or Bypass

for a Catholic elementary school and to raise ad-

ditional funds for the chapel. The building, com-

pleted in rg57, seats 35o persons. The congrega-

tion grew from some zoo to t957 to over z,ooo in

1998, when it moved into a new, larger

church constructed on the r5-5or

property adjacent to the school. The

original building is now for sale by the

Raleigh Diocese.

Source: Doug Eyre, "Catholic

Community Blossomed in Mid-zoth
Century," Chapel Hill Mcrs, June 23,

2oo4.

T. C. Atwood Duplex
ro6 Ridge Lane

7924

One of the flrst two houses built in
the new subdivision is this duplex, set

on a corner lot. Originally, one en-

trance faced Ridge Lane and the other

faced Evergreen Lane, an alley run-

ning at the rear of the two main roads

of the subdivision. The one-story

frame house has simple Colonial Re-

vival trim-wide cornerboards, frieze

boards, window and door trim, and

groups of tripled window sashes. Ar-

chitect T. C. Atwood of the flrm At-
wood and Nash, which was designing

the new South Campus at the univer-

sity in the rgzos, had this duplex built

to house his workers who were con-

structing the South Campus expan-

sion. The design cleverly conceals its

**

#.
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duplex function. It remained a duplex

until the r97os, when it was converted

to a single-family house.

Critz and Wilma George House
zo8 Glandon Drive

Late rgzos

G eorge Watts Carr, architect

\Tesley Critz George, a professor of
anatomy, and his wife, !7i1ma, hired

Durham architect George Watts Carr

to design this house. Carr specialized

in traditional suburban residential de-

sign in the rgzos and rg3os. The one-

and-one-half-story frame Colonial Re-

vival-style house has a front-gabled

main block with wood-shingled walls,

a one-story side wing, a stone chim-

ney, and a gabled entrance portico.

William and Tieva Richardson
House

3oo Glandon Drive

r939

G eorge Haclovy, architect

Wilham P. Richardson, a univer-

siry professor of public health, and

his wife, Tieva, had Durham archi-

tect George Hackney design this two-

story brick house. Hackney, of the firm Hackney,

Knott, and Sears, continued to practice until at

least rg8r. Contractors Tillman and Horner con-

structed the residence. Among its architectural

features are a recessed side-bay entrance, a trun-

cated upper story with weatherboard and win-

dows that are wall dormers, and an original brick

side wing.

Crir.z and Wilma George House

William andTreua Richardson House

Source: Claudia P. Roberts and Diane E. Lea,

The Dwham Architectural and Historic InuentorJ,

3oo-3or.
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GimghouLCastle

Gimghoul Castle

746 Gimghoul Road

t9z6

N. C. Carris, architect

Waldensian stonemasons from Valdese, North
Carolina, constructed this rgzos faux castle for

the secret fraternity the Order of the Gimghouls.

University students founded the Gimghouls in
1889 to uphold the chivalric ideals of King Ar-
thur and the Knights of the Round Table. They

originally met in a lodge on Rosemary Street.

Student Edward \fray Martin conceived of the

castle about r89o, but he died in 1896 and his

dream was not realized until the rgzos. In 1915

the order purchased ninety-four acres of land at

Piney Prospect (called Point Prospecr in the late

eighteenth century). Construction began in rgzz

on the castle, featuring a large meeting hall, a

three-story battlemented tower, a conical tower

with a turret, and an arcaded porte cochere at

the entrance. At the sides and rear are wings. In-
side the rough fieldstone walls are sreel casemenr

windows.

The castle was built at the edge of a bluff that
marks the fall line of rhe srare's piedmont section

and overlooks the large valley ofthe coastal plain.

A stone on the bluff is known as "Dromgoole's

Tomb" because of a spurious tradition that a uni.
versity student, Peter Dromgoole, was killed on

the site in a duel and buried nearby. (Dromgoole

was a university student in r83r but left mysteri-

ously.) Members of the Gimghouls who became

well known include Governor l. C. B. Ehring-

haus, \il/illiam Rand Kenan Jr., Frank Porter Gra-

ham, William Carmichael, and George Watts

Hill.
Sources: Henderson, The Campus of the First

State Uniq,tersity, tt7 Vickers, ChapelHill, 4z-43.
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LAUREL HILL

The second residential subdivision developed outside of the village is Laurel Hill,
located along Laurel Hill Road on the eastern and southern sides of the university

campus. The Raleigh Road (NC 54) forms the northern boundary, the r5-5or By-

pass the eastern boundary, and Manning Drive and Stadium Drive the southern

and western boundaries. The subdivision is Chapel Hill's first suburb planned un-

der the naturalistic principles of street layout that became popular in the early twen-

tieth century. \7hile the Gimghoul subdivision has a more urban feel, especially

along Gimghoul Road, with generally rectangular half-acre lots, small front yards,

and sidewalks, Laurel Hill is a country club subdivision with large lots, no sidewalks,

and long driveways accessing houses set far back from the street.

The {ifty-five-acre subdivision was designed in the late rgzos by university bota-

nist William Chambers Coker and civil engineering professor T. Felix Hickerson us-

ing such picturesque suburban planning concepts as curvilinear roads and naturalis-

tic landscaping. Coker, founder of the botany department at the university in rgoz

and the university planner in the rgzos and rg3os, bought the land known as Rocky

Ridge Farm as one of a number of rural tracts that he acquired around the university

in the early twentieth century. In rgz3 he donated a portion of it to the new Chapel

Hill Country Club for the construction of a nine-hole golf course. (The golf course

was acquired by the university in the early r97os and is now used for a greenway

park and a large tennis facility.) In rgzT Coker engaged Hickerson to plat the sub-

division. He laid out Laurel Hill Road along the ridge west of the golf course, with

short dead-end roads extending out from it in both directions, and platted irregu-

larly shaped lots from one-half to over three acres. The plat was named Rocky Ridge

Development. Hickerson was a nationally known road designer who published a key

textbook on road design in 19z6 that was used throughout the country. His concept

of topographically determined curvilinear street design influenced suburban residen-

tial road planning nationally during the first half of the twentieth century. Coker

protected the character of his subdivision with covenants that regulated the mini-

mum lot size per structure, the architectural design, and the minimum construction

cost and restricted ownership to whites. Until r95o, Coker personally approved all

plans. Seven houses of Tudor or Colonial Revival style were constructed from r9z8

to r93o, before the building bust caused by the Great Depression. Laurel Hill had all

the ingredients of an exclusive country club suburb, but some of its early houses were

unpretentious. One of the 6rst new residents was Cornelia Spencer Love, grand-

daughter of the university's nineteenth-century champion, Cornelia Spencer. She

describes her experience in constructing her eclectic shingled cottage at 116 Laurel

Hill Road in tgzg, a rather unusual undertaking in those days for a single woman:
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1. John Couch House
2. Horace D. Crockford House
3. Dudley DeWitt Carroll House
4. Frances Venable Gardener House
5. Milton and Virginia Julian House
6. Henry Roland and Annie Toren House
7. Carl H. Pegg House
8. \7i11iam and May Carmichael House
9. George Howe House
10. William T. Couch House
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Each lot-purchaser was pledged to spend not less than $5,ooo on his house,

and to have the plan approved by Atwood and Nash, architects to the Univer-

sity. . . . I drew my own plan, with a living-room, dinette and kitchen across the

front, bedroom, bath and guest-room-study at the back . . . and garage at the

end that looked like a wing. Mr. Carter, a draughtsman for Atwood and Nash,

made the blueprints, and Mr. Nash himself added curving rips to the roof and

a small porch, which greatly improved the appearance. A Mr. Barbour from

Goldston (Chatham County), a rugged old countryman, built the house ("I

want Miss Love to have good cellar stairs").

Early owners, nearly all af{iliated with the university, designed their homes to blend

into the picturesque wooded setting. Two of the earliest houses were built by pro-

t6g6s of W. C. Coker who became his colleagues in the botany department: John
Couch built an Elizabethan Revival-style house in 1928, and Henry Roland Totten
built a Tirdor Revival-style house the same year.

House construction resumed in Laurel Hill in 1936, and twenty-eight additional

residences were built by 196o; by then most of the lots had been utilized. Most of the

late rg3os and rg4os houses are of Colonial Revival design, in keeping with the clas-

sical theme of university buildings during this era. Durham architects George Watts

Carr, Hackney and Knott, and William Van Sprinkle designed a number of the

houses. Some of the road frontages of the houses are lined with stone walls built by

local black stonemasons that provided continuity with the university campus, where

the tradition of stone walls began in the r83os.

A few years after \7. C. Coker's death in rg53, Milton Julian, a clothier on Frank-

lin Street, introduced the startlingly modern International Style to Laurel Hill. Ar-
chitect George Matsumoto, professor at North Carolina State College's School of
Design (now Ncsu College of Design), designed a residence for Julian at ror Ledge

Lane, a lot that slopes down to the Raleigh Road. Some of the neighbors fought the

construction of the sharply geometric, flat-roofed house all the way to the state Su-

preme Court because of their conviction that the house would be an eyesore. In the

end the court held that the deed restrictions were unenforceable, and thus the law-

suit failed and the Julian House was constructed. Now a landmark of r95os architec-

ture, it has a clean modern serenity that contributes aesthetically to the neighbor
hood just as do the picturesque English and Colonial Revival houses of the rgzos,

r93os, and rg4os. Due to topography and foliage, the Julian House now is barely visi-

ble from either Ledge Lane or Raleigh Road.

Sources: Love,WhenChapelHiIlWas aVillage, 33 (the Love House is not pictured

here because it has undergone substanrial alterations); Stipe, "Building rhe Houses,"

II.
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John CouchHouse

Horuce D. Crockford House

John Couch House

3 Ridge Road

Ca. rgz8

G eorge Watts C arr, architect

Durham architect George'$Uatts Carr designed

this picturesque Elizabethan Revival-style house,

one of the first seven houses built in the subdi-

vision prior to the Great Depression, for borany

professor John Couch. Couch received his Ph.D.

in botany under Dr. !7. C. Coker and spent his

professional life teaching at uNC. The weather-

boarded two-story house has gabled dormers, a

front wing with a large bay window, and a de.

tached garage. The house faces away from the

road toward the south. The large, naturalistically

landscaped lot is bordered by a fieldstone wall.

Professor Couch and his wife, Susie, were still liv-

ing here rn ry57. Directly across Ridge Road is

the university's law school.

Source: Joslin, William Chambers Coker,

r32-r33.

Horace D. Crockford House

3o5 Country Club Road

Ca. ry4o
W illi am V an Spr inkl e, cu chit e ct

The two-story Colonial Revival-style house, de-

signed by Durham architect William Van Sprin-

kle, has a brick first story and a weatherboarded

upper story, a simple recessed entrance, and a

one-story side wing containing a two-car ga-

rage with a cupola. lTindows have twelve-over-

twelve sashes on the lower story and eight-over-

eight sashes on the upper. Horace D. Crockford, a

chemistry professor, and his wife, Helen, were the

original owners and still lived here in ry57.
Source: Doug Eyre, telephone conversation

with author, August 26, zoo4.

Dudley Del7itt Carroll House

306 Country Club Road

Ca. rgzS

A stone retaining wall outlines the broad curve of

Country Club Road at the corner where the Car-

roll House stands. At the intersection with Laurel

Hill Road, the house has a deep lawn and large

oak trees. The two-story brick residence is one of
the neighborhood's fine examples of the Colonial
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Revival style. A richly detailed entrance with a

fanlight and a pedimented surround supported by

fluted columns occupies the end bay of the four-

bay facade. The six-over-six sash windows have

prominent sills and lintels. A wooden modillion
cornice accents the roofline. Recessed one-and.

one-half-story brick wings flank the house. Each

wing has a wide gabled dormer window.

The house was built for Dudley DeWitt Car.

roll, the first dean of the School of Commerce. It
first became the university chancellor's residence

when history professor Carlyle Sitterson was

chancellor from 1966 to rg74. It is now privarely

owned.

Source: Doug Eyre, telephone conversation

with author, May 4, zoo4.

Frances Venable Gardener House

3o9 Country Club Road

Ca. r94o

Willi am V an Spr inkl e, ar chite c t

The small frame side-gabled house, designed by

Durham architect William Van Sprinkle, is a

modest one-and-one.half-story Colonial Revival-
style building. It was built for Frances Venable

Gardener, a daughter of university president Fran-

cis Venable.

Milton and Virginia Julian House
ror Ledge Lane

Ce. ry56
G eorge Matsumoto, architect

The Julian House is a landmark International

Style house in Chapel Hill. Architecr George

Matsumoto, on the faculty of the North Caro-

lina State College School of Design from 1948 to

196r, designed the house for Milton and Virginia

Julian. Milton owned Milton's Clothing Cup.

board, a men's clothing store on Franklin Streer,

for many years. About the same time, Matsumoto

also designed the Community Church in Cha-

pel Hill. Construction of the house was delayed

by a lawsuit brought by owners of the surround.

ing lots in Laurel Hill; they opposed the house

because they believed that its modern design was

out of character with existing houses. Their law-

suit went to the North Carolina Supreme Courr,

where it was dismissed.

Built on a sloping site overlooking rhe Ra-

leigh Road, the small suburban house has the

Dudley DeWitt Carroll House

Frances Venable Gardener House
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quintessential Modernist arrangement of a lower

level set into the hillside that supports a cantile-

vered main story. Matsumoto's own house in Ra-

leigh, designed at the same time, shares this form.

The steel framework is set on elevated steel piers.

A concrete block wall encloses the lower level,

while the upper level is enclosed with lightweight

wooden panels and glazed openings. A screened

porch extends across the rear of the house, over-

looking the woods.

Sources: Burns, "Performance Counts"; Van
'Wyk 

et al., "The Saga of Highland Woods."

Mihon an d Y i gini a J ulian Hous e

Henry Roland and Addie Totten House

Henry Roland and Addie Totten House
rro Laurel Hill Road

rgzS

H. D. Carter, architect

!7. C. Coker's colleague Henry Roland Totten, a

well-known botanist, built this picturesque two-

story stuccoed Tudor Revival-style house with a

stone wing and casement windows about 1928.

This is one of the first seven houses built in the

subdivision before the Great Depression halted

construction. Totten's house, designed by archi-

tect H. D. Carter of Chapel Hill, embodies one

defining characteristic of Chapel Hill's faculty

houses-although they are not large, they ex-

hibir high stylistic quality. Professors could not af-

ford the grandly scaled houses of those whose for-

tunes came from industry, but their sophistication

enabled them to build stylishly. Dr. Totten and

his wife, Addie, also a talented horticulturist, cre-

ated a botanical garden on their two-acre lot that

contains many rare specimens of native flora col-

lected by the Tottens in rheir travels around the

state. The Tottens lived here until their deaths

in ry74. The Totten Center at the North Caro-

lina Botanical Garden in Chapel Hill, built in

t972, is named for Henry and Addie Totten, its

benefactors.

Source: Letter from Nancy Tolley, owner of

the property, rg87, copy in North Carolina His-

toric Preservation Of6ce frle.

Carl H. Pegg House

4o3 Laurel Hill Road

Ca. 1938

Hackney and Knott, architects

The two-story Colonial Revival-style house, de-

signed by Durham architects Hackney and Knott,

has a dirninutive quality created by the upper
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front windows, which are wall dormers, and the

one-story side wing connected by a hyphen. The

entrance has a transom and simple classical sur.

round. l7indows have eight-over-twelve sashes on

the lirst story and six-over-six sashes on the sec-

ond. The brick has been painted white. Along

the road frontage is a fieldstone wall. Carl Pegg,

a history professor, and his wife, Eleanoq were

the original owners. They were still living here in

1957.

Source: Doug Eyre, telephone conversation

with author, Alug. 26, zoo4.

Williarn and May Carmichael House

ro6 Laurel Hill Circle

r940

George Watts Carr, architect

Durham architect George Watts Carr designed

rhis house for William D. Carmichael Jr. and

his wife, May, and local builder Brodie Thomp-

son constructed it in r94o. Carmichael was the

consolidated university comptroller from rg3g

to 1952 and was instrumental in securing finan-

cial support for the university from private sources

during its post-lVorld War II expansion. The im-

posing red brick Colonial Revival-style house

with white trim on a large wooded site has the

double-facade design exemplifred by lTashing-

ton's Mount Vernon residence. Mount Vernon's

road frontage has an unobtrusive pedimented en-

trance, while the rear elevation, overlooking the

great Potomac River, is sheltered by the two-story

portico. It is the river elevation that forms the

image of Mount Vernon in the popular memory.

Billy Carmichael's street entrance is sheltered by

a sizable classical porch, and across the rear, fac-

ing a wooded vista, is a full portico. Flanking the

main block are a two-story wing and a one-story

wing.

Willi am and May C armi chael Ho use

Source: Doug Eyre, telephone conversation

with author, May 4, zoo4.

George Howe House
z Buttons Road

Ca. rgzS

Located at the corner of Laurel Hill Road and the

tiny lane of Buttons Road, the picturesque two-

story Tudor Revival-style cottage is one of rhe

original seven houses built in Laurel Hill. Such

CarLH. PeggHouse
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George Howe House

WilliamT. CouchHouse

features as a steep hip roof with a central chim-

ney, stuccoed walls with rustic wood trim, a shed

dormer, and projecting front gabled wings create

the houset medieval quality. Casement windows

and a recessed entrance enhance the picturesque

English character of the house. One of the wings

originally contained a garage, with an adjacent

servant's quarter. This wing has been converted

to an apartment. George Howe, a nephew of Presi-

dent l7oodrow Wilson, came to Chapel Hill in
r9o3 to teach classics at the university. He was

head of the classics department for many years

and died in 1936.

Source: House, TheLightThat Shines, ryz-
r93; newspaper articles in Howe-Fitch House file,

North Carolina Historic Preservarion Office.

William T. Couch House
6o3 Laurel Hill Road

Ca. 1939

W illi am V an S pr inkl e, ar chit e ct

The large two-story brick Colonial Revival-style

house with gable-end chimneys, a full front por-

tico, and stone trim was designed by Durham ar-

chitect William Van Sprinkle. The brick walls are

painted white. Along the frontage is a fieldstone

retaining wall. William T. Couch was director of
the uNc Press.

Source: Doug Eyre, telephone conversation

with author, Atg.26, zoo4.
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GLENDALE

Glendale is a small subdivision in very hilly, wooded terrain off East Franklin Srreer,

south of Davie Circle. The mostly Modernist houses on the main streers of Glendale

Drive and Glenhill Lane include seven houses designed by the firm Cogswell/Hausler

from 1964 to about r9?o.

GLENDALE / DAVIE CIRCLE
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1. Dr. Justin and Patricia Kiffney House
2. Carroll Hollis House
3. Robert L. Strowd House
4. Arthur and Betty Cogswell House No. 1

5. \Tilliam B. and Gloria B\.the House
6. Robert and Ann Work House
7. Robert and Ruth Mace House
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Dr. Justin and Patricia Kiffney House
zrz Glenhill Lane

ry67
CogswelllHausler Associates, architects

Dr. Justin Kiffney, a pediatric dentist, and his

wife, Patricia, had Cogswell/Hausler Associates

design this house for their large family, which

included five children. The basically unaltered

house is located on a lot that slopes steeply down

to Battle Park. The main level, with vertical wood

Dr. Justin and Pa*icia Kiffnel House

siding and a flat roof, is cantilevered over a stuc-

coed lower level. The nearly square house has the

typically closed street side, although the entrance

foyer has a translucent wall. On the interior, an

enclosed stair leads from the foyer to the lower

level. The living room occupies the entire right

side of the house. The kitchen is in the center of

the house, opening to a dining room that projects

out to the rear, flanked by two decks that hang

over the ravine. Two bedrooms and baths are

on the left side. The lower level originally con-

tained five small bedrooms with sliding windows.

The rear decks create sheltered porches along the

lower level.

Carroll Hollis House
ro4 Glendale Drive

ry64
Cogswell lHausler Associates, architects

Local architects Cogswell/Hausler Associates de-

signed this house for Carroll Hollis, chairman

of uNc's English department. Like many of the

lots in the subdivision, the Hollises' lot descends

steeply from the street and overlooks the woods of

Bamle Park. The one-story flat-roofed house has

a monitor roof over the southeastern end, verti-

cal siding, and a concrete block foundation. The

rear elevation contains large areas of sliding glass

doors overlooking a walled garden. The simple,

geometrical severity and natural materials are a

blend ofJapanese architecture and the Interna-

tional Style, reflecting the influence of George

Matsumoto at the North Carolina State College

School of Design (now Ncsu College of Design).

Carroll HoLIis House
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Robert L. Strowd House

5r Davie Circle

Ca. 1886

Robert L. Strowd (fi64-ry34) re-

ceived a r,roo-acre tract of land in
eastern Chapel Hil[ from his fa-

ther, l7illiam F. Strowd of Chatham

County, in 1886. Robert attended the

university for two years. He appar.

ently built this house about the time

he married Frances Hedon in 1886.

The well-preserved Italianate Revival-

style two-story house has a side.gabled

main block with a front wing, weath-

erboarded walls, corner pilasters, and

boxed eaves with eave returns. Tall

paired four-over-four sash windows have wide

crosseted surrounds. The entrance has a tran-

som, sidelights, and a crosseted surround and is

sheltered by a tall porch with chamfered posts.

The wing features a bay window with chamfered

and paneled detailing. Strowd operated a store

on Franklin Street and farmed. He and his wife

raised a large family in this house. ln ry25 Robert

sold his farm to the Chapel Hill Insurance and

Realty Company, who platted a portion of it into

a subdivision called Davie \7oods and laid our rhe

circular street named Davie Circle. Strowd moved

into town and rented out his farmhouse, which

occupied one of the lots on Davie Circle. Among

the tenants were Paul Green and his wife. Little
construction occurred in the subdivision before

the stock market crash resulted in the bankruptcy

of the realty company. Not until the post-World
'!Var II boom of the late r94os did large.scale resi-

dential development of Davie Circle occur. One

of the first houses built on the lots was z Davie

Circle, a rustic log cabin with a high gabled attic,

large dormer windows, and a matching garage. It
may have been built during the Great Depression.

Source: Hugh Brinton, "History of Davie Cir-

cle," ChapelHillNewspaper, Jan. r3, r98o.

RobertL. StrowdHouse
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HILLCREST CIRCLE ANI) MARILYN LANE

Hillcrest Circle, a big irregular loop road laid out about r96o, extends into the jag-

ged terrain east of East Franklin Street that transitions from the hilltop plateau of

the old village of Chapel Hill to the flat bed of the Tiiassic Sea to the east. Marilyn
Lane, one block south, runs parallel to Hillcrest Circle. The heavily wooded terrain

afforded a perfect canvas for the contemporary architecture of Modernist architects

in the rg6os.

Please see mqp on page z4r.
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Arthur and Betty Cogswell
House No. r
5 Marilyn Lane

r959

Ar thw C o gsw ell, ar chit e ct

Arthur Cogswell, a young architect

who graduated from the North Caro-

lina State College School of Design

in 1959, moved to Chapel Hill and

began work with the Webb architec-

tural firm in the same year. He de-

signed this house for himself and his

wife, Betty, at the beginning of his

career. The house reflects the Inter-

national Style aesthetic of Professor

George Matsumoto, a strong influence

in Cogswell's work. The lot slopes

steeply away from the street, and the

post-and-beam main living level over-

hangs the brick foundation. Designed

according to Matsumoto's geometrical

four-foot grid, the walls have vertical

pine shiplap siding, and the windows

have cement asbestos panels beneath

them. The only illumination on the

street side is at the entrance, reached

by a short bridge from the driveway.

To open up the ceiling space in the

living room, Cogswell constructed a

"pleated gable roof"-a series of small

gables with glass ends. Across the en-

tire back, a deck extending out from

the house to the northeast was covered with a

natural canvas awning that cast a lovely warm

light inside the dwelling. The awning has been

removed. The lower level contained an apartment

and the archirecr's studio. The North Carolina

chapter of the American Institute of Architects

gave the residence an honor award in 1963.

Arthur andBetry Cogswell House No. r

Wi[iarn B. and Gloria Blythe House

l7illiam B. and Gloria Blythe House
rr4 Hillcrest Circle

Ca. ry64
Ar thur C o gsw ell, ar chit e c t

One of Arthur Cogswell's first solo commis-

sions, this house was designed for Dr. \ff/illiam
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B. Blythe, professor of internal medicine at the

School of Medicine, and his wife, Gloria. The

house stretches along a ridge parallel to the street

on a large, beautifully landscaped lot. The view

from the driveway reveals the house slowly, as a

train of separate, side-gabled units. The first unit
is the carport, the next a higher main living unit,
and the last unit a two-story bedroom tower. The

heavy slab roofs with overhanging eaves float

above the vertical sided walls. The main liv.
ing unit has a clerestory that faces north to bring

light into the center of the house. The walls fac-

ing south are transparent to allow for vistas into
the wooded ravine. Both the carporr addition

by local architect Dale Dixon and the bedroom

tower designed by Dixon and Cogswell harmonize

with the original house.

Robert and Ann \Uork House
zr4 Hillcrest Circle

ry62
Shawcroft, Burns andKahn, architects and engineer

Robert Work, a chemist, and his wife, Ann, a

weaver, commissioned young Raleigh architects

Brian Shawcroft and Robert Burns to design

their house. Charles H. Kahn was a structural

engineer who provided consultation. The slop-

ing site allowed a lower level built into the hill-
side to support the main upper level. From the

street the house is a sleek brick rectangle with a

low side-gabled roof with a center clerestory. The

right side of the house is an open carport with a

solid front brick wall. Its most special feature is

the open stairway in the center of the house that
leads to the lower level, integrating the two levels

Rob er t and Ann Work H ou se
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more smoothly than in many earlier contempo-

rary houses, where stairs were often cramped, en-

closed, and not easily accessible. The glare from

the full glass wall of the living room on the rear

of the house is counteracted by the high clere-

story windows on the opposite (front) side. In

196z this house won a national "Homes for

Better Living" award and a North Carolina ara
award.

Source: Robert Burns, interview with the au-

thor, Raleigh, February 23,2oo4.

Robert and Ruth Mace House
zzz Hillcrest Circle

196z

Don Stewart, architect

Set at the bottom of a lot that slopes gently away

from the street, the small rectangular house has a

low side-gabled overhanging roof, high eave win-

dows on the street side, vertical wood siding, and

windows in masonry asbestos panels. The post-

and-beam house has an open floor plan, with a

foyer and kitchen on the entrance level, and the

living room and dining room two steps lower. A
tall porch extends across the rear, shielding the

Iiving areas from the southern sun. The side bed-

room wing is set off by its lower height. The low

concrete-block foundation level contains ser-

vice areas but is not tall enough to be living

space. The house was built for physicist Robert

Mace and his wife, Ruth, who still live here. Rob-

ert Mace spent his career in the Army Research

Office in Durham. Architect Don Stewart here

shows the influence of Modernist house design as

practiced by the Harvard school of modernism.

Robert and Ruth M ace House

\Talter Gropius and some of his students formed

The Architects Collaborative in Cambridge,

Massachusetts, in 1945 and developed a genre

of Modernist house that is known as the "Har-

vard look." The Mace House's sophisticated mod-

ernism and the oriental feel of the privacy screen

that extends out from the entrance to shelter the

kitchen windows indicate that Stewart's work had

reached a high level.
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GREENWOOD

In 1933, drama professor and playwright Paul Green purchased a 2oo-acre forested

tract along the Raleigh Road (NC Highway 54) east of the Gimghoul subdivision.

Earlier, the land had belonged to Christopher Barbee, who had donated a portion
of his property for the university in 1792. Green and his wife, Elizabeth, built their
residence on the highest point in the center of the tract in ry36. Green personally

laid out a winding one-mile dirt road, named Greenwood Road, to link the house

to Raleigh Road.

Engineers from North Carolina State College laid out large lots, up to five acres,

along both sides of Greenwood Road in the late rg3os. Early houses were built by

Chapel Hill's literary and artistic set, giving the neighborhood a special character.

Louis Graves, editor of chapelHillweekly, is credited with naming the development

Greenwood. The eastern section of the subdivision between Greenwood Road and

the U.S. r5-5or Bypass was developed in the rg5os during the town's post-lUorld

war II population boom. Greenwood's suburban character, with large lots and no

sidewalks, is similar to that of Laurel Hill and lVestwood but features a more eclectic

mix of house styles and eras, since it developed slowly until the rg7os. Significant ex-

amples of Colonial Revival houses from the rg3os and Modernist houses built from
the r95os to the rg8os coexist harmoniously on the large wooded lots. In 1965 Paul

and Elizabeth Green sold their house and four acres to Watts and Marv Hill and

moved to a farm in Chatham County.

Source: Doug Eyre, "Dramatist Paul Green Created Greenwood Subdivision,"
Chapel Hill News, Mar 27, zooz.
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Paul and El.izabeth Green House

James andMartha Lamb House

Paul and Elizabeth Green House
6ro Greenwood Road

rg36

Paul Green was born in 1894, raised in Harnert
County, and graduated from the university in
r9zo. As a student he studied theater under Pro.

fessor Frederick H. Koch, learned the genre of
folk plays, and wrote plays for the Playmakers, the
student acting group. In rgzz he married Eliza-

beth Lay. His Broadway play, In Abraham's Bosom,

earned the Pulitzer Prize for drama in rgz7. Green

was a social activist-a lifelong opponent of capi-

tal punishment and proponent of African Amer-

ican civil rights. In rg33 Green bought rwo hun-

dred acres off Raleigh Road. In 1936, the same

year that he wrote his best-known outdoor drama,

TheLostColony, his house was completed. The

one-story frame house is typical of the modest

Colonial Revival houses favored in Chapel Hill
during the Great Depression but spreads out to

berter occupy its spacious serring. The side-gabled

main block has a center chimney, two gabled dor-

mer windows, and flanking wings in the manner

of a Colonial Virginia plantation house.

In 1939 Green had an old log cabin disman-

tled in Hillsborough and rebuilt behind the house

to serve as his study. During his most productive

years in the r94os and r95os, he worked there.

The Greens sold their home to Watts and Mary

Hill in 1965 and moved to Chatham County. The
log cabin was moved to the North Carolina Bo-

tanical Garden in the early rggos.

Source: Vickers, Chapel Hill, :62.

James and Martha Lamb House
6rz Greenwood Road

rg72

SumnerWinn, architect

The James and Martha Lamb House is a Mod-

ernist composition with units of different heights

covered by low overhanging gable roofs with
prominently jutting exposed rafters. It occupies

a dramatically sloping lot with a view of a val-

ley and ridge to the rear. A large chimney pro-
jects from the interior of the living room section,

the tallest unit. The fronr and rear gabled walls of
the living room are transparent. The roofs of the

side sections form a butterfly shape. Stained ver.

tical siding blends the house into its wooded site.
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Sumner Winn designed the house for James and

Martha M. Lamb. Construction was completed in

ry72.ln the later rgTos Barrie and Arlene Berg.

man, owners of the Record Bar, owned the house.

In the late rg8os it was owned jointly by Robert
and Carolyn Connor and the National Humani-
ties Center and used as an entertainment and

conference center.

Source: Joseph Woodman, current owner, tele-
phone conversation wirh authoq May 28, zoo4.

Edward McGavran House

7o8 Greenwood Road

Ca. 1948

The two-story brick Colonial Revival-style house

is a notable example of this style in the Green-
wood subdivision. It has a classical entrance with
transom and sidelights flanked by a brick "porch"
with small brick closets on either side of the door.
Similar academic examples of the Colonial sryle

were being built in other Chapel Hill subdivisions

at this time. The original owner is unknown. Dr.
Edward G. Mccavran was the owner-occupant

in ry57, when the first Chapel Hill city directory
was published.

Palmer Hudson House

7ro Greenwood Road

Late r93os

This two-story frame Colonial Revival-style
house, one of the earliest houses in the Green-
wood subdivision, is similar to houses being built
in the Gimghoul subdivision at rhis time. Its ar-

chitectural focus is the lovely entrance with a

fanlight, sheltered by an entrance porch with a

modillion cornice. The windows have large eight-
over.eight original sashes. The asbestos wall shin-

gles are probably original. A. Palmer Hudson, a

professor in the English department, was the origi-

nal owner and still resided here in rg57, when he

is listed in the earliest Chapel Hlll city directory.

Source: Doug Eyre, telephone conversation

with author, August 26, zoo4.

William and Julia Ivey House

7rr Greenwood Road

r95os

Although the architect of this Modernist house is

unknown, it is similar to other houses by brothers

Eduard McGauran House

Palmer Hudson House
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William and JuLia Iuel House

Jim and John \Uebb and their partner Don Stew'

art. The heavily wooded lot slopes sideways. The

house is set perpendicular to the street, with a

carport located below the house and connected

by a covered flight of stairs that ascends to the en-

trance. The one-story house has a shallow side-

gable roo( vertical siding, large casement win-

dows, and a large interior chimney. The original

owners are unknown. In the late r95os William

ThompsonHouse

L. Ivey, director of N.C. Memorial Hospital, and

his wife, Julia, were its residents.

Source: Doug Eyre, telephone conversation

with author, Aug. 26, zoo4.

Thompson House

7r5 Greenwood Road

Ca. r95o

The spacious forested corner lot is the perfect set'

ting for this long, low Ranch house, which fea-

tures such typical Ranch-style elements as a low

hip roof with wide overhanging eaves, a large

central chimney, and a recessed front entrance.

However, a number of surprising architectural

features raise this above the level of an ordinary

Ranch house. The exterior is sheathed in warm

sandstone, with ribbon windows (a continuous

row of narrow windows) beneath the eaves. The

front living room wall is solid glass. In the bed'

room wing, windows set below the eaves wrap

around the corners. The most dramatic section

is the garage wing, which projects out from the

right rear corner with flagstone walls and a series
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of small square windows ser ar mid-

level in the wall.

No similar house exists in Cha-
pel Hill. According to neighbor-

hood tradition, a srudent ofFrank
Lloyd Wright designed it. A likely
designer, however, is Raleigh archi-

tect LeifValand (r9rr-r985), best

known as the architect of Cameron

Village, Raleigh's 6rst shopping cen-

ter, built in the late r94os. Valand de-

signed nearby Glen Lennox, a mixed-

use complex, between rg4g and tg5z,

and may have also designed rhis house 
ffi

at that time. The original owners were

the Thompson family. Irma Green

Gold, sister of Paul Green, and her husband, pub-

lisher Harry Gold, were larer owners. The Golds

retired to Chapel Hill from New York City.
Sources: Rhoda Wynn, telephone conversa-

tion with author, May 24, zoo4; Edmisten, /. \Xl

WillieYork, 33, r15, rz5; Arthur Cogswell, inter-
view with author, Apr. 19, zoo4; Doug Eyre, tele-
phone conversation with author, Aug.26, zoo4.

Wynn-Maclntyre House
goo Stagecoach Road

r950

J im Webb and J ohn Webb, architects

This early, well-preserved Modernist house was

designed by Jim and John \febb for Earl Wynn,
head of the university's radio, motion picture, and

television department. The long house sited diag-
onal to the road features the trademark lfebb vo-
cabulary of low-gabled overhanging roofs, a cen-

tral clerestory roof that allows light inro rhe living
room, vertical pine siding, and horizontal bands

of windows. The house was built wirh rwo zones,

the living room-kitchen-porch level and a two-
bedroom and one-bath level two steps up. The

twenty-six-foot-long living room has a glass wall
facing south, black asphalt tile with burgundy

flecks on the floor, and a lireplace elevated above

the floor in an angled wall of cypress paneling.

A radiant heating sysrem was built into the con-

crete slab floors throughour rhe house. Earl mar-

ried his wife, Rhoda, in r95r, and they found the
house's open floor plan to be perfect for enter-

taining. A wide folding door linked the living
room and the screened back porch, now enclosed

as a den. Mrs. !7ynn recalls that the wall plaster

was mixed with a small amounr of so.called Cha.
pel Hill gravel, which gave it a warm yellow glow.

Several crookneck reading lamps were built into
the living room walls.

ln ry57 the Wynns moved to a larger house,

and Mr. and Mrs. Alan B. Maclntyre, chief engi.

neer for wuNc Television Station, purchased it.
Small additions flank the original house-a bed-
room addition on the upper end and a garage on
the lower end, now enclosed as a studio apart

ment. Mr. Maclntyre still lives in the house.

Sources: Rhoda lUynn, telephone conversa-

tion with author, Feb.27, zoo4; Nancy E. Oates,

"History in the Making," Chapel Hill Mu,,s, Jan.
zj-29, 1998.

%-nn-Maclnrlre House
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COKER HILLS

The subdivision of Coker Hills was laid out on land on the northern side of Estes

Drive northeast of Chapel Hill previously owned by botany professor W. C. Coker.

At his death in 1953, the land was bequeathed to Coker College in Hartsville, South

Carolina. The college hired Coker's colleague, Dr. Roland Totten, to develop the

earliest sections of the subdivision on Elliott and Clayton Roads in 196o-196r. The

remainder of Coker Hills was developed up to 1972. Houses erected in the rg6os and

early r97os vary widely, from two-story Colonial Revival houses, to Split-level and

Ranch houses with colonial decorative trim, to various modernist forms of houses.
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David Hill House
zo5 Wood Circle

ry63
Ar thur C ogswell, architect

David Hill, an engineering professor at Duke

University, requested that architect Arthur Cogs-

well design for him a residence with a special roof.

Hill worked with Cogswell to design the thin-

shell concrete barrel-vaulted roof. The series of

vaults, supported on steel posts in the center, ex-

tends out as a cantilevered roof to either side. Ar-

caded roof buildings like this one had frrst been

designed in the late r95os. This experimental

house reflects the creative usage of modern mate-

rials in rg6os architecture in Chapel Hill.

DauidHillHouse

Arthur Cogswell House No. z
3o8 Elliott Road

r970

Cogswell lHau.sler Associates, architects

Architect Arthur Cogswell's second residence

continues the severe International Style aes-

thetic that has characterized his work. After liv-

ing in a wooden house on a steep sloping site (see

Cogswell House No. r, 5 Marilyn Lane), Cogswell

wanted a house on a flat lot that was not made

out of wood. The house is sited on a low, flat

knoll, with a traditional Chapel Hill stone retain-

ing wall, stone steps, and a sidewalk leading to

the startlingly modern one-story, flat-roofed steel

frame house with white walls. One bay of the six-

bay-wide house is a recessed entrance. The only
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illumination on the facade is a slen-

der window band beneath rhe eaves.

Above the right two bays, the glazed

upper level of rhe two-story living
room rises above the rest of the house.

The stark, closed severity of the exte-

rior becomes an oasis of delight on rhe

interior as the house reveals itself to

be a one-room-deep square surround-

ing a courtyard containing a terrace

and large heated swimming pool. A
continuous transparent wall of slid-

ing doors links the living and dining
areas and the corridor along the bed-

rooms to the courtyard. The interior
has brick floors, plasrer walls, and no

woodwork. The Cogswell residence

won a merit award from the North
Carolina chapter of the American In.
stitute of Architects in r97r.

Robert Byrd House

4o4 Elliott Road

r969

Built for Robert Byrd, a professor

and dean at the uNC School ofLaw,

bv J. P. Goforth of Security Building
Company, the house is a good exam-

ple of mail-order plan Modernist resi-

dences in Chapel Hill. The wide, low-

roofed front-gabled house has the bold

overhanging roofline of the Bay Area

California style, yet its facade is more open, with
tall windows wirh transoms flanking the central
recessed entrance. There is a daylight basemenr

that opens to the rear.

Source: Bob Byrd, inrerview by Tom Heffner,

Aug. zoo5.

Arthur Cogswell House No. z

RobertByrdHouse
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WiLLianJ. andDorothl C. KochHouse

* ''!

Townend House

\Tilliam J. and Dorothy C. Koch House

4or Clayton Road

ca. t964

Ar thur Cogswell, ar chite ct

This bold Modernist house, set on a lovely large

property abutting a protected greenway, is located

in the first section of Coker Hills that was devel-

oped. Designed for botany professor \Tilliam J.

Koch (son of Professor Koch of drama fame) by

Arthur Cogswell, the house won a merit award

from the North Carolina chapter of the Ameri-

can Institute of Architects in 1965. The one-story

flat-roofed International Style house is a platform

cantilevered over a concrete block foundation,

with the carport and a covered corridor form-

ing the street facade. The carport wall is a tall,

vertically louvered screen that conceals the cars.

The house faces the rear, where transparent walls

open to a deck. The second owner, Joe Rowand,

started Somerhill Callery in r97o.

Townend House

4rr Clayton Road

ry66
Ar thur C o gs w ell, ar chit e c t

An elegantly simple, monumental pyramid was

the design concept for this residence designed for

Marion Townend, a widow. The roughly square

house has a tall pyramidal roof whose peak is a

large skylight. The center of the skylight is a ceil-

ing for the living room, and the light is diffused

at the edges into the surrounding rooms, chang.

ing their character as the sun moves across the

sky, Three corners contain bedroom suites; the

fourth contains the kitchen and service areas.

ln the center of three sides are recessed porches.

The center of the fourth side contains the dining

room. Rooms can be opened to the center area

by means of walls of sliding doors. Luxurious ma-

terials create the interior-terrazzo floors, hori-

zontal board walls of pickled cypress, and a mas.

sive stone wall that extends from the outside to

form one wall of the entrance foyer and one wall

of the living room. The same stone is used for a

large fireplace in the living room. One of the bed-

room suites contains a kitchenette to allow it to

be rented as an apartment.
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Robert Page House
6z9 Totten Place

rg72

Set at the end ofa cul-de-sac on a large lot over-

looking Bolin Creek, the Robert Page House is

one of the earliest houses in Coker Hills West. It
is also one of the few designed in rhe rradirional

Colonial Revival style. Taste in suburban resi-

dential design had largely shifted to the Ranch

house and the Split-level house by the late r96os.

The large two-and-one-half.story brick house has

a side-gabled roof and nine.over.nine sash win-
dows. Its focus is the gabled center pavilion, with
quoined brick corners, a wide entrance, and a Pal-

ladian window set into the upper level. Robert J.

Page, an attorney, was involved in the develop-

ment of the Coker Hills West subdivision. The

house was built by Security Building Company.

Mary S. Andersen House
618 Beech Tiee Court

Ca. ry72

J on Condoret, architect

Located at the end of a cul-de-sac on a large lot
that slopes steeply down to Bolin Creek, this

large contemporary-style house was built for Mary

S. Andersen. The architect was Jon Condoret of
Chapel Hill. The house design represenrs the evo-

lution of contemporary residential architecture in
Chapel Hill in the early rg7os. Earlier Modern-

ist houses featured the steep sloping lot, a main

level with a private street facade, auxiliary living
space on the lower level, and large areas ofglass

overlooking the rear vista. The new element is

the larger size, with wings extending out from the

main block at a diagonal. These wings join a car-

port wing that extends out to the front to create

an intimate entrance courtyard. The roof joists

that project beyond the overhanging eaves are

one of Condoretl trademark design features. Wall

surfaces consist of red brick and areas of vertical

siding, with large vertical windows. The multi-

ple roof planes have tall clerestory windows facing

the street to supply narural light into the living
spaces without sacri6cing privacy.

Robert Page House

Mary S. AndersenHouse
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LAKE FOREST ESTATES

The large subdivision north of Coker Hills was developed in the mid-rg6os around

Eastwood Lake. Known today simply as Lake Forest, the subdivision consists of

North Lakeshore Drive and South Lakeshore Drive, which meander around the

lake, and a network of streets running perpendicular to these main arteries. The

land was owned by university botany professor William C. Coker and bequeathed

to Coker College in rg53. The area on the south side of the lake was developed in

ry57 by Mortgage Insurance Company and is known as "Old Lake Forest." In 1963

E. J. (Peg) Owens purchased some of the subdivision and continued its development.

Owens also bought the section west of the lake, along the present North Lakeshore

Drive, laid out the streets, and built many of the early houses from 1965 to 1968.

Owens gave the entire area the name Lake Forest Estates. Some of the houses have

a lodgelike look inspired by the area's rustic character. Whether traditional or Mod-

ernist, the houses featured stained wood and a "big view," often toward the lake.
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Victor A. and Libby Greulach House
r8r5 South Lakeshore Drive

Ca. rgTo

Cogswell I Hausler Associates, architects

Located on a narrow lot that slopes down to East-

wood Lake, the focal point ofLake Foresr Esrares,

the Greulach House is a wide rectangular one-

story Modernist house with a side-gabled roof.

The post-and-beam frame is sided with vertical

wood siding and cantilevered over a brick foun-

dation. The street side is screened by the carport

and by a courtyard enclosed by a high wooden

fence. Arthur Cogswell recalls that when you go

into the house, "the lake is right there in the liv-

ing room." The rear of the house has a dramatic

view of the lake through a series of sliding glass

doors that open onto a continuous deck. A clere-

story roof extends along this elevation to allow

additional light into the house, which has an

open plan to allow a view of the lake from nearly

every room. Victor A. Greulach, a university pro-

fessor of botany, and his wife, Libby, lived here for

many years.

Thom Collins House
rgzo South Lakeshore Drive

ry6r

The architect of this house is unknown. The rect-

angular house with a low side-gabled roof has fea-

tures that are standard in the designs of the lUebb

brothers. The house actually faces Ridgecrest

Road and slopes toward a ravine at the rear, al-

lowing for a secondary level under the main story.

The foundation and part of the front elevation

are of warm beige sandstone, as is the gable-end

chimney. Vertical wood covers the remaining

walls. On the interior, the post-and.beam con-

struction and cathedral ceilings allow for an open

Victor A. andLibby GreulachHouse

Thom Collins Holrse

floor plan. The living room has a continuous wall

of windows overlooking the woods to the rear.

The carport on the end that faces South Lake-

shore Drive is an early addition.

The house was built for a couple who never oc-

cupied it. The first owner-occupants were Thom

and Beulah Collins, from Chicago. Thom Collins
was the former editor of the Chicago Daifu Neous.

Beulah wrote a syndicated column called "The
Daily Chuckle." They raised three sons in the

house and lived here until their deaths.

Source: Rhoda'!7ynn, telephone conversation

with author, Apr. 8, zoo4.
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Bob AndersonHouse

Bob Anderson House
6or Brookview Drive

Ca. 1968

Don Stewart, architect

Don Stewart designed this house for his Commu-

nity Planning and Architecture Associates parr-

ner Bob Anderson and his family. Located on

a one-and-one-hal0acre site that slopes steeply

down to Booker Creek, this may be Stewart's

most dramatic residential design. The house con-

sists of two rectangular gabled sections-one with
living and dining spaces, the other with bed-

rooms-that are connected by a "bridge" con-

taining the entrance foyer, kitchen, and service

spaces. The living-dining structure is elevated on

high wooden stilts, allowing open porch spaces

beneath. The bedroom wing, reached by stairs,

rests on a masonry foundation in the hillside. A
zigzagparh and wooden bridge across the rocky,

gurgling creek leads to the entrance. The post-

and-beam house has cathedral ceilings, with bal.

conies extending out from the living room, dining
room, and master bedroom. Many different roof
levels and an abundance ofwindows and glazed

gable ends create an ever-changing alternation of
low and soaring spaces throughout the house. In-

fluences of Swiss chalets are evident in the balco-

nies, with their overhanging gabled roofs, while

the stilted house built on the bank of the creek

and abundant use ofnatural wood create an Ori-
ental atmosphere.

Bob Anderson and his wife and their five chil-
dren lived here for a number of years. Bill and

Bitty Holton purchased the house in the middle

rg8os and have made modest changes within the

original walls.

E. J. Owens House
Kenmore Road

ry66
SumnerWinn, archircct

E. j. ("Peg") Owens, the developer who built por-

tions ofLake Forest Estates in the r96os, selected

the highest point in the subdivision, and per-

haps the highest point in Chapel Hill, for his own

home. Designed by architect Sumner \fi/inn, his

house is built on a twelve-acre tract. The Owens

House is a spectacular contemporary with a two-

story main block and long flanking wings that ex-

aa!sP** ru

E. J. Owens House
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tend diagonally toward the front lawn. The de-

sign emphasizes the low horizontality of modern

design, the drama of angled wings, and rustic nat-

ural materials. The stone was quarried on site.

The natural m21s1isls-2 stone foundation, wide

cypress board and batten siding, wood-shingled

roofs with exposed eaves, and a massive stone in-

terior chimney-minimize the house's large size

by unifying it. Across the main block is a pent

roof that shelters the large windows. The main

entrance has a small porch. On the interior, the

heavy timber frame is exposed. The exposed roof

trusses of the living room are recycled timbers

from an old gristmill in Hillsborough, N.C. A
deck extends around the living room, which iuts

out from the main block on the rear, overlooking

the vista ofLake Forest Estates.

On the estate is a guest cottage known as the

"tennis court house" because it stands adjacent to

the tennis courts. Sumner \7inn designed it as a

contemporary version of a Gothic cottage, with
a steep side-gable rool board-and-batten siding,

and a front porch with Chippendale railing and

brackets.

Owens died in r97r, and the present own-

ers have owned the estate since that time. They

hired Sumner Winn to do stone retaining walls,

to construct an atrium that attaches the origi-

nal garage to the house, and to do some inte-

rior remodeling. However, the Owens House re-

tains its architectural integrity as one of Chapel

Hill's largest and mosr dramatic contemporary

residences.

Source: Interview with current owner, April
2oo4.

Al Pons House
8zo Kenmore Road

Ca. r97o

Ar chi e Roy al D av is, ar chitec t

One of Durham architect Archie Royal Davist

last major residential designs, the Al Pons House

was built for Al Pons, owner of the Chapel Hill
Tire Company. Pons, a native of Valdese, played

baseball while a student at the university. He was

married to Patricia Garrou. The large two-story

brick Colonial Revival-style house is set on a

large expanse of manicured lawn, surrounded by

a brick and iron fence. It features careful Colo-

nial details that were Davis's trademark-Flemish

bond walls, large sash windows, a dentil cornice,

gable-end chimneys, and an entrance with a tran-

som and a crosseted surround. A full-height, pedi-

mented front portico gives the house a South-

ern character. The five-part composition includes

fl anking one-and-one-hallstory weatherboarded

wings, with dormer windows, and lower frame

wings at the outer ends of the house.

Source: Tom Heffner, interview with author,

March zoo4.

AL Pons House
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OAKWOOD DRIVE AND ROGERSON DRIVE

The small subdivision of Oakwood and Rogerson Drives was platted about 1947 be.

side the Raleigh Road in the country east of Chapel H111. The subdivision provided

new building lo$ to answer the critical housing shortage when veterans, often with
families, returned to the university as both faculty and students at the end of World
War II. Oakwood Drive and Rogerson Drive are two long streets that parallel rhe

adjacent Glen Lennox complex. The generously sized lots contain small houses with
modest Colonial or picturesque Tirdor features that were typical of the postwar era.

Some of the houses began as surplus military quarters trucked here from Fort Bragg

after the end of World War II. ln rg47, the Federal Housing Administration began

building thirty houses cosring between $6,ooo and $6,5oo on Rogerson Drive; ver
erans were given preference as purchasers.

Sources: Robert Stipe, personal communication, August zoo4; Vickers, Chapel

Hill, fi7
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William and Ann Ruffin House
z Oakwood Drive

ca. ry47

The side-gabled Cape Cod-style house features

weatherboard siding, a multipane picture window,

a screened side porch, and hipped dormer win-

dows. In the {rrst Chapel Hill city directory

of ry57, William C. Ruffin, a physician at N.C.

Memorial Hospital, and his wife, Ann, were

listed as the owner-occupants.

Lindsay and Mae Neville House

4 Oakwood Drive

ca. ry47

The one-story Minimal Tiaditional-style house

is side-gabled, with a front wing, asbestos wall

shingles, six-over-six sash windows, and a side

screened porch. The decorative metal posts at the

small entrance porch were probably added later.

Lindsay C. Neville, a clerk at the post offrce, and

his wife, Mae, built the house. This was the first

house in Chapel Hill to qualify for a GI mortgage

loan.

Source: Doug Eyre, telephone conversation

with author, Aug. 3o, zoo4.

'Villiam and Ann Ruffin House

Lindso'1 andMae Neville House
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HIGHLAND WOODS

During the explosive growth of the university in the early rg5os, housing was ex-

tremely scarce. A group of young families, mosr associated with the university,

formed the Chapel Hill Housing Group in 1956 in order to create a nonprofit coop-

erative residential development. Bob Gladstone, Jim Ingram, Bob Agger, and others

founded the group. The group purchased a twenty-six-acre heavily wooded tract of
land between Old Mason Farm Road and Raleigh Road (NC Highway 54), part of
the land given to Coker college by the w. c. coker estate. The housing group grew

to include approximately twenty young university faculty and staff families.

After laying out an irregular curvilinear road on the polygonal-shaped rract, the
group laid out twenty-six lots on both sides of the road, reserving one lot as a park.

Lot size averaged slightly less than one acre. The group hired local architect Jim
Webb to design a "core plan" of units that could be selected by individual homeown-
ers. One set of core plans consisted of a living room, dining room, and kitchen. The
second set contained bedrooms, baths, studies, and domestic storage. The two cores

were linked with an individually designed main enrrance. Webb's core plans fol-
lowed his individual version of the contemporary mode known as the Bay Area style
that he brought to Chapel Hill from California. Don Stewart and Bill Campbell, as-

sociates in Webbt firm, assisted in the Highland Woods house designs. The Stipes,

at ro22 Highland 'Woods, were the only homeowners who utilized the core plan de-

sign literally. Other families made minor adjustmenrs to suit their needs.

The general characteristics of the core plan houses were placement of the main
elevation facing the rear of the lot, with a large expanse of glass and an unassuming

street elevation with solid walls and a Gw small windows. The plan featured wooden
post-and-beam construction with no load-bearing interior walls, gently sloped or
flat roofs with wide overhangs, use of clerestory glass panels, and front-located kitch-
ens. The exteriors were finished with vertical wood siding and cemenr panels be-

neath the windows. Almost all the core plan homes had a main floor at rhe up-
per level and a daylight basement at a lower elevation. Houses ranged from r,6oo ro

3'ooo square feet in size. At least nine core plan homes designed by the Webb firm
were constructed simultaneously rn ry57. Because of the standardization of design
and construction details, the houses were built for approximately $ lo per square foor,
below the $rz to $15 cost for architect-designed houses in Chapel Hill.

The Highland Woods house designs embody privacy and integration with narure
through the use of borrowed space-incorporating the house into the landscape

through a transparent wall, porches, and decks overlooking the wooded privare rear
yard. Interiors have exposed roof rafters of Douglas fir with pine ceiling boards. Win-
dows are the aluminum awning or sliding type.
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Highland Woods residents, a number of whom are the original owners, have pre-

served their houses carefully, although a number of them have additions. Additions

are generally of Modernist design, and sometimes even designed by the \7ebb firm.

Many of the rear decks and porches remain in place, with their original homespun

deck railings of simple boards with tapering vertical supports in the center of each

bry.

Sources: Van Wyk et a1., "The Saga of Highland 'Woods"; Robert Stipe, various

interviews with author, 2oo4-zoo5.
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Sager-Parker House

J udson ond Persis Van V/1k House

Sager-Parker House
roro Highland !7oods

1957

Webb Associates, architects

Robert Sager, a university dental school profes-

sor, and his wife, Elizabeth, were one of the origi-

nal families who built a core plan house in High-

land lUoods. The one-story house has a low

front-gabled roof. It features the stan-

dard elements of Jim \7ebb's mod-

ern style, including wide overhanging

eaves, vertical wood siding, and large

floor-to-ceiling windows in the living
room and dining room areas. A board

fence now screens the facade from

the street. Since 1967 John Parker Jr.,

a physician, and his wife, Peg, have

made their home here.

Judson and Persis Van \fyk
House
rozo Highland lfoods
1917

Webb Associates, architects

For the sloping lot purchased by the Van Wyks,

the Webb firm designed a two-level house with an

overhanging flat roo( vertical siding, and a lower

bedroom wing on the left side that projects out

toward the street with a covered entrance porch

alongside it. On the rear, the roof flares out dra-

matically to shelter a two-story porch with slen-

der wooden posts and an upper wooden railing.

The living room wall beneath the porch is com-

pletely transparent. The kitchen, located on the

right side, opens out to a deck. Facing the street,

the front entrance has a large window beside the

door. High windows below the eaves are the only

other fenestration on the street facade.

Robert E. and Josie Stipe House
rozz Highland lUoods

1957
tMebb Associates, architects

The house built for Robert E. Stipe, a young law-

yer and city planner, and his wife, Josie, is the

z68 THE TowN AND GowN ARCHITECTURE oF CHAPEL HILL

-re

ry
€

tl

t!

il :tr



only Highland Woods house that fol-

lowed the core plan design literally.

The large lot slopes steeply away from

the street, allowing for a two-level

house. The rectangular dwelling has

an asymmetrical low gable roof fac-

ing the street. The lower level and the

walls of the living room are of unfin-

ished concrete block. The front foun-

dation wall extends outward from the

house to form a retaining wall for the

carport, located beneath the bedroom

core. The upper walls have vertical

siding, with standard metal windows

set in concrete-asbestos panels. On

the rear, the living room projects with

a transparent wall and a flying deck.

The house has received two additions

that have considerably altered its orig-

inal appearance, thus the documen-

tary photo shows the house as origi-

nally built.

Source: Van \fyk et al., "The Saga

of Highland'Woods."

John and Ruth Schwab House
ro3o Highland Woods

r957

Webb Associates, architects

The twolevel house is built on a sloping lot, with
a wide and shallow asymmetrical front-gable over-

hanging roof. The house is well-preserved, even

though it was expanded in r965 with a side addi-

tion of a new living room and bath, and rn ry79
with a shallow front extension that added more

space to the kitchen. Don Stewart, who was with
the Webb 6rm in 1957, designed the additions in
perfect harmony with the original design. The

post-and-beam house has a built-up roof, verti-

Robert E. and J osie Stipe House

John and Ruth Schwab House

cal shiplap pine siding, and sliding windows. The

original house had three bedrooms and an un-

finished basement. The Schwabs flnished off the

basement as bedrooms for their children as they

outgrew the main floor of the house.
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MORGAN CREEK HILLS

Developed in the rg5os and r96os on land owned by Dr. Wllliam C. Coker, the

neighborhood is known for its large wooded lots set on curvilinear streets. Coker, his

university colleague Henry Roland Totten, and William Lanier (Billy) Hunt were

the developers. A number of Modernist residences intermingle with traditional Co-

lonial Revival-style houses and traditional Ranch houses. Some call the neighbor-

hood "Pill Hill" because of the high number of doctors affiliated with the university

School of Medicine and with North Carolina Memorial Hospital who built homes

here. The area was developed shortly after the major expansion of the medical school

to a four-year curriculum in r95o. Terry \7augh, a Raleigh architect and professor at

the North Carolina State College School of Design, designed the earliest Modernist

houses in the neighborhood, at the western end. Don Stewarr and Cogswell/Hausler

Associates also designed a number of the Modernist houses.

MORGAN CREEK HILLS
1. Colin G. and Shirley Thomas House
2. Thomas and Ann Barnett House
3. Dean Smith House
4. Ellis Rollett House
5. John ancl Nina Sessions House
6. Bowers-Nelson House

\YHITEHEAD CIRCLE
7. Joseph L. an.{ Pearl Morison House
B. Kai ancl MaryJurgenson House
9. l7illiam C. and Icla Friday House
10. Walter and Mary Spearman House
I 1. ]. Alex and Betty W. McMahon House
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Colin G. and Shirley Thomas
House

4o8 Morgan Creek Road

1953

Terry Waugh, architect

The second house built in Morgan

Creek Hills was designed by Terry

!7augh, an architect from the North
Carolina State College School of De-

sign, for Dr. Colin G. (Tim) Thomas,

chairman emeritus of the Department

of Surgery at the School of Medicine,

and his wife, Shirley. In 1952, when

Dr. Thomas came from the Univer-

sity of Iowa as assistant professor of
surgery in the new medical school,

he and his wife purchased a r.25-acre

lor in the new subdivision from the developers,

Coker and Totten. They liked rhe lirst house in
Morgan Creek Hills, the one next door ro their
new lot, so they hired its architect, Terry lUaugh,

to design their own. For the Thomases, !7augh

designed a sleek, contemporary side.gabled, rect

angular Split-level house set on the slope over.

looking Merritt's Meadow, a large pasrure located

immediately west of their lot. The exterior is cov-

ered with large expanses of dark red "Norman"
brick (a long, thin brick) and redwood siding. The

entrance foyer, kitchen, dining and living room

are at the level of the front yard, while the bed-

room wing containing four bedrooms is located

up three steps. A stair beside the entrance foyer

descends to the lower level, which originally con-

tained a recreation room and a carport. The liv-
ing room has a spacious vaulted ceiling sheathed

in cypress and opens to a sunroom that origi.

nally was a screened porch. A deeply overhang-

ing roof shelters rhe pario behind the living room.

To accommodate their four children, the Thom.
ases later hired lUaugh to enclose the carport to

Colin G. andShirley Thomas House

add two bedrooms, a bath, and a tack room for

the horses they kept in their rear yard. In the late

r96os the Thomases hired Waugh a third rime ro

enlarge the dining room and to creare a study at

the street end of the house.

Source: Dr. C. G. Thomas, interview with the

author, ApL23, zoo4.

Thomas and Ann Barnett House

5r4 Morgan Creek Road

Ca. 1957

Terry Waugh, architect

Dr. Thomas B. Barnett and his wife, Ann, bought

the lot in 1954 and built the house in rg57. It
was the fourth or fifth house in the neighbor-

hood. The T-shaped two-level rectangular house

has a low gable roof, eave windows, and vertical

siding. The space under the long wing was origi-

nally left unlinished and later completed as Ann's

art studio and an apartment. The Barnetts' house

closely resembles the nearby house designed by
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Thomos and Ann Barnett House

1 )ran Srnirh l I,,rsr

\Uaugh for Dr. and Mrs. Thomas. Both have large

expanses of brick interspersed with vertical wood

siding on the exterior. Both are built on slop-

ing lots, with a lower level that contains a recrea.

tion room and a carport, and both families later

enclosed the carport to gain extra living space.

Along the rear of both houses are large windows

and glass doors. One feature here that is not pres-

Dean Smith House
613 Morgan Creek Road

ry64
Ar thur Cogstuell, ar chite ct

Arthur Cogswell designed this con-

temporary wood-sheathed house for

Dean Smith, the beloved coach of

the university basketball team, the

Tar Heels, from 196z to tgg?, and his

family. Set on a thickly forested slop-

ing lot, the main level consists of two

front-gable-roofed sections cantile-

vered over a brick lower level. Board-

and-batten siding covers the up-

per level. The warm, rustic interior is

sheathed with cedar and cypress, and

the high gable windows have vertical

Iouvered cypress shutters designed by

rhe architect.

Source: Arthur Cogswell, interview

with the author, Apr. 19, zoo4.

Dr. Ellis Rollett House
64o Morgan Creek Road

ry67
Cogswell I Hau.sler Associates, architects

Arthur Cogswell calls this residence an exercise

in elegant simplicity. From the street, the flat-

roofed, cubic house appears to be one story, with
a concrete bridge accessing the front door. Be-

cause the lot slopes to the rear, it is actually a

two-story house. The lower level is brick, and ver-

tical wood siding covers the main upper level.
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The house is closed to rhe srreer, with a ribbon of
eave windows across the front and sides. At the

rear, the house opens up to the view and privacy

of the large property through slidlng glass doors

and a continuous deck. The foundation wall ex-

tends to one side as a retaining wall that encloses

a terrace. Rollett was a medical doctor.

John and Nina Sessions House

7oo Morgan Creek Road

1957

Don Stewart, architect

In 1956 John Sessions Jr., a new professor ofgas-

troenterology in the School of Medicine, and

his wife, Nina, went to the Jim lUebb firm to de-

sign a contemporary house. lrebb turned rhe cou-

ple over to his associate Don Stewart, who rec-

ommended this one.and-one-rhird-acre lot with
the proper amount of slope. Stewart used his own
Modernist vocabulary to create a house with
a more open plan than the customary stacked

rectangle, with a living room, dining room, and

kitchen core on one side at ground level and a

three-bedroom core located five steps higher. In
the living room is a raised brick fireplace ser inro

a wall covered with mahogany paneling. The

house has resawn cypress vertical siding, a shallow

gabled overhanging deck roo( and large windows

on the front and rear. Because the house did not

originally have air conditioning, a screened porch

that opened off the living and dining rooms pro-

vided much-needed ventilation ro rhe common

living spaces. lUhen the Sessions later installed

central air conditioning, they enclosed the porch

as a sunroom. They also enlarged the bedroom

located at the front of the house and made the

*.j"" 
larger by expanding into the dining

Bowers-Nelson House

9o3 Coker Drive

rg6o

Don Stewart, architect

This small contemporary house designed in 196o

by Don Stewart is the most Oriental of his dwell-
ings. Located on a steeply sloping lot, the rect.

angular, side-gabled house consists of a main
level covered with vertical wood siding and con.
crete stucco panels and set above a concrete

block lower level. Sliding windows and sliding
glass doors open to the exterior and to porches

Dr. Ellis Rollett House

John and Nina Sessions Home
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Boauers-Mlson House

and balconies across the rear and a screened side

porch. A number ofnotable features are taken di-

rectly from traditional Japanese houses. The post-

and-beam framework is exposed on the exterior,

and painted black. This is the only remaining ele-

ment of the early color scheme of red, bright yel-

low, and black. The front and rear eaves contain

a trough in which a hidden gutter is placed. A set

ofpebbled boxes act as a floating staircase to the

front door. The pebbled floor surface continues

through the foyer to a sunken engawa,

or interior garden, at the rear, lo-

cated two steps down from the living

room. This contains large windows

on two sides and originally was full of

plants set on the pebbled floor. The

floor has been replaced with hard-

woods, and the area now functions

as an extension of the living room. A
series of shoji screens (translucent pa-

per screens) move on tracks in the

floor and ceiling to close off the liv-

ing room from the foyer, kitchen, and

dining room. Sliding glass doors open

to the screen porch and to the rear

balcony. In the center ofthe rear liv-

ing room wall is a raised marble fire-

place. The lower level was built with

two bedrooms and a recreation room separated by

shoji screens.

The original owners were Dr. and Mrs. Nor-

man Bowers, who did not live in the house very

long. From 1965 to r9g4 it was the residence of

Robert Nelson, a professor in the uNc School of

Dentistry.

Source: Robert Ferrier, owner, interview with

the author, Apr,23, zoo4.
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WHITEHEAD CIRCLE

Located near Memorial Hospital south of the university campus, Whitehead Circle

is part of a small subdivision platted after lVorld War II off Mason Farm Road. The

U.S. r5-5or Bypass borders it on the south side. Among the Ranch houses built in
the rg5os are a group of hve Modernist houses designed by Jim and John Webb and

their associate Don Stewart from rg4g to tg57. Built on gently sloping lots, two of
the five houses were designed for professors in the School of Journalism. The archi-

tects' design philosophy consisted of distinctive siting, low gabled post-and-beam

houses, and natural materials and landscaping based on the "Bay Area style" devel-

oped in California by such architects as William Wurster, for whom Jim Webb had

worked.
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Joseph L. and Pearl Morrison House

4o7 lThitehead Circle

195r

J im Webb and J ohn Webb, architects

Joseph L. Morrison, a distinguished professor of
journalism, came to the university after a brief
newspaper career and service in the U.S. Army.

The Morrisons purchased a lot on \Thitehead

Circle with a relatively level grade. The Webbs

designed a modest house for them without their
usual multiple-level roofs and lower level recessed

J oseph L. and Pearl Morrison House

Kai andMarl Jurgenson House

into the hillside. The compact, flat-roofed rectan-

gular house sits sideways on its lot. \7ide horizon-

ral wood siding emphasizes the horizontality, and

the overhanging roof shelters the large windows

of the living room. A wall of casements and a pic.

ture window face lThitehead Circle.

Source: Doug Eyre, telephone conversation

with author, May 4, zoo4.

Kai and Mary Jurgenson House

4ro \Thitehead Circle

1957

Don Stewart, architect

Dramatic arts professor Kai Jurgenson and his

wife, Mary, hired Don Stewart to design their
house, the last one on Whitehead Circle designed

by the Webb lirm. Stewart's dramatic contempo-

rary design won a North Carolina American In-

stitute of Architects Honor Award (with special

commendation) in rg57. The compact two.story

house has a gently sloping broad gabled roof with
wide overhanging eaves. The lot slopes to the

rear, allowlng a lower level fully exposed on the

rear. The roofextends over the entrance to form

a small porch. \7a11s have vertical wood siding

above concrete blocks shaped like large bricks.

The only windows in the street elevation are high

windows beneath rhe eaves. The side and rear ele-

vations have large casement windows with tall

transoms.

Sourcer Jackson and Brown, History of the

North Carolina Chapter of the American Institute of

,\rchitects.
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William C. and Ida Friday
House

4rz Whitehead Circle

1953

Jim Webb ond J ohn Webb, architects

William C. Friday, the distinguished

former president of the university from

ry56 to 1986, began his career at the

university in the Office of Student Af-

attended law school and during his

first years as an administrator, he and

his wife, Ida, lived in married student

housing at nearby Victory Village and

in an apartment in Abernethy Hall
on campus. They hired architects Jim
and John lUebb to design their first

house in 1953, and they lived here un-

til 1956, when Friday became presi-

dent of the university and they moved

into the president's house at 4oz East

Franklin Street. Typical of the \Uebb

brothers' houses, the Friday House is

sited below the street elevation with
a low-pitched roof, a band of horizon-

tal windows set below the eaves for
light and privacy on rhe srreer facade,

and the main elevarion opening onto

the rear of the lot with large window

walls. The one-srory house

has a clean, elegant continuity created

by its simple rectangular shape, low

shed roof, wide overhanging eaves, and vertical
wood siding. A recessed entrance is beside the at-

tached two-car carporr, a later addition. The bed-

room wing is distinguished from the main living
wing by a lower roof.

WiLLiam C. and. Id,a Fr iday House

\Xlalter and Mary Spearman House

Walter and Mary Spearman House

4r8 lThitehead Circle

1949

J im \X/ebb and J ohn Webb, architects

lTalter Spearman, dean of rhe School ofJournal.
ism, was apparently the flrst to hire the \7ebb firm
to design a house in this subdivision. The archi-
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J. Alex and Betty \7. McMahon
House

4r9 lThitehead Circle

Ca. ry52

Jim'Webb and J ohtn Webb, architects

The long, low flat-roofed house has an

entrance shielded by a two-car car-

port with a horizontal-sided privacy

wall facing the street. Horizontal sid-

ing, flush eaves, and evenly spaced sin.

gle windows define the street eleva-

tion. The house opens up to the rear:

the tall projecting living room has a

transparent wall and an overhanging

roof sheltering a door to the outside. Alex McMa-

hon became the first president of Blue Cross Blue

Shield of North Carolina in r968.

Source: Doug Eyre, telephone conversation

with author, May 4, zoo4.

J. ALex and Betty W. McMahon House

tects utilized a giant rock that protrudes from the

site as a pivot point for the house placement. It is

echoed by the use ofstone pavers in the entrance

foyer and living room. The lot slopes away from

the street down to a ravine, allowing for a two-

level house. The main core of the house has an

overhanging shed roof with clerestory windows. A
lower flat-roofed section overlaps this, with a can.

tilevered roof sheltering the main entrance. Verti-

cal wood siding covers the walls, and floor-to.ceil-

ing windows illuminate the living room.
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WESTWOOD

The Westwood subdivision is located on the western side of South Columbia Street

just south of the West Chapel Hil[ neighborhood often identified as the Cameron-

McCauley Historic District. Its principal streets are a section of South Columbia

Street, the loop roads of Westwood Drive and Dogwood Drive, and West Univer-

sity Drive. Geology professor W. F. Prouty, who lived at 6cr2 South Columbia Street,

laid out Westwood in the early rgzos. The first houses were built in the mid-rgzos

by Prouty, at 6c,2 South Columbia Street, and professor Howard W. Odum, at the

corner of South Columbia Street and Briar Bridge Lane. At the same time, Isaac

Pritchard subdivided his property into Briar Bridge Lane, just northeast of West-

wood Drive. Westwoodt design of curvilinear streets, large lots, naturalistic land-

scaping, and stone rubble walls is similar to that of Laurel Hill. Only a few houses

had been built when the Great Depression slowed construction, but by 1932 twenty-

two lots had been sold-four on Pittsboro Road and eighteen on \Testwood Drive-
and a number of houses were built in the rg3os. Development continued up to World

War II and then resumed after the war. Houses built prior to the war are in the tra-

ditional Chapel Hill styles of Colonial Revival and Period Revival. In the later rg4os

and r95os, traditional Ranch-style houses and a few Modernist houses were built on

the large lots.
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Howard F. and Anna Odum House
z Briar Bridge Lane

rgz5, rg38

This is the frrsr house in the Westwood subdivi-

sion, built by sociology professor Howard Odum

in t925. Odum (r88+-r954), "the South's first

modern sociologist," created the university's De-

partment of Sociology in rgzo and developed a

planning program that became the Department

of City and Regional Planning in the r94os. Fol.

lowing a {ire in 1938, the house was rebuilt by 1o-

cal conrracror Brodie Thompson within four

months in nearly identical design. The large, rus-

tic Arts and Crafts-style house is distinguished

by a massively scaled stonework chimney and

steps that cascade down the hillside in a natural-

istic manner reminiscent of the stonework of the

Forest Theatre in the university's Battle Park, re-

modeled in rg4o with wpa funding. The two-

story main block has a hip roo( a two-story rear

wing, and a one-story wing at the extreme rear.

Plain wearherboard covers the walls, and sim-

ple wooden sashes illuminate the house. Both the

front porch and side porch have mammorh cor.

ner stone piers. After Howard's death in rg54, his

widow, Anna, continued to live in the house for

some years. The house is now the Chapel Hlll
Church of Christ.

Sources: Doug Eyre, "Fire Gutted First House

Built in lfestwood," Chapel Hill Mqrs, Jan. zz,

2oo3; tg57 City Directory; Snider, Light on the

Hill, ry8.

Joseph M. and Rachel Lear House

3 Briar Bridge Lane

Ca. 1933

The picturesque Tudor Cottage, set on a slop-

ing lot on Briar Bridge Lane, the norrhern sec-

Howard F. and Anna Odum House

Joseph M. and Rochel Lear House

tion of the Westwood neighborhood, is one of the

best examples of the Elizabethan or Tudor Revival

style (loosely inspired by English medieval archi-

tecture) in the neighborhood. The two-srory side-

gable house has brick walls with "oozy" mortar, a

large gable-end chimney, a fronr shed projection

beside the entrance, and wooden casement win-
dows. A stone terrace runs along the front. The
earliest known owners were Joseph M. Lear and

his wife, Rachel. Joseph taught in the Depart-

ment of Business Administrarion, with a specialty

in insurance. In ry57 his widow, Rachel, was a re-

ceptionist at N.C. Memorial Hospital.
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Source: Doug Eyre, telephone conversation

with author, A:ug.26, zoo4.

Ruth Price House

4 Briar Bridge Lane

1953

J im Webb and J ohn Webb, architects

Ruth Price, a physical education instructor at the

university, hired the brothers Jim and John \7ebb

to design an inexpensive house on her small,

steep, corner wooded lot in the Wesrwood neigh-

Ruth Price House

Herb er t and M ar tha McKay House

borhood in rg53. Perhaps because ofthe bud-

get and site limitations, the !7ebbs produced one

of their flnest designs. The house has been com.

pared to the Fellowship Park House, a platform on

a hillside built in Los Angeles in 1936 by Harwell

Hamilton Harris, a California architect known for

his West Coast interpretation of Modernist design

in the r94os and r95os. From the street, the Price

House is a small, low-pitched, front,gabled one-

story house with overhanging eaves and a shallow

deck extending across the eastern side, partially

sheltered by the roofoverhang. From the rear the

angled foundation level creates a two-story house.

The organic use of wood, seen in the vertical

wood siding of the exterior that continues on the

interior, the exposed post-and-beam framework

on the interior, and the natural wood ceiling,

show the influence of the Arts and Crafts style of
the Greene brothers of California and of Japanese

architecture. The main floor contains a living

room surrounded by two bedrooms, a bathroom,

and a kitchen. Sliding Japanese shoji screens serve

as some of the interior doors. One area of the liv-

ing room has a large skylight and a dropped trellis

that forms a cozy study nook with built-in boolc

shelves. Beneath the living room gable, the wall is

glazed above the plate to allow additional light.

Source: Troxell, 'Jim and John \febb."

Herbert and Martha McKay House

4o6 Westwood Drive

Ca. 1933

Another fine example of the picturesque Tudor

style in W'estwood is the McKay House. The two-

story house has wood shake walls, a high hip roof,

a front gabled wing, and a gabled entrance porch.

Other Tirdor features are a pent roof across the

facade between the first and second stories, six-

over-six sash windows, and a one-story side porch.
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Owners Herbert and Martha McKay

prepared sandwiches in their kitchen,

which they sold wholesale to various

stores in Chapel Hill in the r95os.

House

4zr \Testwood Drive

Ca. 1935

This substantial frame house is typical

of the dwellings built in Chapel Hill
as the local economy recovered from

the Great Depression. The large, Co-

lonial Revival-style, two-story side-

gabled house has an entrance with a
Iovely fanlight and sidelights, eight-

over-eight sash windows, asbestos wall

shingles, and a two-story recessed side

wing. The house sits atop a summit

at the curve in the road. The origi-

nal owners ofthe house are unknown.

Jake L. Conners was the owner-

occupant in ry57. Owners since then

include the Newtons and the Bucks.

Grady Pritchard House

324 
\West University Drive

Ca. 1935

George lTashington's Virginia home,

Mt. Vernon, supplied a popular model

for Colonial Revival houses in the

r93os. The landmark porch, with its two-story-

tall columns, was considered particularly appro-

priate for imposing houses in the South. This

two-story side-gabled house is a loose interpre-

tation of Mount Vernon, with weatherboarded

walls, an entrance with fanlight and sidelights,

six-over-six sash windows, and a full portico with

paneled posts. The earliest known owner was

Chapel Hill businessman Crady Pritchard, son of
Isaac \7. Pritchard, who developed this section of
'Westwood in the rgzos.

Source: Doug Eyre, telephone conversation

with author, Aug. 26, zoo4.

4zt WestwoodDriue

Grad"- Pritchard House
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Kenneth M. Br inkho us Hou s e

T homas M. S t anb ack Ho us e

Kenneth M. Brinkhous House

524 Dogwood Drive

1950

JimWebb

In r95o Jim \febb designed one ofhis earliest

Modernist houses in Chapel Hill for Professor

Kenneth M. Brinkhous. !7ebb followed Frank

Lloyd Wright's advice: "Select the worst lot you

can find." The "California modern" house is set

on a lot that slopes steeply down from Dogwood

Drive. Although the form of this house is a long,

traditional rectangle, the creativity of the de-

sign lies in the artistic way in which the founda-

tion of the house also serves as retaining walls

for the sloping lot. The brick foundation ex-

tends on either side of the house to terrace the

steep lot. The large, rectangular two-story house

has an overhanging side-gabled roof and a wood-

shingled main level set on a brick lower level.

The entrance is sheltered by a crisp exrension

of the main roof. A transparenr wall illuminates

the stair beside the entrance as it de.

scends to the lower level. At rhe rear,

the transparent living room wall looks

out on a wide balcony overlooking the

woods. Kenneth Brinkhous, a profes-

sor of pathology in the School of Med-

icine, was a noted hematologist.

Source: Doug Eyre, telephone con-

versation with author, Attg. 26, zoo4.

Thomas M. Stanback House

533 Dogwood Drive

ry48

The Stanback House was designed by

Jim !7ebb in 1948, but the blueprints

are signed by Raleigh architect Law-

rence Enerson because lfebb was not
yet licensed. The one-story side-gabled house is

set on a large, level wooded lot at a curve where

\Toodland Avenue intersects Dogwood Drive.

Among the characteristic Modernist features are

wide overhanging eaves, vertical wood siding,

small high-set windows on the street facade, and

large walls of windows on the rear, private eleva-

tion. A sunroom that projects from the rear was
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probably originally a screened porch.

A contemporary carport has been

added in front. Thomas Stanback, son

of the founder of the company that

made the Stanback headache remedy,

was from Salisbury, North Carolina.

Source: Doug Eyre, telephone con-

versation with authoq A]ug.26, zoo4.

House

534 Dogwood Drive

1937

This lovely two-story brick Colonial

Revival-style house has well-crafted

classical details such as Flemish bond brick walls,

a hip roo( an exterior end chimney, and an en-

trance wirh a blind fanlight and sidelights. The

six-over-six sash windows have stuccoed lintels.

The one-story side porch appears to be original.
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INDIVIDUAL SUBURBAN PROPERTIES

Merritt's Store
roog S. Columbia Street

tgzS

One of Chapel Hill's last old.time gas stations

stands at the corner of South Columbia Street

and Purefoy Road, near the U.S. r5-5or Bypass at

the south end of town. The Standard Oil Com-
pany service station is a one.story, flat.roofed,

white-stuccoed, Spanish Colonial Revival-
style station with a red terra cotta tile pent roof
and prominent pilasters that project above the
roofline with repetitive moldings characteristic of
Art Moderne design. Some years ago the srarion

metamorphosed into a country store, known as

Merritt's Store. The service bays on the northern
side have become part of the store space. !7ith its

large parking lot and convenient crossroads loca-

tion, the store is a handy stop for a quick lunch

at its short-order grill. E. G. Merritt construcred

the station and operated it until his retirement.

His widow owned the station unril at least the

late twentieth century. The store was a gathering

place for farmers, professors, and other members

of the community for many years. In the rg8os

it was used as the setting for the successful New

York musical Pump Boys andDinettes by Chapel

Hill musician Jim Wann.

Source: Gibbs, Study List Application.

;
?
F

Merritr's .Srore
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Community Church
of Chapel Hill
ro6 Purefoy Road

1957, tgTo

G eorge Matsumoto, CogswelUHausler

Associates, architects

The Community Church was founded

in 1953 by the Rev. Charlie Jones,

who had been pastor of the Chapel

Hill Presbyterian Church, and some

three hundred members of the con-

gregation after Reverend Jones was

forced out ofrhe church because ofhis
championship of civil rights for Af.
rican Americans. In the r94os Rev-

erend Jones began to invite African
American students to church activities, to ar.

range housing for black speakers who came to the
university, and to act as a mediator for the "free.

dom riders." Reverend Jones was eventually forced

out by the Orange Presbytery, the governing body

of the Presbyterian Church in Orange County.

The new nondenominational church, established

to promote the practice of racial tolerance, ini-
rially met in the auditorium of the Institute of
Pharmacy. In lg55 rhe church acquired a four.

teen-acre site at Purefoy Road and Mason Farm

Road. Reverend Jones dedicated the Activities
Building in rg5g and served as the church's min-
ister until 1967.

The Activities Building was designed rn ry57
by George Matsumoto, architect and professor

at the School of Design at North Carolina State

College (now Ncsu). The long one.story build-
ing, constructed of small concrete blocks that re-

semble bricks, is located on a sloping site that
becomes two stories at the rear, where a wall of
windows faces south. Along the easrern side, the
roof extends out to shelter a corridor. In the late

r96os the congregation commissioned local ar-

Community Church of ChapelLlill

chitects Cogswell/Hausler Associates ro design a

sanctuary. The architects created a dramatically

sculptural International Style two-story sanctuary,

set opposite and parallel to the original church

and connected to it by a one-story conrinuously
glazed hyphen containing the main entrance.

The complex faces north, wirh the original and

added sections enclosing a courtyard. The sanc-

tuary, a tall, bold two-story cube, is covered with
vertical siding stained gray. On the interior the

dark, mysterious space resembles a theater, with
terraced seating that fans out around a front stage

(altar). The only natural lighting comes from a

clerestory window above rhe altar. Large, brightly
colored tubular lighting fixrures hang from the
high ceiling. Folding chairs serve as flexible seat-

ing for the congregation.

Source: Vickers, Chapel Hill, q o-t7 3.
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Totten Center, North Carolina Botanical Garden

Totten Center, North Carolina
Botanical Garden
U.S. r5-5or Bypass

r975

Don Stewart, architect

Totten Center, the first permanent building

in the North Carolina Botanical Garden, was

largely funded by a bequest of Addie and Roland

Totten. It was designed to fit its natural woodland

setting by architect Donald Stewart. The build-

ing, which contains the oflices, plant propagation

laboratories, and classrooms of the Botanical Gar-

den, was completed rn ry75 on a very low budget.

The one-story passive solar rectangular building

has a high concrete block foundation, T-rrr (ply-

wood) siding, and a flat roof with hipped sides.

Among the energy-conserving features are con-

struction of the front of the building partially into

the ground and a continuous band ofskylights at

front and rear that illuminate the work areas. The

dirt banks against the building serve as planting

beds for the garden's native plants. The prescient

design, completed shortly before the 1973 energy

crisis, reflects the era's concern with energy con-

servation, as well as the Botanical

Garden's environmental ethic.

The Botanical Garden was estab-

lished in the rg6os on university land

acquired from the Mason family and

\7ilham Hunt. The garden consists of

ninety-five acres located around the

Totten Center. Henry Roland Tot-

ten (r892-rg74), an expert on North
Carolina botany, was professor of bot

any at the university for fifty years. His

wife, Addie Williams Totten (r89o-

r97 4), was an outstanding horticul-

turist and a statewide leader in native

plant conservation.

The log cabin study of Paul Green

stands on the grounds. The nineteenth-century

cabin, which Green acquired in 1939 and moved

from Hillsborough to his house on Greenwood

Drive in Chapel Hill, was relocated to the garden

in tggz to serve as a memorial to Green, as a fo-

cal point ofthe garden, and as a classroom and

meeting room.

Quail Hill (George Watts Hill House)
roor Raleigh Road

Ca. rg5o

The substantial brick Colonial \Williamsburg-

style house, probably designed by architect

George Watts Carr of Durham, was built for

George lfatts Hill as his Chapel Hill residence.

Hill was a famous Durham and Chapel Hill busi-

ness leader and philanthropist, a great supporter

of the university, and a major figure in the cre-

ation of Research Triangle Park. The house re-

sembles Hill's earlier residence in Durham

County known as Quail Roost. Hill stayed here

when he was attending university events, such

as football games, and moved into Quail Hill in
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the rg6os. The secluded residence is

located on a nineteen-acre wooded

tract beside the Friday Center. The

one-and-one-half-story house fea-

tures such linely detailed colonial el-

ements as Flemish bond brickwork,

a pedimented entrance porch, and a

corbeled wooden cornice. In the ad-

ditive form typical of rural dwellings

in eighteenth-century Virginia, the

main block is flanked by lower brick

hyphens and wings set at right angles

to the main block. The large twelve-

over-sixteen pane sash windows of the

main block, and the eight-over-twelve

sashes ofthe wings, are enlarged ver-

sions of colonial windows that provide

ample natural light to the interior. At
the rear, a bowed window overlooks a

private patio. The left wing is a two-

car garage. Brick walls, iron gates,

and a nicely decorated brick storage

shed add to the character ofthe ru-

ral esrare. At Hill's death in 1993, rhe

university acquired the property. [t
was first used as the chancellor's resi-

dence by Chancellor Michael Hooker

isss-rssd.
Sources: Long, "Building Notes";

Doug Eyre, telephone conversation

with author, May 4, zoo4.

Glen Lennox Apartments
and Shopping Center
Maxwell Road and Hamilton Road

1949-1950, t952

Leif Valand, architect ( attributed)

The Iirst large apartment complex in Chapel Hill,
and the lirst outside the village, was Glen Len-

Quail HiIl (G eorye Watts Hill House)

GIen Lennox Aprtments and" Shoppingcenter

nox Apartments, Iocated on the Raleigh Road

(NC Highway 54) at the eastern edge of town.

lUhen university controller William Carmichael
jr. pleaded with developers to help solve an acute

housing shortage in Chapel Hill in 1945, Dur-

ham contractor Villiam Muirhead began work

on Glen Lennox. Muirhead was a Scottish-born

and -trained engineer who founded the Muirhead
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Construction Company in Durham in the late

rgzos. Two of his most important later projects

were Dorton Arena in Raleigh and Tryon Palace

in New Bern.

Muirhead pieced together a hundred-acre

wooded site and constructed the initial phase of

314 units from rg49 to r95o. The architect is be-

lieved to have been Leif Valand of Raleigh, who

designed the mixed-use Cameron Village and

the Country Club Homes apartments on Ober.

lin Road in Raleigh about the same rime. The

traditional red brick one-story apartment build-

ings, with simple Modernist features such as cor-

ner window placements, have irregular, staggered

shapes that allow for ventilation and light on rwo

and often three sides of each apartment. Each

building follows the same general appearance,

with brick walls, hip roofs, large metal casement

windows, and areas of vertical wood sheathing

that break up wall surfaces. Entrances have con-

crete stoops with metal railings; a few have

concrete and metal porches. Apartments have

one, two, or three bedrooms. These buildings are

arranged in superblocks along a series ofslightly

curvilinear streets with large hardwood trees and

sizable grassy lawns around the buildings. Super-

block housing complexes, developed in the rg4os,

emphasize the maintenance of common park
like pedestrian areas instead ofthe provision of
parking close to the buildings. By ,953 a second

phase brought the total number of apartments

to 44o, housing r,5oo occupants. A few single-

family homes were built and sold in the complex.

Early tenants included older people, families with
young children, and university students.

ln tg5z the Glen Lennox Shopping Center

facing Raleigh Road was constructed. It contains

three commercial buildings: a pair of two-story

buildings with retail businesses on the flrst story

and offrces upstairs, and a service station, all ar-

ranged around a parking lot. The remarkably in-

tact architecture of brick and simplifred Mod-

ernist window detailing is in harmony with the

apartment buildings. The frrst businesses included

a Dairy Bar, a Colonial Stores grocery, a laundro-

mat, a barbershop, a pharmacy, a bank, a post of-

fice, a Sinclair service station, and offices. In its

early years, Glen Lennox was known for its neigh-

borhood character; many ofthe tenants were ac-

quainted with each other. Chapel Hilt annexed

the project in 1956, and in later years Frank H.

Kenan purchased it. It has been owned since 1985

by Grubb Management [nc. Glen Lennox Apart-

ments and Shopping Center still function as one

of the largest and most popular rental complexes

in Chapel Hill.
Sources: Doug Eyre, 'Apartment Buildings

Came to Chapel Hill in the rgzos," ChapelHill

Mu.rs, June 26, zooz; for superblock develop-

ments, see Roth, AConcise History of American

Architectur e, 266 -269.

Villa Tempesta
rzr3 East Franklin Street

ry58-ry62
G erar d Temp e st, ar chitect

This concrete block, brick, and stuccoed villa was

built from 1958 to ry6zby artist Gerard Tempest

using architectural artifacts salvaged from area

landmarks, including the Benjamin N. Duke and

George !7. \Uatts mansions in Durham. lUith its

opulent Neoclassical columns, stained glass, or-

nate doors, and woodwork, the overall effect is

reminiscent of an Italian villa-precisely what

the Italian artist, who went by Tempesta, wished

to achieve. Tempest's staircase and oak din-

ing hall are from the \ff/atts house, and his "Blue

Room" is the original parlor in the Duke house.

An earlier and far grander example of this re-

use of architectural artifacts is found at Chinqua
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Penn, the country home of the Penn family in

Rockingham County, built in the rgzos using ar-

chitectural elements salvaged from Europe.

Tempest, born in rgr8 in Italy, emigrated with
his family to Massachusetts in rg29. After serv-

ing in World !7ar II, he studied painting ar the

museum school of the Boston Museum of Fine

Arts, then at the Academia Belle Arti in Rome

and with Giorgio de Chirico in Italy. Tempest re-

ceived a B.A. in philosophy at the University of

North Carolina in Chapel Hill in the r95os. Dur-

ing the following years, while painting portraits

and murals, he lived in Boston, Rome, and Cali-

fornia. Returning to Chapel Hill, he studied art
history at the university. During this time, he

purchased a ruggedly sloping lot on East Frank

lin Street and worked for 6ve years to construct

this villa, which he used as his family residence,

VillaTempesta

an art studio and gallery, and a restaurant. Tem-

pest sold the villa in ry66 and moved to Europe.

In the rgTos he lived in Rome, where he worked

in painting and sculpture. His work has been ex.

hibited in New York and Rome. He and his fam-

ily have lived in an International Style house in
Durham since rg75.

The building was owned and operated as the

Villa Teo restaurant by Chapel Hill restaurateur

B. B. Danziger from 1966 until 1985. Since rggr

the villa has been lThitehall at the Villa, the

home of Whitehall Antiques, owned by David

Lindquist and his daughter Elizabeth Lindquist.

Sources: Sarah M. Cameron, GerardF. Tem-

pest AbsuactSpiriualism (Rome: De Luca Pub-

lisher, 1973); interview by the author with Merrit

Leigh Hampton, Jan. 12,2oo4.
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Whitehall Antiques Building
rzr5 East Franklin Street

r94os

In r93o, Mabel Bason, wife of a university profes-

soq started \7hitehall Antiques in her home on

East Franklin Street. By the early rg5os, her busi.

ness had expanded, so she purchased this build-

W hitehall Anti que s Buildins

Chapel HiLl Professional Village

ing. The one-story, flarroofed concrete block

building had been the "Curve [nn," a drive-in

restaurant, and was briefly a Chinese restaurant.

Mrs. Bason apparently added the Colonial Re-

vival-style entrance and the large flanking bay

windows to give the structure an atmosphere

more appropriate for her business. !7hen Mrs. Ba-

son retired in the early rggos, David Lindquist

purchased Whitehall Antiques and continues to

operate ir, now with his daughter Eliz-

abeth Lindquist. !7hitehall Antiques

is believed to be the oldest continuing

antiques business in North Carolina.

The antiques shop moved next door

into the Villa Gmpesta in 1992, and

rzr5 East Franklin Street now con-

tains a garden and landscaping 6.rm.

A popular coffee house, Cafd Driade,

occupies a small outbuilding.

Source: David Lindquist, telephone

conversation with the author, Apr. zr,

2oo4; rg57 City Directory.

Chapel Hill Professional Village
rzr S. Estes Drive

Ca. 1968

Community Planning and,\rchitecture

Associates, architects

Don Stewart's firm, Community

Planning and Architecture Associ-

ates, designed this office complex and

had their offices here. The sprawl-

ing complex located across from Uni-
versity Mall has one- and two-story

units linked by an office bridge. Yel-

low brick foundation piers and accent

walls combine with vertical wood sid-

ing, vertical windows, and a flat roof.

Parking located adjacent to the of-
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fices is screened by extensive plant-

ings of trees and shrubs. The influence

of such early Modernist buildings as

Taliesen !7est, Frank Lloyd Wright's

winter home and studio in Arizona,

are evident in the battered walls and

sophisticated arrangement of sepa-

rate units into the overall Professional

Village.

Ridgefield Townhouses
East end of South Estes Drive

r970

Cogswell I Hausler Associates, architects

The Ridgefield Townhouses, a public housing

project developed by the town of Chapel Hill,
was a successful multifamily development that re-

sembled student apartment complexes of its era.

It consists of nine two-story buildings with brick

lower levels, frame upper levels, and side-gabled

roofs, each containing from four to seven apart-

ments. Each unit has a wooden privacy screen.

The buildings are arranged in courtyards, each

with green space and parking. The easternmost

building, a one-story community building set be-

side the playground, is now home to one of the

Family Resource Centers operated by the Cha-

pel Hill Tiaining-Outreach Project to provide

programs to strengthen families. In r97r the de-

sign of the low-income townhouses won a North
Carolina ara Merit Award for the Cogswell/

Hausler firm for its sophisticated mix of tradi-

tional and contemporary features within a mod-

est budget.

RidgefieldTounhouses

ChaDelHill Fire Station No. 3

Chapel Hill Fire Station No. 3
Northwestern corner East Franklin Street

and Elliott Road

rg67

CogswelllHausler Associates, architects

One of Chapel Hill's first suburban fire stations,

No. 3 is a small brick International Style building

designed by Cogswell/Hausler Associates of Cha-

pel Hill. The flat-roofed brick building consists of
a tall block containing the fire truck storage area,

with two bays facing Elliott Road. To the south is

: ,'"t,

,:, -
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Blue Cross Blue ShieldBuilding

a lower wing containing sleeping quarters, an of-

fice, and a kitchen opening ro an ourdoor dining
terrace. The severely functional modernist build-

ing is softened by its well-landscaped surround-

ings, a large lot with hardwood trees and shrubs.

The building received a merit award from the

North Carolina chapter of the American Insri-

tute of Architects in r97r.

Blue Cross Blue Shield Building
59or Chapel Hill Boulevard

r973

A. G. OdellAssociares, Charlotte, architects

The most dramatic modern building in Cha-

pel Hill, the Blue Cross Blue Shield Building is a

four-story glass rhomboid, 4oo feet long and roo

feet wide. The three-story glass walls set at 45 de-

grees are elevated on sturdy masonry columns. At
the ground level is a recessed glass-enclosed lobby.

The client, a health insurance company, wanted a

glass building. In order to accommodate the glass

walls to the sun's harsh glare, the architect used

tinted glass and angled the southern and wesr-

ern walls to slope outward to deflect the sun's rays.

The reflection of the sky in these walls also en-

hances their dramatic effect. Odell Associates of
Charlotte, founded in the rg4os by A. G. Odell

Jr., was one of the state's foremost practitioners of
modern design in the second half of the twenri-

eth century.

Sources: Bishir and Southern, A Guide n the

Historic,\rchitecture of Piedmont North Carolina,

238; Bishir, Brown, Lounsbury, and !7ood, Archi-

tects and Builders in North Carolina, 36t.
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Glossary

ADAMESeuE. See ErornaL srYLE.

ARCADE. A range ofarches supported on piers or

columns, attached to or detached from a wall.

ART DECo. A style of decorative arts and ar-

chitecture popular in the rgzos and r93os,

characterized by the use ofgeometric, angu-

lar forms, also referred to as Moderne or Art
Moderne.

ART MoDERNT. See aR.r oeco.

ASHLAR. Hewn blocks of masonry, as opposed to

rubble or unhewn stone.

BALUSTER. A short pillar or colonnette, often

turned with classical moldings and having

a base, shaft, and cap; balusters support the

handrail and enclose the side of a staircase.

BALUSTRADE. A row of balusters surmounted

by a railing that forms a low enclosure, often

found on porches, terraces, balconies, roofs,

and staircases.

BARGEBoARD. A board, often molded, carved,

or otherwise ornamented, that runs at a slop-

ing angle the length of the gable end of a

building and covers the junction between

the wall and end rafter pair; also known as

vergeboard.

BARREL vAULT. The simplest form of vault, con-

sisting of a continuous vault of semicircular

or pointed section, unbroken in its length by

cross vaults.

BATTERED. Having a slight incline from perpen-

dicular; particutarly, a porch support on a bun-

galow porch.

BATTLEMENT. See cRpN rr-LATroN.

sav. An opening or division along a face of a

structure. For example, a wall with a door and

two windows is three bays wide. A bay can

also be a projection of a room or facade having

windows, often called a BAy wrNDow. Where

the sides of a bay are set diagonally beneath

a triangular gable, they are said to be a cu'r-
AWAY BAY.

BAY wrNDow. See aav.

BEA DBoA RD. Mass-produced tongue-and-groove

sheathing boards with a decorative bead at

each edge.

BEAUx anrs. Style of classical architecture, popu-

larly associated with the Ecole des Beaux Arts

in Paris, that prevailed in France in the late

nineteenth century and that was adopted in

the United States and elsewhere circa rgoo;

eclectic use and adaptation of French architec-

tural features combined so as to give a massive,

elaborate, and often ostentatious effect.

BELVEDERE. A small lookout tower with a view,

located on the roofofa building.

BoARD AND BATTEN. A method of covering ex-

terior walls using vertical boards, with nar-

row strips or wood (battens) used to cover the

joints between the boards.

BRACKET. A divide-ornamental, structural, or

both-set under a projecting element, such as

the eaves of a house.

BULL's-EyE wINDow. A round window, usually

decorative rather than functional, often cen-

tered in a gable or pediment of a classical-style

building.

BUNGALow sryLE. An early-twentieth-century

architectural style that grew out of the Arts

and Crafts movement of the late nineteenth

century. Its basic characteristics are long, low

profiles; overhanging, bracketed eaves; wide

engaged porches with square, squat brick piers
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supporting wood posts; and informal interior
arrangements. Also known as cRAFTSMAN

STYLE.

BUTTRESS. A vertical mass of masonry projecting

from or built against a wall to give additional

strength at the point of maximum stress.

cAPE CoD coTTAGE. A one-and-one-half-story

house whose rear roof slopes to cover rear shed

rooms. This house type is traditional ro Cape

Cod, Massachusetts.

cApITAL. The topmost member, usually deco-

rated or molded, of a column or pilaster.

cHAMFER. A bevel or oblique surface formed by

cutting off a square edge.

cLERESToRY. The upper stage of the main walls

of a building, pierced by windows.

cLrppED GABLE. A gable the peak of which is

truncated for decorative effect; often the roof

overhangs the missing peak.

coLoNrAL REV rvAL sryLE. Late-nineteenth-

and early.twentieth-century style that com-

bines features of classical and American Colo.
nial architecture.

CoLLEGTATE GOTHTC STYLE. A particular form

of the Late Gothic Revival style often used for

educational buildings.

coMMoN noNo. A method of laying brick

wherein one course of headers is laid for every

three, five, or seven courses ofstretchers.

coRBEL, The projection of masonry courses in a

stepped series so that each course ofbrick or

stones extends farther forward than the one

below. Corbeling appears in parapers, chimney

shoulders and caps, and masonry cornices.

coRTNTHTAN oRDER. The slenderest and most

ornate of the classical Greek orders of archi-

tecture, characterized by a slim fluted column

with bell-shaped capital decorated with styl-

ized acanthus leaves; variations of this order

were used extensively by the Romans.

CoRNER BLocK. A square piece, either plain or

decorated, that becomes a corner ofa window

or door surround.

coRNrcE. The uppermost part of an entablature,

usually used to crown the wall of a building,

portico, or ornamental doorway. The term is

loosely applied to almost any horizontal mold-

ing forming a main decorative feature, espe-

cially to a molding at the junction of walls and

ceiling in a room.

CRAFTSMAN STYLE. SCC NUNCAIOW STYLE.

cRENELLATToN. Alternating indentations and

raised sections of a parapet, creating a tooth-
like profile sometimes known as a battlement.

Crenellation is a detail found most commonly

in the Gothic Revival style.

cRossErrE. A lateral projection of the head of a

molded architrave or surround of a door, win.
dow, mantel, or paneled overmantel.

cupoLA. A small structure, usually polygonal,

built on top of a roof or tower, mostly for orna-
mental purposes.

cuRTArN war-r-. The exterior wall of a steel-

frame building. Because the wall has no load-

bearing function, it may be constructed of
glass or other lighrweight materials.

curAwAY ney. See BAy wrNDow.

DoRrc oRDEn. A classical order mosr readily dis-

tinguished by its simple, unornamenred capi-

tals and tablets with vertical grooving, called

triglyphs, set at regular intervals in the frieze.

DUTCH COLONIAL REVIVAL STYLE. A TCViVAI Of

the eighteenth-century style of buildings con.

structed by Dutch settlers in the American

colonies. A gambrel roof is the most character.

istic feature.

EASTLAKE sryLE. A forerunner of the Stick style

with rich ornamentation and heavy brack
ets, named after the English architect Charles

Eastlake (1833-19o6), a pioneer of the Tirdor

Revival.

rlr-. A secondary wing or extension of a building,
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often a rear addition, positioned at right angles

to the principal mass.

ENGAGED poRCH. A porch whose roof is continu-

ous structurally with that of the main section

of the building.

ENGLTsH BoND. A method of laying brick

wherein one course is laid with stretchers and

the next with headers, thus bonding a dou-

ble thickness of brick together to form a high-

strength bond.

FANLIGHT. A semicircular window, usually above

a door or window, with radiating muntins sug-

gesting a fan.

FEDERAL sryLE. The style of architecture popu-

lar in America from the Revolution through

the early nineteenth century (in North Caro-

lina from about rSoo to r84o). The style

reflects the influence of the Adam style, which

was popularized in England by Scots archi-

tects Robert and James Adam and empha-

sized deIicate variations of classical Roman

architecture.

FLAT ARCH. A straight arch with a horizontal

soffit; also known as a jack arch.

FLEMTsH Bor.ro. A method of laying brick

wherein headers and stretchers alternate in
each course and, vertically, headers are placed

over stretchers to form a bond and give a dis-

tinctive cross pattern.

FRETwoRK, An ornamental decoration usually

composed of jigsawn or turned elements and

applied to rhe raking cornice of a roof or be-

tween the posts of a porch.

FRIEzE. The middle portion of a classical entab-

lature, located above the architrave and below

the cornice. The term is also used to describe

the flat, horizontal board located above the

weatherboards of most houses.

GABLE noor. A double-sloping roo( often re-

ferred to as an A roof.

cABLE-AND-wrNG FoRM. A house form in

which a front-gabled wing extends at right an-

gles to the main side-gabled unit, creating an

L plan. The form was derived from Italianate

and Queen Anne styles and became popular

during the mid- to late r8oos.

GAMBREL noor. A roof with two pitches rising

into a ridge, the upper slope being flatter than

the lower one.

GAzEBo. A small, usually polygonal turreted fea-

ture that is placed at the corner of a porch or

is a freestanding garden feature. It is usually as-

sociated with the Queen Anne style.

GEoRGTAN REVTvAL sryt-E. A revival of the

style of the eighteenth century in Great Brit-

ain and the North American colonies. It is de-

rived from classical, Renaissance, and Baroque

forms.

GERMAN srDrNG. A type ofweatherboard, popu-

lar from the rgzos on, with a concave bevel at

the top ofeach board.

corHrc ancH. A curved opening in a wall that

comes to an acute point, characteristic of
Gothic architecture.

corHrc REVTvAL sryLE. The nineteenth-

century revival of the forms and ornament of

medieval/Gothic European architecture, char-

acterized by the use ofpointed arches, but.

tresses, pinnacles, and other Gothic details in

a decorative fashion. The style was popular for

church architecture.

cREEK REVTvAL sryLE. The mid-nineteenth-

century revival of the forms and ornamenta.

tion of the architecture of ancient Greece.

HALF-TTMBERTNG. In medieval times, a struc-

tural system consisting of a timber-framed

building, the interstices filled with masonry

and usuafly stuccoed. The term also describe

the later practice of applying boards to the face

of a wall in imitation of half-timbered con-

struction, often described as false or applied

half-timbering.
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KEysroNE. The central wedge.shaped stone at

the crown of an arch or in the center of a

1inte1.

LANCET wrNDow. A narrow, sharply pointed,

arched window.

LANTERN. A small circular or polygonal turret

with windows all around, crowning a roof or

dome.

LUNETTE. A half-moon window, or the wall

space defined by an arch or vault.

MANSARD RooF. A roof with a double slope on

all four sides, the lower slope being steeper

than the upper, that is the defining feature

of the Second Empire style, popular in the

mid-r8oos.

MEDTTERRANEAN REVTvAL sryLE. An early.

twentieth-century revival of the architecture

ofsouthern Europe, especially Spain and It-

aly, characterized by stuccoed walls, tile roofs,

arched porches, and metal and tile ornament.

MINTMAL TRADTTToNAL sryLE. A style popular

for houses in the r94os and r95os, character-

ized by gabled forms with simplified classical or

medieval decoration.

MoDERNTsM. A style of contemporary architec.

ture popular in the United States from the

r93os to the r97os that fused the International

Style with the American modernism of Frank

Lloyd lTright and his followers.

MoDrLLroN. A horizontal bracket, often in the

form of a plain block, ornamenting or some-

times supporting the underside of a cornice.

MoNrroR noor. A projection at the ridgeline of
a roof containing continuous windows that il-

luminate the center of the space inside the

building; often used in factories.

MUNTTN. A strip of wood separating the panes of
a window sash.

NEocLASSTcAL REVTvAL sryLE. The revival of
design features from ancient Greek and Ro.

man precedents. It generally refers to the re-
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HEADER. The end of a brick, sometimes glazed.

HrGH vrcroRrAN GoTHIC sryt-E. A late rSoos

version of the Gothic Revival style character-

ized by exaggerated Gothic forms, including

steep polychrome slate roofs and ornate brick-

work and tilework.

Hrp RooF. A roof that slopes back equally from

each side of a building. A hip roof can have

either a pyramidal form or a slight ridge.

HooD MoLDrNc. A projecting molding on the

face of a wall, usually over a door or window,

designed to throw offwater; also called a label

molding.

HyrHEN. A small enclosed passage that con-

nects two different buildings or secrions of a

building.

INTERNATIoNAL sryLE. The general form of ar-

chitecture developed in the rgzos and r93os

by European architects; characterized by sim-

ple geometric forms, large untextured sur-

faces (often white), large areas ofglass, and

the general use ofsteel or reinforced-concrete

construction.

IoNrc oRDER. A classical order distinguished by

a capital with spiral scrolls, called volutes, and

generally dentil courses. This order is more

elaborate than the Doric but less so than the

Corinthian.

ITALIANATE sryt-E. A revival of elements of
Italian Renaissance architecture popular dur.

ing the middle and late nineteenth century;

characterized by the presence ofbroad project-

ing or overhanging cornices supported by or-

nate sawn brackets. Other features include the

use of arched windows and heavy hood molds.

Also known as Italianate Revival style.

JACoBEAN (JacoaprHaN) srvle . The style of
architecture in England in the frrst half of the

seventeenth century. lt continued the medie-

val Elizabethan style, with a gradual introduc.

tion of Italian Renaissance elements.



newed interest in classicism around the turn of

the twentieth century. Also known as Classi

cal Revival.

ocuLUS. A round window.

oRrEL wrNDow. A bay window, especially one

projecting from an upper story.

NEw BRUTALTSM srYLE. A modern style of ar-

chitecture popular in the rg6os and r97os

characterized by the use ofheavy, bare con-

crete walls with rough surfaces and few

openings.
pALLADTAN wrNDow. A three-part window

design featuring a central arched opening

flanked by lower square-headed openings, sep-

arated from the central part by columns, pilas-

ters, piers, or narrow vertical panels.

pAvrLroN. A projecting subdivision of a larger

building, often forming a central or terminat-

ing wing and distinguished by variation in

height and roof form.

rARAeET. A low wall along a roof or terrace, used

for decoration or protection.

rEDTMENT. A crowning element of porticos, pa-

vilions, doorways, and other architectural fea-

tures, usually of low triangular form, with a

cornice extending across its base and carried

up the raking sides; sometimes broken in the

upper center as if to accommodate an orna-

ment; sometimes of segmental, elliptical, or

serpentine form.

rENDANT, An ornament suspended from a roof,

vault, ceiling, or bracket.
prANo NoBrLE. The Italian term for the principal

story ofa building, located on the level above

the service level and thus literallv the second

story.

pILASTER. A shallow pier or rectangular column
projecting only slightly from a wall. Pilasters

are usually decorated like columns with a base

shaft, and capital.
polycHRoMy. The use of multiple colors in ar.

chitecture; generally seen in brickwork or roof

tiles.

poRTrco. A roofed space, open or partly en-

closed, often with columns and a pediment,

that forms the entrance and centerpiece of the

facade of a building.

PosT-AND-BEAM STRUCTUnT. A heavy tim-

ber framework used in Modernist dwellings

that replaced the old timber frame system in
which wall studs were an integral part of the

load-bearing function of the wall. In post-and-

beam houses, interior partitions have no load-

bearing function.
pRArRrE sryt-E. Style ofarchitecture devel-

oped from the Prairie School, a group ofearly-

twentieth-century architects of the Chicago

area who designed houses and buildings with
emphasis on horizontal lines corresponding to

the flatness of the Midwestern prairie of the

United States.

euEEN ANNE sryl-E. A late-nineteenth.century

revival of early-eighteenth-century English ar-

chitecture, characterized by irregularity of plan

and massing and a variety of textures.

euorNs. Ornamental blocks of wood, stone,

brick, or stucco placed at the corners of a

building and projecting slightly from the front

of the facade.

RAFTER rarr-. The portion of the roof rafter

that is sometimes left exposed at the eave.

This is generally a decorative feature and may

actually be a false rafter tail. Also known as

rafter end.

RAKTNG coRNrcE. The cornice board applied to

the gable end of a building.

RANCH HousE. A one-story house type with a

low.pitched rool built mainly in the Ameri-
can suburbs after lTorld War II. Also called a

rambler.

RoMANESeuE REVTvAL. The revival in the sec-

ond half of the nineteenth centurv of massive
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Romanesque forms, characterized by the round

arch and masonry walls.

RosE wrNDow. A circular window with foils or
patterned tracery arranged like the spokes of
a wheel.

RouND ancn. A semicircular or compass-headed

arch whose inner curve is a semicircle.

RoruNDA. A circular space that is usually

domed.

RUBBED BRrcK. Brick with a decorative finish

obtained by rubbing the surface with a rough

object to produce a smooth surface of consis-

tent color. It was used to highllght openings or

other elements of a building.

RU s r r cAT r oN. Rough-surfaced stonework or imi-
tation stonework.

sasu. The frame, usually of wood, that holds the

pane(s) of glass in a window; may be movable

or fixed; may slide in a vertical plane or may

pivot.

sEGMENTAL ARCH. An arch formed on a seg-

ment of a circle or an ellipse.

sHINGLE sryt-E. An American style popular in
the late rSoos characterized by a continuously

shingled outer surface that expressed inner

volumes.

spANrsH cot-oNrAL REVTvAL srvr-r. Early-

twentieth-century revival of the architecture

of colonial Spanish settlements, featuring stuc-

coed masonry walls, clay tile roofs, balconies,

and arched openings.

sprNDLE FRTEZE. A row of lathe-turned spindles

included as the uppermost decorative feature

ofa gallery or porch below the cornice; also

known as an openwork frieze.

srRrppED cLAssrclsM, A late form of Classical

Revival architecture, popular in the r93os and

rg4os, with simplified classical ornament, of-

ten reflecting the influence of the geometric

Art Moderne style.

swaN's-NECr pEDTMENT. An ornamental pedi
ment, usually over an entrance, whose flanking
boards have an S-shaped curve similar ro a

swan's neck. A decorative finial is usually set at

the apex of the pediment.

TRACERy. Ornamental work consisting of divided

ribs, bars, or the like, as in the upper part of a

Gothic window, in panels, and in screens.

TRTcABLE ronn. A side-gabled roof building
that contains a decorative gable in the center

ofthe facade; hence, it has three gables.

TUDoR or ruDoR REVTvAL. A style popular in
the early twentieth century, characterized by

motifs associated with medieval English archi-

tecture, such as steep gables, diamond-paned

windows, and picturesque chimneys.

TURRET. A small slender tower derived from me-

dieval castle construction, usually at the cor.

ner of a building and often containing a circu-

lar stair. The Queen Anne style employs the

turret as one of its primary characteristics.

vAU LT. An arched ceiling of roof of stone or

brick, sometimes imitated in wood or plaster.

wAINSCor. A decorative or protective facing ap-

plied to the lower portion of an interior wall or

partition.

wlDow's walr. A walkway, usually located on a

flat deck on top of a roo( enclosed by a railing.

wTLLTAMSBURG sryt-E. The style of colonial ar-

chitecture of eighteenth-century Williamsburg

when it was the capital of Virginia. Following

the restoration of the city as a living history

museum during the rg3os, the style was widely

imitated.
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Abernethy, Eric A., rzr
Abernethy HaLl,43,44, ro8, t2r, r2r
Aberthaw of Atlanta architects, 52,

ro9

Ackland, William Hayes,74, tz3
Ackland Art Museum, 74, tog_:,to,

t23,123-124
Adam, Robert,4-5
A.G. Odell Associates, 95-96,294
Agger, Bob,266
Al Pons House, 263,263

Aladdin kit houses, t67, t68
Alberta Textile Mill, r77-r78, r89

Alderman, Edwin A., 4t-42, to8,
tt6, tt7

Alderman Dormitory, 58, tog, tz7

Allcott, John, The Campus atChapel
Hill, xiv

Alpha Epsilon Pi House, r8r
Alpha Tau Omega Fraternity House,

r48, r48
Alumni Hall, 34, 4t1 (Jt 43, 44, to8,

rr7-rr8, lr8
American Italianate style, 16

Anderson, Bob, 89, 9o, z6z

Anderson, Bob, House, z6z, z6z

Anderson, Mary S., House, 25g,25g
Andrews and McGready architects,

229

Anglican "Chapel of Ease," r75

Anglican Church, Hillsborough, 3

Appalachian State University, ix
Arts and Crafts style, 44,45, 48, rzt,

t63, zt4-2r5, 2tg,227, zz8, z8t
Atkins, General Smith, 3r
Atkins, \7. E., zz8

Atkins-Peacock House, zz8

Atwood, T. C., Duplex, z3o,

23o-231

Atwood, Thomas C., 52, 58,64,66,
68, ro9, rzo, r2r, tz3, tz6, tz7,
rz8, r3o, r3r, r33, r7g, r8z-r83,
r87, zog-2to,23o,235

Aycock Dormitory, 56, rc9, o8

Baity, Elizabeth Chesley, r4r
Baity, Herman G., r4o-r4r, zoo
Baity, Herman G. and Elizabeth,

House, r4o-14t, r4t
Ball, F.K., ry4155
Baptist Church, 24,25, t44, r8o, zrr
Barbee, Christopher, 3, 248

Barham, Dave, z6-27
Barnett, Ann, z7r

Barnett, Thomas B., z7r
Barnett, Thomas and Ann, House,

1-f-aa) 11,

Baskerville, Charles, 37, r45, r54
Baskerville-Kennette House, 37, 37,

r54, r54

Bason, Mabel, z9z

Battle, Kemp Plummer, 33, ry8, qz,
r74

Battle, \Tilliam Horn, 9,33, r5o,

r72, t74

Battle Park, r38

Battle-Vance.Pettigrew Building
(dormitories), 43, 44,44, ro8, rr9,
rt9

Bauhaus architectural and design

school, 78
Bay Area style, 79, 257,266,275
Beaux Arts style, 4r, 4z-44, rc8,

rzy rz6

Bell, James M., r6j
Bell, James M., House, 163, 163

Bellemeade, Virginia, r8

Benjamin, Asher, 4-5
Bennett, Mark, r37

Bergman, Barrie and Arlene,
25o-25r

Berman's Department Store, r99
Berry, Harriet Morehead, 136

Berry, John, zr, r15

Beta Theta Pi Fraternity House, 6z-
63, r8o-r8r

Big Fraternity Court, 62, r79, r8r,
r8z

Bingham, Robert, 16r

Bingham Hall,56, ro9, r3r, r3r
Bishir, Catherine, xi
Blanche Hosiery MiIl, r78

Blandwood, Greensboro, 16

Blirhewood, New York City, r5

Blue Cross Blue Shield Building, 95-
96,97, zg4,294

Blythe, Wllliam 8., 245-246
Blythe, William B. and Gloria,

House, 245,245-246
Boger, Walter W., zt4
Bond, Mrs. Richard P., 9z
Boney, Leslie N., Jr., r33

Booker, John M., '.t,2oo
Botanical Garden, Totten Center,

92,48,288,288
Bowers, Norman, 274

Bowers-Nelson House, 8g-go, go,

273-274,274

Bowman Gray Pool, 58, to9, r34

Boyer, Martin,lr., tzz
Braune, Gustave, ry5-r36
Breuer, Marcel, 79,2r5
Brinkhous, Kenneth M., 284

Brinkhous, Kenneth M., House, 284,

284

Brown, Kent, 166

Brown, Kent, House, :66, fi6
Brown, Michael, zo4
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Aberthaw of Atlanta, 52, ro8

Adam, Robert,4-5
A.G. Odell Associates, 95-96,

294

Anderson, Bob, 89

Andrews and McGready, zzg

Atwood, Thomas C., 52, 58,64,
66,68, rog, r2o, t2r, rz3, rz6,

tz7, tz8, r3o, 13r, t33, t34, t38,
r79, r8z-r83, r87, zo9-zro,
23o,235

Barham, Dave, z6-27
Benjamin, Asher, 5

Berry, John, zr, rr5
Boney, Leslie N., Jr., r33

Boyer, Martin,Jr., rzz

Breuer, Marcel, 79,2r5
Burns, Robert, 88-89, 246

Caldwell, November, z6-27
Campbell, Bill,266
Carr, George Watts,64-65,67, 7t,

r83, zz6, 23t, 235, 46, 49, z'88

Carter, H. D., 238

Coates, Thomas H., z5

Cogswell, Arthur, 93-95,94, 245-
246,256,258, z6t, z7z

Cogswel[/Hausler Associates, z4r,

242,256-257, z6r, z7o,287, zg3

Collier, Isaac J., 16r

Community Planning and Archi-
tecture Associates, z9z

Condoret, Jon,259
Cosby, Dabney, t7, 18, r44,

149-r50
Curtis, Courtland C., r48

Curtis, N. C., 65, r58, r69-qo, z3z

Davis, Alexander Jackson, :,4, 15-
t7, 17,20, zt,24, to6-to7, ttt,
rr5, r43, t47, t4g-r5o, t56, r87

Davis, Archie Royal, 7t, 7z-73,
r83, zoo, 2ott 2o2, zo6, zo7,

zo8,263
Day, Thomas, 17

Dixon, Dale,246
Eggers, Otto,74, ro9-rro, rz3t t24

Giurgola, Romaldo, rro, r33

Glave, James, r83

Graves and Toy, gr, r39

Gropius, !7alter, 78, 79
Hackney, George, zz6, zz7, z3r,

235,238

Hackney and Knott, 235,238

Hager-Smith-Huffman, zro
Hakan/Corley and Associates,

IIO, I4O

Harris, Harwell, 79
Hausler, Werner, 93-95, 94
Higgins, Daniel, 74, tog-tto, r23,

r24

Holloway-Reeves, r ro, rz6
Holt, Jacob, 26, ry1
Hook, C. C., t3o, r45

Horn (from Pittsboro), 24, 16o

Kahn, CharlesH.,246
Kamphoefner, Henry, 8o, 88

Kendall, William, 52, 56,6o, rog,
t3z, r38

Kocher, A. Lawrence, 8o

Lawrence, J. G., r rg
Li, Gerald, rro, :,23, 124

Martindale, Charlie, zz8

Matsumoto, George, 8o, 88, 93,

95,235,237,287
McKim, Mead and \7hite, 49, 52,

ro9, t18, r27, r28, rzgt t3o, t3t,
r3z, r38, r83

Meier, Ezra, rro, r35, r38, r39

Milburn, Frank Pierce, 4r,42-45,
6o, ro8, n?, rrg, r2o, t2t,129,
t45, 48, r49, r8o

Milburn and Heister, r19

Mitchell/Giurgola architects, r33

Montgomery, H. Alan, 52, tog
Muirhead, William, 8r, z1g-z9o
Nash, Arthur C., 52, 56,6o,6r,

fu, 6a, 66, ro9, r 14, t2o, t2r,
r2?, r28, t2g, t3o, t3t, t3z, t38,
r79, r8z-r83, r87, zoo,235

Nichols, \Uilliam, 9-ro, r3, ro6,

rrt, tr2,174
Owens, E. J. (Peg), z6o

Patterson, James, rrr
Pearson, Charles, 4r, ro8

Pearson and Ashe, 4r
Percival, William, 24-25, to7, tr6
Rogers, James Gamble,6o, zo3

Salter, J. A., 54, ro9, r3o

Sampson, Carter \7., 49, r94
Security Building Company, 259

Shawcroft, Brian, 88-89, 9r, rro,
n6,246

Simpson, Herbert \Uoodley, r45

Sloan, Samuel,34, ro7

Small, Milton, 8o, 9r, rro
Sprinkle, \Tilliam Yan, 65, 67, 92,

zz6, zz9, 235, 46, 237, 24o

Stewart, Don,89, 89-9o, 92, tro,
r35, r53, tg5,2ro,247, z6z,266,
z69, 27o, 273, 275, 276, 288, zgz

Sullivan, Louis, 79
Tefft, Thomas, r44

Thompson, Brodie Stewart, 59,
62,67, 146, 163, r64-t65, t67,

z3g, z9t
Tillman and Horner, z3r

Town, lthiel, t6-t7, 17, ro7

Upjohn, Hobart, 6o-6y r47, r57

Upjohn, Richard,6o-6r
Valand, Leif, 8r, 253, z9g_z9o

van der Rohe, Mies, 79, 8o, 9r,
ttor 2t5

'Walter, Thomas U., zo, t44, t47

Waugh, Edward (Terry), 8o, 86-
88, z7o, z7t

Webb, James Murray (Jim),24,
82,82-83,8a, 85, 89, 253,266,

268-269, 275, 276, 277, 278,

z8z,284
Webb, John, 82, 83,84,85, ,53,

275,276,277, 278, z8z

\7eeks, H. R., 58, 68, tog, rz3,
rz6, o7, r34,2og-2ro

'Winn, 
Sumne r, 2 5o-2 51, z6z-263

!7right, Frank Lloyd, 45, ?8-79,
r53

Wurster, William, 79, 275

Bungalow style, r54-r55
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Burns, Robert, 88-89, 246

Bynum, Turner, 28, q7, t89
Bynum Hall, 43, ro8

Byrd, Robert, 257

Byrd, Robert, House, 257,257

Caff6 Driade, z9z

Caldwell, Edwin, 69, 136, t77

Caldwell, Joseph, 5,8, 26, 27, to6,
to7, rr7, 137, r?7

Caldwell, November, z6-27,33, r77

Caldwell, Wilson Swain, 33, 69, ,37,
r77

Caldwell Monument, tr7, t52
Cameron, Paul Carrington, 32-33,

175

Campbell, Bill, 266

Campus of the First State Uniuersity,
The, Archibald Henderson, 73

Carmichael, William D., z3o, z3z

Carmichael, William D., Jr., 67, 7 t,
r35,2OOt 23Ot 239

Carmichael, William D., Jr., House,

6t' 6z

Carmichael, William and May,

House, 239,239

Carmichael Gymnasium, 92, rto,
135, r35

Carnegie, Andrew, 43, ug
Carnegie Library, 43, 44,62, ro8,

t19, tr9-t2o
Carolina Coach Company bus sta-

tion, 7z
Carolina Coffee Shop, 2o2-2o3

Carolina lnn, 3, 6r-62, 62, r75, r78,
r79, r8z, r8z-r83

Carolina Theatre, ?2, Z2, 2ot, 2ot
Carr, George Warrs,64-65,67, 7r,

r83, 226, 23r, 235, 236, z3g, 288

Carr, John Wesley, r77

Carr, Julian S., 4r
Carr Dormitory, 34, ro8
Carrboro. See West End (depot)

Carroll, Dudley De\7itt, 237

Carroll, Dudley De\U'itt, House,

46-47,237

Carroll, Georgia (Kyser), r5z

Carter, H. D., 238

Caswell, Richard, r3-r4
Catalano, Eduardo,8o

Cedar Grove Cemetery, New Bern,
r4

Center for Urban and Regional

Studies, r23, t73
Chapel Hill

r85z map of ,27, zB

business district, ry8, tgg-2to
\Tilliamsburg style for, zoo

changes io (ryzr-r946), S8-Sq
description in r889,35

development of, r8-r9
East, r4z, r43-r74
historic districts and suburbs, ror
incorporation of, r75

modernism in (r95o-r975), 77-98
occupation in 1865,3r
plan of village o{, 5,6
population in 1869,33

Pritchard Avenue area and North-
side, zn-223, ztz

suburban, zz5-285

West, t75-tg7, 176

Chapel Hill Appearance Commis-
sion, ix

Chapel Hill Baptist Church, 24, 25,

6o

Chapel Hill Cemetery, 27, r35-r37
Chapel Hill Christian Church, r85-

186, 186

Chapel Hill Church of Christ, z8r
Chapel Hill City Directory, xiv
Chapel Hill Fire Station No. 3, 293,

293-294

Chapel Hill Historic District Com-
mission, xi

Chapel Hill Hisrorical Society, 92,
r54

Chapel Hill Housing Group, 266

Chapel Hill Municipal Building, zro,
2to

Chapel Hil[ Museum, r54

Chapel Hill Post Offlce, 68, 68

Chapel Hill Preservation Society, xi
Chapel Hill Professional Village, 92,

292,292-293
Chapel Hill Public Library (former),

92,93, r53, r53-r54
Chapel Hill Town Hall (former), 68,

69, zog-zto
Chapel of St. Thomas More (for-

mer), zzg_z3o, z3o
Chapel ofthe Cross, zo, zo, 26, r44,

r47, r47

Chapman, Margaritta, r37

Chase, Harry \Uoodburn, 5r-52, 57,
ro9

Chase Cafeteria, rro
Chase Hall,9r,9r
Chi Lambda Delta Fraterniry House,

tE4, r84

Chi Psi Fraternity House, z3-24,63,
63, ,7q, r83, r83-r84, 186-187,

r8z

Churches

Baptist Church, 24,25, r44, t8o,
2t7

Chapel Hill Chrisrian Church,
185-186, 186

Chapel Hill Church of Christ,
z8t

Chapel of the Cross, zo, 20, 26,

144, 747, 147

Community Church of Chapel
Hill,287,287

Methodist Church (old), 24, 6o,

16o, 16o

New Hope Chapel on the Hill, 3
Presbyterian Church, 2c.,2r, 144,

28?

St. Paul AME Church t 33t 2t7t

223,223

University Baptist Church, 6o, 6r,
r8o, r8o

University Presbyterian Church,

47-148, r48

University United Methodist
Church, 6o,2.o3, zoj

Clarke, George, r35
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Classical Revival style, rz3, r8o, r85

Coates, Thomas H., z4-25

Cobb, Collier, 36-37, 5t, 63-64, 7 t,
t36, r45, r53, 167

Cobb, Collier,lll, ryz
Cobb, Collier, Jr., zoo

Cobb, Collier, House, $3, r53

Cobb Terrace,63-64, t67-t68, 68
Cogswell, Arthur, 93-95,94, 245,

256,258, z6t, z7z

Cogswell, Arthur and Betty, House

No. r, 245,245

Cogswell, Arthur, House No. z, 94,

95, 256-257,257

Cogswell/Hausler Associates archi-

tects, 24r, z4z,256-257, z6r, z7o,

287, zg3

Coker, Louise, r7o_r7r
Coker, Robert, r7r

Coker, Robert, House, t7t, r7r

Coker, William Chambers, z3-24,

45,51,63,66,8r,82, rz5, 136, r46,
r7o-t7r, r87,233,254, z6o, z7o

Coker, \7illiam C., House, 45,46
Coker, \7illiam C. and Louise Ven-

able, House and Gardens ("The

Rocks"), 45,46, ryo, t7o-t7t
Coker Arboretum, r25, rz5-rz6
Coker College,8t, 254, z6o

Coker Hills, 8t, 254-259, 255

Collegiate Gothic style, 44
Collier, Isaac J., 16r

Collins, Beulah, z6r

Collins, Thom, z6r

Collins, Thom, House, z6r, z6r
Colonial Revival style, 46-48, ro9-

rto, t27, rz8, r3o-r3r, r33, r43,
146, t57, r59, 164-165, t67, r7r-
172, t73, q8-q9, r83, r84, r95,

797, 2og-2tot 222, 227, 229, 23r,

45, 236-237, 239, 24o, 248, z5o,

z5t, 283, 285, 288-289
Colonial Williamsburg Revival style,

2or-2o2, 2o5-2o7, zo8-zo9
Colonial Williamsburg-style com-

mercial buildings, zo5-2o6, zo6

Community Church of Chapel Hill,
94-95,96, 287,287

Community Planning and Architec-
ture Associates,292

Computer Science Department, rz3

Condoret, Jon, z5g

Confederate Army, enlistment in, Jr
Confederate Monument, rr7
Conners, Jake L., z8:,

Connor, Robert and Carolyn,

25o-25r

Cornwell, Dean, zo4

mural by, 4

Cosby, Dabney, r7, r8, 144, r49-r5o
Cotton, Elizabeth, 69-7o
Couch, John, 66, 235,236

Couch, John, House, 46, zj6
Couch, William T., z4o

Couch, Wllliam T., House, 24o,24o

Couch House, 66

Council, Zebulon P., zl, zr4
Craig, Braxton, House, t92-193, rg3

Craftsman style. See Arts and Crafts

style

Craig, Ben, z7

Craig, Braxton, rgz

Craig, Dilsey, 27, ry6, 47
Craige Dormitory, gr, rJ9

Crockford, Horace D., 67, 46
Crockford, Horace D., House, 236,

T6
Curriculum in Leisure Studies and

Recreatitrn AJministration, rz3

Curtis, Courtland C., r48

Curtis, N. C., 65, 158, t69-r?o, 232

"Cyprett" Bridge, Chatham County,

3

Daniels Building (Student Stores),

r29
Danziger, B. B., zgr

Danziger, Edward "Papa D," 136

Davie, \Tilliam R., 3, 5, rrr, tr6-lr7
Davie Circle, 243

Davie Hall, 43,9r, ro8, rro, rz6, rz6
Davie Poplar, 116

Davis, Alexander Jackson, t4, t5_t7,
t7, t8, zo-2r,23,24-25, ro6-ro7,
1r\, tt2, 143, r44, r47, r49-r5o,

ry6, r87

Davis, Archie Royal, 7r, 7z-73, t83,
2oor 2or, zoz, z06, zo7, zo8,263

Davis Library, xiv
Day, Thomas, 17

Dean E. Smith Student Activities
Center (Dean Dome), xiv, r ro,

14O, r4r
Delm Delta Delta Sorority House,

723, 75O, tso

Delta Kappa Epsilon Fraternity

House, r8r, r8r-r8z
Delta Upsilon Fraternity, 16z

Dey, Alice, 16z

Dey, William M., t6z
Dialectic Society, r7,25, ro7, rtt,

r15, rr6
Dixon, Dale,246
Dixon, George, zr7

534 Dogwood Drive House, 285,285

Donaldson, Robert, t4, r5-t6, zo,

rc6-ro7
Blithewood estate of, r44

Dorton Arena (Raleigh Arena), 8o

Downing, AlexanderJackson, 16, z3

Dromgoole, Peter, z3z

Dunston, Tom, 33
Durham, James R., zr5

Durham Dairy Products, 2o3, 2o'.

Dutch Colonial Revival style, rg4,

22?

Eagle Hotel, 144, r5o

Eagle Hotel annex, r7, 18, tg
East building. See Old East

8o3 East Franklin Street house, r59,

r59

East Franklin Street at McCorkle
Place, wall at, xiv

Eastlake Gothic design, 156

Edkins, Benjamin, 65, zzg

Edkins, Benjamin and Marie, House,

229,229
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Eggers, Otto, 74, ro9-rro, t23, r24
Ehringhaus, J. C.8., z3z

Ehringhaus Dormitory, gr, r3g

Eliason, Norman, 83

Eliason, Norman E., House, 8j, 84

Elizabethan Revival style, 236

Elks Lodge, 223,223

Episcopal Church Rectory (former),

fi3
Erwin, lfilliam A., r47

Etheridge, Myrtle, z13

Eubanks, Clyde, zoo

Everett Dormitory, 56, rog, tz9
Evergreen House, r22, t23

Farmers Dairy Cooperative, Inc., 72,
zo6-2o7, zo7

Federal period, first buildings of Uni-
versity of North Carolina and, 4-5

Federal style, r5r

Fisher, David White, r37

Fitch, R. B., r57

"Flower Ladies," 7o
Foister, Robert W'., zr3

Forest Theatre (Koch Theatre), 69,

70, 137, t37-48
Fowler's Grocery Store, rgg

Fox, Mrs. Preston, r7r
Frank Porter Graham Student

Union, gr-g2, t34
Franklin, Benjamin,5
Franklin-Rosemary Streets residen-

tial districts, xi
Freedman's Bureau, 33

Fremont, John C., zz

Friday, Ida, ix, x, xi, 83-84
Friday, \7i11iam, 6r, '77,83-84, 92,

rRr rrr

Friday, \7i11iam C. and Ida, House,

83-8a, 85, 277,272

Frost, J. Milton, 16o

Gardner, Frances Venable, 237

Gardner, Frances Venable, House,

23?,237

Garrou, Patricia, 263

Gaston, Susan, r5

Gaston, !7illiam, 14, r5

Gattis, Samuel Mallette, r88

George, lTesley Critz,64, z3t
George, Critz and !7ilma, House,

23r,231

Georgian Revival style, 6o, zo3

Gerrard Hall, g, to, 13, 14, 34, to6,
ro8, rl3, u4, rr4

Gilbert, Jane Tenney, r37,2r4
Gimghoul Castle, 3,65,65, t73, t73,

zz5,226,232,232
Gimghoul colony, 58-59, 64, zz5-

zz6, zz6

Giurgola, Romaldo, rro
Gladstone, Bob, 266

Glave, James, r83

Glen Lennox Apartments, 8t,289,
289-zgo

Glen Lennox Shopping Center, z9o

Glendale residential subdivision,

24r, 241

Gold, Irma Green and Harry, 253

Gooch's Caf6, zo3

Gothic Revival cottage, 23

Gothic Revival style, 23, t2gt r47,

223

Graham, Edward Kidder, 5r, 57, ro8,

t8, r35, t73
Graham, Edward Kidder and Susan

Moses, House, \3, tZ3

Graham, Frank Porter, 57,77,78,
u8, z3z

Graham, Susan \Uilliams Moses, r7-3

Graham Court Apartments, r79,

t94, 194-195

Graham Dormitory, 56, to9, tz8
Graham Memorial Hall, 17, 57-58,

74, ro9, rr8, rr8
Graves, Louis, 58, 63,7r,9r, q6,

zoo, zot,248
Gray, Gordon, 77

Greek Revival style, 24, roTt r55_

156, 16o, 16r

Green, Paul, 3, 69,7o, ry6, r38,2.48,

z5o,253,288

Green, Paul and Elizabeth, House,

25O,25o

Green, William Mercer, 26, r47,

152-753

Greenlaw Hall, 9z
Greenwood residential subdivision,

248, z4g

Greulach, Victor A., z6r

Greulach, Victor A. and Libby,

House, z6t, z6t
Griffin, C. B., r9z

Griffin, C. B., House, rg2, rg2

Grimes Dormitory, 54,55, rog, t28
Gropius, Walter, 78, 79,84

Hackney, Brantley J., r8o

Hackney, George, zz6,227,23rt 235

Hackney and Knott architects, 235,

48
Hager-Smith-Huffman architects,

2to
Hakan/Corley and Associates, rro,

r40
Hamilton, J. G. de Roulhac, 136,

t69-r7o
Hamilton, Roulhac, House, 169,

t69-r7o
Hamner, Clay, r54

Hanes Art Center, rro, r23, 123-124

Hargrave, Luther, 48, zzo
Hargraves, r0Uilliam H. "Bilty," zzz

Hargraves Community Centeg 7o,

71, 2r7,222t 222

Harris, Charles I07., 8

Harris, Harold, zr5

Harris, Harwell, 79, z8z

Harris, Thomas West, r35, r85, r88

Hausler, \Uerner, g3-g5, 94
Havens, Mary Anne Fitch, r57

Hazzard Motor Company, 2o7,

zo7-zo8
Hedrick, Benjamin 5., zz-23, r44,

$6
Hedrick, Benjamin, House, 36
Henderson, Archibald, 34, 46, 73,

ro7, r3o, t45, t58
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Henderson, Archibald, House, 46,

47, ry8, t58

Henderson, Barbara Bynum, r58

Hentz, Caroline, z7

Hentz, Nicholas, z7

Herty, Charles, r54

Hickerson, T. Felix, 48-49,64,66,
146, q3,225,233

Hickerson, T. Felix, House, 48-49,
r73, r73

Higgins, Daniel, 74, tog_rto, r23, 124

High Victorian Gothic sryle, rzg
Highland !7oods, 266-269
Hill, Annie \Uatts, r8z
Hill, David, 94,256
Hill, David, House, 256,256

Hill, George \ratts, 7r, 72,2oo,2o7,
42,288-289

Hill, George lUatts, House (Quail

Hill), 288-289,289
Hill, John Sprunt, 6r, trg-rzo, r78,

t8z, t83, zoz

Hill, \Uatts and Mary, z5o

Hill Music Hall, 43, 44,62, rc8, rt9,
rr9-r2o

Hillcrest Circle and Marilyn Lane,

241, 244-247

Hilliard, Nancy, ry6,44
Hinton James Dormitory, 9r, 139

Hogan, Carrie, 59
Hogan, Carrie Pickard, 164

Hogan, John, 3
Hogan, Milton, 59,46, fi4
Hogan, Milton and Carrie, House,

164, 164

Hogg, James, 3
Hogg, Samuel, 169

Holden, William W., zz-23,3r,32
Hollis, Carroll, z4z

Hollis, Carroll, House, 242,242

Holloway-Reeves, 9r, tto, rz6
Holmes, John S., 49, t46, t66
Holmes-Koch House, 166, fi6-t67
Holt, Jacob, 26, r77

Holt, Lewis Bowen, r37

Holton, Bill and Bitry, z6z

Hook, C.C., r3o, r45
Hooper, William, g, rr7, t52

Hooper-Kyser House, g, rc, r43, r52,

r52

Horace Williams House museum,

ry6
Horn (architect from Pittsboro), 24,

r6o

Horton, George Moses, z7

House, John, r5r

Howe, George, Jt,66-67, 146, r57,

240

Howe, George, House, 23g-24o,24o
Howe-Fitch House, r57, r57-r58
Howell Hall, 43, ro8

Hudson, A. Palmer, z5r
Hudson, Palmer, House, 251,25r

Hunt, 107i11iam Lanier (Billy),82, z7o

Ingram, Jrm,266
Ingram, Moses, zzr

Ingram, Moses, House, 221,22r

International Style, 78, 93, tto,2t5-
z16,235, z4z,245,258

Intimate Bookshop, Wallace Kurah's,

t99-2oo
Intimate Bookstore, Milton Aberna.

thy's, 77

Investors Title Insurance Company,
209

Italianate Revival style, r5o, t5t,243
Ivey, William L., z5z

Ivey, William and Julia, House, z5r-
252,252

Jacobethan Revival style, rzo

Jacobs, Herbert, House, 79, 8o

Johnson-Strowd-Ward Furn iture
Store, zo5-2o6, zo6

Jones, Bill, 33

Jones, Edmund,3

Jones, Edward, 23, 186-187

Jones, Frances, r5z

Jones, Jesse, 33

Jones, Johnston Blakeley, 23, t75-
q7, 186-187

Jones, Dr. Johnston Blakeley, House,

23-24,24

Jones, Kempton, 164

Jones, Mary Mallette, r86-187

Jones, Reverend Charlie, 94-95, 287

Jones-McCauley House, r77

Josephus Daniels Student Stores,

gt-92, r34

Julian, Alexander, zo3

Julian, Maurice, 2o3

Julian, Milton,235

Julian, Milton and Virginia, House,

88,88, 47-238,48
Julian, Missy, zo3

Juhans College Shop, zo3

Jurgenson, Kai,276

Jurgenson, Kai and Mary, House,

276, 276

Kahn, CharlesH,246
Kamphoefner, Henry, 8o, 88

Kappa Alpha Fraternity House, r85

Kappa Kappa Gamma Sorority
House, r94, r94

Kappa Sigma Fraternity House, rz3,

r85

Keith (architect of Senlac), 33, 174

Kenan, Frank H., z9o

Kenan, \Tilliam Rand, Jr., 56, r38-
r39,232

Kenan Dormitory, 58, rz7

Kenan Field House, 56, rc9
Kenan Stadium, 56, rog, r38-r3g, r3g

Kenan Stadium Addition, r ro
Kenan Woment Dormitory, ro9
Kendall, William, 52, 56, rog, t3z,

r38

Kennette, Joseph, r54

Kiffney, Justin, z4z

Kiffney, Dr. Justin and Patricia,

House, 242,242

Kimball, Fiske, 73-74, r3o

King, Martin Luther, Jr., 78
Knox, Edward Montgomery, 228

Knox, Edward, House, 64,64, zz7,
..-_.-P,
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Koch, Frederick Henry, 52,69, 136,

r66-t67, z5o

Koch, William J., 94, r58
Koch, !7i11iam J. and Dorothy C.,

House, 258,258

Koch Theatre (Forest Theatre), 69,

70, 137, r37-r38
Kocher, A. Lawrence, 8o

Kuralt, Charles, rgg

Kuralt, \Tallace and Brenda, r99

Kuralt Building, r99

Kyser, Georgia, ix, x, xi, 168

Kyser, James Kern "Kayi' rj6, r5z

Kyser, Vernon, 168

Lake Forest, 8r

Lake Forest Estates, 8r-82, z6o-263
Lamb, James and Martha M.,

250-25r
Lamb, James and Martha, House,

25o, 25o-25r

Lamberton, Richard and Mary, xi
Lane, George, zz9

Lane, George and Colette, House,

229,229

Latane, Henry A. and Felicite, 196

Latane, Henry, House, ry6, 196

Latimer, John, 8o

Lauder, George, r37

Laurel Hill residential subdivision,

233-240,234

Lawrence, J.G., rr9
Lawson, Robert Baker, 46, ry4
Lawson House, ry4155, t55

Le Corbusier, 78, rro
Lear, Joseph M., z8r

Lear, Joseph M. and Rachel, House,

z8r, z9t-z8z
Lear, Rachel, z8r

Lenoir Dining Hall, 58, rog, r33, r33

Lewis Dormitory, 56, rog, rz8
Lewter, Nancy McCollum, 196

Li, Gerald, rto, r23

Libraries, r7

Lindquist, David and Elizabeth, zgr,

292

Lindsay, \7i11iam, r78

Lindsay Street houses, 22o, 2zo-22r
Ling, Thomas, r77

Little, Ruth, xi
Little Fraternity Court, 62, t7g, r85,

r85

Lloyd, Herbert, r95, 2o2

Lloyd, L., rg2-tg3
Lloyd, ThomasF., ry7_t78, t89, ztt
Lloyd-Webb Building, tgg, 2o2,

2O2-2O3

Lloyd-\febb-Hill Building, zo:,
2O2-2o3

Log house, 169

Long, Thomas, zrr
Love, Cornelia Spencer, 67, 233-235

Love, James Lee, r45, r5r
Lower Quad, 6z-63
Lower Quad dormitories, 56, tog,

rz8, rz8
Lustron House, zt6, zt6
Lyons, Clifford, zz7

Lyons, Clifford and Mary, House,
1a- ou1

Mace, Robert, Sg, 247

Mace, Robert and Ruth, House, 247,

247

Mace, Ruth, 247

Maclntyre, Alan B., 253

Macklin, Ha:.ry, zt6
Macklin, Harry, House, zr5, z15-z16

MacNider, William deBerniere, r59

MacNider, \7i11iam, House, ry8, ry9
MacNider Hall, rzr
Mallette, Charles, q5, :'86

Mallette, Edward, 186

Mallette, Sallie, r75, 186

Mallette, \7i11iam P., t36, 16z

rzr Mallette Street House, tgr-tg2,
192

Mallette.V/ilson House, 186, r86
Mangum, Adolphus, 16r

Mangum Dormitory, 54, 55, rog, e8
Mangum.Smith House, r44-r45,

r6t, t6r-t6z

Manly Dormitory, 54,55, rog, rz8

Manning Hall, 54, 55, 56, r09, r3r,

t3t
Martin, Clara, 16z

Martin, Edward Wray, z3z.

Martin, Joseph, 16z

Martin-Dey House, r44-r45, t6z
Mary Ann Smith BuildinE,43,44,

73-74, ro8, t2o, t2o
Mason, James R., r8g

Mason, James B., House, r78

Mason-Lloyd-\7i1ey House, 28, 28,

r89, r89

Matsumoto, George, 8o, 88, 93, 95,
235, 237, 238, z4z, 245, 287

McCarthy era, 78
McCauley, David, r77, r78, 186-187,

l92r 2rr
McCauley, Matthew, 3, r77

McCorkle Place, xiv, toz, ro3, rc,6,

n6-tr7, rt7
McDade, Tom, 33
McGavran, Edward G., z5r

McGavran, Edward, House, 25r,251

Mclver Dormitory, 58, o7
McKay, Herbert and Martha, z8z

McKay, Herbert and Martha, House,

z8z-283

McKim, Mead and \ff/hite architects,

49, 52, tog, rr8, rz7, rz8, rzg, r3o,

r3r, r3z, r83

McMahon, Alex,278
McMahon, J. Alex and Betty W.,

House, 278,278

McRae Building, r99

Meadowmont Farm, 3

Medieval style, 44
Meier, Ezra, rro, r35, r38

Memorial Hall, 34, 35, 4t, 57, ro7,
ro8, ro9, r2g, r2g

Merritt, E. G., 286

Merritt, \Uilliam Henry, r8o
Merritt's Store, 286, 286

Methodist Church (old), 24, 6o, 16o,

r6o

Mickle, Andrew, 16r
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Milburn, Frank Pierce, 4t-42, 43,

44-45,60, ro8, rr7, trg, r2o, r29,
r45, r48, r49, r8o

Milton Abernathy's Intimate Book
stofe, 77

Mitchell, Elisha, xiii, r5, z6

Modernist style, 195-196, 247, 2.48,

25t-253, 2,67, 284, 2go, 292-293
Montgomery, H. Alan, 52, rog
Morehead, John Motley, 14, :,6,74,

124-r25

Morehead Building and Planetarium,

74, tz/t 124-125

Morehead Garden, rz5

Morehead-Patterson Bell Tower, ro9,
r38, r38

Morgan, Hardy, 3
Morgan Creek Hills, 82, z7o,

27o-274

Morris-Harris House, tgr, rgr
Morrison, Joseph L., 276

Morrison, Joseph L. and Pearl,

House, 276,276
Morrison Dormitory, gr, t3g, r4o

Morrow, Cornelia, r9r
Morrow-Neville House, rgt, tgt
Moseley, \7illiam Dunn, 9
Muirhead, \7i11iam, 8r, z8g-zgo
Murphey Hall, 54, rog, r3r, r3r
Myers, Thomas, rzz

Nash, Arthur C., 52, 56, 58,6r,63,
66, tog, l4t r2o, t2t, rz'1, tz8,
rz9, r3o, r3r, 132, r38, r8z-r83,
t87, zoo,235

Neal, James N., ,37

Nelson, Robert, 274

Neville, Lindsay C., 265

Neville, Lindsay and Mae, House,

265,265

New East, 25,34, rc8, u6
New Hope Chapel on the Hill, 3

New West, 25,26, 34, ro8, r16, r16

Nichols, \7i11iam, g-ro, 13, 106, rrr,
I12

Noble, M.C.S., zr3

Noble Heights, zr3

Nolen, John, 5r, ro8-ro9
North American Construccion

Company,64

North Carolina Memorial Hospi-
tal, 8r

North Carolina Railroad, 37
North Carolina State College, 57, 8o

Northside Child and Family Coun-
seling Center, zzz

Northside Elementary School (for.

mer Orange County Tiaining
School), 2r7, 22r, 22t-222

Norwood,8.G., ryz-rg3
Nowicki, Matthew, So

Oakwood Drive and Rogerson Drive,
264-265

O'Daniel, John, r78, rg4

O'Daniel, John, House, 46,42, rg3-
r94, r94

Odell, A. G., Jr., ,s4
Odum, Anna, z8r
Odum, Howard, 52, 27g, z8r, z1r
Odum, Howard F. and Anna, House,

z8r, z8r
Odum Village, 73

Old East, 5-6, 7-8,9, roz, ro6, ro8,
III, III

additions to, rz
Old Fraternity Row, r79

Old Tavern, g, 169, 69
Old \fell, at South Building, 4r-42,

42, n6
Old West, 5-6,9, ro6, ro8, rr2) 112

enlargement o{, t7, t8
Olmstead, Denison, 15r

Orange County Tiaining School
(Northside Elementary School),
21',7,2211 221-222

Order of the Gimghouls, 64, zz5, z3z

Owens, E.J. (Peg), 8r, z6o, z6z-263
Owens, E.J., House, z6z, z6z-263

Page, RobertJ.,259
Page, Robert, House, 25g,25g

Parker, John, 8z

Parker, Johnjr. and Peg, 268

Patterson, Henry Houston "Hoot,"

37-38, q8, r88-r89
Patterson, James, rrr
Paulsen, G. H., r78, r97

Paulsen Apartment House, t97, 197

Peace, James H,, zzr
Peacock, Erle E., r7r, zz8

Peacock, Erle 8., House, t7r, r7r-r72
Pearson, Charles, ro8

Pearson and Ashe architects, 4r, ro8
Pegg, Carl and Eleanor, 239

Pegg, Carl H., House, 48-49, z3g

Pender Grocery Store, rgg, zo8,

zo8

Percival, \il/illiam, z4-25, ro7, tr6
Perry, Ethel Hargrave and Edward,

48, zz.o

Perry, Ethel and Edward, House, 48,

49
Perry, Velma, zzo

Person, Thomas, r13

Person Hall, 7,7, 34, ro6, ro7, ro8,
112, II3

Phi Delta Theta Fraternity House,

fi4, fi4
Philanthropic Society, t?, 25, ro?,

rtr, tr5, I16

Phillips, Charles, r3o, t43, t4g, r52
Phillips, James, 27, 32, r3o, r35, r5o,

15I

Phillips, Mrs. James, r5r
Philhps, Samuel Field, r8, V3-r44,

r4g, r5o, r74
Philhps, Samuel Field, House, 23,

r5o, r5o

Phillips, Samuel Field, Law Office,
r49, r49-r5o

Phlllips, \7l11iam Battle, r3o

Phlllips Hall, 74, r3o, r3o

Phillips Law Office, 18, rg
Phipps, James and Vivian, zz8

Phipps, James and Vivian, House,

zz8, zz8

Phipps House, 64
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Pi Beta Theta Sorority House, 16o,

fir
Pi Kappa Alpha House, r8r

Pi Lambda Phi House, r8r

Pickard, George, 163

Pickard House, fi3, fi3-fi4
Playmakers Theatre. See Smith Hall

Poe, A.H., Watts D., and George,

205

Point Prospect, 3,225
Polk, James Knox, 9, r7-r8,52' r7z

Polk Place, xiv, 52, 54, ro3, ro8-ro9

Pollard-Lacock House, $9, r59

Pons, Al, 74,263
Pool, Solomon, 3r-32, r85, r88

Pool-Harris House, r85, r85

Pool-Patterson House, 37-38, 38,

r88, r88-r89
Pope, John Russell, rog-I ro
Post Office, United States, 68, 68,

2O4,2O4

Postmodern style, rro, rz4

Potter's Field, zrr, zr7

Prairie style, 45, 79-8o
Pratt, Joseph Hyde, 7r, 136, zoo

Presbyterian Church, 2c,21, r44,

28'l

Presbyterian manse, r52' t52-r53
Preservation Society of Chapel Hill,

36
President's House (rgo7), 45, 45,

r48t4g, r49

Price, Ruth, 84, z8t
Price, Ruth, House, z8r, z8z

Pringle, John and Elizabeth, r7z

Pritchard, Grady, 283

Pritchard, Grady, House,283, 283

Pritchard, lsaac \7., 46,47, r77-q8,
t96-r97, 2rr, 27g, 283

Pritchard, Isaac, House, 46-48, ry6-
r97' t97

Pritchard, \7i11iam N., r77, 196, zrt
Pritchard Avenue houses, 2tr-223,

2r2, 214-215, 2r5

Pritchard's Field, zrr
Prouty, W.F.,279

Public Works Administration, 58

Puckett, ]ane, r5r

Puckett, John, r5r

Pure Oil Station, 2o4, 2o4-2o5

Purefoy, George W.' r8o

Purefoy, Mol1ie, 2rg-22o

Purefoy, Sherman, zr9

Purefoy, Sherman and Mollie,

House, 2rg,2tg-22o
Pyewacket Restaurant, 7z

Quail Hill (George Watts Hill
House), 288-289, z8g

Quaker School, 33,2t7
Queen Anne style, 34,36,37, 46,

r53,r54, q8, ry2, tg3

Railroad, frrst, 34

Raleigh Arena (Dorton Arena), 8o

Ranch style, 252-253

Rhea, Andrew,9, 169

Richardson, William P., z3r

Richardson, \7illiam and Tieva,

House, 23r,23r
Ridgefield Townhouses, 95, 293, 293

Robert B. House Undergraduate Li-

brary, gr-gz, r34

Robert L. Strowd Building, r99

Rockefeller, John D., Jr., 7r

Rocky Ridge Development, 233

Rocky Ridge Farm, 233

Rogers, James Gamble,6o, zo3

Rollett, Dr. Ellis, House, 272-273,

273

Rowan, Joe, 258

Royster, James Finch, r57

RoystePumstead House, $7, r57

Ruffrn, William C,265
Ruffin, William and Ann, House,

265,265

Ruffin Dormitoryt 54t 55, rog, rz8

Saarinen, Eliel, 86

Sager, Robert and Elizabeth, 268

Sager-Parker House, 268, 268

Salter, J. A., 54, tog, t3o

Sampson, Carter, r79, r94

San Francisco Bay area style, 79

Saunders, William Lautence, ztr,
2t4

Saunders Hall, 54-56, ro9, r3r

Saunders-Pritchard House, 2rr, 2t4,

214

Schools

Orange County Tiaining School

(Northside Elementary School),

2r'7r 221, 22I-222

Quaker School, 33,2r7
State Normal and Industrial

School (Greensboro), 4r
Schreiber, Benjamin, zr3

Schuyler, Montgomery, 5\ to7

Schwab, John and Ruth, 269

Schwab, John and Ruth, House, 269,

269

Scott, Calvin, q7, r87

Scott Smith-Gattis House, r87,

r87-r88
Seeger, Pete, 78

Senlac, 32,33, r44-r45, r74, rZ4

Sessions, John, Jr., 273

Sessions, John and Nina, House, 273,

273

Sessoms, Preston, xiii
Shawcroft, Brian, 88-89, 9r, rro,

n6,246
Shingle style,49, r.46, 166

Sigma Alpha Epsilon House, r8r

Sigma Chi House, r8r

Simpson, Herbert !7oodley, r45

Slaves, as artisans, 26-22

Sloan, Samuel,34, to7

Small, Milton, 80, 9r, rto
Smith, Albert, House, 83, 83

Smith, Betty, t6t-t6z
Smith, Betty, House, ix, xi
Smith, Carl, 72, zo8-zog
Smith, Carl, Building, zo8, zo8-zog
Smith, Dean, z7z

Smith, Dean, House, 2?2,222

Smith, H. Hosea, 156

Smith, Hoke, 156
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Smith, James S., r87-188
Smith, John Alexander, r37

Smith, Mary Ann Ruffin, 4r,
r87-r88

Smith, Willis, 77

Smith Building,4r
Smith Hall, t6, 17, zt, 22, to3, to1,

ro8, rr5, rr5
South Building, 8, 8-9, to6, ro7,

ro8, rl3, rr7-rt4
and Old Well,4r-42,42
portico, rog

Southerland, Mary, 26, ry7
Southern Colonial style, 45, 9o-9r,

to8, 145-46, r49
Spaight, Richard Dobbs, 8-9, r13

Spanish Colonial Revival style, 286

Spanky's Restaurant, r99
Speaker Ban Law, xiv, 78
Spearman, Walter,277
Spearman, Walter and Mary, House,

277, 277-278

Spencer, Cornelia Phillips, 32, 33,

56,67, tz7, r35, r3?, t4g, r5t,
233

Spencer, June, r45, r5r
Spencer Dormitory, ro9

Spencer-Love House, r5o, r5t
Spencer Residence Hall, 56, 56, tz7,

127

Sprinkle, William Yan,65,67, gz,

zz6, zzg, 235, 236, 237, 24o

Sprunt, James, r47

Sprunt, Luola, r47

St. Paul AME Churcht JJt 2t,1,22J,

223

Stacy, Marvin Hendrix, r35

Stacy Dormitory, r28

Stanback, Thomas M., 285

Stanback, Thomas M., House, 284-
285,285

State Employees Credit union, 92,
r95, rg5-tg6

State Normal and Industrial School
(Greensboro), 4r

Steele Dormitory,54, ro9, r3o,

r3o-r3r
Stephens, George, zz5

Steward's hall, ro6
Stewart, Don,89, 89-go, 92, rtol

r35, r53, tg5,2ro, zro, 2.47, z6z,
266, 269, 27o, 273, 276, 288, zgz

Stipe, Josie, 85,266
Stipe, Robert (Bob), ix, x, xi, 85,

266,268-269
Stipe, Robert E. and Josie, House,

85, 266, 268-269, 269

Stipe House, 85-86, 86

Stone walls, ro3,2t7
Stoudemire, Sterling and Mary

Arthur, 227,222

Stoudemire, Sterling and Mary
Arthur, House, 227,222

Strandlund, Carl, z16

Straw Valley, 95
Strowd, Gene, zo6
Strowd, Robert L., 243

Strowd, Robert L., House, 243,243

Strowd, Thomas W., 46, ry8, r9z
Strowd, Thomas, House, rg2, t92
Strowd, \Tilliam F., 243

Struthers, stone carver, rr7
Sullivan, Louis, 79
Swain, David Lowry, xiii, t3_l5, 16,

24,3r,34, rO7, 77?

t*,1,:_T;l'' 43, 44,74, ro8, rzo,

Tankersley Building, r99

Tanner, Kenneth S., rzz
Thtum, Jim, 136

Tefft, Thomas,24, r44
Tempest, Gerard, 2go, 2gt
Tenney, John B., r7z
Tenney, John B., Farm, r43

Tenney, John B., Farm Overseer's

House, gt r72, t72_t73
Tenney, Oregon B., r7z

Tenney Circle, r7z
"The Pit," 92, t34, 134

"The Rocks," 45,46, ryo, ryo-r1r
Thomas, Colin G. (Tim),87, z7r
Thomas, Colin G. and Shirley,

House, 27t,27r
Thomas, Tim, House, 87-88, 88

Thompson, Brodie Stewart, 59,62,
67,67,85, 146, 163, t64-t65, t67,

z3g, z8t
Thompson, Brodie, House, 59,6o,

85,86, 167, t67

Thompson, Ernest and Helen, zr9
Thompson, Ernest and Helen House,

2tg,2tg
Thompson, Lovie, 167

Thompson House, 252, 252-253
Tilley, James M, zt4
Tillman and Horner contractors, 23r

Torten, Addie Williams, 238, 288

Totten, Henry Roland,66,8r, 235,

238, 254, z7o,288
Totten, Henry Roland and Addie,

House, 66,66, 48, 48
Totten Center, North Carolina Bo-

tanical Garden, 92, 238,288, 288

Town, Ithiel, r6-ry, 17, ro7

Town Hall (former), 68,69, zog-zto
Townend, Marion, 94, 258

Townend House, 258,258

Tiee, oldest (Davie Poplar), r16

tice, George,33, 136

Tudor Revival style, zo4-2o5, zr4,
238,239-24o, z8r

Tudor style, z8z

Umstead, John, r57

Umstead, \Tilliam B., r57

University Baptist Church, 6o, 6r,
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As Ruth Little shows in The Town and Gown

Architecture of Chapel Hili, the "Southern Part of
Heaven" is a unique community where the whole

is much greater than the sum of the parts. In 1845,

the famous New York architect Alexander Jackson

Davis advised university president David L. Swain

about a campus design, "Let us look sometimes with
theheart as well as the head." As a devoted alumna

of the university and an accomplished architectural

historian, Ruth Little engages both heart and head

to illuminate our understanding of the complex and

beloved ensemble that is Chapel Hlll.

-Catherine 
W. Bishir, author, NorthCarolinq

Architecture

The core of the campus at Chapel Hill is one of the

most beautiful in the United States and captures the

spirit of the state's history and character more than
any other place.

The neighborhoods show a quality of good taste

and quiet thoughtfulness that says "Chapel Hill."
If there is a distinctive "Chapel Hill house," it is

the restrained, understated, and usually modestly

scaled rendition of the Colonial Revival style with
naturalistic landscaping. Ruth Little has succeeded

marvelously in capturing the charm and heritage of
this very special place in a book that will be treasured

by residents, UNC alumni, and everyone who loves

the home of America's first state university.

-Michael 
W. Southern, author, A Guide n the

Historic Ar chitecture of P iedmont N or th Carolina
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